STRUCTURE PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS SEPTEMBER 2016



A CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR

CARL STATE PARTY

ROCK/2016/01

Document Control

PG 2016/716-059 Baldivis, 16 McDonald Road, Planning Tender/7 Final Documents/1 Lodged/716-059 Structure Plan 12.02.2016.indd						
Issue	Date	Status	Prepared by		Approved by	
			Name	Initials	Name	Initials
1	08.02.16	Draft	Alison Healey		Gary McCullough	
2	12.02.16	Final	Alison Healey		Gary McCullough	
3	16.09.16	Final for WAPC	Alison Healey		Matt Raymond	
4	28.11.16	Amd Final for WAPC	Alison Healey		Matt Raymond	

This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of the Client, in accordance with the agreement between the Client and TPG ('Agreement').

TPG accepts no liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any use of or reliance upon this report by any person who is not a party to the Agreement or an intended recipient.

In particular, it should be noted that this report is a qualitative assessment only, based on the scope and timing of services defined by the Client and is based on information supplied by the Client and its agents.

TPG cannot be held accountable for information supplied by others and relied upon by TPG.

Copyright and any other Intellectual Property arising from the report and the provision of the services in accordance with the Agreement belongs exclusively to TPG unless otherwise agreed and may not be reproduced or disclosed to any person other than the Client without the express written authority of TPG.

Our reports are printed on:



This structure plan is prepared under the provisions of the City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No.2

IT IS CERTIFIED THAT THIS STRUCTURE PLAN WAS APPROVED BY RESOLUTION OF THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION ON: 13 December 2016

Signed for and on behalf of the Western Australian Planning Commission

an officer of the Commission duly authorised by the Commission pursuant to Section 16 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 for that purpose, in the presence of:

upal Witness ember 2016 Date

Date of Expiry: 13 December 2026

Table of Amendments

Amendment No.	Summary of the Amendment	Amendment Type	Date approved by WAPC

Executive Summary

Purpose

This Structure Plan has been prepared under the provisions of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* and the City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 2 (TPS 2), to guide the zoning and development of a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis within the City of Rockingham municipality.

The Structure Plan has been prepared on behalf of Defence Housing Australia by the following specialist consulting team:

- TPG Town Planning, Urban Design and Heritage town planning, urban design
- Emerge Associates environmental, local water management, bushfire management
- Pritchard Francis infrastructure servicing
- Shawmac traffic assessment
- Galt geotechnical
- Fyfe survey

Project Overview

This Structure Plan provides a guiding planning framework to facilitate the zoning and development of approximately 1.8 hectares of land in the north Baldivis area for residential purposes. The Structure Plan ensures that development will be undertaken in an integrated and orderly manner and is anticipated to provide 29 residential lots.

ltem	Data	Structure Plan Ref (Section No.)
Total area covered by the structure plan	1.5803 hectares	Part Two – Section 1.2
Area of each land use proposed: Zones	1.1841 hectares	Part Two – Section 3
Residential		
Road Reserves	0.3962 hectares	
Total estimated lot yield	29 lots	Part Two – Section 3.3
Estimated number of dwellings	29 dwellings	
Estimated population	70 people @ 2.4 people/household	
Estimated dwellings per gross hectare of Urban zoned land	18 dwellings per gross hectare of Urban zoned land	
Estimated residential site density	24 dwellings per residential site hectare	
Public Open Space	0 hectares	Part Two – Section 3.5

List of Plans, Figures and Appendices

Plans

Plan 1 – Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan

Figures

- Figure 1 Location Plan
- Figure 2 Aerial Photograph
- Figure 3 Extract of Metropolitan Region Scheme
- Figure 4 Extract of City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 2
- Figure 5 Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan
- Figure 6 Indicative Bushfire Attack Levels
- Figure 7 Subdivision Concept Plan
- Figure 8 Internal Road Hierarchy
- Figure 9 Road Cross Sections

Appendices

- Appendix 1 Certificate of Title
- Appendix 2 Ministerial Statement No. 580
- Appendix 3 Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study
- Appendix 4 Environmental Assessment and Management Strategy
- Appendix 5 Bushfire Management Plan
- Appendix 6 Infrastructure Servicing Report
- Appendix 7 Transport Assessment
- Appendix 8 Local Water Management Strategy

Contents

Implementation	1
1. Structure Plan Area	1
2. Operation	1
3. Staging	1
4. Subdivision and Development Requirements	1
5. Local Development Plans	1
6. Other Requirements	1
7. Additional Information	2
1. Planning Background	7
1.1 Introduction and Purpose	7
1.2 Land Description	7
1.3 Planning Framework	7
2. Site Conditions and Constraints	19
2.1 Landform and Soils	19
2.2 Biodiversity and Natural Assets	19
2.3 Hydrology	20
2.4 Historical Land Uses and Potential	20
	20
2.6 Bushfire Hazard	20
2.7 Infrastructure Servicing and Litilities	21
2.7 Initiastractore Servicing and Statics	21
3. Structure Plan	25
3.1 Context	25
3.2 Interface with Surrounding Land	25
3.3 Residential Densities and Dwelling Forecasts	25
3.4 Movement Network	25
3.5 Public Open Space	26
3.6 Local Water Management Strategy	30
3.7 Basic Liveable Neighbourhoods Assessment	30

Technical Studies Appendices	31
Abbreviations	31
Appendix 1	33
Certificate of Title	33
Appendix 2	35
Ministerial Statement No. 580	35
Appendix 3	37
Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study	37
Appendix 4	39
Environmental Assessment and Management Strate	egy 39
Appendix 5	41
Bushfire Management Plan	41
Appendix 6	43
Infrastructure Servicing Report	43
Appendix 7	45
Traffic Assessment	45
Appendix 8	47
Local Water Management Strategy	47



PART ONE - IMPLEMENTATION

Implementation

1. Structure Plan Area

This Structure Plan applies to a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis, being the land contained within the inner edge of the line denoting the structure plan boundary on the Structure Plan (Plan 1). This Structure Plan is identified as *'Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan'*.

2. Operation

The date this Structure Plan comes into effect is the date this Structure Plan is approved by the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC).

3. Staging

Staging does not apply to this Structure Plan.

4. Subdivision and Development Requirements

Element	Requirement	
4.1 Land Use Zones and	(a) The Zones and Reserves of the Structure Plan area are shown on Plan 1.	
Reserves	(b) Land use permissibility within the Structure Plan area shall be in accordance with the corresponding Zone under TPS 2	
4.2 Residential Densities	(a) Subdivision and development within the Structure Plan area is to be in accordance with the nominated R25 density code shown on Plan 1.	
4.3 Bushfire Protection	(a) This Structure Plan is supported by a Bushfire Hazard Assessment and Bushfire Management Plan (BMP) contained within Appendix 5.	
4.4 Movement Network	(a) The movement network within the Structure Plan area is to be provided generally in accordance with Plan 1.	
	progressed generally in accordance with Plan 1.	

Element	Requirement		
4.5 Notifications of Title	(a) In respect of subdivision of the land, the City of Rockingham shall recommend to the WAPC that a condition be imposed on the grant of subdivision approval for a notification to be placed on the Certificate(s) of Title to advise the following:		
	i). That a BMP exists for lots deemed to be affected by a recognised bushfire hazard, as identified within the BMP contained within Appendix 5.		
4.6 Public Open Space	Subject to the agreement of the WAPC and the City of Rockingham, a minimum of 10 percent public open space is to be provided by way of a payment of money-in-lieu of land in accordance with the relevant provision of the <i>Planning and Development Act 2005.</i>		

5. Local Development Plans

Local Development Plan(s) (LDP) are required to be prepared prior to development approval for lots comprising one or more of the following attributes:

- (a) Lots with a side boundary abutting McDonald Road. LDP(s) should prohibit vehicular access onto McDonald Road; and/or
- (b) Lots deemed to be affected by a recognised bushfire hazard, as identified spatially in Figure 13 of the accompanying BMP, contained within Appendix 5. LDP(s) should prescribe an appropriate Asset Protection Zone and associated dwelling setbacks to street frontages and/or lot boundaries, and any other matters considered necessary to mitigate bushfire risk in accordance with the BMP contained within Appendix 5.

6. Other Requirements

The Structure Plan is subject to the City of Rockingham Development Contribution Area No. 2. The developer is to make satisfactory arrangements with the City of Rockingham to provide proportional contributions towards those items of development infrastructure defined in Schedule No. 12 of the TPS 2.

1

7. Additional Information

Additional Information	Approval Stage	Consultation Required
Urban Water Management Plan	Subdivision	City of Rockingham
Bushfire Attack Level Assessment	Development	City of Rockingham



Plan 1 – Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan



PART TWO – EXPLANATORY SECTION AND TECHNICAL APPENDICES

1. Planning Background

1.1 Introduction and Purpose

This Structure Plan provides the basis for zoning (including residential density) and development of a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis zoned 'Urban' under the Metropolitan Region Scheme (MRS) and 'Development' under the City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No.2 (TPS 2) (the subject site). The Structure Plan identifies the general pattern of development by identifying movement networks and residential densities.

Part Two has been prepared in accordance with the Western Australian Planning Commission's (WAPC's) Structure Plan Framework (August 2015).

1.2 Land Description

1.2.1 Location

The Structure Plan area is located approximately 38 kilometres south of Perth City and 3 kilometres north of the Baldivis Town Centre. The subject site is positioned generally to the east of a ridgeline that separates it from Mandurah Road and Lake Cooloongup.

The subject site is bound by McDonald Road to the east, privately owned allotments to the south and west and the draft Portion of Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan to the north.

Refer to Figure 1 – Location Plan

1.2.2 Area and Land Use

Lot 16 has an area of approximately 2 hectares and a frontage to McDonald Road in the order of 120m, however the Structure Plan covers approximately 1.58 hectares being the portion of Lot 16 zoned 'Urban' under the Metropolitan Region Scheme (refer to Section 1.3.1.1 of this report). The subject site currently comprises two dwellings and numerous outbuildings. Historical aerial photographs indicate that the site may have previously been used as orchards, developed with the existing southern dwelling in the 1960s. The existing northern single dwelling was established on the subject site in 2007.

Refer to Figure 2 – Aerial Photograph

1.2.3 Legal Description and Ownership

The land subject of this application is described as a portion of Lot 16 on Diagram 37055. The particulars of the Certificate of Title are summarised in Table 1:

Table 1 – Particulars of Certificate of Title

Lot	Diagram	Volume/ Folio	Area	Registered Owner
Pt 16	37055	2827/169	2.0639ha	Defence Housing Australia

Refer to Appendix 1 – Certificate of Title

1.3 Planning Framework

1.3.1 Zonings and Reservations

1.3.1.1 Metropolitan Region Scheme

Under the provisions of the MRS, the Structure Plan area is currently zoned 'Urban'. A 'Rural' zone adjoins the Structure Plan area to the west, and forms the remainder of Lot 16. There are no regional reservations that affect the Structure Plan area.

Refer to Figure 3 – Extract of Metropolitan Region Scheme





Figure 2. Aerial Photograph



Figure 3. Extract of Metropolitan Region Scheme



1.3.1.2 City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 2

Under the provisions of the City of Rockingham's TPS 2, the Structure Plan area is currently zoned 'Development' and identified within 'Development Area No. 9'. According to TPS 2, the purpose of the 'Development' zone is to:

- (a) identify areas requiring comprehensive planning prior to subdivision and development.
- (b) coordinate subdivision, land use and development in areas requiring comprehensive planning.

Pursuant to clause 4.2.4 of TPS 2 and the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015,* Schedule 2, Part 4, subdivision and development of land that is zoned 'Development' under TPS 2 is to be generally in accordance with an approved Structure Plan.

The Structure Plan area is also located within 'Environmental Conditions (Area) No. 2'. Schedule 8 of TPS 2 contains the environmental conditions set by the Minister for the Environment as conditions of Amendment 300 to the City's then TPS 1. The conditions require a number of environmental management plans to be prepared (these matters are addressed in Section 1.3.5 and Section 2 of this report).

The subject site is also located within the catchment area of Development Contribution Area No. 2 (DCA2). DCA2 seeks to provide for the equitable sharing of the costs of community infrastructure and administrative costs between landowners. Cost contributions are required as a result of subdivision or development of land within the DCA2 area. The calculation of the cost contribution is provided within Schedule 12 of TPS 2 and is based on dwelling yields.

The Structure Plan proposes the subject site be zoned 'Residential' under TPS 2. All subdivision, development and land use is to be in accordance with the provisions of the Residential zone under TPS 2. A scheme amendment to TPS 2 will eventually be required to 'normalise' this Structure Plan (i.e. transfer the relevant zonings and R-Codes of the Structure Plan into TPS 2).

Refer to Figure 4 – Extract of City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 2

1.3.2 Regional and Sub-regional Structure Plans

1.3.2.1 Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan

The Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan (DSP) was endorsed by the WAPC in August 2000 and was last modified in September 2006. The DSP guides the preparation of future, more detailed (local) structure plans by setting out broad land uses, open space and road networks. The Structure Plan area is located within 'Precinct 2' of the DSP. The DSP has been given due regard in the preparation of this Structure Plan.

Refer to Figure 5 - Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan (as amended)

1.3.3 Planning Strategies

1.3.3.1 Directions 2031 and Beyond

Directions 2031 and Beyond (Directions 2031) is a spatial planning framework; a high level strategic plan that establishes a vision for the future growth of the Perth and Peel region. It provides a framework to guide the detailed planning and delivery of housing, infrastructure and services necessary to accommodate that growth.

The subject site is located within the 'South Metropolitan Peel Sub-region' which by 2031, is anticipated to reach a total population of 278,000 – a growth of 70,000 people and requiring an additional 41,000 dwellings. The Structure Plan assists in delivering new dwellings to reach this target.

1.3.3.2 Outer Metropolitan Perth and Peel Sub-regional Strategy

The Sub-regional strategies provide a framework for delivering the objectives of Directions 2031. The Structure Plan area is identified as 'Urban Zoned Undeveloped' under the Outer Metropolitan Perth and Peel Sub-regional Strategy as depicted on the South-west Sub-regional Spatial Framework Map. The wider north Baldivis area is projected to yield 3,900+ dwellings by 2031 based on 15 dwellings per gross urban zoned hectare. This Structure Plan aims to achieve approximately 18 dwellings per gross hectare and therefore meets the target set under Directions 2031 and the Sub-regional Strategy.



Figure 4. Extract of City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 2



1.3.3.3 Draft Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million

The Draft Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million framework (the Framework) is an overarching document building on the vision laid down by Directions 2031. It aims to achieve a more consolidated urban form to meet long-term housing needs and strengthen key activity centres and employment nodes as the Perth and Peel population grows to 3.5 million. The Framework guides infill development to increase residential housing choice and to reduce the need for people to commute long distances for work. The Structure Plan area is identified as 'Urban' under the South Metropolitan Peel Sub-regional Planning Framework.

The Framework sets a residential site density target of 26 dwellings per residential site hectare. This Structure Plan aims to achieve approximately 24 dwellings per residential site hectare and therefore generally satisfies the intent of the Draft Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million framework.

1.3.3.4 City of Rockingham Urban Growth Programme (2009)

The City of Rockingham's Urban Growth Programme assists in understanding the likely pattern of urban growth to 2031. The Growth Mapping identifies the Structure Plan area as being developed for future urban purposes. This Structure Plan provides the guiding framework to facilitate future urban development.

1.3.4 Planning Policies

1.3.4.1 State Planning Policy 2.1 – Peel Harvey Coastal Plain Catchment

The Structure Plan area is located within the catchment of the Peel-Harvey estuarine system. State Planning Policy 2.1 (SPP2.1) provides guidance regarding planning requirements for land use changes within this catchment. The relevant objectives of State Planning Policy 2.1 are to:

- Improve the social, economic, ecological, aesthetic, and recreational potential of the Peel - Harvey coastal plain catchment;
- Ensure that changes to land use within the catchment to the Peel – Harvey estuarine system are controlled so as to avoid and minimise environmental damage; and
- Balance environmental protection with the economic viability of the primary sector.

This Structure Plan incorporates principles of Water Sensitive Urban Design and Best Management Practice as demonstrated in the accompanied Local Water Management Strategy (LWMS) (Refer to Section 3.6 of this report).

1.3.4.2 State Planning Policy 3 – Urban Growth and Settlement

SPP3 provides high-level objectives relating to the desired pattern of urban development in the State. SPP 3 provides the following objectives being of relevance to the future development of the Structure Plan area:

- To build on existing communities having established local and regional economies, concentrating investment in the improvement of services and infrastructure and enhancing the quality of life in those communities;
- To manage the growth and development of urban areas in response to the social and economic needs of the community in recognition of relevant climatic, environmental, heritage and community values and constraints; and
- To promote the development of a sustainable and liveable neighbourhood form which reduces energy, water and travel demand whilst ensuring safe and convenient access to employment and services by all modes, provides choice and affordability of housing and creates an identifiable sense of place for each community.

The Structure Plan area would present an opportunity to provide family housing options where future residents would benefit greatly from the range of employment, services, shopping, entertainment and sustainable transport opportunities in the locality, with new dwellings optimising the use of established infrastructure networks.

1.3.4.3 State Planning Policy 3.1 Residential Design Codes

The Residential Design Codes (R-Codes) provide the comprehensive basis for the control of residential development through the State. The future subdivision and development of the Structure Plan area will be required to satisfy the relevant provisions of the R-Codes. In this regard, the Structure Plan proposes a residential density of, as described by the R-Codes, of R25.

1.3.4.4 State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning for Bushfire Risk Management and Planning for Bushfire Risk Management Guidelines

SPP3.7 intends to assist in reducing the risk of bushfire to people, property and infrastructure by taking a riskminimisation approach to development proposed in bushfire prone areas. A designated Bushfire prone area is an area that has been identified and designated by the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998* (as amended). Such areas are identified on the *Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas*.

The Structure Plan area is designated as being Bushfire Prone. In accordance with SPP3.7 and the associated Guidelines, the Structure Plan road and lot layout has been influenced by the outcomes of an indicative Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) contour plan and associated Bushfire Management Plan (BMP) (refer to Section 2.7 of this report).

Part One of the Structure Plan report lists the situations where Local Development Plans are required to be prepared at subdivision stage to ensure bushfire risk is addressed.

1.3.4.5 Development Control Policy 2.3 Public Open Space in Residential Areas

The main component of Development Control Policy 2.3 (DC2.3) is the requirement for 10 percent of the gross subdivisional area of a residential subdivision to be provided as public open space (guided by Liveable Neighbourhoods, see below). Clause 4.3 of DC2.3 allows for a cash payment to be made by the subdivider in lieu of providing land for open space, particularly if the land area is such that a 10 percent land contribution would be too small to be of practical use or open space is planned in a nearby location. Refer to Section 3.5 of this report.

1.3.4.6 Liveable Neighbourhoods 2009

Liveable Neighbourhoods is an operational policy, adopted by the WAPC, for the design and assessment of structure plans and subdivisions for residential development. The elements of Liveable Neighbourhoods primarily relate to large-scale, greenfield structure planning and subdivision and accordingly a detailed assessment of the structure plan is not provided. Rather, a simple assessment against the relevant elements and objectives of Liveable Neighbourhoods is provided in Section 3.7 of this report.

1.3.4.7 Planning Bulletin No. 87 – High Pressure Gas Transmission Pipelines in the Perth Metropolitan Region

WAPC Planning Bulletin No. 87 provides guidance for planning and development proposals that are located within the vicinity of regional gas pipelines, including the Parmelia Gas Pipeline. Table 1 of the Bulletin provides for a 65m setback between residential development and the gas pipeline easement 'as of right'. The Structure Plan area is in excess of this setback distance however is located within the 'notification area' to ensure consultation occurs with the pipeline owners for any planning proposal.

1.3.4.8 Planning Bulletin No.112 -Medium-Density Single House Development Standards - Structure Plan Areas

In May 2015, the WAPC released Planning Bulletin No. 112 to introduce new standard residential-medium density deemed-to-comply R-Code provisions within Structure Plans. Whilst this approach is now inconsistent with the requirements of the WAPC's Structure Plan Framework (August 2015), and cannot be included in this structure plan, future development may be guided by applicable local planning policies and/or local development plans adapted by the City that incorporate the objectives of the Planning Bulletin.

1.3.5 Other Planning Approvals and Decisions

The Structure Plan area comprised part of Amendment No. 300 to the City of Rockingham's previous Town Planning Scheme No. 1, which was initiated to rezone the Structure Plan area and surrounding land from 'Rural' to 'Development' in line with the underlying MRS 'Urban' zoning. The rezoning application was assessed by the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) in 2001 and it was determined that the proposal could be implemented subject to conditions. The approval and associated conditions are outlined in Ministerial Statement No. 580 (dated 19th December 2001) which has been attached as Appendix 2. The conditions require preparation of various management plans. A brief outline of the conditions and how they have been addressed by this Structure Plan has been provided below:

• Condition 1 - Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan has been addressed through the Local Water Management Strategy prepared in accordance with the Department of Water's (DoW) Better Urban Water Management Guidelines (refer to Section 2.3.6 of this report).

- Condition 2 Soil and Groundwater Investigation and Remediation Plan has been addressed through the Preliminary Site Investigation undertaken as part of the Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study (refer to Section 2 of this report).
- Condition 3 Pipeline Protection Plan is not relevant to this site as the Structure Plan area is located outside the pipeline buffer.
- Condition 4 Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan is not relevant to this site as no active market garden operations occur in the vicinity of the Structure Plan area.
- Condition 5 Vegetation Management Plan is not relevant to this site as no regionally significant vegetation (i.e. Bush Forever Site 356) occurs in the vicinity of the Structure Plan area.

1.3.6 Pre-lodgement Consultation

Pre-lodgement consultation is summarised in the table below. It should be noted that the project team has also had various discussions with the City of Rockingham via telephone that have not been documented.

Agency	Date of Consultation	Method of Consulttion	Comments/ Outcome
CoR	1 September 2015	Meeting	TPG - initial meeting to discuss expectations and format of the Structure Plan. Applicant made aware of recent draft Structure Plan over Portion of Lot 306 to the north.
			Key technical studies advised to be water and drainage, bushfire, traffic and contamination. Acknowledged Environmental Conditions under TPS 2 Schedule 8.
			Density suitable at R25.
CoR	20-30 November 2015	Email correspondence	Emerge - query regarding water management approach, potential to discharge offsite and/or store subsurface beneath road reserves.
			Response from CoR indicating acceptance of subsurface beneath road reserves and suggesting investigating roadside bio retention areas.
CoR	25 November 2015	Meeting	TPG - progress meeting to discuss outcomes of BAL assessment, design elements of revised subdivision concept plan and technical studies underway.
CoR	21 December 2015	Email correspondence	TPG - CoR provided in-principle support for the proposed road closure of a portion of McDonald Road considered surplus to needs.
CoR	5 January 2016	Email correspondence	Emerge – obtaining existing information regarding adjacent areas.
CoR	12-15 January 2016	Email correspondence	Shawmac - obtaining traffic data for report.
CoP	8 February 2016	Email correspondence	Review of draft Part One - Implementation
DoP	15 December 2015	Email correspondence	TPG - query regarding the rural balance lot to the east of the Structure Plan area and the proposed subdivision concept/road location. DoP (Paul Sewell) superficially confirmed that the response to the Rural/Urban demarcation appears logical and appropriate.
DoP	15 December 2015	Email correspondence	Emerge - to DoP.
DoP	9-10 February 2015	Email correspondence	Review of draft Part One - Implementation
WC	6 March 2015	Email correspondence/ telephone	Pritchard Francis - confirmation within existing network planning.
DoW	11 December 2015	Telephone discussion	Emerge – discussions with Brett Dun regarding approval process and groundwater levels.
DoW	11-14 December 2015	Email correspondence	Emerge – query to and subsequent response from Brett Dun confirming that groundwater level monitoring at the site is not required.

Table 2 – Pre-lodgement Consultation

2. Site Conditions and Constraints

The following section provides a summary of the key findings from the various consultant reports, including:

- Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study (Appendix 3);
- Environmental Assessment and Management Strategy (Appendix 4)
- Bushfire Management Plan (Appendix 5); and
- Infrastructure Servicing Report (Appendix 6).

2.1 Landform and Soils

The site ranges in height from 4.2m Australian Height Datum (AHD) to 7.2mAHD. The highest levels are located in the west of the site, providing an easterly aspect. The lowest parts of the site are located along McDonald Road.

A geotechnical assessment was undertaken for the site by Galt Geotechnics which found ground conditions to be generally as expected based on the regional mapping, with the following observations noted specific to the site:

- Sand, medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brown becoming yellow with depth, trace limestone cobbles and gravel, typically loose to dense, present from surface to depth of between 1m extending to the maximum depth investigation (2.5m).
- Limestone, present below the sand layer, rockhead varying from depths between about 1m and more than the maximum depth of investigation (2.5m). Imported fill was found to occur in the northwest of the site, associated with the existing residence in this portion of the site.

Refer to Appendix 3 - Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study

2.1.1 Acid Sulfate Soils

Mapping from the geotechnical report shows the site having no known risk of Acid Sulfate Soils occurring at depths less than 3m from the surface. The nearest high risk area is located approximately 50-100m to the south west of the site, likely associated with wetlands in this area (discussed below).

2.2 Biodiversity and Natural Assets

2.2.1 Flora and Vegetation

The site has been historically cleared of remnant vegetation to support agricultural land uses and now supports areas of grassland dominated by weeds, with a small number of planted non-native trees in the western extent of the site. Due to the complete removal of remnant vegetation from the site, based on a site inspection by Emerge botanists, vegetation is considered to be in 'Completely Degraded' condition.

Given the extent of historic disturbance within the site, there is unlikely to be any significant flora species present within the site. It is also highly unlikely that any areas of Threatened or Priority Ecological Communities should occur within the site. There are no declared Environmentally Sensitive Areas within the site.

2.2.2 Fauna

Given the extent of historic disturbance within the site, any fauna species present would be generally common and widespread species with non-specific requirements that allow them to persist in highly disturbed habitats. There are no known black cockatoo roosting or breeding sites located within or in the vicinity of the site, and while areas of remnant vegetation west of the site are mapped as potential foraging habitat, there is none within the site.

Refer to Appendix 4 - Environmental Assessment and Management Strategy

2.3 Hydrology

2.3.1 Groundwater

Recent groundwater monitoring data from the residential subdivision to the east ('The Chimes') indicate that a maximum groundwater level of 1.38mAHD was recorded in a bore located approximately 30m from the south eastern corner of the site in July 2012. Depth to the maximum groundwater level (MGL) therefore ranges between 2.82m below ground level (BGL) and 5.82m BGL. Recent groundwater monitoring data from the draft Part Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan to the north of the site indicate that a MGL of 1.82mAHD was recorded in a bore located approximately 20m from the north-western corner of the site in September 2014. Refer to Section 3.6 of this report.

2.3.2 Surface Water

No surface water features have been observed within the site, and no external surface water catchments direct surface water flows into the Structure Plan area. Rainfall would infiltrate freely across the site due to the high permeability of the underlying sands.

2.3.3 Wetlands

Based on a desktop search of the Department of Parks and Wildlife's Geomorphic Wetlands series mapping within Landgate's Shared Land Information Portal, there are no wetlands located within the Structure Plan area. A Dampland Conservation Category Wetland is located approximately 75m southwest of the site. The Structure Plan area is located outside of any buffer distance requirement.

Refer to Appendix 4 - Environmental Assessment and Management Strategy

2.4 Historical Land Uses and Potential Contamination

Based on a review of historic aerial photography the site was cleared of native vegetation prior to 1953 (earliest available aerial image) for agricultural purposes and to allow for subsequent market garden land uses. Market garden land uses are generally considered to have a low risk of contamination but are listed in the DER's Potentially Contaminating Activities, Industries and Landuses guideline. As part of the geotechnical investigation undertaken for the site, limited contamination investigations were also undertaken, involving a desktop assessment and review of historic aerial photography, excavation of test pits and bore holes, and the laboratory testing of soil samples for heavy metals and pesticides. These investigations indicated that there was no evidence of soil contamination within the site as a result of historic market garden land uses and therefore it is unlikely that soils within the site have been impacted to an extent that would restrict development for urban purposes.

A search of the Department of Environment Regulation's (DER) Contaminated Sites Database and Register found there to be no registered contaminated sites within or immediately adjacent to the site.

2.5 Surrounding Land Uses

2.5.1 Poultry Farm

An existing poultry farm is situated approximately 850 m south-east of the site. Based on the EPA's Guidance Statement No. 3 Separation Distances between Industrial and Sensitive Land Uses there is a recommended generic separation distance of 300-1000m (depending on the size of the operation) between poultry farming facilities and sensitive land uses.

A detailed and site specific odour impact assessment was undertaken for the poultry farm, as part of local structure planning for the landholdings east of Baldivis Road. The assessment indicated an off-site odour impact of up to 100m in any direction from the poultry sheds. This recommended separation distance will not result in any consideration for the Structure Plan area.

2.5.2 Market Gardens

Landholdings to the north of the site have been subject to extensive historic market garden activities. This area is zoned 'Urban' under the MRS and is intended for future urban development under the Baldivis (North) DSP. It is understood that the landowner is currently progressing planning for the urban development of this area, therefore this historic land use is not a key consideration or constraint to urban development within the site.

2.6 Bushfire Hazard

A BMP has been prepared to provide guidance on how to plan for and manage the potential bushfire threat to the Structure Plan area and its future development. The BMP identifies the BAL and subsequently addresses requirements expected of local governments, the developer and property owners, and details the specific fire management requirements that will be implemented within the development and design.

The BMP demonstrates that mitigation of the bushfire risk to the Structure Plan area can be achieved as follows:

- Providing appropriate vehicular access options (proposed loop roads);
- Providing sufficient water supply to ensure emergency services are able to respond to a bushfire event (reticulated water supply);
- Siting development to ensure buildings are not exposed to an unacceptable level of radiant flux, without appropriate mitigation measures (implemented through subsequent LDP(s));
- The BMP concludes that the proposed design of subdivision and modified vegetation are such that with the implementation of the BMP, the fire threat to persons and property within the Structure Plan area is reduced to an acceptable level;
- Dwellings located within 100m of identified classified vegetation will have bushfire risk mitigated through the use of an appropriate asset protection zone (APZ) and construction standards via compliance with AS3959; and
- The indicative BAL assessment demonstrates that BAL-29 would not be exceeded and an APZ can be accommodated within the proposed future road reserves in the south and west of the site, in response to the adjacent bushfire hazards.

Further, the Bushfire Prone areas determined for the site (as shown within Figure 9 of the BMP) could be used by the City to update the *Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas*.

Refer to Figure 6 – Indicative Bushfire Attack Levels

Refer to Appendix 5 - Bushfire Management Plan

2.7 Infrastructure Servicing and Utilities

An Infrastructure Servicing Report (ISR) has been prepared to address various servicing requirements for the indicative subdivision concept. The ISR concludes that the future development of the Structure Plan area is not constrained by service capacities or upgrades with all services in close proximity to the site.

Note: infrastructure within the McDonald Road reserve subject to the proposed road closure will be relocated at the developer's expense.

Refer to Appendix 6 - Infrastructure Servicing Report

2.7.1 Stormwater Drainage

An underground pit and pipe network is intended for the site and will be disposed of into underground tanks, allowing for infiltration and attenuation of the critical 1:100 year ARI event (refer to Section 3.6 of this report).

2.7.2 Sewerage

A 150mm diameter sewer has been allowed for to service the expected lots. This can then gravity feed into the 150mm diameter sewer running along the west side of McDonald Road and then to the existing wastewater pump station adjacent to the lot. The sewerage catchment has been confirmed by the Water Corporation and the system has sufficient capacity for the 29 lot development (plus the rural balance lot).

2.7.3 Water Supply

The site currently has a 150mm water main on the eastern side of McDonald Road. It is likely that connections into the 150mm main will be able to supply the site with water, which has been indicated by the Water Corporation. Connection will need to be bored under McDonald Road. It is assumed internal water reticulation mains will be 100mm.

2.7.4 Power

Existing electrical infrastructure adjacent to the site includes high and low voltage cables along both sides of McDonald Road, and an existing transformer directly opposite the Structure Plan area on McDonald Road. Regional mapping indicates the site will have 15-20MVA capacity in 2020 hence it is not anticipated capacity will be an issue.

2.7.5 Communication

There is existing Telstra network located in McDonald Road, which is the existing service currently servicing the dwellings on site. It is expected there will be capacity to service this site. Optic fibre currently exists along Fifty Road.

2.7.6 Gas

There is existing 110mm high pressure gas pipelines on the east side of McDonald Road. 40mm high pressure mains connect into this larger main to service the existing residential area to the east. It is expected this network will have capacity to service the development.



Figure 6. Indicative Bushfire Attack Levels

3. Structure Plan

The following section provides the rationale for the proposed subdivision concept plan, which forms the basis for the Structure Plan zoning.

Refer to Figure 7 – Subdivision Concept Plan

3.1 Context

The immediate area is in transition from historically rural land (market gardens and poultry farms) to new residential estates. A number of larger lots in this area have undertaken coordinated planning to provide a variety of lot sizes, including new local centres and public open space. The Peet and Co. estate of 'The Chimes' is located directly adjacent and east of the site. A National Lifestyle Village and a number of public assembly uses are located to the northwest and west of the site.

A neighbourhood centre, including primary school, is located within an 800m walkable catchment of the Structure Plan area; to the east on Fifty Road. District open space is provided throughout the Baldivis (North) DSP, including an organised recreation reserve adjacent to the neighbourhood centre and a lineal parkway following the Parmelia gas pipeline corridor to the west of the site.

3.2 Interface with Surrounding Land

At the time of writing this report, structure planning was being progressed over Lot 306 to the north of the site, which has been given due regard in the preparation of the subdivision concept plan. The subdivision concept plan includes the following interface design elements:

- Residential lots abut the northern lot boundary of the Structure Plan area, consistent with the draft Portion of Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan so as to not create dual-frontage lots;
- The proposed road layout comprises a north-south access road that generally connects into the proposed road layout of the draft Portion of Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan;

- A road closure is proposed to the portion of McDonald Road surplus to the required 18m wide road reserve. The road closure will facilitate the orderly development of the site in accordance with the Structure Plan and the draft structure plan for portion of Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis to the north by rationalising or 'neatening up' the cadastral boundary anomaly with Lot 306, which will result in a better urban design outcome for the streetscape and the future corner lot; and
- An area of local public open space is provided adjacent to the Structure Plan area on the opposite side of McDonald Road. The subdivision concept plan positions smaller lots fronting McDonald Road to take advantage of the outlook and amenity.

3.3 Residential Densities and Dwelling Forecasts

The Structure Pan provides for residential development at a density, as described by the R-Codes, of R25. The subdivision concept plan suggests the Structure Plan area can yield 29 lots, which equates to a density of 24 dwellings per residential site hectare and approximately 18 dwellings per gross hectare of urban zoned land. The Structure Plan generally provides for the achievement of the residential density targets set by the WAPC in its State strategic planning documents.

3.4 Movement Network

A Transport Assessment has been prepared to support the subdivision concept plan and the key findings are outlined below.

Refer to Appendix 7 - Transport Assessment

3.4.1 Access

Access to the Structure Plan area is proposed via two local access roads from McDonald Road. All roads within the subdivision area will be constructed as access roads, with cross section details, line marking, intersection control and local area traffic management measures to be addressed during the detailed subdivision design stages.

3.4.2 Road Hierarchy

'Road 1' comprises a 15m wide road reserve, designed for short, low volume and low parking demand access streets. 'Road 2' also comprises a 15m wide road reserve, with 13m contained within the Structure Plan area and the additional 2m contained on adjoining Lot 101. This arrangement is justified on the basis that 'Road 2' will only be serving one side of the road in the short-medium term and any future development of adjoining Lot 101 may utilise the constructed road, having regard for the need for a 15m wide road reserve.

Refer to Figure 8 – Internal Road Hierarchy

Refer to Figure 9 -Road Cross Sections

3.4.3 Pedestrian and Cycle Network

Footpaths with a minimum width of 1.5 m are recommended to be provided on at least one side of each of the internal access roads with connections to the established pedestrian and cycling network external to the area, as well as to future urban development north and east of the subject site.

Due to the expected low volumes of traffic and the low speed environment on the internal access roads, on-road cycle lanes are not required and cyclists are able to safely share the roadway with motorised vehicles. There is a 2.5m concrete path on the north side of the road, east of McDonald Road however there are no formal facilities from McDonald Road to Mandurah Road in the west for cyclists or pedestrians.

3.4.4 Public Transport

There are limited public transport services in the area. A bus route travelling along McDonald Road is identified in the Baldivis (North) DSP (refer to Figure 13 of the Transport Assessment) and it is expected that that bus routes will better service the wider Baldivis area in the future.

3.4.5 Traffic Generation

A trip generation and distribution exercise was completed as part of the Transport Assessment and determined that the proposed subdivision would generate 240 vehicular trips per day. The majority of the trips would permeate through the local road network to McDonald Road north to Kerosene Lane and south to Fifty Road. A future road connection via the eastern access road to the northern subdivision will also permeate through the road network.

The Transport Assessment modelled traffic flows for the internal road network, as shown in Table 3 (refer to Section 5.2 of the Transport Assessment).

Table 3 – Internal Roads Future Daily Traffic Volumes

Road Name	Predicted Traffic Volumes (vpd)
Road 1	139
Road 2	62
Road 3	15
McDonald Road	168

The predicted subdivision traffic flows were added to the estimated volumes of traffic for McDonald Road upon the ultimate development of the surrounding site, as shown in Table 4 (refer to Section 5.5 of the Transport Assessment).

Table 4 - Existing Road Network Predicted Flows

Road Name	Curent/ Predicted External Traffic Volumes (vpd)	Predicted Traffic Volumes (vpd)	Change in Traffic
McDonald Road	2,500	2,668	+ 168 vpd
Fifty Road	2,500	2,668	+ 168 vpd

The traffic generated was not large enough to warrant any intersection analysis, under the Table 6.1 of Austroads Guide to Traffic Management Part 3 - Traffic Studies and Analysis, and as such there are no safety or operational issues expected.

3.5 Public Open Space

Public open space has not been provided within the Structure Plan due to the relative size and location of the Structure Plan area in relation to surrounding local and district open space. A cash-in-lieu payment is considered acceptable in this instance.

The provision of 10 percent public open space in this instance would yield an area of approximately 1,850 sqm, which is considered impractical in terms of use and / or ongoing maintenance due to its size. Public open space has been provided directly adjacent to the Structure Plan area and other public open space is planned within the adjoining draft Portion of Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan.


Figure 7. Subdivision Concept Plan

This page has been left blank intentionally.





Figure 9. Road Cross Sections



3.6 Local Water Management Strategy

A LWMS has been prepared to support the future urban development of the Structure Plan. The LWMS has been prepared in accordance with the WAPC's Better Urban Water Management, State Planning Policy 2.9 Water Resources, and Planning Bulletin 92 Urban Water Management. Water will be managed using an integrated water cycle management approach, which has been development using the philosophies and best practice design described in the Department of Water's Stormwater Management Manual for Western Australia.

The LWMS addresses the following:

- Water conservation and water efficiency;
- Stormwater management; runoff quantity and quality; and
- Groundwater management.

Of note however is the stormwater management approach. The project team, in consultation with the City, determined that the drainage basin constructed within the adjacent residential estate, 'The Chimes', may not have sufficient capacity to accommodate stormwater from the Structure Plan area. The development drainage system for the Structure Plan area therefore *allows* for sub-surface storage to be utilised that is designed to treat minor event runoff and retain major event runoff (i.e. the 100 year ARI event) within the site. Water will be pre-treated before entering the subsurface storage cells via a lined pre-treatment chamber.

Subsurface storage will be used to retain up to the 100 year ARI event runoff from the road network and 10 percent of residential lots (i.e. front driveways) resulting in no offsite discharge. Indicative locations of subsurface storage are provided in Figure 6 of the LWMS. Subsurface storage cells maintain sufficient clearance from maximum groundwater levels. Stormwater within individual residential lots will be contained on-site within soak wells.

Note: The rural balance lot to the west of the Structure Plan area (and within Lot 16) will retain and infiltrate runoff up to the 100 year ARI event on-lot. This approach is consistent with the existing hydrology of the site which is characterised by the high permeability of underlying soils.

It is anticipated that a more detailed water management plan, in the form of an Urban Water Management Plan, will be required as a condition of subdivision approval.

Notwithstanding the above stormwater approach, the LWMS notes that an alternate surface retention-based approach will be investigated as part of detailed civil design. This includes investigating the initialisation of the planned drainage basin located in adjoining Lot 306 (20) McDonald Road, Baldivis.

3.7 Basic Liveable Neighbourhoods Assessment

The subdivision concept plan has been assessed against the objectives of the WAPC's Liveable Neighbourhoods and its various design elements. The subdivision concept plan incorporates the following attributes in accordance with Liveable Neighbourhoods:

Element 1: Community Design

 Connects new urban areas to existing or proposed urban areas ensuring permeability and provides for a safe, convenient, permeable and legible pedestrian network. Regard has been given to the draft structure plan over adjoining Lot 306 to the north in terms of lot placement and future opportunities to connect the road network.

Element 2: Movement Network

- The internal access road network is site responsive and highly connected (bushfire considerations, connections to Lot 306);
- The access road layout provides lots with a continuous street frontage that is safe and efficient for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, including emergency vehicles;
- Footpaths are provided for on at least one side of the local access roads;
- Kerb radii is appropriate for the relevant road hierarchies;
- Verge design to accommodate space for utility services, street trees, paths and landscaping; and
- Stormwater management infrastructure has been designed to take into account the access road network and catchment characteristics.

Element 3: Lot Design

- The proposed street and lot layout facilitates climate responsive design and acknowledges bushfire risk;
- Lots are of a size, width and shape that provides for solar orientation, usable private outdoor space, and garaging that does not dominate the street;
- A range of residential lot sizes are provided for and are suitable for a variety of housing types;
- Connection to underground power, reticulated water and wastewater can be provided for each lot, with reticulated water being provided for emergency service use in the event of a bushfire event; and
- Stormwater is anticipated to be retained within the Structure Plan area via subsurface storage cells and on-lot retention/detention.

Technical Studies Appendices

No.	Technical Study	Nature of Document	Assessing Agency	Status
1	Certificate of Title	Information Only	N/A	N/A
2	Ministerial Statement No. 580	Information Only	N/A	N/A
3	Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study	Information Only	N/A	N/A
4	Environmental Assessment and Management Strategy	Supporting document	CoR, WAPC, DPaW, DER	
5	Bushfire Management Plan	Supporting document	CoR, WAPC, DPaW, DFES	
6	Infrastructure Servicing Report	Information Only	N/A	N/A
7	Traffic Assessment	Supporting document	CoR, WAPC	
8	Local Water Management Strategy	Supporting document	CoR, WAPC, DPaW, DoW	

Abbreviations

- AHD Australian Height Datum
- ASS Acid Sulfate Soils
- BAL Bushfire Attack Level
- BMP Bushfire Management Plan
- CoR City of Rockingham
- DER Department of Environment Regulation
- DoW Department of Water
- DFES Department of Fire and Emergency Services
- DPaW Department of Parks and Wildlife
- DSP District Structure Plan
- EPA Environmental Protection Authority
- LDP Local Development Plan
- LWMS Local Water Management Strategy
- MRS Metropolitan Region Scheme
- TPS Town Planning Scheme
- WAPC Western Australian Planning Commission
- WC Water Corporation
- WP Western Power

This page has been left blank intentionally.

Appendix 1

Certificate of Title

This page has been left blank intentionally.

			REGD 16/	D37055
	1/建	4	DUPI.KOATE IDITION	DATE DUPLICATE ISSUE
	WESTERN	AUSTRALIA	N/A	N/A
REC	CORD OF CERTI	FICATE OF TIT	ГLE	VOLUME FOLI 2827 165
The person described in the first schedule is the reservations conditions and death limit contains	registered proprietor of an estate in f	ee simple in the land described be	elow subject to the	nd
iotifications shown in the second schedule.	ea in the original grant (if a grant iss	and to the minitations, mare	1 I	Sinda Da
		4	Jul	
		REGIST	RAR OF TITI	ES ARMAUBTAR
DEFENCE HOUSING AUSTRALI/	REGISTERED P (FIRST SCF A OF 26 BRISBANE AVEN	ROPRIETOR: IEDULE) UE BARTON ACT 2600 (T N205053) REGISTE	SRED 16 DEC	EMBER 2015
LIMITATION	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC	BRANCES AND NOTI HEDULE)	FICATIONS:	
LIMITATION Warning: A current search of the sketch of the * Any entries preceded by an asterist Lot as described in the land description	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC e land should be obtained where detai de may not appear on the current editi tion may be a lot or location.	BRANCES AND NOTI HEDULE) I of position, dimensions or area on of the duplicate certificate of t	FICATIONS: of the lot is required little,	l.
LIMITATION Warning: A current search of the sketch of the * Any entries preceded by an asterist Lot as described in the land description	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC e land should be obtained where detain sk may not appear on the current edition tion may be a lot or location. END OF CERTIFIC	BRANCES AND NOTI HEDULE) I of position, dimensions or area on of the duplicate certificate of the CATE OF TITLE	FICATIONS: of the lot is required little,	
LIMITATION Warning: A current search of the sketch of the * Any entries preceded by an asterist Lot as described in the land description	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC e land should be obtained where detain as may not appear on the current edition tion may be a lot or location. END OF CERTIFIC STATEM	BRANCES AND NOTI HEDULE) For position, dimensions or area on of the duplicate certificate of the CATE OF TITLE ENTS:	FICATIONS: of the lot is required litle,	I.
LIMITATION Warning: A current search of the sketch of the * Any entries preceded by an asterist Lot as described in the land description The statements set out be and the relevant	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC a land should be obtained where detain as may not appear on the current edition ion may be a lot or location. END OF CERTIFIC STATEM elow are not intended to be nor shoul int documents or for local government	BRANCES AND NOTI HEDULE) fof position, dimensions or area on of the duplicate certificate of the CATE OF TITLE ENTS: d they be rehed on as substitutes f d, legal, surveying or other profes	FICATIONS: of the lot is required title, for mspection of the ssional advice.	l. land
LIMITATION Warning: A current search of the sketch of the * Any entries preceded by an asterist Lot as described in the land description The statements set out be and the relovan SKETCH OF LAND:	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC e land should be obtained where detail de may not appear on the current edition tion may be a lot or location. END OF CERTIFIC STATEM elow are not intended to be nor shoul- ent documents or for local government 181-75A (16/D37055).	BRANCES AND NOTI CHEDULE) I of position, dimensions or area on of the duplicate certificate of the CATE OF TITLE ENTS: d they be relied on as substitutes i, legal, surveying or other profes	FICATIONS: of the lot is required fitle, for mspection of the ssional advice.	i.
LIMITATION Warning: A current search of the sketch of the * Any entries preceded by an asterist Lot as described in the land descript The statements set out be and the relevan SKETCH OF LAND: PREVIOUS TITLE: PREVIOUS TITLE:	NS, INTERESTS, ENCUM (SECOND SC a land should be obtained where detain as may not appear on the current edition may be a lot or location. END OF CERTIFIC STATEM elow are not intended to be nor shoul- ent documents or for local government 181-75A (16/D37055). 181-75A.	BRANCES AND NOTI HEDULE) for position, dimensions or area of on of the duplicate certificate of the CATE OF TITLE ENTS: d they be relied on as substitutes f t, legal, surveying or other profes	FICATIONS: of the lot is required title, for mspection of the ssional advice.	l,

NOTE 1:

DUPLICATE CERTIFICATE OF TITLE NOT ISSUED AS REQUESTED BY DEALING L874122



Appendix 2

Ministerial Statement No. 580

This page has been left blank intentionally.



MINISTER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND HERITAGE

Statement No.

000520

STATEMENT THAT A SCHEME MAY BE IMPLEMENTED (PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF DIVISION 3 OF PART IV OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1986)

CITY OF ROCKINGHAM TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 1 AMENDMENT NO. 300 ("DEVELOPMENT" ZONE, PT LOTS 306 & 16, AND LOTS 313 & 774, FIFTY ROAD, BALDIVIS)

Scheme Purpose: To rezone Pt Lot 306, Pt Lot 16, and Lots 313 and 774 Fifty Road, Baldivis from "Rural" to "Development" zone.

Responsible Authority: City of Rockingham

Responsible Authority Address: PO Box 2142, Rockingham WA 6967

Assessment Number: 1227

Report of the Environmental Protection Authority: Bulletin 1018

Subject to the following conditions, there is no known environmental reason why the town planning scheme amendment to which the above report of the Environmental Protection Authority relates should not be implemented:

CONDITIONS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE SCHEME BY INSERTION OF PROVISIONS IN SCHEME TEXT

1 Environmental Management Plans

1-1 The following Environmental Management Plans shall be prepared in accordance with the specifications set out in Attachment 1 in the Minister for the Environment and Heritage's "Statement that a Scheme may be Implemented" No. [insert relevant Statement Number] published on [insert date], and shall be subsequently implemented in accordance with the provisions of the Plans:

Published on

1 9 DEC 2001

29th FLOOR, ALLENDALE SQUARE, 77 ST. GEORGE'S TERRACE, PERTH 6000 TELEPHONE: (08) 9220 5050 FACSIMILE: (08) 9221 4665/8 E-MAIL: judy-edwards@dpc.wa.gov.au

- Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan;
- Soil and Groundwater Contamination Investigation and Remediation Plan;
- Pipeline Protection Plan;
- Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan; and
- Vegetation Management Plan.

2 High Pressure Natural Gas Pipeline

- 2-1 The following activities, land uses and developments are prohibited within the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement:
 - Ground-disturbing activities, other than for the purposes for which the easement was created, and for uses and developments that comply with condition 2-2 below;
 - Temporary residence (including caravans, camping and similar);
 - Storage of materials and equipment;
 - Fires and barbecues;
 - Explosives, inflammables and corrosives (including storage of liquefied petroleum gas and fuel oil);
 - Refuse disposal and landfill;
 - Service stations, fuel lines and storage of fuel;
 - Vegetation with an expected growth exceeding one metre in height, and plantings within one metre of the centre of the pipeline (with the exception of lawn); and
 - Large obstructions to the line of sight along the easement.

Note: For the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement, the relevant Australian Standard is AS 2885.3.

- 2-2 The following land uses and developments may be permitted within the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement, with the written approval of the local government on advice of the pipeline operator, subject to compliance with the Pipeline Protection Plan referred to in condition 1-1 above:
 - Cycleways and footpaths;
 - Road crossings and services (with minimum depth of cover over the pipeline of 1.2 metres);
 - Public open space;
 - Signage and other facilities that are necessary to comply with the Pipeline Protection Plan referred to in condition 1-1 above; and
 - Car parking during the time that the adjoining land is being developed (with minimum depth of cover over the pipeline of 1.2 metres).
- 2-3 Minimum setbacks for land uses and developments from the centre of the high pressure natural gas pipeline shall be:

- 96 metres, in the case of sensitive development as determined by the local government on advice of the Department of Environmental Protection and the pipeline operator, and including aged persons' accommodation, child care centres, schools and hospitals;
- 32 metres to the boundary of each residential lot, in the case of residential development; and
- at the local government's discretion, following consultation with the Department of Environmental Protection and the pipeline operator, in the case of all other land uses and developments which facilitate the gathering of people, within 96 metres of the centre of the pipeline.

3 Development in Proximity to Market Gardens

3-1 If the market gardens adjacent to Pt Lots 306 and 16 are continuing to operate at the time of subdivision, noise attenuation measures shall be designed and implemented so that noise impacts on the amendment area are in accordance with the *Environmental Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997*.

CONDITIONS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE SCHEME BY MODIFICATIONS TO THE SCHEME MAP

4 Scheme Map

4-1 The Scheme Map for the City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 1 shall be amended by inserting the symbol EC and an appropriate modification to the legend of the Scheme Map, to show that environmental conditions apply to part of Pt Lot 306, part of Lot 16, Lots 774 and 313 Fifty Road, Baldivis.

ATTACHMENT 1 - OF STATEMENT THAT A SCHEME MAY BE IMPLEMENTED -CITY OF ROCKINGHAM TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 1 AMENDMENT NO. 300

SPECIFICATIONS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLANS

1 Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan

- 1-1 Prior to commencement of site works for subdivision or development, the subdivider or developer shall prepare a Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan to ensure that the rate, quantity and quality of water leaving the Amendment area will not adversely impact on Opwin and Spot Swamps, the Rockingham Groundwater Area groundwater supply, and the Peel-Harvey Estuarine System, to the requirements of the local government and on advice of the Water and Rivers Commission.
- 1-2 This Plan shall:
 - Define the catchment of Opwin and Spot Swamps in relation to the Amendment area;
 - Provide measures to facilitate the removal of pollutants and nutrients in accordance with the Water Sensitive Urban Design Best Practices;
 - Incorporate Best Practice Water Sensitive Urban Design principles to maximise onsite water infiltration generally;
 - Provide measures to prevent surface water runoff from entering the Opwin or Spot Swamps;
 - Provide mechanisms to minimise erosion during and after the development phase;
 - Provide a monitoring program, including definition of performance criteria and analysis procedures, to measure the performance of the Plan against objectives and performance criteria;
 - Provide contingency plans in the event that criteria are not achieved; and
 - Identify responsibilities for implementation of the Plan.

2 Soil and Groundwater Contamination Investigation and Remediation Plan

- 2-1 Prior to the commencement of site works for subdivision or development on any land that has previously been used for horticultural purposes, the subdivider or developer shall prepare and implement a Soil and Groundwater Contamination Investigation and Remediation Plan to the requirements of the local government and on advice of the Department of Environmental Protection.
- 2-2 This Plan shall
 - Include soil and groundwater investigation procedures to define the nature and extent of any soil or groundwater contamination, and identify areas where

contamination levels exceed criteria recognised by the Department of Environmental Protection; and

• In the event that the investigation finds unacceptable soil or groundwater contamination, describe procedures for further investigation of contamination, a detailed methodology for remediation prior to development, the standards to which any contaminated soil or groundwater will be remediated, and a management plan for contaminated areas, where necessary.

3 Pipeline Protection Plan

- 3-1 Prior to subdivision or development on any land within or abutting the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement, the subdivider or developer shall prepare a Pipeline Protection Plan to ensure protection of the pipeline during construction activities, to the requirements of local government, on advice of the Department of Mineral and Petroleum Resources and the pipeline operator.
- 3-2 This Plan shall
 - Detail measures to ensure public safety and protection of the high pressure natural gas pipeline in accordance with the *Petroleum Pipelines Act 1969-70*, the Australian Pipeline Code AS 2885-1997, SAA HB105 and the Environmental Protection Authority guidance statement for achieving its risk criteria for development in proximity to existing and proposed high pressure gas transmission pipelines, or the most recent equivalents recognised by the Environmental Protection Authority; and
 - Identify responsibilities for implementation of the Plan.

4 Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan

- 4-1 Prior to the approval of subdivision or development, the subdivider or developer shall prepare and implement a Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan to the requirements of the local government, on advice of the Department of Health, the Department of Agriculture and the Department of Environmental Protection.
- 4-2 This Plan shall
 - Require undertaking investigations of spray drift from all rural or semi-rural activities occurring within the proximity of the Amendment area, to clearly define impacts on the health and amenity of future residents; and
 - In the event that the investigations find that unacceptable health or amenity impacts are likely to affect the residents within the Amendment area, provide

management strategies to ensure that impacts on the health and amenity of future residents are acceptable.

5 Vegetation Management Plan

- 5-1 Prior to subdivision approval, the subdivider shall prepare a Vegetation Management Plan that protects the regionally significant vegetation abutting the Amendment area, particularly *Bush Forever* Site No. 356, from direct and indirect impacts associated with the development, through the provision of a hard edge along the amendment boundary and the implementation of appropriate construction and access management measures.
- 5-2 The Vegetation Management Plan shall be prepared to the satisfaction of the local government and on advice of the Department of Conservation and Land Management and the Department of Environmental Protection.



1 9 DEC 2001

Appendix 3

Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study

This page has been left blank intentionally.



Report on

GEOTECHNICAL AND PRELIMINARY ENVIRONMENTAL STUDY PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Submitted to:

Defence Housing Australia C/- Pritchard Francis Level 1, 430 Roberts Road SUBIACO WA 6008

J1501070 001 R Rev0

www.galtgeo.com.au 2/39 Flynn St, WEMBLEY WA 6 014 T: +61 (8) 6272-0200 F: +61 (8) 9285-8444

30 April 2015



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Inti	oduction1						
2.	Site	Site Description and Proposed Development						
3.	Obj	Objectives						
4.	Fie	ldwc	prk	2				
5.	Env	viron	mental Laboratory Testing	4				
6.	Site	e Coi	nditions	5				
	6.1	Ge	eology	5				
	6.2	Su	bsurface Conditions	5				
	6.3	Gr	oundwater	5				
7.	Geo	otec	hnical Assessment	6				
	7.1	Sit	e Classification	6				
	7.2	Sit	e Subsoil Class	6				
	7.3	Sit	e Preparation	6				
	7.4	Со	mpaction	7				
	7.5	Ap	pproved Fill	7				
	7.6	Ex	cavation	8				
	7.7	Re	taining Structures	8				
	7.8	Sh	allow Footings	9				
	7.9	Ра	vement Thickness Design	10				
	7.10	Sto	ormwater Disposal	.10				
8.	Env	viron	nmental Assessment	.11				
	8.1	De	esktop Assessment	.11				
	8.1	.1	Acid Sulfate Soils	.11				
	8.1	.2	Geomorphic Wetlands	.11				
	8.1	.3	Environmentally Sensitive Areas	11				
	8.1	.4	Historical Aerial Photographs	11				
	8.1	.5	Contaminated Sites Database	12				



	8.1.	6 Heritage	12
	8.2	Detailed Site Inspection	12
	8.3	Contamination Testing Results	12
	8.4	Summary	14
9.	Clos	sure	15

TABLES (WITHIN TEXT)

Table 1: Summary of Tests	3
Table 2: Summary of Permeability Test Results	4
Table 3: Retaining Structures Design Parameters	8
Table 4: Pad Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements	9
Table 5: Strip Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements	9
Table 6: Current and Historical Aerial Photographs	11
Table 7: Soil Analysis Results – Metals	13
Table 8: Soil Analysis Results – Pesticides	14

FIGURES

Figure 1: Site and Location Plan Figure 2: Indicative Environmental Aspects

Figures 3a to 3d: Historical Aerial Imagery

J1501070 001 R Rev0 30 April 2015

APPENDICES



APPENDIX A:	SITE PHOTOGRAPHS
APPENDIX B:	TEST PIT REPORTS
APPENDIX C:	HAND AUGER BOREHOLE REPORTS
APPENDIX D:	PERTH SAND PENETROMETER RESULTS
APPENDIX E:	PERMEABILITY TEST RESULTS
APPENDIX F:	ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY CERTIFICATES
APPENDIX G:	UNDERSTANDING YOUR REPORT



1. INTRODUCTION

This report presents the outcomes of Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd (Galt's) geotechnical and preliminary environmental study for the proposed residential subdivision at 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis ("the site"). The location of the site relative to the surrounding area is shown on Figure 1, Site and Location Plan.

The investigation was requested by Lachlan Harris of Pritchard Francis and authorised by Jody Fisher of Defence Housing Australia in a signed client authorisation dated 13 April 2015 and email correspondence dated 14 April 2015.

2. SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

Based on the supplied information, the site is rectangular in plan and covers an area of 2.06 ha. Based on publicly available contour mapping, the current surface elevation is understood to vary from about RL 5.0 m AHD in the north west corner, peaking in the middle of the site at about RL 7.0 m AHD, and falling to around RL 6.0 m AHD in the east of the site.

The site is currently occupied by several existing residential dwellings and structures, generally on the western third of the site, with scattered large, established trees and bushes. A track runs from McDonald Road, east to west along the centre of the site to the existing structures. The balance of the site is cleared and grassed, with some areas evidently used as a laydown area. We understand that part of the eastern half of the site has been used as market gardens.

We understand that the end client, Defence Housing Australia, has concerns about possible previous uncontrolled filling of the site.

It is understood that the proposed development will comprise a residential subdivision. The latest concept plan for the proposed residential subdivision shows the development comprising 25 residential sized lots, ranging in size from 342 m^2 up to 570 m^2 and 3 roads, with the balance of the lot $(5,976\text{m}^2)$ to consist of a rural zone, in which the existing residential dwelling will be retained.

We have not being given specific details regarding proposed structures on the site; however, we assume these will be typical single or double storey masonry structures, with shallow footings and slabs-on-ground

3. OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the study, based on the request from Pritchard Francis, were to:

Geotechnical

- assess subsurface soil and groundwater conditions across the site, including possible presence of rock / limestone and the possible presence of uncontrolled fill;
- provide recommendations on suitable footing systems for the proposed development;
- provide allowable bearing pressure and settlement estimates for shallow foundations;
- provide a site classification(s) in accordance with AS 2870-2011 "Residential Slabs and Footings";
- specify remediation work required to ensure that the site will have a site classification of "Class A", if required;
- provide recommendations and geotechnical design parameters for earth retaining structures;
- assess the appropriate site subsoil class for the site in accordance with AS 1170.4-2007;
- recommend appropriate site preparation procedures including compaction criteria, re-use of in-situ soil and specifications and preparations for filling the site;
- assess the suitability of excavated material for re-use as fill;



- assess the permeability of the soils at the site for potential on-site disposal of stormwater by infiltration, including design permeability rates;
- provide guidance on preparation of soil under pavements, roads and car parking areas, including providing a subgrade California bearing ratio (CBR) value for pavement thickness design by others.

Environmental

- conduct a desk study assessment and comment on the possible presence of acid sulfate soils (ASS) and other environmentally sensitive issues apparent from geotechnical investigation that may need further detailed investigation;
- assess the nature and extent of soil contamination in areas of the site where market gardening activities are known to have occurred (if any); and
- determine if soil contamination (if any) represents a risk to human health or the environment.

4. FIELDWORK

Fieldwork was completed on 20 April 2015 and comprised

- excavation of test pits at sixteen locations, TP01 to TP16, extending to depths of up to 2.5 m;
- testing with Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) adjacent to each test pit location and at an additional 3 locations, extending to depths of up to 2.1 m;
- drilling of hand auger boreholes at 3 locations, HA01 to HA03, extending to depths of between 0.6 m and 0.8 m below ground;
- infiltration tests using the 'inverse auger hole' method at 3 locations, P1 to P3, at depths of between 0.6 m and 0.8 m below ground;
- collection of representative samples from the former market gardening area for inspection and laboratory testing; and
- a site walkover to inspect for potential environmental issues.

General

The tests were positioned and located by a geotechnical engineer and environmental scientist from Galt using a handheld GPS accurate to within about 5 m in the horizontal plane. Our personnel observed the test pitting, excavated the hand augered boreholes, logged the materials encountered in the test pits and boreholes, conducted the penetrometer and infiltration testing, collected representative samples for inspection and laboratory testing and conducted a site walkover.

The test locations are shown on Figure 1, Site and Location Plan. Photographs of the site are presented in Appendix A, Site Photographs. Test pit and hand auger borehole details are summarised in Table 1.



Test Name	Test Depth (m)	Fill Thickness (m)	Depth to Limestone (m) ^{1,2}	Reason for Termination	Stratigraphy	
TP01	2.5	-	1.9	Refusal on limestone		
TP02	2.2	-	1.6	Refusal on limestone	SAND, overlying Limestone	
TP03	2.2	1.0	1.5	Refusal on limestone	FILL, SAND; overlying SAND, overlying limestone	
TP04	2.3	-	NE ³	Test pit collapse	SAND	
TP05	1.9	-	1.4	Refusal on limestone	CAND overlying limestone	
TP06	1.4	-	1.3	Refusal on limestone	SAND, Overlying Limestone	
TP07	2.5	0.4	NE	Test pit collapse	FILL, SAND; overlying	
TP08	0.6	0.4		Refusal on limestone	SAND	
TP09	2.3	-	1.0	Refusal on limestone	SAND overlying limestone	
TP10	2.4	-	2.3	Test pit collapse	SAND, OVERYING LITTESTONE	
TP11	1.8	0.6	1.8	Refusal on limestone	FILL, SAND; overlying SAND, overlying limestone	
TP12	0.7	0.1		Target depth	FILL, SAND; overlying	
TP13	2.0	0.8		Target depth	SAND	
TP14	2.5	-		Target depth		
TP15	2.4	-		Target depth	SAND, overlying Limestone	
TP16	2.3	-		Refusal on limestone		
HA01	0.8	-		Target depth		
HA02	0.7	-		Target depth	SAND	
HA03	0.6	-		Target depth		

Table 1: Summary of Tests

Notes:

¹ Depth at which limestone was first encountered. Limestone is typically in the form of pinnacles.

^{2.} The term "limestone" as used in the report refers to a carbonate cemented rock and does not infer a specific rock strength, carbonate content, grain size, etc.

³ NE – Not Encountered

Test Pits

Test pits were excavated using a 6 tonne John Deere 310D tractor mounted backhoe equipped with a 600 mm wide toothed bucked supplied and operated by Eddie's Backhoe Hire. Test pit reports are presented in Appendix B, Test Pit Reports along with a method of soil description and a list of explanatory notes and abbreviations used in the reports. Test pit photographs are included for selected test pits.

Hand Auger Boreholes

Hand auger borehole reports are presented in Appendix C, Hand Auger Borehole Reports. The method of soil description used in the reports is included in Appendix B.



Penetrometer Tests

Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) tests were conducted in accordance with AS 1289.6.3.3 although to a greater depth than the 0.45 m covered in the standard. The results of the penetrometer tests are presented in Appendix D, Perth Sand Penetrometer Test Results. Blow counts are reported per 150 mm increment.

Permeability Testing

The permeability testing was undertaken using the inverse auger hole method described by Cocks¹. The results of the permeability testing are presented in Appendix E, Permeability Test Results and the results are summarised in Table 2.

Test	Test	Soil Description	Test Depth	Minimum Unsaturated Permeability ¹ , k (m/day			
Number	Location	Soli Description	(m)	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3	
P1	HA01	SAND	0.8	31	> 50	> 50	
P2	HA02	SAND	0.7	17	14	17	
Р3	HA03	SAND	0.6	> 50	> 50	> 50	

Table 2: Summary of Permeability Test Results

Note: 1 – The minimum unsaturated permeabilities were typically measured near the end of the test, with head typically varying between 0 m (dry) and 0.6 m.

Environmental Soil Sampling

Soil samples for the preliminary environmental assessment were collected from the former market gardening area in accordance with Australian Standard 4482.1 (2005) *Guide to the Investigation and Sampling of Sites with Potentially Contaminated Soil – Non Volatile and Semi Volatile Compounds*.

Samples were collected at the surface and at 0.3m using dedicated nitrile gloves and placed in laboratory supplied glass jars. The samples were then placed in an ice chilled cooler until submission to the laboratory for analysis.

5. ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY TESTING

Soil samples collected from the surface were analysed by Eurofins in their national association of testing agencies (NATA) accredited laboratory for the following contaminants of potential concern (COPC) commonly associated with market gardening activities;

- heavy metals; and
- organochlorine and organophosphate (OC/OP) pesticides.

All laboratory analysis was undertaken using NATA-accredited methods of analysis. Laboratory test results are presented in Appendix F, Environmental Laboratory Certificates. The environmental test results are discussed in Section 8.2

¹ Cocks, G (2007), "Disposal of Stormwater Runoff by Soakage in Perth Western Australia", Journal and News of the Australian Geomechanics Society, Volume 42 No. 3, pp 101-114



6. SITE CONDITIONS

6.1 Geology

The Rockingham sheet of the 1:50,000 scale Environmental Geology series map indicates that the area is underlain by sand derived from Tamala limestone. The sand is described as "SAND – pale yellowish brown, medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to well-rounded quartz, trace of feldspar, shell debris, variably lithified, surface kankar, of eolian origin".

The geological mapping shows limestone outcrop about 100 m to the north west of the site, and peaty clay about 100 m to the south west of the site.

The findings of the site investigation are consistent with the geological mapping, with typically a thin layer of sand present over limestone. No peaty soils were encountered at the test locations on the site.

6.2 Subsurface Conditions

The subsurface conditions are broadly consistent across the site. The typical soil profile from the supplied information and the current investigation can be summarised as:

- SAND (SP): medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brown becoming yellow with depth, trace limestone cobbles and gravel, typically loose to dense, present from surface to depth of between 1.0 m extending to the maximum depth investigation (2.5 m); overlying
- LIMESTONE, present below the sand layer, rockhead varying from depths between about 1.0 m and more than the maximum depth of investigation (2.5 m).

The topsoil across the site is typically about 100 mm thick, but this increases to about 500 mm thick across the former market garden area (refer to Figure 1).

The north western quarter of the site (in the location of the existing residence) has a layer of FILL overlying the natural sands. This material can be described as:

FILL, SAND (SP): fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow/brown, trace gravel (brick and limestone fragments), trace organics, trace fines, present from surface to depth of between 0.1 m and 1.0 m.

Several test pits encountered limestone pinnacles within the excavation. Although limestone was typically encountered below 1.0 m depth, it is possible that the limestone is present at shallower depths on the site (due to the undulating nature of pinnacles). We would, however, expect any rock encountered within the top 1 m to be localised, and likely to be excavatable with the use of an excavator and rock breaker attachment.

6.3 Groundwater

The Perth Groundwater Atlas (1997) does not extend to the site, but nearby data suggests that the maximum historical groundwater level at the site would be around RL 4 m AHD. This is between about 1 m and 3 m below the current ground surface.



7. GEOTECHNICAL ASSESSMENT

7.1 Site Classification

We consider the site geotechnically capable of supporting the proposed development.

We have assessed the site in accordance with AS2870 (2011) "Residential Slabs and Footings". We consider that a site classification of "Class A" would be appropriate provided that normal site preparation as presented in Section 7.3 is undertaken prior to construction.

7.2 Site Subsoil Class

We have assessed the site subsoil class in accordance with AS1170.4-2007, "Earthquake Design Actions – Australia". We consider that a site subsoil class of 'Ce' is appropriate for the site.

7.3 Site Preparation

The site preparation measures outlined below are aimed at preparation of the site prior to construction of buildings and pavement subgrades. Landscaped areas (if any) will not require this preparation. The site preparation procedures provided below have been prepared on the basis of improving the density of the loose to medium dense zone.

The following site preparation measures must be followed:

- Remove any deleterious material from site including surficial rubbish, existing structures and buried services, soak-wells, etc.
- Strip and stockpile topsoil from across the entire site (including market garden area) for potential re-use in non-structural applications or for possible blending with clean sand (only a thin layer of topsoil was noted at the time of our investigation over the majority of the site). Topsoil strip is only necessary to remove roots. We recommend a 100 mm topsoil strip or as otherwise necessary to remove all roots from the soil. The topsoil can potentially be screened and blended with clean sand and re-used as structural fill.
- Excavate to the required level, if required.
- Rip areas of shallow limestone to at least 1.0 m below finished level (this is intended to produce a relatively excavatable soil mass within the upper 1.0 m at the site for installation of footings and buried services if a greater depth is required, the depth of ripping may need to be increased). It may be necessary to engage us to inspect the site and conduct additional shallow test pitting to assess the presence of shallow limestone in uncertain areas.
- Remove any oversize boulders (>200 mm) not responding to ripping or compaction.
- Proof compact the exposed sandy ground to achieve the level of compaction specified in Section 7.4 to a depth of at least 0.9 m below the compacted surface any areas of loose sand or unsuitable material must be removed and replaced with approved fill.
- Fill to the proposed design surface level using approved fill (refer Section 7.5), placed and compacted (refer Section 7.4) in layers of no greater than 300 mm loose thickness.
- Compact the footing bases to achieve the required level of compaction to a depth of at least 0.9 m below the footing base any areas of loose sand or unsuitable material must be removed and replaced with approved fill.



Note: The topsoil layer (identifiable as the brown sand, as compared with underlying natural yellow sand) at the location of the former market gardens is up to about 500 mm thick, however rootlets were typically only present in the top 100 mm. We consider that the topsoil present below 0.1 m depth can potentially be re-used as structural fill without the need for screening or blending, however permeability testing of a trial pad of the material must be conducted prior to its use. Where permeability testing is not conducted, the full thickness of the material (0.5 m) must be stripped for re-use in non-structural areas or removed offsite.

7.4 Compaction

Approved granular fill and the *in situ* sands must be compacted using suitable compaction equipment to achieve a dry density ratio of at least 95% MMDD (maximum modified dry density) as determined in accordance with AS 1289 5.2.1.

Where sand is used as fill and the Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) is used for compaction control, the following PSP blow counts may be assumed to correlate to the required dry density ratio of 95% MMDD:

- Depth range 0.15 m to 0.45 m 8 blows
- Depth range 0.45 m to 0.75 m 10 blows
- Depth range 0.75 m to 1.05 m 12 blows (or 0.75 m to 0.9 m: 6 blows).

If difficulties are experienced in achieving the required blow count, an on-site PSP calibration should be undertaken to determine the site-specific blow count correlating to the required dry density ratio.

Over-excavation and replacement of loose materials must be done where the minimum dry density ratio cannot be achieved.

Fill must be placed in horizontal layers of not greater than 0.3 m loose thickness. Each layer must be compacted by suitable compaction equipment, and carefully controlled to ensure even compaction over the full area and depth of each layer.

Care will need to be taken when compacting in the vicinity of existing services. This is particularly important if vibratory compaction is being carried out. Tynan (1973)² provides assistance with the selection of compaction equipment for use adjacent to structures and services. Of particular concern are adjacent existing services.

TESTING

After compaction, verify that the required level of compaction has been achieved by testing at the base of excavation and through the full depth of any fill and to a minimum depth of 0.9 m below foundations:

- on each lift of fill at the rate of 1 test per 500 m^3 ;
- at each spread footing location;
- at 7.5 m centres below on-ground slabs;
- at 10 m centres along gravity retaining wall footings and strip footings (where present); and
- at 10 m centres on pavement subgrades (on the road centreline or on a grid below car parks).

7.5 Approved Fill

Imported granular fill must comply with the material requirements as stated in AS 3798-2007, "Guidelines on Earthworks for Commercial and Residential Developments".

² Tynan (1973) Ground Vibration and Damage Effects on Buildings, Australia Road Research Board, Special Report No. 11.



The sand (including the sand fill) present at the site will be suitable for re-use as inert structural fill. Any organic-rich sand or sand containing significant proportions of fines (material less than 0.075 mm in size) must not be used.

Organic rich material (i.e. topsoil) may be considered for re-used as structural fill provided that it is screened and blended with clean sand such that the total organic content is less than 2% and the fines content is less than 5%. Due to the lower permeability of such blends, permeability testing must be undertaken on a trial pad of the blended material to assess its design permeability prior to use as structural fill. We can provide further assistance with this if required.

Where doubt exists, a geotechnical engineer must be engaged to inspect and approve the use of potential fill materials.

7.6 Excavation

We expect that excavations on site to about 1.0 m through the sand will be readily achievable using conventional earthmoving equipment (i.e. with a 5 tonne or larger excavator). Localised areas of shallower limestone may be present. However, the depth to limestone is expected to be at greater than 1 m depth below the existing surface. Excavation of any limestone may require the use of a larger excavator (20 tonne) and rock breaker.

Excavations below 2 m depth are expected to encounter massive limestone and are likely to require the use of a larger excavator (20 tonne) and rock breaker. Ripping prior to excavation is also likely to be required, e.g. with a large (D9 or D10) bulldozer with a single tine ripper.

Excavations in sand are particularly prone to instability unless support is provided. Care must be exercised in such excavations and appropriate safety measures adopted where necessary. Where possible excavations must be battered at slopes no steeper than 1V:2H for temporary slopes and 1V:3H for permanent slopes above the groundwater table. Even at these slope angles erosion and rilling may occur.

A geotechnical engineer must be consulted where there is any doubt regarding the stability or safety of unsupported excavations.

7.7 Retaining Structures

Retaining structures may be designed in accordance with AS 4678-2002 "Earth-Retaining Structures". For the design of retaining structures, the parameters in Table 3 are appropriate.

			Wall Friction = 0°		Wall Friction = 0.5Φ	
Soil Type	Bulk Density (t/m³)	Angle of Internal Friction (deg.)	Coefficient of Active Earth Pressure, K _a	Coefficient of Passive Earth Pressure, K _p	Coefficient of Active Earth Pressure, K _a	Coefficient of Passive Earth Pressure, K _p
Medium dense sand	17	34	0.28	3.5	0.25	5.7
Dense or well compacted sand	18	36	0.26	3.9	0.22	6.5

Table 3: Retaining Structures Design Parameters

Notes: Earth pressure coefficients are provided in this table for conditions of zero friction between the wall and the soil and with wall friction of $0.5\Phi'$. The retaining wall designer should make an independent assessment of the parameters appropriate to the construction method to be used, including alternative values of wall friction. A horizontal ground surface behind the wall has been assumed.



Compaction plant can augment the lateral earth pressure acting on retaining walls. Hand operated compaction equipment is recommended within 2 m of any retaining walls to minimise compaction pressures.

It is important to note that some ground movement will occur behind any soil retaining system, including gravity retaining walls.

Retaining walls can move and rotate under imposed soil loading resulting in settlement behind the wall. This must be considered during the design and construction of the retaining walls in order that adjacent properties are not adversely affected. Particular care should be exercised when forming excavations so as not to affect neighbouring properties. Account must be taken of the effect of both temporary and permanent works on neighbouring properties. Anchoring or strutting of retaining walls may be required.

Detailed design of retaining structures should be undertaken using methods appropriate to the proposed retention system.

7.8 Shallow Footings

The structure may be founded on shallow spread footings placed within the sand which occurs from surface, provided the site preparation recommendations outlined in Section 7.3 are followed. Table 4 and Table 5 give allowable bearing pressures and estimated settlements for pad footings and strip footings at an embedment depth of at least 0.5 m.

Min. Footing Embedment (m)	Minimum Footing Dimension (m)	Allowable Bearing Pressure (kPa)	Estimated Settlement (mm)
	0.5	150	<5
0.5	1.0	200	<5
0.5	1.5	225	5 - 10
	2.0	250	10 - 15
	0.5	200	<5
1.0	1.0	250	<5
1.0	1.5	250	5 - 10
	2.0	250	10 - 15

Table 4: Pad Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements

Table 5: Strip Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements

Min. Footing Embedment (m)	Minimum Footing Dimension (m)	Allowable Bearing Pressure (kPa)	Estimated Settlement (mm)
	0.5	150	< 5
0.5	1.0	180	5 - 10
0.5	1.5	220	15 - 20
	2.0	250	20 - 25
	0.5	200	5 - 10
1.0	1.0	250	10 - 15
1.0	1.5	250	15 - 20
	2.0	250	20 - 25



Allowable bearing pressures for footings of intermediate plan dimensions to those tabulated can be interpolated. Footings that have a plan dimension either smaller or larger than those covered by the tables above will need to be considered individually along with other embedment depths. Footings carrying significant eccentric loading must be assessed separately.

The settlement of the proposed structure will depend upon a number of factors including the applied pressures, footing size and base preparation. The estimates of settlement provided above assume that the site preparation measures detailed in Section 7.3 have been completed. The estimated settlements are for the working bearing pressure values shown. Differential settlements of up to half of the total estimated settlement values are likely between footings of similar sizes, loads and elevations. About 70% of the settlement is expected to occur during construction.

7.9 Pavement Thickness Design

Where design of flexible pavements is undertaken, a subgrade California bearing ratio (CBR) of 12% may be assumed for pavement thickness design. This CBR assumes that the site preparation requirements outlined in Section 7.3 have been carried out in pavement subgrade areas.

7.10 Stormwater Disposal

The results of infiltration tests carried out are included in Appendix D, Permeability Test Results. The minimum measured permeability are as follows:

- 🐓 🛛 P1 31 m/day
- 💠 🛛 P2 14 m/day
- P3 >50 m/day

We consider that the natural and fill sands at the site are suitable for the disposal of stormwater by infiltration by means of soak wells. For preliminary design, we recommend a design value of permeability (k) not greater than 5 m/day for the *in situ* sand below 1 m to allow for the variability in materials and reduced permeability as a consequence of:

- densification of sand during site preparation works;
- natural variation in sands; and
- clogging of the sand around soak wells over time with fines.

Soak wells should be placed outside a line of 1V:2H extending below the edge of the nearest footing subject to local council regulations. Discharge from soak wells has been known to promote densification of loose sandy soils, leading to settlements of footings and slabs. Soak wells should be carefully wrapped with geotextile to prevent migration of sand and fines into the soak well.

The topsoil layer present at the location of the former market gardens (present from surface to 0.5 m) is likely to have a lower permeability than the design value presented above due to a higher fines content. We consider that the topsoil present below 0.1 m depth can potentially be re-used as structural fill without the need for screening or blending, however permeability testing of a trial pad (at least 1 m thick) must be conducted prior to its re-use to assess the design permeability is within the acceptable limits.



We note that limestone is present at shallow depth (locally within 1 m of the ground surface), which may hinder drainage from the site. Some moderately to well cemented limestone can be relatively impermeable. This must be taken into account when undertaking the civil design. Some suggestions are:

- raising site surface levels with sand fill where limestone is relatively shallow (but cutting from areas of the site with more sand);
- ripping the limestone to a greater depth to ensure it is broken up and more permeable (we suggest that insitu large scale permeability testing be done if there is a reliance on this); or
- off-site disposal of stormwater (probably not necessary, but a logical extension of not relying on on-site disposal into limestone).

8. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

8.1 Desktop Assessment

8.1.1 Acid Sulfate Soils

The Department of Environment Regulation (DER) on-line risk-mapping database of ASS shows the site as having no known risk of ASS occurrence at depths less than 3 m. The nearest high risk area is located approximately 50 m to the south west of the site. The DER ASS risk mapping is shown in Figure 2.

8.1.2 Geomorphic Wetlands

The Department of Parks and Wildlife (DPaW) geomorphic wetlands database indicates that there are no wetlands located on the site. The nearest conservation category wetland (Opwin Swamp Dampland #6400) is located approximately 600 m to the south west of the site. The location of geomorphic wetlands are shown on Figure 2.

8.1.3 Environmentally Sensitive Areas

There are no environmental sensitive areas (ESAs) mapped as existing on the site. The nearest ESA is located approximately 200 m to the south west of the site and is associated with the Opwin Swamp Dampland. The location of ESAs are shown on Figure 2.

8.1.4 Historical Aerial Photographs

A summary of the site features visible in the available historical aerial photographs are presented in Table 6 with the historical aerial photographs presented in Figures 3a to 3d.

Year	Site Features	Surrounding Land Use
1953	The whole site is cleared.	The surrounding area is cleared
1965	Evidence of a market gardening occurring to the southern portion of the site, A building is also noted south of the site, in the middle of the site and north of the site.	No change.
1974	Vegetation to the north of the site has been cleared.	A road is noted to the east of the site. Buildings are noted to the north of the site.
1979	No change.	No change.
1981	No change.	No change.
1985	No change.	No change.

Table 6: Current and Historical Aerial Photographs



Year	Site Features	Surrounding Land Use
1995	No change.	No change.
2006	A smaller building is noted to the west of the site.	No change.
2008	An additional building is noted in the north west corner of the site.	No change.
Current	No change.	No change.

8.1.5 Contaminated Sites Database

The publicly available DER contaminated sites database was searched for known contaminated sites (sites classified as *Contaminated-restricted use, Remediated for restricted use* or *Contaminated-remediation required*) in proximity to the site. The site is not listed as a contaminated site. The nearest site classified as *Remediated for Restricted Use* and is located approximately 350 m east of the site.

8.1.6 Heritage

The Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 is the Western Australian legislation in place to protect places and objects customarily used by or traditional to, the original inhabitants of Australia. Such places and objects are maintained in a register under the Act; however, all sites are protected under the Act whether or not they have been registered.

A search of the Aboriginal Heritage database shows that there are no heritage sites located within a 500 m radius of the site. Heritage sites are shown in Figure 2.

European heritage is also protected and a search of the Heritage Council of Western Australia (HCWA) database of culturally significant sites in Western Australia was undertaken for the area. No European heritage sites were found at or nearby the site (HCWA, 2015).

8.2 Detailed Site Inspection

A detailed site inspection was undertaken by a representative of Galt on 20 April 2015. The following observations were made:

- The site contains a house, three sheds, a caravan, miscellaneous building material and farm equipment.
- There was no evidence of hazardous chemical storage or spills on the site.
- No asbestos containing material (ACM) was identified within any of the building material or farm equipment.
- There was no evidence of plant stress that would indicate potential contamination.

We note that our inspection did not include a detailed assessment of the materials used in the construction of the onsite buildings. As such, no assessment can be made on the presence of hazardous material present within these buildings.

8.3 Contamination Testing Results

Soil concentrations were compared with the following criteria adopted from the National Environmental Protection Council (NEPC) (2013) *National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure* guideline document.

- Ecological investigation levels (EIL)
- Health investigation levels Residential (HIL-A)


In order to obtain site-specific EIL values, soil pH values were recorded for each sample. Given the preliminary nature of the assessment, the most conservative EIL for zinc, copper, lead nickel and chromium using the relevant soil pH has been adopted.

Soil analytical results are presented in Table 7 and Table 8 and are discussed below.

- Metal concentrations were below the laboratory LOR and/or conformed to the adopted criteria.
- Concentrations of all OC/OP pesticides were below the laboratory LOR and/or conformed to the adopted criteria.

	Soil pH	Arsenic (mg/kg)	Cadmium (mg/kg)	Chromium (mg/kg)	Copper (mg/kg)	Lead (mg/kg)	Nickel (mg/kg)	Zinc (mg/kg)
Assessment Criteria								
HIL-A	-	100	20	100	6000	300	400	7400
Site Specific EIL ³	-	100	-	190	280	1100	30	230
Sample ID								
SS01/0.0	6.3	3.4	<0.4	15	14	5.6	<5	38
SS02/0.0	6.8	2.8	<0.4	15	19	6.9	<5	68
SS03/0.0	6.6	2.7	<0.4	16	19	6.8	<5	50
SS04/0.0	6.5	2.3	<0.4	16	17	6.0	<5	42
SS05/0.0	6.3	4.4	<0.4	15	16	6.4	<5	43
SS06/0.0	6.4	3.7	<0.4	15	17	6.8	<5	42
SS07/0.00	6.5	2.9	<0.4	16	19	6.3	<5	41
SS08/0.0	6.8	2.3	<0.4	17	26	6.9	<5	51
SS09/0.0	6.4	4.1	<0.4	19	32	8.2	<5	110
SS10/0.0	6.4	4.7	<0.4	19	<5	<5	<5	<5

Table 7: Soil Analysis Results – Metals

³ EIL value calculated in accordance with NEPM 2013 guideline using soil pH value of 6.0



	DDT+DDE+DDD	Aldrin and Dieldrin	Chlordane	Heptachlor	Endrin	Methoxychlor	Toxaphene	Chlorpyrifos
HIL-A	240	6	50	270	10	300	20	160
Sample ID								
SS01/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS02/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS03/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS04/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS05/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS06/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS07/0.00	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS08/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS09/0.0	<0.05	0.07	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2
SS10/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	< 0.1	<0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	<0.2

Table 8: Soil Analysis Results – Pesticides

8.4 Summary

Based on the results of the desktop environmental assessment, we consider that there are unlikely to be any significant environmental aspects that will adversely impact on the proposed development. Furthermore, the contamination testing results indicate that is it unlikely that soils within the area of the site formally used for market gardening activities has been impacted by COPC at concentrations that would represent a risk to human health or the environment.

We note our preliminary contamination testing did not include an assessment of groundwater quality at the site. As such, no comment can be made on the suitability of groundwater at the site for irrigation or drinking water purposes.

9. CLOSURE



We would like to draw your attention to Appendix G of this report, "Understanding your Report". The information provided within is intended to inform you as to what your realistic expectations of this report should be. Guidance is also provided on how to minimise risks associated with groundworks for this project. This information is provided not to reduce the level of responsibility accepted by Galt, but to ensure that all parties who rely on this report are aware of the responsibilities each assumes in so doing.

GALT GEOTECHNICS PTY LTD

Owen Woodland CPEng

Geotechnical Engineer

O:\Jobs\2015\J1501070 - PF SI McDonald Rd Baldivis\03 Correspondence\J1501070 001 R Rev0.docx

Spor

Brad Palmer Environmental Scientist



Figures

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd









SCALE

(A3

DRAWN

DAC 1:2,000

ATE DRAWN 30/04/2015

CKEL

ACN : 138 490 865 Tel : +-61 (0)8 6272-0200 Fax : +-61 (0)8 9285 8444 Address: U2, 39 Flynn Street, Wembley, WA, 6014

Rev A

ROJECTION GDA 1994 MGA Zone 50 Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd

CHECKED 30/04/2015 SS



MAP 26 - 2014(May)

MAP 27 - 2014(August)

Job No

J1501070

FigNo FIGURE 3C

Rev A

TITLE HISTORICAL AERIAL IMAGERY (2011 (MARCH) - 2014 (AUGUST))

ACN Tel

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd DECTION GDA 1994 MGA Zone 50 CHECKED 30/04/2015 SS ATE DRAWN 30/04/2015

ACN : 138 490 865 Tel : +-61 (0)8 6272-0200 Fax : +-61 (0)8 9285 8444 Address: U2, 39 Flynn Street, Wembley, WA, 6014









MAP 20 - 2011(August)

MAP 21 - 2012(February)













Appendix A: Site Photographs

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd





Photograph 1: At TP05 facing south, facing towards a former market garden



Photograph 2: At TP10 facing north





Photograph 3: At TP02 facing south



Photograph 4: At TP04 facing west, note the higher elevation at TP04 compared to the western land





Photograph 5: At TP08 facing west



Photograph 6: Current development located nearby the site at the corner of McDonald Road and Fifty Road. Note the presence of shallow massive limestone



Appendix B: Test Pit Reports

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd

ABN: 73 292 586 155

METHOD OF SOIL DESCRIPTION BOREHOLE AND TEST PIT REPORTS



GRAPH	CLOG&I	JNIFIED SOIL CLAS	SIFICATIO	ON SYSTEM	(USCS) SY	MBOLS	C . I N			
Graphic	USCS	Soil Name			Graphic	USCS	Soil Name	9		
	ļ	FILL (various types)			× × × × × × × ×	SM	Silty SANI)		
000		COBBLES				ML	SILT (low	liquid lim	it)	
		BOULDERS			* * * * * * *	мн	SILT (high	liquid lim	nit)	
	GP	GRAVEL (poorly grad	ded)			CL	CLAY (low	plasticity	/)	
	GW	GRAVEL (well grade	d)			СІ	CLAY (me	dium plas	ticity)	
00000000000000000000000000000000000000	GC	Clayey GRAVEL				СН	CLAY (hig	h plasticit	y)	
	SP	SAND (poorly grade	d)		$\frac{\partial_{2} \eta_{1}}{\partial q_{2}} = \frac{\partial_{2} \eta_{2}}{\partial q_{2}} = \frac{\partial_{2} \eta_{2}}{\partial q_{2}}$ $\frac{\partial_{2} \eta_{2}}{\partial q_{2}} = \frac{\partial_{2} \eta_{2}}{\partial q_{2}} = \frac{\partial_{2} \eta_{2}}{\partial q_{2}}$	OL	Organic S	ILT (low li	quid limit)	
	SW	SAND (well graded)				он	Organic S	ILT (high l	iquid limit)	
	SC	Clayey SAND				Pt	PEAT			
RESISTA	NCE TO E	XCAVATION								
Symbol	Term	Description								
	Very easy									
F	Eirm		All	resistances ar	e relative t	o the selected m	nethod of e	excavation	n	
H H	Hard		,						•	
VH	Very hard									
	Δςςιείζατ	ION AND INFERRE	STRAT	IGRAPHY						
Soil desc	rintions are	based on AS1726-1	993 Ann	endix A Mat	erial nrone	rties are assesse	d in the fie	ld hy visi	ial/tactile me	thods
in combi	nation with	n field testing technic	gues (whe	ere used).	ena prope					
PARTIC	E SIZE				ΡΙ ΔΥΤΙΟΙΤ					
Soil	Name	Particle Size (mm)			40					
BOU	ILDERS	>200			40				CH - high	$\overline{}$
CO	BBLES	63 to 200			a			CI - medium	plasticity clay	
	Coarse	20 to 63			≫ 30 - ×	CL - low plasticity clay		plasticity clay		
GRAVEL	Medium	6 to 20			nde	plasticity clay				
	Fine	2 to 6			- ²⁰ ک				OH or MH	.
	Coarse	0.6 to 2.0			stic			OL or ML-	high liquid limit silt	
SAND	Medium	0.2 to 0.6			e 10 -			low liquid		
	Fine	0.075 to 0.2				CL/ML - clay/silt	$\overline{}$	limit slit		
FINES	SILT	0.002 to 0.075			0 -	OL or ML - low liquid	limit silt	1		
	CLAY	<0.002			0	20		40	60	80
							Liquio	d Limit (%)		
ΜΟΙSTL	JRE COND	ITION			AS1726-19	93				
Symbol	Term	Description								
D	Dry	Sands and gravels a	re free flo	wing. Clays a	and silts ma	y be brittle or fr	iable and p	owdery.		
М	Moist	Soils are darker than	n in the d	ry condition a	nd may fee	l cool. Sands an	d gravels t	end to co	here.	
W	Wet	Soils exude free wat	er. Sand	s and gravels	tend to coł	iere.				
CONSIS	TENCY AN	D DENSITY			AS1726-19	93 and HB160-2	006			
	_	Undrained Shear		DCP blows		_	Density		DCP blows	PSP Blows
Symbol	Term	Strength (kPa)	SPT "N"	per 100 mm	Symbol	Term	Index (%)	SPT "N"	per 100 mm	per 300 mm
VS	Very Soft	0 to 12	U to 2	<1	VL	Very Loose	<15	U to 4	<1	0 to 2
5	Soft	12 to 25	∠ to 4	<1		LOOSE	15 to 35	4 to 10	1 to 2	2 t0 6
	⊦ırm	25 to 50	4 t0 8	1 to 2		Iviedium Dense	35 t0 65	10 to 30	2 to 3	0108
L+	C+:tt	5(1+2,1/2)	V + ^ '''	2 70 "			B B B B B B B B B B		/ + ~ 1	Q + ~ 1 F
St \/\$+	Stiff Very Stiff	50 to 100	8 to 15	3 to 4		Very Dense	55 t0 85	30 to 50	4 to 8	8 to 15
St VSt H	Stiff Very Stiff Hard	50 to 100 100 to 200 >200	8 to 15 15 to 30 >30	3 to 4 5 to 10 >10	VD Note: PSI	Very Dense	>85 valid to 45	30 to 50 >50	4 to 8 >8 th	8 to 15 >15

Consistency and density may also be inferred from excavation performance and material behaviour.

EXPLA	NATORY NOTES TO	BE RE	AD WITH		() Call
BORE	HOLE AND TEST PIT	REPO	RTS		GEOTECHNICS
METHOD	OF DRILLING OR EXCAVATION	N			
AC	Air Core	Е	Excavator	PQ3	PQ3 Core Barrel
AD/T	Auger Drilling with TC-Bit	EH	Excavator with Hammer	PT	Push Tube
AD/V	Auger Drilling with V-Bit	HA	Hand Auger	R	Ripper
AT	Air Track	HMLC	HMLC Core Barrel	RR	Rock Roller
В	Bulldozer Blade	HQ3	HQ3 Core Barrel	SON	Sonic Rig
BH	Backhoe Bucket	Ν	Natural Exposure	SPT	Driven SPT
СТ	Cable Tool	NMLC	NMLC Core Barrel	WB	Washbore
DT	Diatube	PP	Push Probe	Х	Existing Excavation
SUPPORT	г				
Т	Timbering				
PENETRA	TION EFFORT (RELATIVE TO THE E	QUIPME	NT USED)		
VE	Very Easy	Е	Easy	F	Firm
Н	Hard	VH	Very Hard		
WATER					
	Water Inflow		▼ Water Level		
	Water Loss (complete)				
\triangleleft	Water Loss (partial)				
SAMPLIN	IG AND TESTING				
В	Bulk Disturbed Sample		Р	Piston Sam	ple
BLK	Block Sample		PBT	Plate Bearii	ng Test
С	Core Sample		U	Undisturbe	d Push-in Sample
CBR	CBR Mould Sample			U50: 50 mr	n diameter
D	Small Disturbed Sample		SPT	Standard Po	enetration Test
ES	Environmental Soil Sample			Example: 3	,4,5 N=9
EW	Environmental Water Sample			3,4,5: Blow	s per 150 mm
G	Gas Sample			N=9: Blows	per 300 mm after
HP	Hand Penetrometer			150 m	nm seating interval
LB	Large Bulk Disturbed Sample		VS	Vane Shear	; P = Peak
М	Mazier Type Sample			R = Remoul	ded (kPa)
MC	Moisture Content Sample		W	Water Sam	ple
ROCK COF	RE RECOVERY				
TCR = Tota	al Core Recovery (%) $=\frac{CRL}{TRL} \times$	100			
SCR = Soli	d Core Recovery (%) $= \frac{CCR}{TCL} \times$:100			
RQD = Roo	ck Quality Designation (%) $=$	$\frac{ALC > 10}{TCL}$	0 -×100		
TCL	Length of Core Run				
CRL	Recovered Length of Core				
CCR	Total Length of Cylindrical Piece	s of Core	Recovered		
ALC>100	Total Length of Axial Lengths of	Core Gre	ater than 100 mm Long		



Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Job Number: J1501070

Client:

Project:

Location:

TEST PIT: TP01

Sheet 1 OF 1

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D

Operator: Eddie 600 mm toothed

Bucket:

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

ŀ														
		E	xcav	ation		Samplin	ıg			Field Material Desc	riptic	on		
	METHOD	RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	<i>DEPTH</i> RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
ł				0.0 —]			· .		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded,			Topsoil and rootlets in top 100 mm	Т
					· · ·					yellow	м	L		· · ·
	BH	E							SP					-
1.7-7.0+9				- - 2.0 - - -						Trace gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	MD	Limestone outcrop at 1.9 m comprising approximately 30% of test pit face	- - - - -
GALI 1.01 201				-2.5 -						Hole terminated at 2.50 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				-

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387816 m

6424917 m

MGA94 Zone 50

č 0/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 =XCAVATION Ċ

1 01 GI B

SALT LE

Sketch & Other Observations Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Pritchard Francis Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387784 m 6424920 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

														_
	I	Exca	vation		Samplin	g				Field Material Desc	riptic	on		
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
			0.0							SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brewn- Yellow	M	L		
BH	E		- - - 1.5 - - 2.0 -						SP	With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	MD	Below 1.6 m, limestone comprising approximately 30% of test pit face	
			-							Hole terminated at 2.20 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				

GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 0/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Prj *XCAVATION Ċ

Sketch & Other Observations





Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Pritchard Francis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387742 m 6424921 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	I	Excav	ation		Samplin	g				Field Material Desc	riptic	n		-
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
			0.0							SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brewn- Yellow	м	L - MD		-
H	E		1.0						SP	Trace gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	MD		_
			-							Hole terminated at 2.20 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				

GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Prj: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Tools I Lib. 0/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Mon 14.6.04 XCAVATION Ċ

Sketch & Other Observations





Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Pritchard Francis Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387655 m 6424917 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	Exc	avation		Samplin	ng			Field Material Desc	riptic	on	
METHOD EXCAVATION	RESISTANCE WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
H	Ξ						SP 	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow-brown, trace gravel comprising limestone and brick fragments SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow Hole terminated at 2.30 m Terminated due to test pit collapse Groundwater not encountered Sketch & Other Observations	D	MD	
L											

3-02-21 Pri: GALT 1,01 2013-02-21 Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 201 0/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Ş 170 GP.1 11501C =XCAVATION Ċ 1 01 GI B

GALT LIR





Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

Machine: JD 310D

Operator: Eddie

Sheet 1 OF 1

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

L	ocati	on:	16 N	/lcDona	ld Road, Baldiv	ris				Bucket: 600	nm te	oothe	d Checked By: PCW
_		Excav	ation		Samplir	ng				Field Material Desc	riptic	on	
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	<i>DEPTH</i> RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
BH	E		0.0					<u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>700</u> <u>7000</u> <u>700</u> <u>7000</u> <u>7000</u> <u>7000</u> <u>70000000000000000</u>	SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, trace organics SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	м	L	
			1.0 - - 1.5 - - - -						SP	With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	L - MD	-
). OAL 1 1.01 2013-02-21			2.0							Hole terminated at 1.90 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered			
			-2.5	I	1			I		Skatch & Other Observations		1	1

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387823 m

6424873 m

MGA94 Zone 50

01 2013-02 140 i il 0/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Mor Ş 170 GP.1 11501C =XCAVATION Ċ 1 01 GI B

GALT LIR



Job Number: J1501070

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:



Proposed Residential Subdivision

Job Number: J1501070

Client:

Project:

TEST PIT: TP06

Sheet 1 OF 1

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Date: Logged:

20/04/2015 ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

		Exca	vation		Samplii	ng				Field Material Des	criptic	n	
METHOD	EXCAVATION	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE CONDITION	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
	E	-	0.0						SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, with some organics SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone Hole terminated at 1.40 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered	M	L - MD	

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387781 m

6424839 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Machine: JD 310D

Operator: Eddie

. IAC 14.6.04 =XCAVATION Ċ 1 01 GI B

GALT LIR





Job Number: J1501070

Client:

TEST PIT: TP07

Sheet 1 OF 1

 Date:
 20/04/2015

 Logged:
 EY

 Checked Date:
 30/04/2015

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

Machine: JD 310D

	Pro Loc	ject atio	t: on:	Prop 16 N	oosed F //cDona	Residential Subo Id Road, Baldiv	divisior is	ı			Datum: MGA94 Zone 50 Operator: Edo Bucket: 600	die) mm t	ootheo	Checked Date: 30/04/2015 d Checked By: PCW
F		-	-vca	vation		Samplir	20				Field Material Dos	crinti	20	
	MEI HOU EXCAVATION	RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION			STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
				0.0				· · ·		SP	FILL: SAND, medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, with some organics SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	— м	L	
12/20/01	H	E								SP		D	L- MD	
									·		Hole terminated at 2.50 m Terminated due to test pit collapse Groundwater not encountered			
4-90-0-0-						<u> </u>					Sketch & Other Observations			
	「「「「「」」」	の一方の「「「「	· ····································							A NOT				

Easting:

Northing:

387752 m

6424867 m

34.TLB 101GLB Log GG_EXCAVATION J1501070.GPJ <-DawingFie>> 3004/2015 15:06 8.30.003 Dalgei DGD, CPT, Pholo. Monitoring Tools (Lb: GALT 1.01 2013-42:21 Prj: GALT 1.01

Comments:



Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number:	J1501070
Client:	Pritchard I

 Client:
 Pritchard Francis

 Project:
 Proposed Residential Subdivision

Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387691 m 6424869 m MGA94 Zone 50

 Contractor:
 Eddie's Backhoe

 Machine:
 JD 310D

 Operator:
 Eddie

 Bucket:
 600 mm toothed

 Date:
 20/04/2015

 Logged:
 EY

 Checked Date:
 30/04/2015

 Checked By:
 PCW

See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

Excavation Sampling Field Material Descriptor v Number of Pield Material Descriptor Structure AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS X Y Number of Pield Material Descriptor Structure AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS X N Number of Pield Material Descriptor X N Number of Pield Material Descriptor Numerion Pield Material Descriptor Numerial Pield Mat															_
NOTICE SAMPLE OR PIELD TEST Image: Sample of the piece of the piec		I	Excav	/ation		Samplin	ng				Field Material Desc	riptio	on		
Image: Series of the series	METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
Hole terminated at 0.60 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered	BH	E		0.0 —						SP	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale brown SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	M	MD		
Line Line Skotch & Other Observations				 1.0							Hole terminated at 0.60 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				

.01.GLB Log GG_EXCAVATION J1501070.GPJ <<DrawingFile>> 3004/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools | Lb: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Prj: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21

Comments:

DITTIC



Job Number: J1501070 Client: Pritchard I

Client: Project:

t: Pritchard Francis ct: Proposed Residential Subdivision

Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387685 m 6424828 m MGA94 Zone 50

 Contractor:
 Eddie's Backhoe

 Machine:
 JD 310D

 Operator:
 Eddie

 Bucket:
 600 mm toothed

 Sheet 1 OF 1
 OF 1

 Date:
 20/04/2015
 20/04/2015

 Logged:
 EY
 20/04/2015

 Checked Date:
 30/04/2015
 20/04/2015

 Checked By:
 PCW
 20/04/2015

														_
		Exca	vation		Samplir	ng				Field Material Desc	riptio	on		
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
										Trace gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	-		At 1.0 m, one limestone boulder excavated. Below 1.0 m, limestone outcrop comprising	-
BH	E		- - 1.5 — - - 2.0 —						SP		м	MD	approximately 30% of test pit face.	-
			-				· .	· . · .		Hole terminated at 2.30 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				

01.GLB Log G_EXCAVATION J1501070.GPJ <4DawingFite>> 30042015 16:08 8.30003 Datgel DGD, GPT, Pholo, Monitoring Tools Lub: GALT 1:01 2013-02-21 Phy: GALT 1:01 2013-02-21

ALT I R

Sketch & Other Observations



Proposed Residential Subdivision

TEST PIT: TP10

Sheet 1 OF 1

20/04/2015 Date: ΕY Logged: Checked Date: 30/04/2015 - -

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

Machine: JD 310D

Operator: Eddie

L	ocati	on:	16 N	/IcDona	ld Road, Baldiv	vis				Bucket: 6	00 mm	toothe	ed Checked By: PCW
F		Exca	ation		Samplir	ng				Field Material D	escripti	on	
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE		STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
			0.0 - - -					<u>717</u> 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 7	SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, with some organics SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounde vellow	d,		
			0.5— - -								M	L	-
BH	E		- 1.0 - -						SP				
			- 1.5 — -	•							D	L - MD	
			2.0 — - -							With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone			
			2.5							Hole terminated at 2.40 m Terminated due to test pit collapse Groundwater not encountered			-

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387737 m

6424121 m

MGA94 Zone 50

013 30/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datget DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 noFila>> <<Dray 11501070 GP.I EXCAVATION 00 8

101 GI B

GALT LIR

Sketch & Other Observations Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Project:



Proposed Residential Subdivision

Job Number: J1501070

Client:

Project:

orinn Tools I I ib: GAI T 1 01 2013-02-21

14.6.04 *XCAVATION Ċ

1 01 GI B

GALT LF

TEST PIT: TP11

Sheet 1 OF 1

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

Machine: JD 310D

Operator: Eddie

	Lo	cati	on:	16 N	/IcDonal	ld Road, Baldivi	is			Bucket: 600	mm t	oothe	d Checked By: PCW	
F		E	xcav	ation		Samplin	ıg			Field Material Des	criptio	on		
	METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED GRAPHIC	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
	BH	E		0.0					SP 	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow-brown SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	D	MD	Limestone pinnacle at 1.0 m	
GALT 1.01 2013-02-21			-	2.0						Hole terminated at 1.80 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				-

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387679 m

6424872 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Sketch & Other Observations 30/04/2015 16:07 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Pritchard Francis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387710 m 6424867 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket:

Logged: 600 mm toothed

Date:

20/04/2015 ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	E	Exca	vation		Samplin	ıg				Field Material Desc	riptic	n	
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
			0.0-						SP	FILL: SAND, fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow, comprising limestone			
								· · ·		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow			
			-					· · ·					
T	_		-					· · · · · ·					
BI	E		-					· · ·	SP		M	MD	
			0.5 —					· · ·					
			-					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
										Hole terminated at 0.70 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered			

ools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Prj; GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 0/04/2015 16:07 8.30,003 Datoel DGD. CPT. Photo AVATION Ċ 01 GI B

Sketch & Other Observations Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Pritchard I

Project:

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: 3 Northing: 6 Datum: N

387714 m 6424927 m MGA94 Zone 50 Contractor:Eddie's BackhoeMachine:JD 310DOperator:EddieBucket:600 mm toothed

 Date:
 20/04/2015

 Logged:
 EY

 Checked Date:
 30/04/2015

 Checked By:
 PCW

See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

F		Fxca	vation		Samplin	na				Field Material Desc	rintic	n		-
	METHOD EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE CONDITION	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	_
			0.0						SP	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow-brown	м	L		
	Έ								SP	SAND: fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	D	L - MD		
										Hole terminated at 2.00 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered				

Sketch & Other Observations



Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Pritchard Francis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387797 m 6424903 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

ľ		I	Exca	vation		Samplir	ng					Field Material Desc	riptic	on		
	METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL D	ESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
F				0.0					•••		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-a	ngular to sub-rounded,				Γ
				-							yenew					
				-					· . . · .							
				0.5 —									М	L		-
				-												
				-												
				- 1.0 —					· · ·						-	_
				-					· · .							
	ВН	Е		-					· · ·	SP						
				-												
				1.5					· · ·		With some gravel and cobbles comprisir	g limestone			At 1.5 m, limestone pinnacle	-
				-									D	L- MD		
				_												
				2.0 —					· · ·							-
				-					· · ·							
7-7				-												
U-5102 IU								-	·. ·		Hole terminated at 2.50 m					-
): GALL 1.				-							Groundwater not encountered					
									1		Sketch & Other Observatior	S				L
107 L07 L																
LID: GAL																
g 100IS																
MONITORI																
L P NOTO,																
טפט, כר																
3 Dargel																
vv.vc.d /																
0.91 GLO																
> 30/04/2																
wingr lie>																
RINSS C.																
10/0/0																
SLC NO																
EXUAVA																
-00 GO-																
1 979 LO.	Cor	nmei	nts:							:						_
/FI FIB .I	-01											See Explanatory details o	Note	es an previa	d Method of Soil Description sheets fo ations and basis of descriptions	r
3																



Project:

Location:

TEST PIT: TP15

Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number:	J1501070
Client:	Pritchard Francis
Project:	Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387800 m 6424883 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

		Exca	vation		Sampli	ng										Field	I Mate	erial	Descrip	otio	n									
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL		SC	DIL/RO	CK M	IATEI	RIAL DE	SCRII	PTIO	N	MOISTURE	CONDITION	CONSISTENCY DENSITY			ST O	RU(ADI BSE		RE AI DNAL ATION	ND IS		
			0.0]				· ·		SAND	: medi	um to c	oarse	graine	ed, sub-an	gular t	o sub-i	round	ed,											Τ
			-																											
			-							Yellow	,			1						М										
			0.5 —																		L									-
			-	-																										
			-																											
			1.0-							Trace	gravel	and co	bbles	compr	ising lime	stone						At 1.	0 m, l	imest	one p	oinna	cle			-
BH	E		-						SP																					
			-	-																										
			1.5 —																	D										-
			-																		MD	At 1.	7 m. l	imest	one	oinna	cle			
			-																											
			2.0 —																											-
			-																											
			-					· · ·																						
			2.5 —							Hole t Targe	ermina t depth	ited at 2	2.40 m	rod																-
2			-								awator	i not on	oounte	, eu																
										<u> </u>	Sketo	ch & O	ther (Obse	rvations	5														
2 5 																														
5	· · · · · ·																*****													
Со	mmei	nts:														s	ee E>	kplan	atory N	lote	es an	d Me	thod	of S	ioil E	Desc	riptio	n she	ets f	for
																		det	ails of a	abb	revia	tions	and	bas	is of	fdes	cripti	ons		



Job Number: J1501070

Client:

TEST PIT: TP16

Sheet 1 OF 1

20/04/2015 Date: ΕY Logged:

Location:	16 McDon	ald Road, Baldivis				Bucket: 600 r	nm to	oothe	ed Checked By: PCW
Exca	vation	Sampling				Field Material Desc	riptic	n	I
METHOD EXCAVATION RESISTANCE WATER	DEPTH DEPTH DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACIU SULPHATE SAMPLE RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
Н Е					SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	M	MD	At 1.0 m, limestone pinnacle comprising approximately 30% of test pit face
	-					Hole terminated at 2.30 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered			
						Sketch & Other Observations			
			New York					1	

5.4 .

Let al

A369 T

287829 m

6424833 m

Easting:

Northing:

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

Machine: JD 310D

Š

11501C

EXCAVATION 99 5

GALTUR 101 GLB

Comments:

See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Appendix C: Hand Auger Borehole Reports

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd

www.galtgeo.com.au 2/39 Flynn St, WEMBLEY WA 6014 ABN: 73 292 586 155



HAND AUGER BOREHOLE: HA01

Sheet	1	OF	
000.		<u> </u>	

Date:	20/04/2015
Logged:	EY
Checked Date:	30/04/2015
Checked By:	PCW

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Project:

Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

	Drilling		Samplin				Field Material Desc	ield Material Description						
METHOD	PENETRATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
—			0.0]			-	· .		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded,				_
								$\cdot \cdot \cdot$		brown				
			-					· · ·						
			-	-						Yellow	-			
			-											
								· .						
Ŧ	E		-						SP		M	L		
			0.5	1										
			_											
			-	_				$\left[\begin{array}{c} \cdot & \cdot \\ \cdot & \cdot \end{array} \right]$						
		-						· · ·		Hole terminated at 0.80 m				
										Target depth Groundwater not encountered				
			-	-										
			-1.0							Sketch & Other Observations				
			20.00	29	ar visual de	CHEN	4/3		23					-
			¥.5.4	1.1	1.		ŧ.		No.					
2								# 3	a a					
		-	- 6	-										
. 2	闅					-	100	-	5.					
			A.R.	The second		-								
	-		主義	in a	the star		42	20						
	Se .	S.	1		Standing .		P	4	G,					
-								- 640						
	đ.		1	40	and the second	-			K					
4	Re		and a	1		¢.	6	10	18					
1			7	1	并可	D.	-	4.	14					
	<u>,</u>			74	12. 24		10		4					
		:				:		1	:					
Co	mme	nts:								See Explanatory	/ Note	es an	d Method of Soil Description sheets	s for

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387738 m

6424898 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Operator: EY

Inclination: -90°



HAND AUGER BOREHOLE: HA02

OF	
C	ᅡ

Date:	20/04/2015
Logged:	EY
Checked Date:	30/04/2015
Checked By:	PCW

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Pritchard P Project: Proposed

2013-02-21

Pri-GALT 1 01

GALT 1 01 2013-02-21

ools I lih.

13-24 8 30.003 Datnel DGD CPT Photo

AVATION

0.00

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Drilling **Field Material Description** Sampling MOISTURE CONDITION CONSISTENCY DENSITY PENETRATION RESISTANCE USCS SYMBOL ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE RECOVERED STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST GRAPHIC LOG METHOD SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION DEPTH (metres) WATER *DEPTH* RL 0.0 SAND: medium to fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, . brown . · . · . . • Yellow . · . . · . • ٩A Е SP М Т . · . •••• · 0.5 . . . • . · • Hole terminated at 0.70 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered **Sketch & Other Observations** Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387806 m

6424924 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Operator: EY

Inclination: -90°


HAND AUGER BOREHOLE: HA03

MOISTURE CONDITION CONSISTENCY DENSITY

М L

Sheet	1	OF	
-------	---	----	--

Date:	20/04/2015
Logged:	EY
Checked Date:	30/04/2015
Checked By:	PCW

STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS

Job Number: J1501070 Easting: 387695 m Operator: EY Client: Northing: 6424832 m Pritchard Francis Inclination: -90° Project: Proposed Residential Subdivision Datum: MGA94 Zone 50 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location: Drilling **Field Material Description** Sampling PENETRATION RESISTANCE USCS SYMBOL ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE RECOVERED SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST GRAPHIC LOG METHOD SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION DEPTH (metres) WATER DEPTH RL 0.0 SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, • brown . · . Yellow · . . • . · . . ₽ Е SP . . · . · . · . · 0.5 Hole terminated at 0.60 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered Sketch & Other Observations Comments:

Tools | Lib: GALT 1,01 2013-02-21 CPT, Photo 0/04/2015 13:24 8.30.003 Datael DGD.

WATION

0.00

2013-02-21

Pri-GALT 1 01

See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Appendix D: Perth Sand Penetrometer Results

PERTH SAND PENETROMETER FIELD TEST DATA (Standard Depth 900mm) (AS12896.3.3)

Client:	Pritchard Franc	cis		Job No:	J1501070						
Project:	Proposed Resid	dential Subdivisio	on	Date:	20/04/2015		++G	alt			
Location:	16 McDonald R	Road, Baldivis		Engineer:	EY		410	121/110403			
	[1			
Test No:	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8			
Location:	TP01	TP02	TP03	TP04	TP05	TP06	TP07	TP08			
Depth (mm)			N° of Penet	rometer Blows	per 150 mm De	epth Interval					
0-150	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat			
150-300	2	2	5	5	3	2	2	7			
300-450	2	1	5	6	3	3	2	7			
450-600	3	2	4	5	3	2	1	8			
600-750	2	1	5	5	4	1	2	11			
750-900	2	2	5	4	3	2	1	8			
900-1050	4	3	4 E	2	3	2	2	8			
1200-1250		4 5	5	5							
1350-1500		6	6	6							
1500-1650		6	5	5							
1650-1800		7	5	5							
1800-1950		8	5	4							
1950-2100		8	5	4							
	•			ſ		1		1			
Test No:	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16			
Location:	TP09	TP10	TP11	TP12	TP13	TP14	TP15	TP16			
Depth (mm)	Depth (mm) N° of Penetrometer Blows per 150 mm Depth Interval										
0-150	Seat	Seat	Seat	3	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat			
150-300	3	2	3	4	4	2	3	2			
300-450	4	2	4	3	5	4	4	3			
450-600	3	2	3	2	5	2	5	2			
600-750	4	2	6	3	5	2	4	2			
750-900	3	2	6	3	5	3	3	3			
900-1050	3	4	4	3	5	3	4	3			
1050-1200							5				
1200-1350							5				
1500-1650							6				
1650-1800							7				
1800-1950							8				
1950-2100							8				
	•	•		•				-			
Test No:	17	18	19								
Location:	PSP01	PSP02	PSP03								
Depth (mm)			N ^o of Penet	rometer Blows	per 150 mm De	epth Interval					
0-150	Seat	Seat	Seat								
150-300	3	2	2								
300-450	3	1	1								
450-600	3	2	3								
600-750	3	2	2	ļ							
750-900	3	4	2								
900-1050	4	6	4								
1050-1200	4	7	4								
1200-1350	5	6	5		<u> </u>		<u> </u>				
1350-1500	7	0	5								
1650-1800	,	4 5	4 5								
1800-1950	8	6	5			1		1			

Perth Sand Penetrometer tests done in accordance with AS 1289.6.3.3 (except blow counts are reported per 150 mm, rather than 300 mm)

7

HB: Hammer bounce (refusal)

0 = Penetration due to hammer weight only

8

7

R: Refusal

1950-2100



Appendix E: Permeability Test Results





	_	_				
	K (m/day)	V	104.2	84.6	73.0	87.3
	K (m/s)	N	1.2E-03	9.8E-04	8.4E-04	1.0E-03
	h _t (m)	0.62	0.33	0.22	0.16	AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.18	0.47	0.58	0.64	
Test 2	t (s)	0	10	20	30	



	ay)	\mathbf{V}			
	K (m/d	Ň	93.4	81.7	87.5
	K (m/s)	X	1.1E-03	9.5E-04	1.0E-03
		\square	Ì		 È.
	h _t (m)	0.65	0.37	0.24	AVERAG
	d _w (m)	0.15	0.43	0.56	
Test 3	t (s)	0	10	20	



Perme	ability Calculatio	<u>n - Inver</u>	se Auge	r Hole	Method			
Galt Geo	technics	Spreadshee	et author:	ORW	17-Oct-09	REFERENC	E: Cocks, G. Disposal of	
Job No:	J1501070					Stormwater	Runoff by Soakage in Perth	
Client:	Pritchard Francis				-	the Australia	stralia, Journal and News of n Geomechanics Society	
Site:	16 McDonald Road		log ₁₀ (h ₀ +	r) – log	$h_{10}(h_t + -r)$	Volume 42 N	lo 3 September 2007,	
Location:	Baldivis	K = 1.15r		7	V	pp101-114		
Calc by:	EY 22-Apr-15			1 – 1				
BH Name:	HA02/P2	Parameter	Description	_			Value Units	
Test Depth:	0.7 m	X	Permeability				s/m	
Spreadshe	set Legend	L	radius of tes	t hole			0.04 m	
	Required input	t	time since s	tart of mea	asurement		Ŵ	
	Calculated field	h,	reference po	oint height	above base		0.7 m	
	Comment field	dt	depth from r	eference p	point to water	at time t	E	
X	Field not used	h,	Water colum	nn height a	it time t		E	
	Fixed field	h _o	h _t at t=0				E	

K (m/day)

K (m/s)

h_t (m)

d_w (m)

Test 1 t (s)

Meth	
Hole	
Auger	
IVERSE	
-	
Calculation - Ir	



	K (m/day)	V	25.1	21.0	19.7	19.3	18.7	18.1	17.8	20.0
	K (m/s)	V	2.9E-04	2.4E-04	2.3E-04	2.2E-04	2.2E-04	2.1E-04	2.1E-04	2.3E-04
	h _t (m)	0.615	0.455	0.37	0.3	0.24	0.195	0.16	0.13	AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.085	0.245	0.33	0.4	0.46	0.505	0.54	0.57	
Test 3	t (s)	0	20	40	60	80	100	120	140	

	_	_				_				_	_	 	-
	K (m/day)	V	23.9	20.8	19.1	17.1	16.2	15.4	15.0	14.6	14.2		17.4
	K (m/s)	V	2.8E-04	2.4E-04	2.2E-04	2.0E-04	1.9E-04	1.8E-04	1.7E-04	1.7E-04	1.6E-04		2.0E-04
	h _t (m)	0.62	0.465	0.375	0.31	0.27	0.23	0.2	0.17	0.145	0.125		AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.08	0.235	0.325	0.39	0.43	0.47	0.5	0.53	0.555	0.575		
est 2	t (s)	0	20	40	60	80	100	120	140	160	180		

_	22.5	2.6E-04	AVEKAGE		
	17.9	2.1E-04	0.13	0.57	140
	20.1 19.9	2.3E-04 2.3E-04	0.18 0.14	0.52 0.56	100
	21.6	2.5E-04	0.215	0.485	80
	22.8	2.6E-04	0.27	0.43	60
	24.8	2.9E-04	0.34	0.36	40
	30.4	3.5E-04	0.43	0.27	20
	X		0.62	0.08	0





K (m/s) K (m/day)

h, (m)

d_w (m)

t (s)

Test 1

63.2 59.8 62.1

7.3E-04 6.9E-04 7.2E-04

0.5 0.23 0.11 0.04

0.1 0.37 0.49 0.56

ŝ	
	an a
\leftarrow	<u> </u>
÷.	
`	
9	
8월 2	
~ 66 C	ate
<	S
	7 . N
a)	<u> </u>
nc	The second s
at ere	
oi	
	🕷 물리 가 흔들 것 같아요. 한 것 같아요. 한 것 같아요. 한 것

Surface

	K (m/day)	X	52.6	53.2	55.4		53.7
	K (m/s)	V	6.1E-04	6.2E-04	6.4E-04		6.2E-04
	h _t (m)	0.495	0.26	0.13	0.055		AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.105	0.34	0.47	0.545		
Test 3	t (s)	0	20	40	60		

	_	_	_			
K (m/day)	V	59.8	53.2	55.4		56.1
K (m/s)	V	6.9E-04	6.2E-04	6.4E-04		6.5E-04
h _t (m)	0.46	0.22	0.12	0.05		AVERAGE
d _w (m)	0.14	0.38	0.48	0.55		
t (s)	0	20	40	60		

O:\Jobs\2015\J1501070 - PF SI McDonald Rd Baldivis\08 Analysis\J1501070 Permeability Inverse Auger Hole Method

61.7

7.1E-04

AVERAGE





Appendix F: Environmental Laboratory Certificates

eurofins mgt

Galt Environment P/L 2/39 Flynn St Wembley WA 6014



Certificate of Analysis

NATA Accredited Accreditation Number 1261 Site Number 1254

Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025. The results of the tests, calibrations and/or measurements included in this document are traceable to Australian/national standards.

Attention:
Report
Project name
Project ID

Received Date

454842-S BALDIVIS J1501070 Apr 22, 2015

Brad Palmer

Client Sample ID			SS01/0.0	SS02/0.0	SS03/0.0	SS04/0.0	
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16245	M15-Ap16246	M15-Ap16247	M15-Ap16248	
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	
Test/Reference		Unit					
Organochlorine Pesticides	LOR	Onit					
Chlordanes - Total	0.1	ma/ka	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	
	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
4.4'-DDF	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
4 4'-DDT	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
a-BHC	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Aldrin	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
h-BHC	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
d-BHC	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Dieldrin	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Endosulfan I	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Endosulfan II	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Endosulfan sulphate	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Endrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Endrin aldehyde	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Endrin ketone	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Heptachlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Heptachlor epoxide	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Hexachlorobenzene	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Methoxychlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	
Toxaphene	1	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	
Dibutylchlorendate (surr.)	1	%	90	87	91	75	
Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)	1	%	79	79	83	73	
Organophosphorous Pesticides							
Bolstar	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Chlorpyrifos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Demeton-O	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Diazinon	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Dichlorvos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Disulfoton	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Ethion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Ethoprop	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Fenitrothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Fensulfothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	
Fenthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	



Client Sample ID			SS01/0.0	SS02/0.0	SS03/0.0	SS04/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16245	M15-Ap16246	M15-Ap16247	M15-Ap16248
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit				
Organophosphorous Pesticides						
Merphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl azinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl parathion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Mevinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Naled	0.5	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5
Phorate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ronnel	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Tokuthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Trichloronate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Triphenylphosphate (surr.)	1	%	55	61	63	65
Heavy Metals						
Arsenic	2	mg/kg	3.4	2.8	2.7	2.3
Cadmium	0.4	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4
Chromium	5	mg/kg	15	15	16	16
Copper	5	mg/kg	14	19	19	17
Lead	5	mg/kg	5.6	6.9	6.8	6.0
Mercury	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Nickel	5	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	< 5	< 5
Zinc	5	mg/kg	38	68	50	42
					<u> </u>	
% Moisture	0.1	%	2.6	3.6	3.1	3.1

Client Sample ID			SS05/0.0	SS06/0.0	SS07/0.0	SS08/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16249	M15-Ap16250	M15-Ap16251	M15-Ap16252
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit				
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Chlordanes - Total	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
4.4'-DDD	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDE	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDT	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
a-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Aldrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
b-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
d-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Dieldrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan I	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan II	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan sulphate	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin aldehyde	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin ketone	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor epoxide	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Hexachlorobenzene	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Methoxychlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05



Client Sample ID			SS05/0.0	SS06/0.0	SS07/0.0	SS08/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16249	M15-Ap16250	M15-Ap16251	M15-Ap16252
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit	-	-	-	-
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Toxaphene	1	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Dibutylchlorendate (surr.)	1	%	88	93	95	88
Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)	1	%	82	83	83	77
Organophosphorous Pesticides						
Bolstar	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Chlorpyrifos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Demeton-O	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Diazinon	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Dichlorvos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Disulfoton	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethoprop	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenitrothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fensulfothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Merphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl azinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl parathion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Mevinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Naled	0.5	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5
Phorate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ronnel	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Tokuthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Trichloronate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Triphenylphosphate (surr.)	1	%	58	62	77	77
Heavy Metals						
Arsenic	2	mg/kg	4.4	3.7	2.9	2.3
Cadmium	0.4	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4
Chromium	5	mg/kg	15	15	16	17
Copper	5	mg/kg	16	17	19	26
Lead	5	mg/kg	6.4	6.8	6.3	6.9
Mercury	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Nickel	5	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	< 5	< 5
Zinc	5	mg/kg	43	42	41	51
% Moisture	0.1	%	2.7	2.3	3.1	3.7

Client Sample ID Sample Matrix Eurofins mgt Sample No. Date Sampled			SS09/0.0 Soil M15-Ap16253 Apr 20, 2015	SS10/0.0 Soil M15-Ap16254 Apr 20, 2015	QC1 Soil M15-Ap16255 Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit			
Organochlorine Pesticides					
Chlordanes - Total	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
4.4'-DDD	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDE	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDT	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
a-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05



Client Sample ID			SS09/0.0	SS10/0.0	QC1
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16253	M15-Ap16254	M15-Ap16255
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit			
Organochlorine Pesticides					
Aldrin	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
b-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
d-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Dieldrin	0.05	mg/kg	0.07	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan I	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan II	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan sulphate	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin aldehyde	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin ketone	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor epoxide	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Hexachlorobenzene	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Methoxychlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Toxaphene	1	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	< 1
Dibutylchlorendate (surr.)	1	%	77	85	98
Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)	1	%	74	72	80
Organophosphorous Pesticides					
Bolstar	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Chlorpyrifos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Demeton-O	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Diazinon	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Dichlorvos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Disulfoton	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethoprop	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenitrothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fensulfothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Merphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl azinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl parathion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Mevinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Naled	0.5	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5
Phorate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ronnel	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
	0.2	0/.	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
	I	/0	/ 1	75	00
	2	ma/ka	11	4.7	4.0
	0.4	mg/kg	4.1	4.7	4.9
Chromium	5	ma/ka	10	10	18
Copper	5	mg/kg	32	- 5	63
Lead	5	ma/ka	8.2	~ 5	- 5
Mercury	01	mg/kg	0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Nickel	5	ma/ka	< 5	< 5	< 5
Zinc	5	mg/kg	110	< 5	12



			ж.
17	-	~	۰.
		~	
		5-	۰.
		0	

Client Sample ID			SS09/0.0	SS10/0.0	QC1
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16253	M15-Ap16254	M15-Ap16255
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit			
% Moisture	0.1	%	3.5	2.9	1.5



Sample History

Where samples are submitted/analysed over several days, the last date of extraction and analysis is reported. A recent review of our LIMS has resulted in the correction or clarification of some method identifications. Due to this, some of the method reference information on reports has changed. However, no substantive change has been made to our laboratory methods, and as such there is no change in the validity of current or previous results (regarding both quality and NATA accreditation).

If the date and time of sampling are not provided, the Laboratory will not be responsible for compromised results should testing be performed outside the recommended holding time.

Description	Testing Site	Extracted	Holding Time
Eurofins mgt Suite 14			
Organochlorine Pesticides	Melbourne	Apr 23, 2015	14 Day
- Method: USEPA 8081 Organochlorine Pesticides			
Organophosphorous Pesticides	Melbourne	Apr 23, 2015	14 Day
- Method: USEPA 8270 Organophosphorus Pesticides			
Metals M8	Melbourne	Apr 23, 2015	28 Day
- Method: USEPA 6010/6020 Heavy Metals & USEPA 7470/71 Mercury			
% Moisture	Melbourne	Apr 22, 2015	14 Day
- Method: LTM-GEN-7080 Moisture			

	mgt
S	-
fin	
ILO	
e	

Aelbourne 3-5 Kingston Town Close Oakleigh YIC 3166 Phone: +61: 3 8564 5000 ABN – 50 005 085 521 e.mail: EnviroSales@eurofins.com.au web: www.eurofins.com.au Site # 1264 8 14271

Sydney Loint 75, Building F 16 Mars Road Lane Cove West NSW 2066 Phone - +612 2900 8400 NATA # 1261 Site # 18217

Brisbane 1/21 Smallwood Place Murarie QLD 4172 Phone: +61 7 3902 4600 NATA # 1261 Site # 20794

Apr 22, 2015 9:54 AM Apr 29, 2015 5 Day Brad Palmer Priority: Contact Name: Received: Due: 08 6272 0200 08 9285 8444 J1501070 454842 Order No.: Report #: Phone:

> Galt Environment P/L 2/39 Flynn St Wembley

Company Name: Address: Eurofins | mgt Client Manager: Natalie Krasselt

	WA 6014					Ű	ax:	
Project Name Project ID:	BALDIVIS J1501070	% C						
		Sample Detail			Metals M8	Eurofins mgt Suite 14	Moisture Set	
Laboratory whe	re analysis is co	onducted						
Melbourne Lab	oratory - NATA S	Site # 1254 & 14	271		Х	×	Х	
Sydney Labora	tory - NATA Site	# 18217						
Brisbane Labor	atory - NATA Sit	te # 20794						
External Labors	itory							
Sample ID	Sample Date	Sampling Time	Matrix	LAB ID				
SS01/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16245	×	\times	×	
SS02/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16246	Х	×	×	
SS03/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16247	×	\times	Х	
SS04/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16248	×	×	X	
SS05/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16249	Х	×	×	
SS06/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16250	×	\times	×	
SS07/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16251	\times	\times	\times	
SS08/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16252	×	\times	×	
SS09/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16253	×	×	×	

Page 7 of 15 Report Number: 454842-S

	mgt
S	-
fin	
aro	
e	

Melbourne 3-5 Kingston Town Close Oakleigh VIC 3166 Phone : +61 3 8564 5000 NATA # 1261 Site # 1254 & 14271 web : www.eurofins.com.au e.mail : EnviroSales@eurofins.com.au ABN - 50 005 085 521

Sydney Unit F3, Building F 16 Mars Road Lane Cove West NSW 2066 Phone : 461 2 9900 8400 NATA # 1261 Site # 18217

Brisbane 1/21 Smallwood Place Murarrie QLD 4172 Phone: +-61 7 3902 4600 NATA # 1261 Site # 20794

Eurofins | mgt Client Manager: Natalie Krasselt Apr 22, 2015 9:54 AM Apr 29, 2015 5 Day Brad Palmer Priority: Contact Name: Received: Due: 08 6272 0200 08 9285 8444 J1501070 454842 Order No.: Report #: Phone: Fax: Galt Environment P/L 2/39 Flynn St BALDIVIS J1501070 Wembley WA 6014 Company Name: Address: Project Name: Project ID:

Moisture Set Eurofins mgt Suite 14 Metals M8		× × ×				X X X	×××
						M15-Ap16254	M15-Ap16255
		271				Soil	Soil
Sample Detail	onducted	Site # 1254 & 14;	: # 18217	te # 20794			
	re analysis is c	pratory - NATA	tory - NATA Site	atory - NATA Si	itory	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
	boratory whe	Ibourne Labo	dney Laborat	sbane Labor	ternal Labora	10/0.0	2

Report Number: 454842-S

Page 8 of 15



Eurofins | mgt Internal Quality Control Review and Glossary

General

- 1. Laboratory QC results for Method Blanks, Duplicates, Matrix Spikes, and Laboratory Control Samples are included in this QC report where applicable. Additional QC data may be available on request.
- 2. All soil results are reported on a dry basis, unless otherwise stated.
- 3. Actual LORs are matrix dependant. Quoted LORs may be raised where sample extracts are diluted due to interferences.
- 4. Results are uncorrected for matrix spikes or surrogate recoveries.
- 5. SVOC analysis on waters are performed on homogenised, unfiltered samples, unless noted otherwise.
- 6. Samples were analysed on an 'as received' basis. 7. This report replaces any interim results previously issued.

Holding Times

Please refer to 'Sample Preservation and Container Guide' for holding times (QS3001).

For samples received on the last day of holding time, notification of testing requirements should have been received at least 6 hours prior to sample receipt deadlines as stated on the Sample Receipt Advice.

If the Laboratory did not receive the information in the required timeframe, and regardless of any other integrity issues, suitably qualified results may still be reported. Holding times apply from the date of sampling, therefore compliance to these may be outside the laboratory's control.

**NOTE: pH duplicates are reported as a range NOT as RPD

UNITS

 mg/kg: milligrams per Kilogram
 mg/l: milligrams per litre

 ug/l: micrograms per litre
 ppm: Parts per million

 ppb: Parts per billion
 %: Percentage

 org/100ml: Organisms per 100 millilitres
 NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units

 MPN/100mL: Most Probable Number of organisms per 100 millilitres

TERMS

Dry	Where a moisture has been determined on a solid sample the result is expressed on a dry basis.
LOR	Limit of Reporting.
SPIKE	Addition of the analyte to the sample and reported as percentage recovery.
RPD	Relative Percent Difference between two Duplicate pieces of analysis.
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample - reported as percent recovery
CRM	Certified Reference Material - reported as percent recovery
Method Blank	In the case of solid samples these are performed on laboratory certified clean sands.
	In the case of water samples these are performed on de-ionised water.
Surr - Surrogate	The addition of a like compound to the analyte target and reported as percentage recovery.
Duplicate	A second piece of analysis from the same sample and reported in the same units as the result to show comparison.
Batch Duplicate	A second piece of analysis from a sample outside of the clients batch of samples but run within the laboratory batch of analysis.
Batch SPIKE	Spike recovery reported on a sample from outside of the clients batch of samples but run within the laboratory batch of analysis.
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
APHA	American Public Health Association
ASLP	Australian Standard Leaching Procedure (AS4439.3)
TCLP	Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure
COC	Chain of Custody
SRA	Sample Receipt Advice
CP	Client Parent - QC was performed on samples pertaining to this report
NCP	Non-Client Parent - QC performed on samples not pertaining to this report, QC is representative of the sequence or batch that client samples were analysed within
TEQ	Toxic Equivalency Quotient

QC - ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA

RPD Duplicates: Global RPD Duplicates Acceptance Criteria is 30% however the following acceptance guidelines are equally applicable:

Results <10 times the LOR : No Limit

Results between 10-20 times the LOR : RPD must lie between 0-50%

Results >20 times the LOR : RPD must lie between 0-30%

Surrogate Recoveries : Recoveries must lie between 50-150% - Phenols 20-130%.

QC DATA GENERAL COMMENTS

- 1. Where a result is reported as a less than (<), higher than the nominated LOR, this is due to either matrix interference, extract dilution required due to interferences or contaminant levels within the sample, high moisture content or insufficient sample provided.
- 2. Duplicate data shown within this report that states the word "BATCH" is a Batch Duplicate from outside of your sample batch, but within the laboratory sample batch at a 1:10 ratio. The Parent and Duplicate data shown is not data from your samples.
- 3. Organochlorine Pesticide analysis where reporting LCS data, Toxophene & Chlordane are not added to the LCS.
- 4. Organochlorine Pesticide analysis where reporting Spike data, Toxophene is not added to the Spike.
- 5. Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons where reporting Spike & LCS data, a single spike of commercial Hydrocarbon products in the range of C12-C30 is added and it's Total Recovery is reported in the C10-C14 cell of the Report.
- 6. pH and Free Chlorine analysed in the laboratory Analysis on this test must begin within 30 minutes of sampling. Therefore laboratory analysis is unlikely to be completed within holding time. Analysis will begin as soon as possible after sample receipt.
- 7. Recovery Data (Spikes & Surrogates) where chromatographic interference does not allow the determination of Recovery the term "INT" appears against that analyte.
- 8. Polychlorinated Biphenyls are spiked only using Arochlor 1260 in Matrix Spikes and LCS's.
- 9. For Matrix Spikes and LCS results a dash " -" in the report means that the specific analyte was not added to the QC sample.
- 10. Duplicate RPD's are calculated from raw analytical data thus it is possible to have two sets of data.



Quality Control Results

Test	Units	Result 1		Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Method Blank						
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Chlordanes - Total	mg/kg	< 0.1		0.1	Pass	
4.4'-DDD	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
4.4'-DDE	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
4.4'-DDT	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
a-BHC	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Aldrin	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
b-BHC	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
d-BHC	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Dieldrin	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endrin	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endrin aldehvde	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endrin ketone	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Heptachlor	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Methoxychlor	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Toxaphene	ma/ka	< 1		1	Pass	
Method Blank	iiig/itg				1 400	
Organonhosphorous Pesticides						
Bolstar	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Chlorovrifos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Demeton-Q	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Diazinon	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Dichloryos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Disulfaton	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Ethion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Ethoprop	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Fenitrothion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Fensulfothion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Fenthion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Merohos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Methyl azinnhos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Methyl parathion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Mevinnhos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Naled	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.5	Pass	
Phorate	ma/ka	< 0.0		0.2	Pass	
Ronnel	mg/kg	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Tokuthion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
	mg/kg	< 0.2		0.2	Pase	
Method Blank	ing/itg	< 0.Z		0.2	1 033	
Heavy Metals						
Arsenic	ma/ka	<i>2</i> 2		2	Pass	
Cadmium	mg/kg	< 0.4		04	Pase	
Chromium	mg/kg	< 5		5	Pase	
Copper	mg/kg	< 5		5	Pass	
Lead	mg/kg	~ 5		5	Pase	
2000	iiig/itg		1 1	5	1 433	



Test			Units	Result 1	Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Mercury			mg/kg	< 0.1	0.1	Pass	
Nickel			mg/kg	< 5	5	Pass	
Zinc			mg/kg	< 5	5	Pass	
LCS - % Recovery							
Organochlorine Pesticides							
4.4'-DDD			%	98	70-130	Pass	
4.4'-DDE			%	95	70-130	Pass	
4.4'-DDT			%	88	70-130	Pass	
a-BHC			%	126	70-130	Pass	
Aldrin			%	95	70-130	Pass	
b-BHC			%	111	70-130	Pass	
d-BHC			%	97	70-130	Pass	
Dieldrin			%	96	70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan I			%	94	70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan II			%	98	70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate			%	104	70-130	Pass	
Endrin			%	90	70-130	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde			%	99	70-130	Pass	
Endrin ketone			%	105	70-130	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)			%	87	70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor			%	96	70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide			%	94	70-130	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene			%	91	70-130	Pass	
Methoxychlor			%	82	70-130	Pass	
LCS - % Recovery				1	1		
Organophosphorous Pesticides							
Diazinon			%	83	70-130	Pass	
Ethion			%	102	70-130	Pass	
Fenitrothion			%	81	70-130	Pass	
Methyl parathion			%	82	70-130	Pass	
Mevinphos			%	92	70-130	Pass	
LCS - % Recovery				[1		
Heavy Metals							
Arsenic			%	80	80-120	Pass	
Cadmium			%	95	80-120	Pass	
Chromium			%	96	80-120	Pass	
Copper			%	98	80-120	Pass	
Lead			%	98	80-120	Pass	
Mercury			%	101	 75-125	Pass	
Nickel			%	100	 80-120	Pass	
Zinc			%	98	80-120	Pass	
Test	Lab Sample ID		Units	Result 1	Acceptance	Pass Limits	Qualifying
Spike - % Recovery		oouroc			Linits	Linits	oouc
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1			
4.4'-DDD	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	88	70-130	Pass	
4.4'-DDF	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	89	70-130	Pass	
4.4'-DDT	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	82	70-130	Pass	
a-BHC	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	95	70-130	Pass	
Aldrin	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	81	70-130	Pass	
b-BHC	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	96	70-130	Pass	
d-BHC	M15-Ap16246	СР	%	84	70-130	Pass	
Dieldrin	M15-Ap16246	СР	%	87	70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan I	M15-Ap16246	СР	%	81	70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan II	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	85	70-130	Pass	



Test	Lab Sample ID	QA Source	Units	Result 1			Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Endosulfan sulphate	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	94			70-130	Pass	
Endrin	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	83			70-130	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	86			70-130	Pass	
Endrin ketone	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	95			70-130	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	74			70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	84			70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	87			70-130	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	78			70-130	Pass	
Methoxychlor	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	85			70-130	Pass	
Spike - % Recovery				-	-		-		
Organophosphorous Pesticides				Result 1					
Diazinon	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	90			70-130	Pass	
Ethion	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	73			70-130	Pass	
Fenitrothion	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	71			70-130	Pass	
Methyl parathion	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	72			70-130	Pass	
Mevinphos	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	90			70-130	Pass	
Spike - % Recovery									
Heavy Metals				Result 1					
Arsenic	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	78			75-125	Pass	
Cadmium	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	97			75-125	Pass	
Chromium	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	97			75-125	Pass	
Copper	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	103			75-125	Pass	
Lead	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	98			75-125	Pass	
Mercury	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	85			70-130	Pass	
Nickel	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	99			75-125	Pass	
Zinc	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	85			75-125	Pass	
Test	Lab Sample ID	QA Source	Units	Result 1			Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Duplicate				r			1	-	
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Chlordanes - Total	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDD	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDE	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDT	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
a-BHC	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Aldrin	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
b-BHC	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
d-BHC	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Dieldrin	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan I	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan II	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin ketone	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide					0.05		200/	_	
	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	M15-Ap16245 M15-Ap16245	CP CP	mg/kg mg/kg	< 0.05 < 0.05	< 0.05 < 0.05	<1 <1	30%	Pass Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene Methoxychlor	M15-Ap16245 M15-Ap16245 M15-Ap16245	CP CP CP	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	< 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05	< 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05	<1 <1 <1	30% 30%	Pass Pass Pass	



Duplicate				r	r				
Organophosphorous Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Bolstar	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Chlorpyrifos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Demeton-O	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Diazinon	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Dichlorvos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Disulfoton	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Ethion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Ethoprop	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Fenitrothion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Fensulfothion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Fenthion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Merphos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Methyl azinphos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Methyl parathion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Mevinphos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Naled	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	<1	30%	Pass	
Phorate	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Ronnel	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Tokuthion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Trichloronate	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Duplicate				1					
Heavy Metals				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Arsenic	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	3.7	3.2	17	30%	Pass	
Cadmium	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	<1	30%	Pass	
Chromium	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	15	15	2.0	30%	Pass	
Copper	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	17	17	1.0	30%	Pass	
Lead	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	6.8	6.2	10	30%	Pass	
Mercury	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
Nickel	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	<1	30%	Pass	
Zinc	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	42	46	7.0	30%	Pass	
Duplicate									
Heavy Metals				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Arsenic	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	2.9	2.6	10	30%	Pass	
Cadmium	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	<1	30%	Pass	
Chromium	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	16	16	1.0	30%	Pass	
Copper	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	19	19	<1	30%	Pass	
Lead	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	6.3	6.7	6.0	30%	Pass	
Mercury	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	<1	30%	Pass	
	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	41	45	9.0	30%	Pass	
Duplicate				D 144	D # 0				
	N45 A 40050	0.5	<u>.</u>	Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
% Moisture	M15-Ap16252	CP	%	3.7	3.2	12	30%	Pass	
Duplicate				Desult 1	Deputh 0	000			
Organochiorine Pesticides		00		Result	Result 2	RPD	2001	Daaa	
	N15-Ap16255		mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
	N15-Ap16255		mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
	IVI 15-Ap16255		mg/Kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
	IVITO-APT6255		mg/Kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
	M15 Ap10255		mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	3U%	Pass	
	N15-Ap16255		mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
	M15 Ap16255		mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	20%	Page	
Dioldrin	M15 Ap10200		mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30% 200/	Pass	
Dielarin	IVI15-Ap16255	CΡ	тпд/кд	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	



Duplicate									
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Endosulfan I	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan II	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin ketone	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Methoxychlor	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Toxaphene	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	<1	30%	Pass	

eurofins mgt

Comments

Sample Integrity	
Custody Seals Intact (if used)	N/A
Attempt to Chill was evident	Yes
Sample correctly preserved	Yes
Appropriate sample containers have been used	Yes
Sample containers for volatile analysis received with minimal headspace	Yes
Samples received within HoldingTime	Yes
Some samples have been subcontracted	No

Authorised By

Natalie Krasselt Carroll Lee Emily Rosenberg Huong Le Analytical Services Manager Senior Analyst-Organic (VIC) Senior Analyst-Metal (VIC) Senior Analyst-Inorganic (VIC)

Glenn Jackson National Laboratory Manager

Final report - this Report replaces any previously issued Report

- Indicates Not Requested

* Indicates NATA accreditation does not cover the performance of this service

Uncertainty data is available on request

Eurofins | mgt shall not be liable for loss, cost, damages or expenses incurred by the client, or any other person or company, resulting from the use of any information or interpretation given in this report. In no case shall Eurofins | mgt be liable for consequential damages including, but not limited to, lost profits, damages for failure to meet deadlines and lost production arising from this report. This document shall not be reproduced except in full and relates only to the items tested. Unless indicated otherwise, the tests were performed on the samples as received.



Appendix G: Understanding Your Report



UNDERSTANDING YOUR GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

GALT FORM PMP11 Rev1

1. EXPECTATIONS OF A GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

This document has been prepared to clarify what is and is not provided in your geotechnical report. It is intended to inform you of what your realistic expectations of this report should be and how to manage your risks associated with geotechnical conditions.

Geotechnical engineering is a less exact science than other engineering disciplines. We include this information to help you understand where our responsibilities as geotechnical engineers begin and end, to help the client recognise his responsibilities and risks. You should read and understand this information. Please contact us if you do not understand the report or this explanation. We have extensive experience in a wide variety of geotechnical problems and we can help you to manage your risk.

2. THIS REPORT RELATES TO PROJECT-SPECIFIC CONDITIONS

This report was developed for a unique set of project-specific conditions to meet the needs of the nominated client. It took into account the following :

- ✤ The project objectives as we understood them and as described in this report;
- ✤ the specific site mentioned in this report; and
- the current and proposed development at the site.

It should not be used for any purpose other than that indicated in the report. You should not rely on this geotechnical report if any of the following conditions apply:

- the report was not written for you;
- the report was not written for the site specific to your development;
- the report was not written for your project (including a development at the correct site but other than that listed in the report); or
- the report was written before significant changes occurred at the site (such as a development or a change in ground conditions).

You should always inform us of changes in the proposed project (including minor changes) and request an assessment of their impact.

Where we are not informed of developments relevant to your geotechnical engineering report, we cannot be held responsible or liable for problems that may arise as a consequence.

Where design is to be carried out by others using information provided by us, we recommend that we be involved in the design process by being engaged for consultation with other members of the design team and by being able to review work produced by other members of the design team which relies on geotechnical information provided in our report.



3. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING LOGS

Our reports often include logs of intrusive and non-intrusive geotechnical investigation techniques. These logs are based on our interpretation of field data and laboratory results. The logs should only be read in conjunction with the report they were issued with and should not be re-drawn for inclusion in other documents not prepared by us.

4. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE

We have prepared this report for use by the client. This report must be regarded as confidential to the client and the client's professional advisors. We do not accept any responsibility for contents of this document from any party other than the nominated client. We take no responsibility for any damages suffered by a third party as a consequence of any decisions or actions they may make based on this report. Any reliance or decisions made by a third party based on this report are the responsibility of the third party and not of us.

5. CHANGE IN SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

The geotechnical recommendations in this report are based on the ground conditions that existed at the time when the study was undertaken. Changes in ground conditions can occur in numerous ways including as a result of anthropogenic events (such as construction on or adjacent to the site) or natural events (such as floods, groundwater fluctuations or earthquakes). We should be consulted prior to use of this report so that we can comment on its reliability. It is important to note that where ground conditions have changed, additional sampling, testing or analysis may be required to fully assess the changed conditions.

6. SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION

Practical constraints mean that we cannot know every minute detail about the subsurface conditions at a particular site. We use engineering judgement to form an opinion about the subsurface conditions at the site. Some variation to our evaluated conditions is likely and significant variation is possible. Accordingly, our report should not be considered as final as it is developed from engineering judgement and opinion.

The most effective means of dealing with unanticipated ground conditions is to engage us for construction support. We can only finalise our recommendations by observing actual subsurface conditions encountered during construction. We cannot accept liability for a report's recommendations if we cannot observe construction.

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Unless specifically mentioned otherwise in our report, environmental considerations are not included. The investigation techniques used by us in developing our report differ from those for an environmental investigation. Our report was not prepared with environmental considerations in mind and it is the client's responsibility to satisfy himself that environmental considerations have been taken into account for the site. If you require guidance on how to proceed on evaluating environmental risk at the site, we can provide further information and contacts.

O:\Administration\Standard Forms and Documents\PMP11 Understanding your Geotechnical Engineering Report.docx



UNDERSTANDING YOUR ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

GALT FORM PMP29 Rev1

1. EXPECTATIONS OF AN ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

This document has been prepared to clarify what is and is not provided in your environmental report. It is intended to inform you of what your realistic expectations of this report should be and how to manage your risks associated with environmental conditions. You should read and understand this information. Please contact us if you do not understand the report or this explanation. We have extensive experience in a wide variety of environmental problems and we can help you to manage your risk.

2. THIS REPORT RELATES TO PROJECT-SPECIFIC CONDITIONS

This report was developed for a unique set of project-specific conditions to meet the needs of the nominated client. It took into account the following:

- The project objectives as we understood them and as described in this report;
- the specific site mentioned in this report; and
- the current and proposed development at the site.

It should not be used for any purpose other than that indicated in the report. You should not rely on this report if any of the following conditions apply:

- the report was not written for you;
- the report was not written for the site specific to your development;
- the report was not written for your project (including a development at the correct site but other than that listed in the report); or
- the report was written before significant changes occurred at the site (such as a development or a change in ground conditions).

You should always inform us of changes in the proposed project (including minor changes) and request an assessment of their impact.

Where we are not informed of developments relevant to your environmental report, we cannot be held responsible or liable for problems that may arise as a consequence.

Where design is to be carried out by others using information provided by us, we recommend that we be involved in the project planning process by being engaged for consultation with members of the project team and by being able to review work produced by other members of the project team which relies on environmental information provided in our report.



3. ENVIRONMENTAL LOGS

Our reports often include logs of intrusive and non-intrusive environmental investigation techniques. These logs are based on our interpretation of field data and laboratory results. The logs should only be read in conjunction with the report they were issued with and should not be re-drawn for inclusion in other documents not prepared by us.

4. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE

We have prepared this report for use by the client. This report must be regarded as confidential to the client and the client's professional advisors. We do not accept any responsibility for contents of this document from any party other than the nominated client. We take no responsibility for any damages suffered by a third party as a consequence of any decisions or actions they may make based on this report. Any reliance or decisions made by a third party based on this report are the responsibility of the third party and not of us.

5. CHANGE IN SITE CONDITIONS

The environmental recommendations in this report are based on the site conditions that existed at the time when the study was undertaken. Changes in site conditions can occur in numerous ways including as a result of anthropogenic events (such as potentially contaminating activities or action on or adjacent to the site) or natural events (such as floods, groundwater fluctuations or earthquakes). We should be consulted prior to use of this report so that we can comment on its reliability. It is important to note that where site conditions have changed, additional sampling, testing or analysis may be required to fully characterise the changed conditions.

O:\Administration\Standard Forms and Documents\PMP29 Understanding your Environmental Report.docx

Appendix 4

Environmental Assessment and Management Strategy

This page has been left blank intentionally.



EN IRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDI IS Project Num er EP15-057 01



Prepared for Defence Housing Australia

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROADEBALDILIS

Document Control

DOC NAME	ENVIRONMENTAL	ASSESSMENT AND MAN	NAGEMENT ST	RATEGY								
DOC NO.	EP15-057(01)005											
REVISION	DATE	AUTHOR	~	REVIEWER								
	⊡anuar⊡2016	⊡anessa ⊡eating	DMC	Dason Hick	DH							
1	Report for client rev	viel and comment.		1.4	-							
	Fe⊡ruar⊡2016	Canessa Deating	DMD	Tason Hick	DH							
A	Dpdated folloDing of	changes to the Structure Pla	an.									
	Fe⊡tuar⊡2016	Danessa Deating	DMD	Cason Hick	TDH							
в	Epdated folloEing f	eed⊡ack from client and ch	anges to Structu	re Plan.								
	SeptemDer 2016	Danessa Deating	OMO	Dason Hick	(DH							
C.	Dpdated folloDing o	changes to the developmen	t laCout,									
D				-								

□ 2016 Emerge Associates All Rights Reserved. CopDight in the Dhole and everDpart of this document Delongs to Emerge Associates and ma⊡not DelusedDsoldDransferredDcopied or reproduced in Dhole or in part in anDmanner or form or in or on anDmedia to anDperson Dithout the prior Dritten consent of Emerge Associates.



emerg

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD/BALDICIS

Executive Summary

The Planning Group TPG on behalf of Defence Housing Australia has prepared a Structure Plan for the future residential development of a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Baldivis. Lot 16 herein referred to as the site is located approximatel 38 km south of the Perth Central Business District in the Cit of Rockingham. Emerge Associates there engaged to provide a suite of environmental consultance services to support the preparation of the Structure Plan which has included various investigations to identif and assess the environmental attributes and an Constraints within the site.

The Structure Plan covers onlitthe portion of Lot 16 that is zoned for unan land use under the Metropolitan Region Scheme Tas sholl n in Appendix All and has the prepared to TPG to provide a frame lork for the implementation of the unan/residential land use. The Structure Plan incorporates the inputs from a multi-disciplinar protect team and the outcomes from various technical studies. Emerge Associates has undertaken an assessment of the environmental attributes of the site the hole of Lot 16 lin order to contribute to the preparation of the Structure Plan.

The site has historicall een completel cleared of remnant vegetation for agricultural land uses. As such e isting remnant environmental values are limited. The environmental attributes identified ithin the site have een outlined in Section 2 and include

- The site has _een historicall cleared for agricultural purposes primaril associated _ith market gardening. The site no supports grassland __ith scattered mature trees in the vicinit of an e isting residence in the estern portion of the site.
- Based on site inspections undertaken Emerge _otanists_remnant vegetation _ithin the site is generall_in Completel_Degraded_or Degraded_condition @ased upon the Bush Forever Condition Scale Government of Lestern Australia 2000 II.
- Given the entent of historic disturnance and sunsemuent condition of vegetation within the site it is highlounliked that an "Threatened Flora or Priorit" Flora species "Threatened Ecological Communities or Priorit" Ecological Communities occur within the site.
- There are no Bush Forever sites or Environmentall Sensitive Areas occurring Lithin the site.
- Based on the degraded nature of vegetation, the site supports limited fauna hal itat values and is unlikel to be utilised fauna other than common species adapted to disturbed environments for mobile or opportunistic fauna species.
- Landholdings immediatel north of the site nere historicall used for market garden purposes hollever lased a reviel of available historic aerial photograph this land use ceased around 2014.
- Some areas of native vegetation
 lest of the site present a permanent
 lushfire hazard to future
 residential development.

The Structure Plan has responded to the environmental attril utes of the site and this report outlines an environmental management frame ork that ill implemented either as part of the future residential planning and development process.

Overall the environmental attri utes and values/constraints of the site have een accommodated ithin the Structure Plan la out or can is managed through the future subdivision and development stages in accordance in the relevant federal state and local government legislation policies and guidelines and lest management practices. As such the proposed future development of the site is not expected to significant impact on the environment.



1000

emerga
Based on the information contained in this report the follo ing ke recommendations should re considered for the implementation of the Structure Plan

- There are no fundamental environmental constraints for the proposed urian development of the site and the proposed development should be considered environmental acceptable.
- The site has een historicall cleared of remnant vegetation and utilised for agricultural land uses. It is therefore highlounlikelothat the site supports anosignificant flora and vegetation values.
- The site does not elliperience high ground later levels or seasonal inundation. The Structure Plan aims to maintain clearance let leen ground later and the proposed drainage infrastructure as outlined in the LO MS Emerge Associates 2016.
- Surface and storm later runoff infiltrates freel across the site due to the high permeal littlof underling sands. The storm later management strateg for the development aims to mimic the elisting hildrolog liminfiltrating onsite as close to source as practicalle. For high rainfall events the Structure Plan has accommodated appropriate treatment and drainage infrastructure lithin the proposed road net_ork_as detailed in the L MS Emerge Associates 2016.
- Permanent | ushfire hazards occur | est of the site | ithin adjacent rural landholdings | hich relluire the accommodation of an appropriate AP and increased construction standards. The Structure Plan has addressed this through the placement of the internal road net ork to provide an appropriate set ack from the adjacent | ushfire hazard and | | undertaking an indicative BAL assessment to ensure there are no portions of the proposed development eliposed to an unaccepta; le level of | ushfire risk.



Table of Contents

1	Intro	duction	*******						
	1.1	Backgro	und		1				
	1.2	Purpose of this report							
	1.3	Environn	mental and	site specific investigations	1				
2	Exis	ting Enviro	onment						
	2.1	Local co	nte 1						
	2.2	Climate.			2				
	2.3	Landform	n and soils		2				
		2.3.1	Topograp	ph:]					
		2.3.2	Regional	geomorpholog					
		2,3.3	Landform	n and soils					
		2.3.4	Acid sulf	ate soils					
	2.4	Biodivers	situand nat	tural assets					
		2.4.1	Flora and	d vegetation	4				
			2.4.1.1	Regional vegetation content					
			2.4.1.2	Entent and condition of remnant vegetation	4				
			2.4.1.3	Significant Flora					
			2.4.1.4	Threatened and/or Priorit Ecological Communities					
		2.4.2	Bush For	rever and conservation reserves					
		2.4.3	Ecologic	al Linkages	7				
		2.4.4	Environn	nentall Sensitive Areas	7				
		2.4.5	Terrestria	al fauna	7				
	2.5	HEdrolog	L		8				
		2.5.1	Ground	ater					
		2.5.2	Surface	Dater					
		2.5.3	🗆 etlands	\$					
		2.5.4	Pu dic Di	rinking 🛭 ater Sources	8				
	2.6	Heritage							
		2.6.1	Indigeno	us heritage					
		2.6.2	Non-Indi	genous heritage					
	2.7	Land use	e considera	tions					
	-	2.7.1	Historica	I land uses and potential contamination.					
		2.7.2	Surround	ling land uses	9				
			2721	Permelia high pressure ass nineline	0				
			2.7.2.1	Parmeira nign pressure gas piperine					
			2723	Market gardene	10				
	28	Natural	2.1.2.V	Market gardens	10				
	2.0	2.8.1	Bushfire	hazards					
2	Ctrin	sturo Blan	and Diana	ing Approval Framowork					
2	3.4	Listories		and anvironmental accordment content					
	3.1	Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Structure Plan 11							
	2.2	Future P	lanning and	novel process	12				
	3.4	Polovan	t environme	antal factors and considerations	12				
	0.4	Relevan	environine						
4	Envi	ronmental	Assessm	ent and Management Framework					
	4.1	HEdrolog	goground	l ater					
		4.1.1	Polic⊡fra	ame⊡ork and management o⊡ēctive	14				
		4.1.2	Structure	Plan considerations for ground⊟ater					

Hagen

	4.1.3	Future ground ater management reluirements	15		
	4.1.4	Predicted environmental outcomes	15		
4.2	Harolo	og⊡ surface Dater	15		
	4.2.1	Polic frame ork and management o ective	15		
	4.2.2	Structure Plan considerations for surface Dater	16		
	4.2.3	Future management re⊓uirements for surface ⊡ater	16		
	4.2.4	Predicted environmental outcomes	17		
4.3	Natural	hazards Trushfire management	17		
	4.3.1	Polic⊟frame⊟ork and management o⊟ective	17		
	4.3.2	Structure Plan considerations for Dushfire management			
	4.3.3	Future Lushfire management considerations	18		
	4.3.4	Predicted environmental outcomes	18		
Sum	mary and	I Recommendations	19		
5.1	Summa	ira	19		
5.2	Recom	mendations	20		
Refe	rences				
6.1	Genera	I References			
6.2	2 Online References				
	4.2 4.3 5.1 5.2 Refe 6.1 6.2	4.1.3 4.1.4 4.2 H⊡drolo 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.3 Natural 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 Summary and 5.1 Summa 5.2 Recom References 6.1 Genera 6.2 Online	4.1.3 Future ground⊟ater management re⊡uirements		

List of Tables

Ta⊡e 1⊡Rainfall and temperature averages for the Medina Research Centre ⊡eather station □983 to
2015 BoM 2015
Ta⊓e 2⊓Geological units located ⊡ithin the site ⊫Gozzard 1983⊓
Talle 3 Relevant environmental factors and considerations for the Structure Plan

List of Plates

Figures

- Figure 1 Location plan
- Figure 2 Site plan
- Figure 3 Current Metropolitan Region Scheme
- Figure 4 Site Topograph
- Figure 50Acid Sulfate Soils Risk Mapping
- Figure 6 Bush Forever: ESAs and Ecological Linkages
- Figure 7 Regional Tlack cockatoo ha itat mapping
- Figure 8 H drolog and geomorphic detlands
- Figure 9LMap of Bushfire Prone Areas LOBRM 2016



Appendices

Appendix A

Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Baldivis Structure Plan

Appendix B

Ministerial Statement No. 580 DecemDer 2001





This page has been left blank intentionally.



1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The Planning Group TPG on ehalf of Defence Housing Australia has prepared a Structure Plan for the future residential development of a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Baldivis i ithin the Cit of Rockingham. Lot 16 is herein referred to as the site and is approximatel to hectares situated 38 km south of the Perth Central Business District CBD as shown in Figure 1. The site is found to McDonald Road and elisting up an development to the east vacant Rural and the anizoned landholdings to the north and lest and an elisting residential propert to the south as shown in Figure 2.

The Structure Plan has been prepared for a portion of the site to support residential development in accordance with the Cit of Rockingham's Baldivis North District Structure Plan DSP and the land use zoning over the site. A cop of the Structure Plan has been provided in Appendix A.

1.2 Purpose of this report

This report provides a sonthesis of information regarding the environmental attributes and values of the site. It is based on a range of information sources including local and regional reports databases and publical available mapping and there necessaries its specific survers and investigations. Together this information has been used to inform the Structure Plan and the preparation of supporting documentation. Emerge Associates has undertaken an assessment of the environmental attributes of the site the block of Lot 16 to order to contribute to the preparation of the Structure Plan over a portion of the site.

The primar purpose of this report is to present the information that as used to inform the Structure Plan outline the potential environmental impacts that could arise from the implementation of the Structure Plan and in response to this and there required outline responses in the Structure Plan to accommodate the environmental attributes of the site and collectivel provide an environmental management frame ork for the future residential surdivision and development process.

1.3 Environmental and site specific investigations

Emerge Associates ere engaged to provide a suite of environmental services to support the preparation of the Structure Plan. This has included numerous site specific technical investigations to identificant assess the environmental attricutes and values/constraints present in this the coader site and those portions of the site which the Structure Plan formall covers.

To date these services include

- Desktop environmental investigation and site visit to confirm environmental attril utes of the site.
- Preparation of a Local Water Management Strategy L MS Emerge Associates 2016.
- Preparation of a Bushfire Management Plan BMP Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safet Consulting 2016.

In addition to the allovel a Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study Galt Geotechnics 2015 has teen undertaken over the site.





2 Existing Environment

2.1 Local context

The site is approlimated to hectares and is found McDonald Road and elisting ur an development to the east and undeveloped landholdings to the north south and liest as sho in in Figure 2.

The malorit of the site is zoned in an under the Metropolitan Region Scheme MRS and Development under the Cit of Rockingham's Local Planning Scheme LPS No. 2 ith a small portion in the liest of the site zoned for Rural land use under 1 oth the MRS and LPS No. 2. The portion of the site covered in the Structure Plan is intended for un an development in accordance in the Cit of Rockingham's Baldivis North DSP and its MRS zoning. The current MRS zones and reserves for the site and surrounding area are shown in **Figure 3**.

2.2 Climate

The climate of the site hich applies to the roader south lest region of lestern Australia is described as Mediterranean lith hot dr summers and moderatel let mild linters. The majorit of rainfall lithin the region occurs let leen Mall and Octoller each lear and on average is let leen 600 to 1000 mm per lear. Ho lever in the last 40 lears there has leen a marked decrease in rainfall let leen 10 to 15 decrease lith a noticealle shift to a drier climate across the south-lest of lestern Australia CSIRO 2009.

The closest inland eather station to the site is the Medina Research Centre located approximatel 8 km north of the site. Temperature and rainfall statistics recorded at the Medina Research Centre et en 1983 and 2015 Bureau of Meteorolog 2015 is summarised in Table 1 elo.

STATISTICS	L	F	M	A	M	J	1	A	s	0	N	D
Mean Mafimum Temperature @C0	30.7	31.5	29.3	25.7	22.1	19,4	18.3	18.9	20.3	22.7	26.0	28.2
Mean Minimum Temperature	17.1	17.6	16.0	13.4	10.5	9.0	82	8.2	92	10.4	13.4	15.1
Mean Rainfall	11.5	18.8	19.3	39.4	98.5	140.8	145.9	113.0	78.2	40.1	31.4	11.4

Table 1: Rainfall and temperature averages for the Medina Research Centre weather station (1983 to 2015) (BoM 2015)

2.3 Landform and soils

2.3.1 Topography

Topographical contours indicate that the site is generall flat with elevation ranging from approximatel 4 metres Australian Height Datum in AHD in north-set corner and 5 m AHD in the

south-east of the site in the high point of approximatel 7 m AHD located in the centre of the site as sho in Figure 4.

2.3.2 Regional geomorphology

The site is located on the Soan Coastal Plain which forms the central portion of the Perth Lasin. The Perth Lasin elitends from the Darling Fault in the east to the continental slope lost of Rottnest Island and from the Murchison River in the north and the Southern Ocean in the south. The Perth Lasin is sedimentar in original and is marginal to the lost of the Australian Shield Seddon 2004.

The Son Coastal Plain is generall flat and is approximatel 20 to 30 km dide consisting of a series of geomorphic entities running parallel to the coastline. The soungest and most destern of these geomorphic entities is the duindalup Dunes folloded the Spear od Dunes and at the most eastern entities the Bassendean Dunes. The site is situated dithin the Spear od Dunes sistem.

2.3.3 Landform and soils

Regional landform mapping Church and McArthur 1980 indicates that the site is comprised of the Cottesloe formation. The Cottesloe formation is described as a lob hill landscape bith shallo roon sand over limestone with much exposed limestone Church and McArthur 1980

Environmental geolog surface soils across the site has seen mapped the Geological Surve of estern Australia Gozzard 1983. The geological units are listed in Table 2 selo.

GEOLOGICAL UNIT	EQUIVALENT ON GEOLOGICAL MAPS	DESCRIPTION
S ₇	Sand	Sand derived from Tamala Limestone III ts Pale Lello Lish Lico In Emedium to coarse grained Lsu Dangular Luartz Lirace of feldspar moderatel sorted Cof residual origin

Table 2: Geological units located within the site (Gozzard 1983).

A geotechnical assessment as undertaken for the site a Galt Geotechnics 2015 which found ground conditions to e generall as e pected ased on the regional mapping outlined a over with the following or servations noted specific to the site Galt Geotechnics 2015

- Sand medium to coarse grained sul-angular to sul-rounded roun lecoming lello lith depth trace limestone colles and gravel t picall loose to dense present from surface to depth of let leen one 1 metre eltending to the malimum depth investigation 2.5 ml.
- Limestone present elo the sand la er rockhead var ing from depths et en a out one 1
 metre and more than the mailmum depth of investigation [2.5 m].

Imported fill has found to occur in the north-lifest of the site associated hith the elisting residence in this portion of the site Galt Geotechnics 2015 Further details are provided Lithin the report titled Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study Galt Geotechnics 2015 provided as an attachment to the Structure Plan.

2.3.4 Acid sulfate soils



produce sulphuric acid hich can pose risks to the surrounding environment infrastructure and human health.

Availa le information DER 2006 indicates that the site has leen classified as having no kno n risk of ASS occurring lithin three metres of the natural soil surface. An area of moderate to high risk is mapped south-lest of the site as sho in in Figure 5 likel associated lith letlands in this area.

2.4 Biodiversity and natural assets

2.4.1 Flora and vegetation

2.4.1.1 Regional vegetation context

The site lies in thin the Soan Coastal Plain Interim Biogeographic Regionalisation for Australia IBRA region Thack a and Cress ell 1995. The Soan Coastal Plain IBRA region is road compatible ith the Soan Coastal Plain Drummond Botanical Sundistrict. Photogeographical Sundistrict Photogeographical Sundistr

At a local level vegetation complet mapping for the Stan Coastal Plain Heddle *et al.* 1980 indicates that the site is characteristic of the Cottesloe Central and South complet regetation complet mapping is rased on soil geomorpholog and rater availar ilit patterns. The Cottesloe Central and South complet is described as a mosaic of roodland of *Eucalyptus gomphocephala* and open forest of *Eucalyptus gomphocephala* - *Eucalyptus marginata* - *Corymbia calophylla* closed heath on the limestone outcrops DEC 1980.

Remnant vegetation entert remaining according to vegetation completes have been pullished in the Local Biodiversit Program through the estern Australian Local Government Association in ALGA. This indicates that the pre-European entent of the Cottesloe Central and South completion the Shan Coastal Plain has 44,900 ha. As of 2013_15/816 ha [35] for this remains and 18 of the completies original entent is under formal or informal protection [PBP 2013].

On the SI an Coastal Plain portion of the Perth Metropolitan Region EPA Guidance Statement No. 10 Level of assessment for proposals affecting natural areas within the System 6 region and Swan Coastal Plain portion of System 1 region EPA 2006 specifies that a lodiversit o lective is to retain at least 10 of the pre-European settlement elitent of the Heddle et al. 1980 egetation Completes.

2.4.1.2 Extent and condition of remnant vegetation

The site has een historicall cleared of remnant vegetation to support agricultural land uses and not supports areas of grassland dominated eeds with a small number of planted non-native trees in the eestern entent of the site as shown in Plate 1 and Plate 2 eloc.

Due to the complete removal of remnant vegetation from the site ased on a site inspection Emerge otanists vegetation is considered to e in Completel Degraded condition ased on the eigher 1994 condition scale and is considered no longer representative of the Cottesloe Central and South comple .

Hage 4





Plate 1: Planted non-native trees over weedy grassland in the west of the site



Plate 2: Planted, non-native trees over weedy grassland in the west of the site



2.4.1.3 Significant Flora

Species of flora ac uire Threatened Flora TF or Priorit Flora PF conservation status there populations are restricted geographicalling or threatened including processes. The Department of Parks and inidife in DPa in recognises these threats and subsense the until applies regulations to ands population protection and species conservation. The DPa in enforces regulations under the *Wildlife Conservation Act 1950* in C Act to conserve TF species and protect significant populations. PF are descrined as potentialling are or threatened species and are classified in order of threat.

The Common ealth Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 [EPBC Act] promotes the conservation of indiversit providing statutor protection for plants at a species level. Some TF species listed under the C Act are also listed at a Federal level. Section 178 and 179 of the EPBC Act provides for the lists and categories of threatened species under the Act. Priorit flora species are potentiall rare or threatened and are classified in order of threat hollever are not afforded direct statutor protection.

Given the entert of historic disturnance within the site there is unliked to be an significant flora species present within the site.

2.4.1.4 Threatened and/or Priority Ecological Communities

In estern Australia Threatened Ecological Communities TECs are defined the estern Australian Threatened Ecological Communities Scientific Advisor Committee ATECSAC Generall these can e descried as vegetation communities that are assem lages of species that occur together in a particular tipe of halitat. The are the sum of species lithin an ecos stem and as a hole provide man of the processes thich support a specific ecos stem. TECs are recognised as specific ecological communities that are rare or under threat.

TECs are not afforded direct statutor protection at a State level of their significance is acknowledged through other State environmental approval processes the environmental impact assessment pursuant to Part I of the *Environmental Protection Act 1986* EP Act to derive the State process the Department of Parks and to ildlife DPath has been identifying potential TECs since 1994 using a range of definitions to indicate the level of threat to the TEC in Tuestion and providing recommendations to the ATECSAC. In addition to Teing listed at a state level some TECs are afforded federal protection under Section 181 of the EPBC Act.

A communit maile listed as a Priorit Ecological Communit PEC Inhich is an ecological communit that is under consideration for listing as a TEC in the does not ret meet surve criteria or has not reen aderuatel defined.

Given the eltent of historic disturcance lithin the site it is highlounlikel that an areas of TEC or PEC should occur lithin the site.

2.4.2 Bush Forever and conservation reserves

The Government of estern Australia's Bush Forever Policy is a strategic plan for conserving regionallesignificant euclided eithin the Sean Coastal Plain portion of the Perth Metropolitan Region. The offective of Bush Forever is to protect comprehensive representations of all original ecological communities targeting a minimum of 10 of each vegetation complete for protection. Government of estern Australia 2000. Bush Forever Sites are representative of regional ecos stems and halitat and have a ket role in the conservation of Perth's foreversit.



There are no Bush Forever Sites ithin the site. The nearest Bush Forever site is situated approlimatel 370 m south of the site as sho in Figure 6.

2.4.3 Ecological Linkages

Ecological linkages allo the movement of fauna flora and genetic material et een areas of fragmented remnant hallitat. The movement of fauna and the ellchange of genetic material let een vegetation remnants improve the vialition of those remnants in allo ing greater access to reeding partners food sources refuge from distur ances such as fire and maintenance of genetic diversit of plant communities and populations. Ecological linkages are often continuous or near-continuous as the more fractured a linkage is the less ease flora and fauna have in moving lithin the corridor Mollo *et al.* 2009.

Ecological linkages have een generalle identified withe State Government in Bush Forever Perthis Green a s and the Sistem 6 stud, and have een pullished withe Perth Biodiversit. Project. These identified linkages reflect the on-ground linkages throughout the Perth Metropolitan area. Mollower al. 2009. The dataset is employed as a conservation tool aimed to conserve and enhance our regional ecological linkages.

There are no mapped ecological linkages dithin or in the vicinit of the site. Regional ecological connectivit is maintained in large areas of remnant vegetation retained dithin Bush Forever sites and other conservation reserves south and diest of the site as should in **Figure 6**.

2.4.4 Environmentally Sensitive Areas

Environmental Sensitive Areas ESAs are prescrimed under the Environmental Protection (Clearing of Native Vegetation) Regulations 2004 and have meen identified to protect native vegetation values of areas surrounding significant threatened or scheduled floral vegetation communities or ecosistems. Elemptions under the Environmental Protection (Clearing of Native Vegetation) Regulations 2004 do not apploin this declared ESAs and the presence of an ESA could indicate that the site potential supports significant environmental values. However, elemptions under Schedule 6 of the Environmental Protection Act 1986 still apploin the including an inclearing in accordance with a surdivision approval under the Planning and Development Act 2005 a recognised elemption under the Schedule 6 of the Environmental Protection Act 1986.

There are no declared ESAs in ithin the site. An ESA occurs south-nest of the site likel to e associated in this area as shown in Figure 6.

2.4.5 Terrestrial fauna

Given the eltent of historic disturt ance in thin the site and fauna species present would be generally common and indespread species with non-specific requirements which allow them to persist in highline disturbed habitats.

Based on pullicall available regional lack cockatoo halitat mapping prepared DPa previousl Department of Environment and Conservation DEC the Baldivis area supports potential lack cockatoo foraging halitat as lell as knoll n roosting and lreeding sites DEC 2011. There are no knoll n roosting or lreeding sites located lithin or in the vicinit of the site and thile areas of remnant vegetation lest of the site are mapped as potential foraging halitat DEC 2011 as sholl in Figure 7 there is none lithin the site. Large areas of lack cockatoo halitat are knoll n to alread the





reserved initiation conservation areas in e. Bush Foreverinsuch as the Rockingham Lakes Regional Park net lork south of the site.

2.5 Hydrology

2.5.1 Groundwater

A Local Later Management Strategin Lin MSIn Emerge Associates 2016 has leen prepared that describes the hildrological setting and in particular ground later conditions Lithin the site. As outlined in the Lin MS remerge Associates 2016 recent ground later monitoring data from the adjacent leastern residential surdivision Chimes indicate that a maximum ground later level of 1.38 m AHD las recorded in a lore located approximatel 30 m from the south eastern corner of the site in Tul 2012 Cardno 2013.

It is inferred that depth to MGL ranges | et | een 2.38 m | elo|| ground level |BGL| in the north | estern corner of the site i.e. | eneath a corner of the future rural area and 5.38 m BGL in the proposed residential south eastern portion of the site as outlined in the L MS Emerge Associates 2016

Information on ground later from the Department of Later Online Later Register Dol 2016 indicates that ground later leneath the site is a multi-latered statem comprised of the follo ing

- Perth Superficial San
- Perth Leederville
- Perth Yarragadee North.

The site is located in the Stakehill ground ater area ithin the Tam orth S amp sultarea. The Do Online if ater Register indicates that there is allocation available in this the Perth-Superficial S an a uifer Do 2016. There is current in o elisting ground ater licences for a straction within the site.

2.5.2 Surface water

No surface later features have leen or served lithin the site and no enternal surface later catchments direct surface later flolls into the site. An rainfall lould infiltrate freel across the site due to the high permea lite of the underling sands.

2.5.3 Wetlands

Based on Department of Parks and i ildlife's DPa Geomorphic i etland series mapping DPa 2014 there are no letlands lithin the site. A Conservation Categor etland FI 6400 occurs appro imatel 75m south-lest of the site as sho in in Figure 8.

2.5.4 Public Drinking Water Sources

Pullic Drinking ater Source Areas PD SAs are surface later catchments or ground ater recharge areas that have leen identified as drinking later sources proclaimed as later reserves the Do Do 2009 and protected ligovernment legislation. PD SAs provide the majorit of estern Australia's drinking later supplies and can le vulnerable to contamination from a range of land uses and later lased activities Do 2009 therefore consideration needs to le given to the intended land use and associated activities to ensure that the lare appropriate in meeting the later protection lualit of ectives of the area.

The site is not located ithin an proclaimed PD SA.



2.6 Heritage

2.6.1 Indigenous heritage

Based on a reviet of the Department of A original Affairs A original Heritage In uir S stem online data ase DAA 2016 there are no registered Indigenous heritage sites thin or immediatel adjacent to the site.

2.6.2 Non-Indigenous heritage

A desktop search of the Cit of Rockingham's local municipal heritage list Cit of Rockingham 2015 the State Heritage Office data ase Heritage Council 2012 and the Australian Heritage Data ase Department of Environment 2013 indicated there are no registered European heritage sites in thin or in close protimit to the site.

2.7 Land use considerations

2.7.1 Historical land uses and potential contamination

A search of the Department of Environment Regulation's DER Contaminated Sites Data ase and Register found there to be no registered contaminated sites within or immediatel adjacent to the site DER 2016

Based on a reviet of historic aerial photograph the site tas cleared of native vegetation prior to 1953 earliest available aerial image for agricultural purposes and to allot for subset uent market garden land uses. Market garden land uses are generall considered to have a lot risk of contamination but are listed in *Potentially Contaminating Activities, Industries and Landuses* guideline IDER 2004

As part of the geotechnical investigation undertaken for the site ____Galt Geotechnics [2015] [limited contamination investigations __ere also undertaken involving a desktop assessment and revie__ of historic aerial photograph ____e cavation of test pits and __ore holes_ and the la_orator __testing of soil samples for heav _____metals and organochlorine and organophosphate pesticides _Galt Geotechnics 2015_____These investigations indicated that there __as no evidence of soil contamination _____ithin the site as a result of historic market garden land uses and therefore it is unlikel__that soils _____ithin the site have ______een impacted to an e__tent that __ould restrict development for ur_an purposes _Galt Geotechnics 2015______

2.7.2 Surrounding land uses

2.7.2.1 Parmelia high pressure gas pipeline

The Parmelia high pressure natural gas pipeline easement occurs approlimatel 100m south-lest of the site. The APC is Planning Bulletin No. 87 *High Pressure Gas Transmission Pipelines in the Perth Metropolitan Region* Planning Bulletin No. 87 specifies a minimum 65 m set lack let leen the Parmelia gas pipeline and residential lots therefore there ill le no impact on development lithin the site from the gas pipeline.

2.7.2.2 Poultry farm

An elisting poultr farm is situated approlimatel 850 m south-east of the site. Based on EPA Guidance Statement No. 3 Separation Distances between Industrial and Sensitive Land Uses EPA

2005 there is a recommended generic separation distance of 300-1000m depending on the size of the operation if et leen poultrinforming facilities and sensitive land uses.

A detailed and site specific odour impact assessment The Odour Init II A Pt Ltd 2010 as undertaken for the poultr farm as part of local structure planning for the landholdings ithin the East Baldivis DSP area least of Baldivis Road. The purpose of this assessment is to understand the eltent to Thich this land use could impact on proposed ur an development and to derive recommended uffer requirements The Odour Init II A Pt Ltd 2010. The assessment indicated an off-site odour impact of up to 100m in an idirection from the poultr sheds ased on the specific operations of the poultr farm and the elisting site conditions. This recommended separation distance ill not result in an consideration for the site or Structure Plan area.

2.7.2.3 Market gardens

Based on a reviel of pullicall availal le historic aerial photograph I landholdings to the north of the site have leen suffect to entensive historic market garden activities. This area is zoned the man under the MRS and is intended for future union development under the Citliof Rockingham's Baldivis North DSP. It is understood that the lando mer is current progressing planning for the union development of this area therefore this historic land use is not a kell consideration or constraint to union development within the site.

2.8 Natural hazards

2.8.1 Bushfire hazards

Portions of the site have een identified as Bushfire Prone Areas under the state-lide Map of Bushfire Prone Areas recentl released the Office of Bushfire Risk Management OBRM as sho in in Figure 9. The identification of Bushfire Prone Areas ithin an portion of the site reluires a further assessment of the lushfire hazard implications on development proposed lithin the site to relundertaken in accordance lith the Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas APC et al. 2015. This has leen addressed through the preparation of a Bushfire Management Plan Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safet Consulting 2016 in accordance lith the APC is Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas AS 3959. Standards Australia 2009. The Bushfire Management Plan BMP aims to address ushfire management issues lithin the Structure Plan and through this minimise the impact of lushfires lithin and surrounding the site there including the threat to life propert and the environment.

All areas i ithin the site and surrounding 100 m have i een assessed for the presence of i ushfire prone vegetation and i here it occurs its classification as per Taille 2.4.3 of AS 3959 Standards Australia 2009 to determine the associated Lushfire hazard rating levels.

The permanent [ushfire hazard features] hich are relevant for the site include vegetation] ithin rural landholdings east of the site. All areas] ithin 100m of these determined permanent hazards are considered Bushfire Prone Areas of the site and [ill re] uire further assessment as part of future su division. The [ushfire hazard assessment is outlined in detail] ithin the BMP [Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safet] Consulting 2015].

Page 10



3 Structure Plan and Planning Approval Framework

3.1 Historical planning and environmental assessment context

The site formed part of the Cit of Rockingham's Toon Planning Scheme No. 1 Amendment No. 300 hich as initiated to rezone the site and surrounding area from Rural to Development in line with the MRS. The amendment as formall assessed the EPA in 2001 and it as determined that the proposal could re-implemented surrect to conditions. The approval and associated conditions are outlined in Ministerial Statement No. 580 dated 19th December 2001 which has reen attached as Appendix B.

The conditions outlined in Ministerial Statement No. 580 relate to the development of the follo ing management plans as part of the land use planning process

- Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan || addressed through the preparation of an LI MS
 Emerge Associates 2016 in accordance in the Department of || ater is [Doi: |Better Ir] an
 in ater Management Guidelines [Doi: |2008]
- Soil and Ground later Investigation and Remediation Plan Haddressed through the preliminar assessment undertaken as part of the Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study [Galt Geotechnics 2015].
- Pipeline Protection Plan I not relevant for the site as the site falls outside of the set ack distances required under APC Planning Bulletin No. 87 and the Ministerial Statement No.580.
- Spra Drift Investigation and Management Plan I not relevant for the site as no active market garden operations occur in the vicinit of the site.
- egetation Management Plan in not relevant for the site as the site is not located in the vicinit is of regional significant vegetation if e. Bush Forever Site 356.

3.2 Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Structure Plan

The Structure Plan has een prepared for a portion of the site to provide a frame ork for the implementation of the proposed residential land use. The Structure Plan incorporates the inputs from a multi-disciplinar project team and the outcomes from various technical studies. The Structure Plan attached in Appendix Approvides a frame ork for the future development of

- 29 lo densit residential lots
- Road reserves to service the 29 residential lots.

The remainder of the site ill retain its rural zoning and ill ill used for long term rural/rural residential land uses in accordance it hits land use zoning.

Emerge has undertaken various environmental investigations and ontained information from previous site investigations in order to determine the environmental attributes and values within the site as outlined in Section 2. This information has been used to ensure that an identified environmental attributes and values over the environmental environmental attributes and values over the environmental environmental attributes and values over the environmental environ



3.3 Future planning approval process

Follor ing the lodgement and approval of the Structure Plan residential development in illine progressed in accordance with the Structure Plan as provided in Appendix A. It is usual for the residential subdivision and development process to involve the imposition of subdivision approval conditions in accordance with the PAPC is *Model Subdivision Conditions Schedule* (PAPC 2012) and these general cover the following relevant areas

- Amenit
- Buildings and use
- Drainage and site orks
- Electricit and gas pipelines
- Environmental conditions
- Fire and emergenc
- Lot design
- Reserves
- Transport roads and access
- der and se ders.

This condition frame ork provides a future environmental management frame ork for the Structure Plan area throughout su division and development and is discussed further in Section 4.

3.4 Relevant environmental factors and considerations

Table 3 lists the full suite of environmental factors that have | een investigated for the site | and summarises those that require further specific attention in Section 4.

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTOR	RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS					
Climate	No issues posed and therefore no further consideration is relluired					
Topograph	No issues posed and therefore no further consideration is reLuired.					
Geolog	No issues posed and therefore no further consideration is reDuired					
Landforms and soils	No issues posed and therefore no further consideration is reflaired.					
Acid Sulfate Soils	There is currentlo ino knoon riskoof ASS occurring Dithin three metres of the natural soil surface. No further consideration is reduired.					
Flora and vegetation	The site has historicalleen completelecleared of remnant vegetationeand is highleunlikele to support ane remnant flora and vegetation values. No further consideration is required.					
Bush Forever and conservation reserves	No Bush Forever sites occur Dittim or in close proDimitD to the siteDand therefore no further consideration is required.					
Ecological linkages	No ecological linkages occur Dithin or in close proDmitD to the siteD and therefore no further consideration is reDuired.					
Environmentall Sensitive Areas ESAs	The site does not fall Dithin a declared ESAC and therefore no further consideration is reDuired.					
Terrestrial fauna	The site has historicalluceen completelucleared of remnant vegetationuand is					

Table 3: Relevant environmental factors and considerations for the Structure Plan



ENVIRONMENTAL FACTOR	RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS				
	hight⊡unlikel⊡to support an⊟significant fauna ha⊟tat values. No further consideration is retuired.				
Ground⊡ater	Pre-development ground⊡ater levels and ⊡uairt⊡ uit need to De maintained throughout and post residential development. This is addressed further in Section				
Surface @ater	There are no surface Bater features Dithin the siteDherefore no further consideration is reDuired. Post development stormDater floDs Dill De managed as part of future residential development and is addressed in the LD MS (Emerge Associates 2016D This is addressed further in Section 4.				
⊡ etlands	The site does not contain an areas of Detland and development Dill not impact of Detlands surrounding the site. No further consideration is reduired.				
Pullic Drinking II ater Source Areas	The site is not located Lithin a declared PDL SALand therefore no further consideration is reDuired				
Indigenous heritage	There are no knoilin Indigenous heritage values lithin or in close prolimitilito the sitelland therefore no further consideration is relluired				
Non-Indigenous hentage	There are no knoch non-Indigenous heritage values tathin or in close protimitato the sitetand therefore no further consideration is required.				
Historic land uses	PreliminarEcontamination investigations at the site indicated that there Das no evidence of soil contamination Dithin the site as a result of historic market garden land usesEand therefore it is unlikeEthat soils Dithin the site have Deen impacted to an eDent that Dould restrict development for urDan purposes IDalt Geolechnics 2015D No further consideration is reDuired.				
Surrounding land uses	A poultr farm and a high pressure gas pipeline are located in the vicinit of the site ho ever the site is located outside of the recommended separation distances for these land uses therefore no further consideration is returned.				
Bushfire hazard	Classified vegetation surrounding the site poses Moderate to Effireme Fushfire hazard considerations for future residential development. This is addressed further in Section 4				

emerge

4 Environmental Assessment and Management Framework

This section discusses in detail the spatial response of the Structure Plan to the environmental attri-utes and values/constraints _ithin the site_and also outlines an _future environmental management considerations that _ill e re_uired as part of future residential su_division and development _ithin the Structure Plan area. This section addresses onl_those environmental aspects that re_uire specific consideration _ased on their relevance to the site and Structure Plan_in accordance _ith applica_le legislation and polic_re_uirements_and _ere identified in Section 3.

4.1 Hydrology – groundwater

4.1.1 Policy framework and management objective

The EPA's Environmental Assessment Guideline No. 8 Environmental factors and objectives EPA 2015_outlines the follo_ing ke_o_ectives for the management of ground_ater_

- To maintain the h drological regimes of ground later so that elisting and potential uses including ecos stem maintenance are protected.
- To maintain the Dualit of ground later sediment and liota so that the environmental values oth ecological and social are protected.

State Planning Policy 2.9 Water Resources APC 2006 outlines the folloring ker policitor lectives

- Protect conserve and enhance ater resources that are identified as having significant economic social cultural and/or environmental values.
- Assist in ensuring the availa lilt of suita le later resources to maintain essential re uirements for human and all other liological life lith attention to maintaining or improving the lualit and luantit of later resources.
- Promote and assist in the management and sustainalle use of later resources.

The Cit of Rockingham's Planning Procedure 1.8 Water Sensitive Urban Design aims to provide direction for the protection and conservation of all later resources lithin the Cit of Rockingham as ell as letland and lushland areas including the Peel Harve Estuar The Cit of Rockingham reluires different tipes of later management plans at the various levels of development planning in order to address ground later level and lualit imanagement as part of land use planning and development.

4.1.2 Structure Plan considerations for groundwater

The ground later management strateg for the site is documented within the LC MS Emerge Associates 2016 prepared in accordance with the above policies. The ground later management approach is passive and aims to avoid an intersection with ground later and therefore an modification or manipulation of elisting ground later levels. Depth to ground later across the site is significant and no su soil drains are proposed.

The main officetive for the management of the ground ater fualities to maintain or improve the elisting ground ater fualitie. This can be achieved for reducing the total nutrient load into the ground ater that originates from the development compared to historic and elisting land uses. Improving ground ater fualities and elashieved for the treatment of surface runoff prior to infiltrating to



ground ater and this Dill be undertaken through the development of the site as described in the LDMS (Emerge Associates 2016).

Further information is provided in the L MS Emerge Associates 2016

4.1.3 Future groundwater management requirements

As part of implementing the future residential land use _ithin the site_an _r_an _ ater Management _ Plan _____ MP___ill | e re_uired to support su_division in order to address | APC is standard model su_division condition D2 ____ APC 2012___hich states _____

Prior to the commencement of subdivisional works, an urban water management plan is to be prepared and approved, in consultation with the Department of Water, consistent with any approved Local Water Management Strategy. (Local Government).

The DD MP Dill provide information on the implementation of the LD MS through detailed civil and landscape design.

In addition to the a love a ground later licence iill e reliuired for non-potal le later supplies to manage dust associated ith residential suldivision ithin the site and an ground later a straction for lorks ithin the site ill e undertaken in accordance lith the approved licence. There are no areas of public open space proposed lithin the site and therefore no future irrigation reliuirements.

4.1.4 Predicted environmental outcomes

The L_MS provides the frame lork for the management of ground later levels and lualit in a contemporar lest-practice approach utilising later sensitive ur an design ollectives and in accordance lith the APC and EPA guidelines and polic frame lorks. The preparation of a I MP to satisf su division approval till provide design details that till ensure the sustainal le use of ground later resources.

4.2 Hydrology – surface water

4.2.1 Policy framework and management objective

The State Water Strategy [Government of _ A 2003] and Better Urban Water Management ... APC 2008] endorse the promotion of integrated | ater c cle management and application of | ater sensitive ur an design ... S D principles to provide improvements in the management of storm ater and to increase the efficient use of other e sting ater supplies.

The ke principles of integrated ater c cle management include

- Considering all later sources including lastelater storm ater and ground later.
- Integrating
 ater and land use planning.
- Allocating and using later sustaina 1 and e uita 1.
- Integrating later use lith natural later processes.
- Adopting a Dhole of catchment integration of natural resource use and management.

The EPAIs Environmental Assessment Guideline No. 8 Environmental factors and objectives IEPA 2015 outlines the folloring ker or rectives for the management of surface relater

Page 15

- To maintain the hildrological regimes of surface later so that elisting and potential uses including ecosi stem maintenancel are protected.
- To maintain the Dualit of surface Dater sediment and Diota so that the environmental values
 To the cological and social are protected

State Planning Policy 2.9 Water Resources APC 2006 outlines the folloring kei polici of lectives

- Protect conserve and enhance later resources that are identified as having significant economic social cultural and/or environmental values.
- Assist in ensuring the availa lite of suitable later resources to maintain essential requirements for human and all other i ological life lith attention to maintaining or improving the i ualit land luantit of later resources.
- Promote and assist in the management and sustainal le use of later resources

The Cit of Rockingham's Planning Procedure 1.8 Water Sensitive Urban Design aims to provide direction for the protection and conservation of all later resources lithin the Cit of Rockingham as lell as letland and lushland areas including the Peel Harve Estuar . The Cit of Rockingham reluires different tipes of later management plans at the various levels of development planning in order to address ground later level and lualit management as part of land use planning and development.

4.2.2 Structure Plan considerations for surface water

The surface later/storm later management strateg for the site is documented lithin the LD MS Emerge Associates 2016. The main focus for surface later management is to maintain the elisting hidrolog literation surface flots and to infiltrate storm later runoff lithin the site as close to source as possible.

There ill is no runoff from the development up to the 100 is a average recurrence interval ARI event consistent ith the pre-development environment. Further non-structural measures ill also is adopted and ill is detailed in the future in an i ater Management Plan is MPC Runoff from lots up to the 1 is a 1 hour ARI event ill either infiltrate directlinat-source on in large rainfall events it. approximatel a 5 is ar ARI event ill either infiltrate directlinat-source on in large rainfall events it. ill is directed to soak ells there it ill infiltrate into the sand fill and ultimatel to ground ater. Infiltration of runoff through the underling soils ill provide treatment through adsorption of nutrients to sand particles prior to reaching ground ater. Emerge Associates 2016

Further information is provided in the L MS Emerge Associates 2016

4.2.3 Future management requirements for surface water

As part of implementing the future residential land use fithin the site an DI MP fill be required for su division stage in order to address APC standard model su division condition D2 APC 2012

Prior to the commencement of subdivisional works, an urban water management plan is to be prepared and approved, in consultation with the Department of Water, consistent with any approved Local Water Management Strategy. (Local Government).

The I MP I ill provide information on the implementation of the LI MS through detailed civil and landscape design.

L'ége 10

4.2.4 Predicted environmental outcomes

The L_MS provides the framework for the Structure Plan to manage surface water including stormwater flows in a contemporar west-practice approach utilising SOD offectives and in accordance with the APC and EPA guidelines and polic frameworks. The preparation of a MP to satisfy sur division approval will provide design details that will ensure the sustainable use of surface water resources.

4.3 Natural hazards – bushfire management

4.3.1 Policy framework and management objective

The Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas III APC et al. 2015 have leen prepared II the APC and DFES and provide the foundation for Tushfire risk management planning on private land in II estern Australia. These guidelines have superseded the previous Planning for Bush Fire Protection Guidelines – Edition 2 III APC et al. 2010 The guidelines address important Tushfire risk management and planning issues and set out performance criteria and accepta II solutions to minimise the risk of Tushfires in net I sul divisions and developments. The guidelines also address management issues including location design the development site set ack retuirements Bushfire Attack Level BAL ratings vehicular access and Tater retuirements.

The DoP and APC have recentl released State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas Decemer 2015 SPP 3.7 For planning provisions specificall relating to ushfire SPP 3.7 is intended to supersede SPP 3.4 Natural Hazards and Disasters and aims to inform and guide decision makers referral authorities and proponents to achieve accepta le ushfire protection outcomes including electations at the different stages of the planning process. SPP 3.7 makes provision for further detailed ushfire hazard assessment to e undertaken for areas identified as ushfire prone areas lithin the state Map of Bushfire Prone Areas in order to provide a complete and site specific ushfire risk assessment for proposed development of vulneral le land uses.

egetation i ithin and surrounding the site has i een classified according to AS 3959. egetation that is to be permanent in the same in a invegetation that is to be cleared for future up an purposes in the short to medium term i ill pose only temporar in ushfire management considerations.

4.3.2 Structure Plan considerations for bushfire management

A Bushfire Management Plan BMP has een prepared hich aims to address ushfire management issues ithin the Structure Plan and through this minimise the impact of ushfires ithin and surrounding the site there reducing the threat to life propert and the environment. As outlined in the BMP Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safet Consulting 2016 the permanent ushfire hazard considerations for the site are associated ith oodland forest and grassland vegetation ithin rural landholdings est of the site hich pose an E treme ushfire hazard to development ithin the site.

The Structure Plan has accommodated the surrounding areas of Eushfire hazard through the placement of road reserves in the liest of the site to provide an appropriate set lack or Asset Protection Eone let een future directings and the adjacent Eushfire hazard. In addition to AP re-uirements surrounding vegetation is likel to present increased Bushfire Attack Levels BALs hich influences uilding standards for directings at the construction stage. An indicative BAL assessment has been undertaken as part of the BMP Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safet 2016

4.3.3 Future bushfire management considerations

As outlined a over and in the BMP prepared to support the Structure Plan Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safet Consulting 2016 development in thin 100 m of an Entreme or Moderate hazard hich is not classified as Lo Threat ill require site-specific AS 3959 BAL assessment prior to direlling construction. The BMP proposes the BAL assessment is undertaken as part of the surdivision process for the site. Bildeferring BAL assessment until development the location structure and slope of an vegetation can be more accurated evaluated and surrounding hazards mail have been removed with the development of neigh ouring lots which mail reduce the hazard and sur sellent AS 3959 construction requirements.

In addition to the a over the APC model surdivision conditions relating to subfire hazard management model surdivision conditions F2 and F3 APC 2012 include the folloring requirements

- A fire management plan being prepared, approved and relevant provisions implemented during subdivisional works, in accordance with the WAPC's Guideline Planning for Bushfire Protection Edition 2: Mail 2010 (in particular Appendix 3) to the specifications of the local government and/or the Fire and Emergency Services Authority. (Fire and Emergency Services Authority) OR (Local Government).
- A notification, pursuant to Section 70A of the Transfer of Land Act 1893 is to be placed on the certificate(s) of title of the proposed lot(s). Notice of this notification is to be included on the diagram or plan of survey (deposited plan). The notification is to state as follows: "The lot(s) is/are subject to a fire management plan." (Local Government).

4.3.4 Predicted environmental outcomes

Billutilising the BMP at this earl stage of planning process the Structure Plan has leen alle to incorporate Lushfire hazard management considerations into the design of the development ensuring that if there is a Lushfire Lithin or near the site the threat to residents propert and emergence response personnel Lill e reduced.



5 Summary and Recommendations

5.1 Summary

TPG on ehalf of Defence Housing Australia has prepared a Structure Plan for the proposed residential development of a portion of the site inithin the Citiliof Rockingham. Emerge Associates have been engaged to provide a suite of environmental consultance services to support the preparation of the Structure Plan which has included various investigations to identife and assess the environmental attributes and an constraints within the site.

The Structure Plan lattached in Appendix Al has leen prepared III TPG to provide a frame lork for the implementation of the ur an/residential land use. The Structure Plan incorporates the inputs from a multi-disciplinar project team and the outcomes from various technical studies.

The environmental attril utes and values identified (ithin the site have | een outlined in Section 2 and include)

- The site has leen historical cleared for agricultural purposes primaril market gardening. The site not supports grassland with scattered mature trees in the vicinit of the elisting residence in the lest of the site.
- Based on site inspections undertaken Emerge otanists remnant vegetation athin the site is generallain Completel Degraded or Degraded condition ased upon the Bush Forever Condition Scale Government of estern Australia 2000.
- Given the elitent of historic disturliance and sullise uent condition of vegetation lithin the site it is highlounlikelothat ano Threatened Flora or Priorito Flora species. Threatened Ecological Communities or Priorito Ecological Communities occur of thin the site.
- There are no Bush Forever sites or Environmental! Sensitive Areas occurring lithin the site.
- Based on the degraded nature of vegetation the site supports limited fauna halitat values and is unlikel to le utilised lifetuna other than common species adapted to distur ed environments or molile or opportunistic fauna species.
- Landholdings immediatel north of the site there historicall used for market garden purposes hot ever tased a reviet of available historic aerial photograph. This land use ceased around 2014. These areas are currentl undergoing separate structure planning processes to support untan development.
- Some areas of native vegetation liest of the site present a permanent lushfire hazard to future residential development.

The Structure Plan has responded to the relevant environmental values and attri utes of the site and this report outlines an environmental management frame ork that the implemented either as part of the future residential planning and development process.

The APCIS Model Subdivision Conditions Schedule APC 2012 provide a planning frame ork for the management of environmental factors throughout the implementation of the Structure Plan at future sul division and development stages including

- Preparation of an DrDan D ater Management Plan in accordance Dith model suEdivision condition D2 D APC 2012D
- Preparation of further detailed ushfire hazard and risk assessment and management plan/s as part of future sul division or detailed design.



Overall the environmental attri utes and values/constraints of the site have reen accommodated ithin the Structure Plan larout or can remanaged through the future surdivision and development stages in accordance in the relevant federal state and local government legislation policies and guidelines and rest management practices. As such the proposed future development of a portion of the site is not expected to significant impact on the environment.

5.2 Recommendations

Based on the information contained inthin this report the folloing kenrecommendations should re considered for the implementation of the Structure Plan

- There are no fundamental environmental constraints for the proposed ur an development of the site and the proposed development should re considered environmental acceptarie.
- The site has | een historicall | cleared of remnant vegetation and utilised for agricultural land uses. It is therefore highl unlikel that the site supports an significant flora and vegetation values.
- The site does not elliperience high ground later levels or seasonal inundation. The proposed development aims to maintain clearance let leen ground later and the proposed drainage infrastructure as outlined in the LU MS (Emerge Associates 2016).
- Surface and storm ater runoff infiltrates freel across the site due to the high permea ilit of underling sands. The storm ater management strateg for the development aims to mimic the elisting hidrolog infiltrating onsite as close to source as practical le. For high rainfall events the Structure Plan has accommodated appropriate treatment and drainage infrastructure ithin the proposed road net ork as detailed in the LOMS Emerge Associates 2016.
- Permanent ushfire hazards occur lest of the site lithin adlacent rural landholdings litch reluire the accommodation of an appropriate AP and increased construction standards. The Structure Plan has addressed this through the placement of the internal road net lork to provide an appropriate set lack from the adlacent lushfire hazard and lundertaking an indicative BAL assessment to ensure there are no portions of the proposed development el posed to an unaccepta le level of lushfire risk.

emera.

6 References

6.1 General References

Beard S. 1990 Plant Life of Western Australia angaroo Press Pt Ltd. enthurst N.S.

Cardno 2013 The Chimes Fifty Road, Baldivis Urban Water Management Plan.

Church ard H. M. and McArthur ... M. 1980 *Landforms and Soils of the Darling System, Western Australia* in Department of Conservation and Environment ed. Atlas of Natural Resources Darling System Western Australia Department of Conservation and Environment Perth.

Department of Conservation and Environment DEC 1980 Atlas of Natural Resources, Darling System, Western Australia. Perth, Pinjarra and Collie Sheets Department of Conservation and Environment Destern Australia.

Department of Environment Regulation DER 2004 Potentially Contaminating Activities, Industries and Land uses Department of Environment Regulation Destern Australia.

Department of Environment Regulation DER 2006 Acid Sulfate Soil Risk Map, Swan Coastal Plain Department of Environment Regulation Perth.

Department of ater Dol 2009a Water Quality Protection Note 36. Protecting public drinking water source areas Department of Later Perth.

Department of the ater Dol 1 2009 Water Quality Protection Note No. 75. Proclaimed public drinking water source areas Government of the estern Australia Perth.

Environmental Protection Authorit EPA 2006 Guidance Statement No. 10. Level of Assessment for Proposals Affecting Natural Areas Within the System 6 Region and Swan Coastal Plain Portion of the System 1 Region Environmental Protection Authorit Perth.

Environmental Protection Authorit EPA 2015 Environmental Assessment Guideline No. 8. Environmental principles, factors and objectives Environmental Protection Authorit Perth.

Government of II A 2003 A State Water Strategy for Western Australia Government of I estern Australia Perth.

Gozzard R. 1983 Rockingham, Sheets 2033 III and 2033 II Geological Surve of Lestern Australia Perth.

Heddle E. M. Loneragan O. . and Havel 1980 Vegetation Complexes of the Darling System Western Australia' in Department of Conservation and Environment ed. Atlas of Natural Resources Darling System Western Australia, Department of Conservation and Environment Perth.

Mollo I S. I ood III Hall S. I allrodt S. and I hisson G. 2009 South West Regional Ecological Linkages Technical Report II estern Australian Local Government Association and Department of Environment and Conservation Perth.

Perth Biodiversit Project PBP 2013 2013 Native Vegetation extent by Vegetation complexes on the Swan Coastal Plain south of Moore River || estern Australian Local Government Association Perth.

Seddon G. 2004 A Sense of Place: a response to an environment, the Swan Coastal Plain Western Australia Blooming Books Mel ourne.

Standards Australia 2009 AS 3959-2009 Construction of buildings in bushfire-prone areas S dne 1



Thack a R. and Cress ell I.D. Eds 1995 An Interim Biogeographical Regionalisation for Australia: a framework for establishing the national system of reserves, Version 4.0 Australian Nature Conservation Agenc Can erra.

The Odour Init III A Pt Ltd 2010 Odour Impact Assessment & Dispersion Modelling Study: Layertech Services Baldivis WA Perth III estern Australia.

Gazetted in December 2006. State Planning Commission APC 2006 State Planning Policy 2.9: Water Resources Gazetted in December 2006. State Planning Commission Perth.

estern Australian Planning Commission (III APC) 2008 Better Urban Water Management (I) estern Australian Planning Commission Perth.

estern Australian Planning Commission III APC 2012 Model Subdivision Conditions Schedule Department of Planning Perth.

6.2 Online References

Bureau of Meteorolog 2015 Climate Averages viel ed April 2015

CSIRO 2009 Ground ater fields in south-fiest in estern Australia Factsheet 2 Availa le indiater fields in south-field in etail aterforahealth countries in a strategies of the second steries of the s

Department of A original Affairs DAA 2014 A original Heritage En uir S stem vie ed April 2015 http://tim.dia.ca.gov.au/AHIS/default.asp

Department of Environment DoE: 2013: Australian Heritage Data: ase: vie: ed April 2015: http:///////.environment.gov.au/heritage/ahd /inde:.html

Heritage Council of A 2012 Places Data ase vie ed April 2015 http://register.heritage.a.gov.au/







Figure 1: Location plan Figure 2: Site plan Figure 3: Current Metropolitan Region Scheme Figure 4: Site Topography Figure 5: Acid Sulfate Soils Risk Mapping Figure 6: Bush Forever, ESAs and Ecological Linkages Figure 7: Regional black cockatoo habitat mapping Figure 8: Hydrology and geomorphic wetlands Figure 9: Map of Bushfire Prone Areas


















beruites beaugeditemetre of difficiency on agroom ognenditeste to stendardyno bredde uppe wit inverse of agreditatives eaven alle poose agrenditeste to





PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS STRUCTURE PLAN

TPG (2016)









MINISTERIAL STATEMENT NO. 580 (DECEMBER 2001)





MINISTER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND HERITAGE

Statement No.

000520

STATEMENT THAT A SCHEME MAY BE IMPLEMENTED (PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF DIVISION 3 OF PART IV OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1986)

CITY OF ROCKINGHAM TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 1 AMENDMENT NO. 300 ("DEVELOPMENT" ZONE, PT LOTS 306 & 16, AND LOTS 313 & 774, FIFTY ROAD, BALDIVIS)

Scheme Purpose: To rezone Pt Lot 306, Pt Lot 16, and Lots 313 and 774 Fifty Road, Baldivis from "Rural" to "Development" zone.

Responsible Authority: City of Rockingham

Responsible Authority Address: PO Box 2142, Rockingham WA 6967

Assessment Number: 1227

Report of the Environmental Protection Authority: Bulletin 1018

Subject to the following conditions, there is no known environmental reason why the town planning scheme amendment to which the above report of the Environmental Protection Authority relates should not be implemented:

CONDITIONS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE SCHEME BY INSERTION OF PROVISIONS IN SCHEME TEXT

1 Environmental Management Plans

1-1 The following Environmental Management Plans shall be prepared in accordance with the specifications set out in Attachment 1 in the Minister for the Environment and Heritage's "Statement that a Scheme may be Implemented" No. [insert relevant Statement Number] published on [insert date], and shall be subsequently implemented in accordance with the provisions of the Plans:

Published on

1 9 DEC 2001

29th FLOOR, ALLENDALE SQUARE, 77 ST. GEORGE'S TERRACE, PERTH 6000 TELEPHONE: (08) 9220 5050 FACSIMILE: (08) 9221 4665/8 E-MAIL: judy-edwards@dpc.wa.gov.au

- Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan;
- Soil and Groundwater Contamination Investigation and Remediation Plan;
- Pipeline Protection Plan;
- Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan; and
- Vegetation Management Plan.

2 High Pressure Natural Gas Pipeline

- 2-1 The following activities, land uses and developments are prohibited within the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement:
 - Ground-disturbing activities, other than for the purposes for which the easement was created, and for uses and developments that comply with condition 2-2 below;
 - Temporary residence (including caravans, camping and similar);
 - Storage of materials and equipment;
 - Fires and barbecues;
 - Explosives, inflammables and corrosives (including storage of liquefied petroleum gas and fuel oil);
 - Refuse disposal and landfill;
 - Service stations, fuel lines and storage of fuel;
 - Vegetation with an expected growth exceeding one metre in height, and plantings within one metre of the centre of the pipeline (with the exception of lawn); and
 - Large obstructions to the line of sight along the easement.

Note: For the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement, the relevant Australian Standard is AS 2885.3.

- 2-2 The following land uses and developments may be permitted within the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement, with the written approval of the local government on advice of the pipeline operator, subject to compliance with the Pipeline Protection Plan referred to in condition 1-1 above:
 - Cycleways and footpaths;
 - Road crossings and services (with minimum depth of cover over the pipeline of 1.2 metres);
 - Public open space;
 - Signage and other facilities that are necessary to comply with the Pipeline Protection Plan referred to in condition 1-1 above; and
 - Car parking during the time that the adjoining land is being developed (with minimum depth of cover over the pipeline of 1.2 metres).
- 2-3 Minimum setbacks for land uses and developments from the centre of the high pressure natural gas pipeline shall be:

- 96 metres, in the case of sensitive development as determined by the local government on advice of the Department of Environmental Protection and the pipeline operator, and including aged persons' accommodation, child care centres, schools and hospitals;
- 32 metres to the boundary of each residential lot, in the case of residential development; and
- at the local government's discretion, following consultation with the Department of Environmental Protection and the pipeline operator, in the case of all other land uses and developments which facilitate the gathering of people, within 96 metres of the centre of the pipeline.

3 Development in Proximity to Market Gardens

3-1 If the market gardens adjacent to Pt Lots 306 and 16 are continuing to operate at the time of subdivision, noise attenuation measures shall be designed and implemented so that noise impacts on the amendment area are in accordance with the *Environmental Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997*.

CONDITIONS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE SCHEME BY MODIFICATIONS TO THE SCHEME MAP

4 Scheme Map

4-1 The Scheme Map for the City of Rockingham Town Planning Scheme No. 1 shall be amended by inserting the symbol EC and an appropriate modification to the legend of the Scheme Map, to show that environmental conditions apply to part of Pt Lot 306, part of Lot 16, Lots 774 and 313 Fifty Road, Baldivis.

ATTACHMENT 1 - OF STATEMENT THAT A SCHEME MAY BE IMPLEMENTED -CITY OF ROCKINGHAM TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO. 1 AMENDMENT NO. 300

SPECIFICATIONS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLANS

1 Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan

- 1-1 Prior to commencement of site works for subdivision or development, the subdivider or developer shall prepare a Drainage and Nutrient Management Plan to ensure that the rate, quantity and quality of water leaving the Amendment area will not adversely impact on Opwin and Spot Swamps, the Rockingham Groundwater Area groundwater supply, and the Peel-Harvey Estuarine System, to the requirements of the local government and on advice of the Water and Rivers Commission.
- 1-2 This Plan shall:
 - Define the catchment of Opwin and Spot Swamps in relation to the Amendment area;
 - Provide measures to facilitate the removal of pollutants and nutrients in accordance with the Water Sensitive Urban Design Best Practices;
 - Incorporate Best Practice Water Sensitive Urban Design principles to maximise onsite water infiltration generally;
 - Provide measures to prevent surface water runoff from entering the Opwin or Spot Swamps;
 - Provide mechanisms to minimise erosion during and after the development phase;
 - Provide a monitoring program, including definition of performance criteria and analysis procedures, to measure the performance of the Plan against objectives and performance criteria;
 - Provide contingency plans in the event that criteria are not achieved; and
 - Identify responsibilities for implementation of the Plan.

2 Soil and Groundwater Contamination Investigation and Remediation Plan

- 2-1 Prior to the commencement of site works for subdivision or development on any land that has previously been used for horticultural purposes, the subdivider or developer shall prepare and implement a Soil and Groundwater Contamination Investigation and Remediation Plan to the requirements of the local government and on advice of the Department of Environmental Protection.
- 2-2 This Plan shall
 - Include soil and groundwater investigation procedures to define the nature and extent of any soil or groundwater contamination, and identify areas where

contamination levels exceed criteria recognised by the Department of Environmental Protection; and

• In the event that the investigation finds unacceptable soil or groundwater contamination, describe procedures for further investigation of contamination, a detailed methodology for remediation prior to development, the standards to which any contaminated soil or groundwater will be remediated, and a management plan for contaminated areas, where necessary.

3 Pipeline Protection Plan

- 3-1 Prior to subdivision or development on any land within or abutting the high pressure natural gas pipeline easement, the subdivider or developer shall prepare a Pipeline Protection Plan to ensure protection of the pipeline during construction activities, to the requirements of local government, on advice of the Department of Mineral and Petroleum Resources and the pipeline operator.
- 3-2 This Plan shall
 - Detail measures to ensure public safety and protection of the high pressure natural gas pipeline in accordance with the *Petroleum Pipelines Act 1969-70*, the Australian Pipeline Code AS 2885-1997, SAA HB105 and the Environmental Protection Authority guidance statement for achieving its risk criteria for development in proximity to existing and proposed high pressure gas transmission pipelines, or the most recent equivalents recognised by the Environmental Protection Authority; and
 - Identify responsibilities for implementation of the Plan.

4 Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan

- 4-1 Prior to the approval of subdivision or development, the subdivider or developer shall prepare and implement a Spray Drift Investigation and Management Plan to the requirements of the local government, on advice of the Department of Health, the Department of Agriculture and the Department of Environmental Protection.
- 4-2 This Plan shall
 - Require undertaking investigations of spray drift from all rural or semi-rural activities occurring within the proximity of the Amendment area, to clearly define impacts on the health and amenity of future residents; and
 - In the event that the investigations find that unacceptable health or amenity impacts are likely to affect the residents within the Amendment area, provide

management strategies to ensure that impacts on the health and amenity of future residents are acceptable.

5 Vegetation Management Plan

- 5-1 Prior to subdivision approval, the subdivider shall prepare a Vegetation Management Plan that protects the regionally significant vegetation abutting the Amendment area, particularly *Bush Forever* Site No. 356, from direct and indirect impacts associated with the development, through the provision of a hard edge along the amendment boundary and the implementation of appropriate construction and access management measures.
- 5-2 The Vegetation Management Plan shall be prepared to the satisfaction of the local government and on advice of the Department of Conservation and Land Management and the Department of Environmental Protection.



1 9 DEC 2001

Appendix 5

Bushfire Management Plan

This page has been left blank intentionally.



PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS Project Number EP15-057(03)

Prepared for Defence Housing Australia September 2016

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Document Control

DOC NAME	BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN - PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS						
DOC NO.	EP15-057(03)004						
REVISION	DATE	AUTHOR REVIEWER		REVIEWER			
	January 2016	Vanessa Keating	VMK	Jason Hick	JDH		
1				Rohan Carboon	RC		
	Report for client review and comment.						
٨	February 2016	Vanessa Keating	VMK	Jason Hick	JDH		
A	Updated following changes to the Structure Plan.						
P	February 2016	Vanessa Keating	VMK	Jason Hick	JDH		
В	Updated following feedback from the client and changes to the Structure Plan.						
	September 2016	Vanessa Keating	VMK	Jason Hick	JDH		
С	Updated following feedback from the City of Rockingham and Department of Planning, and changes to the development layout.						

Disclaimer:

This document has been prepared in good faith and is derived from information sources believed to be reliable and accurate at the time of publication. Nevertheless, it is distributed on the terms and understanding that the author is not liable for any error in or omission in the information sources available or provided to us, or responsible for the outcomes of any actions taken based on the recommendations contained herein. It is also expected that our recommendations will be implemented in their entirety, and we cannot be held responsible for any consequences arising from partial or incorrect implementation of the recommendations provided.

This document has been prepared primarily to consider the layout of development and/or the appropriate building construction standards applicable to development, where relevant. The measures outlined are considered to be prudent minimum standards only based on the standards prescribed by the relevant authorities. The level of bushfire risk mitigation achieved will depend upon the actions of the landowner or occupiers of the land and is not the responsibility of the author. The relevant local government and fire authority (i.e. Department of Fire and Emergency Services or local bushfire brigade) should be approached for guidance on preparing for and responding to a bushfire.

Notwithstanding the precautions recommended in this document, it should always be remembered that bushfires burn under a wide range of conditions which can be unpredictable. An element of risk, no matter how small, will always remain. The objective of the Australian Standard AS 3959-2009 is to "prescribe particular construction details for buildings to reduce the risk of ignition from a bushfire while the front passes" (Standards Australia 2009). Building to the standards outlined in AS 3959 does not guarantee a building will survive a bushfire or that lives will not be lost.

© 2016 Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safety Consulting. All Rights Reserved. Copyright in the whole and every part of this document belongs to Emerge Associates and may not be used, sold, transferred, copied or reproduced in whole or in part in any manner or form or in or on any media to any person without the prior written consent of Emerge Associates.

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Executive Summary

This Bushfire Management Plan (BMP) has been prepared on behalf of Defence Housing Australia to support the preparation of a Structure Plan for a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis. The Lot 16 area is herein referred to as "the site", and portion of the site covered by the Structure Plan is referred to as the "Structure Plan area". This BMP includes an assessment of the bushfire hazards within and surrounding the site (within 100 m), to inform the responses required (if any) for proposed development within the Structure Plan area.

The site is approximately two hectares and is located approximately 39 kilometres (kms) south of the Perth CBD, within the City of Rockingham, as shown in **Figure 1**. The site is bound by McDonald Road to the east, rural landholdings to the west, and landholdings zoned for future urban development to the north and south. The site and its immediate surrounds are shown in **Figure 2**.

Portions of the site have been identified as "Bushfire Prone Areas" under the state-wide *Map of Bushfire Prone Areas* recently released by the Office of Bushfire Risk Management (OBRM), as shown in **Figure 3**. The identification of Bushfire Prone Areas within any portion of the site requires a further assessment of the bushfire hazard implications on development proposed within the site, in accordance with the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015). This BMP has been prepared to assess and identify any potential bushfire risks that are likely to apply to the site, and to outline how the Structure Plan has responded to ensure any bushfire risk is appropriately managed as part of the future development process. The proposed Structure Plan (shown conceptually in **Figure 4**) provides a guide for future urban development within a portion of the site and creates a framework for the future subdivision of the Structure Plan area into residential lots and road reserves.

The aim of the BMP is to assess bushfire hazard levels in the vicinity of the site (within 100 metres) and to ensure the threat posed by the identified bushfire hazard can be mitigated to acceptable levels appropriate with a residential development. In doing so, this BMP aims to minimise the potential impact of bushfires on development within the site, and reduce the threat to life, property and the environment. The bushfire risk will be mitigated to acceptable levels as defined in the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015).

This BMP sets out the roles and responsibilities of the developer/s, future residents and the City of Rockingham. It is important that the measures and procedures outlined in this BMP are adopted across the various stages of the land use planning and dwelling construction approvals processes. It is expected that the bushfire hazard mitigation measures outlined in this BMP will be largely implemented as part of future residential subdivision and associated development within the site.

All areas within 100 metres (m) of the site boundary have been assessed to determine the presence of bushfire prone vegetation and, where this occurs, associated vegetation classification and bushfire hazard rating levels. Permanent long term bushfire hazard considerations are posed by areas of remnant forest and woodland vegetation within rural landholdings west of the site. An assessment of the classified vegetation and associated bushfire hazard for the site and surrounding area has been undertaken to determine site specific Bushfire Prone Areas, in accordance with *AS 3959 Construction of Buildings in Bushfire Prone Areas* (AS 3959). These determined Bushfire Prone Areas may be used by the City of Rockingham to inform updates to OBRM's state-wide mapping of bushfire prone areas.

Any new dwellings constructed within the Structure Plan area that fall within 100 m of classified bushfire prone vegetation will require consideration of the need for increased construction standards in

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

accordance with AS 3959. In order to pre-empt this requirement, a detailed and site specific Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) assessment will be undertaken as part of the subdivision process to confirm the ultimate BAL ratings for each individual new lot created. Final BAL ratings **should not** be determined for future lots at the Structure Plan stage, as the ultimate lot locations/boundaries and dwelling setbacks will be determined through the subdivision process, and temporary hazards (or even hazards that were expected to be permanent) may not remain at that time, in particular those landholdings north and south of the site intended for future urban development. An indicative BAL assessment has been undertaken as part of this BMP in order to demonstrate that no areas within the Structure Plan area are exposed to an unacceptable level of bushfire risk (i.e. a BAL rating of greater than BAL-29).

Landholdings north of the site are intended for future urban development and are currently undergoing separate planning and approvals to support development, therefore Grassland vegetation within these landholdings will pose only a temporary bushfire risk to the site. Future detailed BAL assessment/s will outline specific BAL ratings for each stage of subdivision based on the classified vegetation remaining at that time, therefore providing a more accurate assessment of the post development hazards posed to future dwellings than can be achieved at Structure Plan stage.

As part of the subdivision process, any lots deemed to require bushfire management responses through the detailed BAL assessment (i.e. a BAL rating of BAL-12.5 or greater), will be subject to a notification pursuant to section 70A of the *Transfer of Land Act 1893* placed on the certificate(s) of title indicating that the lot is subject to the requirements of a Bushfire Management Plan (i.e. increased construction standards to meet increased BAL ratings).

The indicative BAL assessment provided in this BMP has been undertaken in accordance with Section 2 of AS 3959, which provides a basic assessment of radiant heat flux to calculate the required setback to achieve an acceptable level of radiant heat exposure (i.e. BAL-29). Based on the results of this indicative BAL assessment, the maximum BAL rating to which a small number of future lots within the Structure Plan area are exposed is BAL-19.

The proposed development will be provided with an adequate water supply (through the provision of reticulated water and fire hydrants) and sufficient vehicular access to and from the site, to ensure residents and fire fighters are able to respond appropriately in the event of a bushfire in the vicinity of the site.

It is expected that the implementation of this BMP will reduce the threat posed by bushfires to future residents, visitors and fire fighters in the areas proposed for urban development associated with this BMP.

Therefore, the recommendations from this BMP to inform the Structure Plan preparation process are as follows:

- By implementing this BMP, the bushfire risk to development within the site can be mitigated through the provision of appropriate APZs combined with increased construction standards in accordance with AS 3959.
- The indicative BAL assessment undertaken as part of this BMP indicates that no future lots within the Structure Plan area will be exposed to an unacceptable level of radiant heat flux (i.e. no greater than BAL-29).
- Future BAL assessment/s (undertaken to support future subdivision or development approval stage/s) will enable a more accurate reflection of the bushfire risk posed by surrounding classified vegetation at the time that development progresses within the site. This BAL assessment/s will specify ultimate BAL ratings for each lot as well as APZ requirements (where applicable).

Prepared for Defence Housing Australia

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Table of Contents

1	Introd	Introduction1					
	1.1	Backgrou	nd		1		
	1.2	1.2 Accreditation					
	1.3	Aim of this document					
	1.4	Statutory	policy and	framework	2		
		1.4.1	Fire and	Emergency Services Act 1998	2		
		1.4.2	Bush Fire	s Act 1954	2		
		1.4.3	Planning	and Development (Local Planning Scheme Amendment) Regulations 2015	2		
		1.4.4	Building I	Regulations 2012	2		
		1.4.5	State Pla	nning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas	3		
		1.4.6	Guideline	s for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas (WAPC et al. 2015)	3		
		1.4.7	Australia	Standard AS 3959 – 2009 Construction of buildings in bushfire prone areas	3		
2	Propo	osal and O	bjectives.		4		
•					•		
3	Desc	ription of t	he Area		6		
	3.1	General			6		
	3.2	Climate a	nd fire wea	ther	6		
	3.3	Topograp	hy		9		
	3.4	Bushfire f	uels		9		
	3.5	Land use			9		
	3.6	Assets			9		
	3.7	Access			9		
	3.8	Water sup	oply		9		
4	Ruch	fire Contes	vt and Cu	rent Situation	11		
4		Buchfiro k	nictory				
	4.1	Dushine i	115101 y		11		
	4.2	Dushine I	15K		10		
	4.3	Busniire r			12		
		4.3.1	vegetatio	n type and structure	13		
			4.3.1.1	Vegetation within the site	. 13		
			4.3.1.2	Vegetation surrounding the site	. 15		
		4.3.2	Vegetatio	n in public open space	. 18		
		4.3.3	Bushfire I	nazard assessment – existing site conditions	. 18		
		4.3.4	Bushfire I	nazard assessment – post development site conditions	. 19		
		4.3.5	Effective	slope	. 19		
	11	Summary	of buchfir	threat	10		
	4.4	Summary	U DUSHIN	5 III 6 al	13		
5	Bush	fire Mitiga	tion Strate	gy	. 21		
	5.1	Bushfire r	isk manag	ement	. 21		
		5.1.1	Element:	Location	. 21		
					~		
			5.1.1.1		.21		
			5.1.1.2	Acceptable Solution A1.1 Development location	21		
		5.1.2	Element:	Siting and design of development	21		
			5.1.2.1	Intent	. 21		
			5.1.2.2	Background	. 22		
			5.1.2.3	Building siting and potential management considerations	. 22		
			5.1.2.4	Methodology and assumptions	. 22		
			5.1.2.5	BAL outcome	. 22		

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

8	Glos	sary			
7	Refe	rences			33
	6.2	Recomn	nendations.		
	6.1	Conclus	ion		
6	Cond	clusions a	nd Recom	mendations	
	_		Ŭ		
	5.6	Impleme	enting the B	ushfire Management Plan	
	5.5	Assessn	nent of bus	hfire management strategies	
	5.4	Public e	ducation		
	5.3	Access	and fire bre	aks	
	5.2	Future d	levelopmen	t	
			5142	Acceptable Solution A4 1: Reticulated water	
			5141	Intent	28
		5.1.4	Element	Water	
			5.1.3.4	Acceptable solution A3.2: Public roads	
			5.1.3.3	Acceptable solution A3.1: Two access routes	
			5.1.3.2	Background	
			5.1.3.1	Intent	
		5.1.3	Element	: Vehicular access	
			5.1.2.7	Acceptable solution A2.2: Hazard separation zone	
			5.1.2.6	Acceptable solution A2.1: Asset Protection Zone	

List of Tables

Table 1: Results of indicative BAL assessment	23
Table 2: Asset Protection Zone requirements	26
Table 3: Responsibilities for the implementation of the BMP	30

List of Plates

Plate 1: Mean minimum and maximum temperatures and mean rainfall recorded at the Medina Research
Centre weather station between 1983 and December 2015 (BoM 2015)7
Plate 2: Rose of wind direction and wind speed in km/hr for December, January and February between
1983 – September 2010 at the Medina Research Centre Bureau of Meteorology Station (Bureau of
Meteorology 2015)
Plate 3: The five fuel layers in a forest environment that could be associated with fire behaviour (Gould et
al. 2007)
Plate 4: Planted non-native trees over weedy grassland in the west of the site (Photo Point 1)14
Plate 5: Planted, non-native trees over managed weedy grassland in the west of the site (Photo Point 2) 14
Plate 6: Vegetation south of the site assessed as low threat under Section 2.2.3.2(f) of AS 3959 (Photo
Point 3)
Plate 7: Woodland vegetation south of the site (Photo Point 4)
Plate 8: Forest vegetation south-west of the site (Photo Point 5)
Plate 9: Forest vegetation within rural landholdings west of the site (Photo Point 6)
Plate 10: Small patch of mature trees over grassland north of the site, classified according to its grassland
understorey (Photo Point 7)
Plate 11: Managed parkland east of the site, within existing urban development (Photo Point 8)

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Figures

Figure 1: Location Plan Figure 2: Site Plan and Assessment Area Figure 3: Map of Bushfire Prone Areas Figure 4: Proposed Structure Plan Figure 5: Site Topography Figure 6: Local Context and Surrounding Land Uses Figure 7: Existing Site Conditions – AS 3959 Vegetation Classification Figure 8: Existing Site Conditions – Bushfire Hazard Assessment Figure 9: Post Development Site Conditions – AS 3959 Vegetation Classification Figure 10: Post Development Site Conditions – Bushfire Hazard Assessment Figure 11: Effective Slope Figure 12: Indicative Bushfire Attack Levels Figure 13: Asset Protection Zone Requirements

Appendices

Appendix A

Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Structure Plan

Appendix B

Compliance Checklist

Appendix C

City of Rockingham Fire Control Notice

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

This page has been left blank intentionally.

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

This Bushfire Management Plan (BMP) has been prepared on behalf of Defence Housing Australia to support the preparation of a Structure Plan for a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis. The Lot 16 area is herein referred to as "the site", and portion of the site covered by the Structure Plan is referred to as the "Structure Plan area". This BMP includes an assessment of the bushfire hazards within and surrounding the site (within 100 m), to inform the responses required (if any) for proposed development within the Structure Plan area.

The site is approximately two hectares and is located approximately 39 km south of the Perth CBD, within the City of Rockingham, as shown in **Figure 1**. The site is bound by McDonald Road to the east, rural landholdings to the west, and landholdings zoned for future urban development to the north and south. The site and its immediate surrounds are shown in **Figure 2**. The site has historically been completely cleared of native vegetation to support agricultural (market garden) land uses, and now consists of weedy grassland with scattered planted non-native trees, an existing residence and several miscellaneous outbuildings.

Portions of the site have been identified as "Bushfire Prone Areas" under the state-wide *Map of Bushfire Prone Areas* recently released by the Office of Bushfire Risk Management (OBRM), as shown in **Figure 3**. The identification of Bushfire Prone Areas within any portion of the site requires a further assessment of the bushfire hazard implications on development proposed within the site to be undertaken in accordance with *State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC 2015) and the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015), which is provided in this BMP.

1.2 Accreditation

This BMP has been prepared jointly by Emerge Associates and Bushfire Safety Consulting. Bushfire Safety Consulting is owned and operated by Rohan Carboon, an experience bushfire consultant to the urban planning industry. Rohan has provided all technical input and review for the bushfire hazard assessment included within this BMP. Rohan has undergraduate degrees in Environmental Management and postgraduate qualifications in Bushfire Protection and has been providing bushfire risk and hazard assessment and mitigation advice to the urban planning and development industry for more than six years. He first worked professionally in community bushfire safety education in 1999 and has been involved in land management including bushfire suppression since 1993.

Bushfire Safety Consulting is a Corporate Bronze Member of the Fire Protection Association of Australia. Rohan is in the process of obtaining BPAD Level 1 BAL Assessor accreditation under the Fire Protection Association of Australia's new Western Australian accreditation scheme and will also progress to Level 2 and Level 3 accreditation over time as this system is developed.

1.3 Aim of this document

The aim of this BMP is to assess bushfire hazard levels in the vicinity of the site (within 100 m) and to ensure the threat posed by the identified bushfire hazard can be mitigated within the Structure Plan to acceptable levels appropriate for a residential development. In doing so, this BMP aims to minimise

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

the potential impact of bushfires on development within the Structure Plan area, and reduce the threat to life, property and the environment. The bushfire risk will be mitigated to acceptable levels as defined in the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015).

This BMP is expected to inform future bushfire assessment/s that will be prepared and implemented as part of the future subdivision, development approval processes and/or building licence.

1.4 Statutory policy and framework

The following key legislation, policies and guidelines are relevant to the preparation of a bushfire management plan.

1.4.1 Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998

Areas within Western Australia have been designated as bushfire prone by the Fire and Emergency Services (FES) Commissioner, through the release of the *Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas* (OBRM 2016). The *Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998* (FES Act) enables the statutory delineation of Bushfire Prone Areas, which are areas within 100 m of classified bushfire prone vegetation. In turn, Bushfire Prone Areas enable the implementation of the regulations and guidelines outlined below. The Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas (OBRM 2016) as currently mapped for the site is shown in **Figure 3**.

1.4.2 Bush Fires Act 1954

The *Bush Fires Act 1954* (Bush Fires Act) sets out provisions to reduce the dangers resulting from bushfires, prevent, control and extinguish bushfires, and for other purposes. The Bush Fires Act addresses various matters including prohibited burning times, enabling Local Government to require landowners and/or occupiers to plough or clear fire breaks to control and extinguish bushfires and to establish and maintain bushfire brigades.

Pursuant to the Bush Fires Act, the City of Rockingham publishes annual firebreak advice that can be accessed from: <u>http://www.rockingham.wa.gov.au/Services/Safety-and-security-services/Fire-safety-and-emergencies#Firebreaks</u>.

1.4.3 Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme Amendment) Regulations 2015

The *Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme Amendment) Regulations 2015* (WAPC 2015a) (the Regulations) include deemed provisions which reference the FES Commissioner's power to designate bushfire prone areas, and provide a mechanism to apply *State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC 2015) and the related assessment requirements through planning and development decisions.

1.4.4 Building Regulations 2012

All building work in Western Australia is required to comply with the requirements of the Building Code of Australia (BCA). The Building Regulations recognise that properties that are located within designated bushfire prone areas (within the *Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas* (OBRM 2016)) may require additional assessment for bushfire risk and for construction of dwellings to be in accordance with *Australian Standard (AS) 3959-2009 Construction of buildings in bushfire prone areas* (Standards Australia 2009).

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

1.4.5 State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas

The Department of Planning and WAPC have released *State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (December 2015) (SPP 3.7). SPP 3.7 aims to:

- Avoid any increase in the threat of bushfire to people, property and infrastructure. The preservation of life and the management of bushfire impact are paramount.
- Reduce vulnerability to bushfire through the identification and consideration of bushfire risks in decision-making at all stages of the planning and development process.
- Ensure that higher order strategic planning documents, strategic planning proposals, subdivision and development applications take into account bushfire protection requirements and include specified bushfire protection measures.
- Achieve an appropriate balance between bushfire risk management measures and, biodiversity conservation values and landscape amenity, with consideration of the potential impacts of climate change.

SPP 3.7 (WAPC 2015) makes provision for further detailed bushfire hazard assessment to be undertaken for areas identified as bushfire prone within the *Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas*. It also outlines the information that is required to support the various stages of planning and the potential for bushfire conditions to be applied through the subdivision process.

1.4.6 Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas (WAPC et al. 2015)

The *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015) ("the Guidelines") have been prepared by the WAPC and DFES, to assist in the interpretation of SPP 3.7 and provide advice on planning, designing or assessing a proposal within a bushfire prone area. The Guidelines are the predominant document to be used by decision-making authorities and referral agencies when considering the appropriateness of strategic planning proposals, subdivisions, and development applications.

The guidelines address important bushfire risk management and planning issues and outline performance criteria and acceptable solutions to minimise the risk of bushfires in new subdivisions and developments. The guidelines also address management issues including location, siting and design of the development (and consideration of Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) ratings), vehicular access and water requirements.

1.4.7 Australian Standard AS 3959 – 2009 Construction of buildings in bushfire prone areas

The Australian Standard *AS* 3959-2009 Construction of buildings in bushfire prone areas (AS 3959) specifies requirements for the construction of buildings in bushfire prone areas in order to improve their resistance to bushfire attack from embers, radiant heat, flame contact, and combinations of these attack forms.

The objective of AS 3959 is to provide detailed methods for assessing bushfire attack and to prescribe specific construction details for buildings to reduce the risk of ignition from a bushfire, appropriate to the:

- Potential for ignition caused by burning embers, radiant heat or flame generated by a bushfire.
- Intensity of the bushfire attack on the building.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

2 Proposal and Objectives

Community bushfire safety is a shared responsibility between state and local governments, fire agencies, communities and individuals. The planning and building controls outlined in this BMP, when implemented, will reduce the risk to people and property within the site. How future residents interpret the risk, prepare and maintain their properties and buildings and what decisions and actions they take (i.e. evacuate early or stay and defend or other) will greatly influence the consequences of any bushfire that occurs in the local area in proximity to the site.

The proposed Structure Plan, as shown conceptually in **Figure 4** (and attached in **Appendix A**), provides a framework for future urban development within a portion of the site, in accordance with the land use zoning within the Structure Plan area. The objective of this BMP is to enable bushfire management issues to be addressed through the Structure Plan. If there is a bushfire within or near the site, implementing this BMP will reduce the threat to residents, property and emergency response personnel.

Achievable and measurable goals of this plan include ensuring:

- Development is located in an area where the bushfire hazard does not present an unreasonable level of risk to life and property.
- Vehicular access to the development is safe if a bushfire occurs.
- Water is available to the development, so that life and property can be protected from bushfire.
- Development is sited and designed to minimise the effects of a bushfire.

This document sets out the roles and responsibilities of the future developer/s, future residents and the City of Rockingham. It is important that the measures and procedures outlined in this BMP are adopted across the various stages of the land use planning and dwelling construction approvals processes.

The bushfire hazard mitigation measures outlined in this BMP will be implemented as part of future residential subdivision within the site, which will be undertaken in accordance with the proposed Structure Plan (provided in **Appendix A**).

This BMP provides:

- Identification of those portions of the site designated as Bushfire Prone Areas under the OBRM's Map of Bushfire Prone Areas (WAPC et al. 2015)
- A description of the site, the surrounding area, fire climate and bushfire history
- A summary of research into the related effects of a bushfire
- A bushfire hazard assessment
- Identification of determined site specific Bushfire Prone Areas based on the assessment of classified vegetation within the site and surrounding 100 m
- A description of the proposed road network and how this addresses vehicular access for bushfire risk purposes
- An outline of the water supply requirements within the site for firefighting purposes
- An outline of the requirements for the internal siting of buildings to include asset protection zones
- An indicative BAL assessment to outline the acceptable siting and design of the proposed development in accommodating appropriate bushfire hazard mitigation measures.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

It is expected that further detailed bushfire hazard and risk assessment/s will be undertaken for the site as part of future subdivision or development stages in order to further assess the bushfire risk and determine specific radiant heat exposure levels for future lots created in line with the Structure Plan.

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

3 Description of the Area

3.1 General

The site currently supports a residential dwelling and several miscellaneous outbuildings, and has historically been completely cleared of remnant vegetation for agricultural (market garden) purposes. The majority of the site is now dominated by weedy grassland, with scattered planted non-native trees in the west of the site, in the vicinity of the existing residence.

The Chimes residential estate is located immediately east of the site, east of McDonald Road, as shown in **Figure 2**. Landholdings north and south of the site are intended for future urban development in accordance with the City of Rockingham's Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan (DSP) and the land use zoning over the area.

3.2 Climate and fire weather

The behaviour of bushfires is significantly affected by weather conditions. They burn more aggressively when high temperatures combine with low humidity and strong winds. In Perth and surrounding coastal areas, the fire risk is greatest from summer through autumn when the moisture content in vegetation is low. Summer and autumn days with high temperatures, low humidity and strong winds are particularly conducive to the spread of fire. This threat is increased if thunderstorms develop, accompanied by lightning and little or no rain.

Research indicates that virtually all house losses occur during severe, extreme or catastrophic conditions (i.e. when the Fire Danger Index is over 50) (Blanchi et al. 2010). The Bureau of Meteorology (2014) states that extreme fire weather conditions in the Perth region typically occur with strong easterly or north-easterly winds associated with a strong high to the south of the state and a trough offshore. Easterly winds represent approximately 60% of extreme fire weather days (events) compared to fewer than 5% associated with southerly winds. About 15% of Perth events occurred in a westerly flow following the passage of a trough.

Very dangerous fire weather conditions often follow a sequence of hot days and easterly winds that culminate when the trough deepens near the coast and moves inland. Winds can change from easterly to northerly and then to westerly during this sequence of climatic events.

Data from the Medina Research Centre (approximately 8 km north of the study site) indicate the area experiences warm dry summers and cool wet winters (see **Plate 1**), and is classified as a Mediterranean climate. Mean maximum temperatures vary from 31.5°C in February to 18.3°C in July.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS



Plate 1: Mean minimum and maximum temperatures and mean rainfall recorded at the Medina Research Centre weather station between 1983 and December 2015 (BoM 2015)

Data from the weather station indicate that the predominant winds near the study site in the summer months at 3 pm are south-westerly (**Plate 2**). Easterly and south-easterly winds are more common in February than the other summer months. Wind strength, direction and frequency from the south-west are dominant and occur 45% to 55% of the time.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS



Plate 2: Rose of wind direction and wind speed in km/hr for December, January and February between 1983 – September 2010 at the Medina Research Centre Bureau of Meteorology Station (Bureau of Meteorology 2015)

Wind roses summarise the occurrence of winds at a location, showing their strength, direction and frequency. The percentage of calm conditions is represented by the size of the centre circle - the bigger the circle, the higher the frequency of calm conditions. Each branch of the rose represents wind coming from that direction, with north found at the top of the diagram. Eight directions are used. The branches are divided into segments of different thickness and colour, which represent wind speed ranges in that direction. Speed ranges of 10 km/h are used. The length of each segment within a branch is proportional to the frequency of winds blowing within corresponding range of speeds from that direction (BOM, 2010).

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

3.3 Topography

Topographical contours indicate that the site is generally flat, with elevation ranging from approximately 4 metres Australian Height Datum (m AHD) in north-west corner and 5 m AHD in the south-east of the site, with a high point of approximately 7 m AHD located in the centre of the site, as shown in **Figure 5**.

3.4 Bushfire fuels

The site is dominated by grassland vegetation with scattered planted non-native trees in the western portion of the site. Remnant vegetation occurs west of the site, within rural landholdings, and consists of forest and woodland dominated by Tuart (*Eucalyptus gomphocephala*) and Marri (*Corymbia calophylla*). The long term bushfire hazard implications for development within the site are discussed further in **Section 4.3** below.

3.5 Land use

The site is currently supports one residence and several miscellaneous outbuildings, and has been historically used for rural land uses, primarily market garden activities. The site has been completely cleared of remnant vegetation and now supports predominantly weedy grassland. The majority of the site is zoned "Urban" under the MRS and "Development" under the City of Rockingham's LPS No. 2, with the western portion zoned "Rural" under both the MRS and local scheme. Current MRS zoning for the site and surrounding area is shown in **Figure 6**.

3.6 Assets

In accordance with the proposed Structure Plan (attached in **Appendix A**), the site will support the future development of residential lots/dwellings and road reserves. Dwellings exposed to any bushfire hazard will be those located around the perimeter of the Structure Plan area, within 100 m of permanently retained classified vegetation.

3.7 Access

The proposed internal road network shows two direct access points to the existing McDonald Road to the east of the site, and connecting with areas intended for future residential development to the north, as shown in **Figure 4**. The main point of access into the site will be from McDonald Road, east of the site (see **Figure 4**), and all residents and fire fighters will have at least two access options at all times.

While there is no access provided out to the west of the site, the main point of access to the east allows the movement of residents away from the main source of bushfire hazard posed by remnant vegetation west of the site. Access is provided via McDonald Road to Fifty Road in the south, and existing urban development to the east of the site.

3.8 Water supply

Reticulated water will be provided to the entire development. Fire hydrants will be spaced according to Water Corporation and DFES standards and provide emergency services with access to an

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

adequate water supply. Fire hydrants on land zoned as residential are required to be sited at or within 200 m of residential dwellings (Class 1a).
4 Bushfire Context and Current Situation

4.1 Bushfire history

Fires have been common on the Swan Coastal Plain for thousands of years and the anthropological and historical evidence suggests that Aboriginal people regularly burnt this area (Hallam 1975, Abbott 2003).

A recent study has concluded that bushfires may have been in the Australian landscape for 50 million years longer than previously thought. The adaption of eucalypts that allows them to recover from bushfires has been traced back more than 60 million years (Crisp *et al.*, 2011), indicating fire has been in the Australian landscape since that time.

Bushfires are common in the City of Rockingham. As land use intensification occurs and urban development replaces rural land and/or areas of native vegetation, bushfire hazards are removed thereby reducing areas that can carry a bushfire. At the same time however, the number of people and assets in the community increases thereby increasing the risk at the bushland interface.

On 12 January 2014, and 16 March 2014, the Tamworth Swamp fire and Millar Road fire occurred respectively on days with a Low-High Fire Danger Rating (FDR) and typical coastal sea breezes. The Miller Road fire occurred north of the site on the eastern side of the intersection of Millar and Baldivis Roads. The cause of both fires is unknown, however they are suspected to have been started deliberately.

Fire weather conditions were typical coastal south-west sea breezes which pushed the head fires to the north-west. Both fires had ember attack causing spot fires ahead of the head fire and outside of the eventually contained fire ground.

The Tamworth Swamp was difficult for fire fighters to access due to the vegetation for both combat and eventual creation of control lines. The wind direction was favourable for this fire which significantly aided suppression activities. The Millar Road fire had rapid forward rate of spread and the ground fire quickly developed into a canopy fire.

Both fires required multi agency resources and were of a prolonged duration, requiring road closures. No major infrastructure damage or property was lost.

On 27 January 2015 a fire started on the eastern side of Baldivis Road and south of Millar Road (north-east of the site), and moved north towards Johnson Road. The Kwinana Freeway was closed in both directions between the Mortimer Road and Safety Bay Road exits. Flame heights reached approximately 10 metres and over 200 firefighters were involved in supressing the fire.

Given that bushfires are common in the City of Rockingham, this BMP plays an important role in ensuring that the development of the land appropriately mitigates the risk and threat posed from bushfire.

4.2 Bushfire risk

The risk management process described in AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 *Risk management – Principles and guidelines* is a systematic method for identifying, analysing, evaluating and treating emergency risks.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Bushfire risk is determined by assessing:

- Bushfire hazard (i.e. bushfire prone vegetation)
- Threat level (i.e. proximity of the hazard to assets and people)
- Vulnerability of the asset
- Consequence rating (i.e. a rating for the potential outcome once the 'incident' has occurred)
- Likelihood rating (i.e. the chance of an event).

It is not necessary to undertake a standalone site specific bushfire risk assessment in accordance with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 as part of this BMP, as risk has been considered in the context of the bushfire hazard assessment that has been undertaken (as outlined in **Section 4.3**) in accordance with the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC et al. 2015) and AS 3959.

The vulnerability of assets such as dwellings is impacted by several factors. Some relate to the way a bushfire behaves at a site, others to the design and construction materials in the building and siting of surrounding elements. Infrastructure, utilities and human behaviour are also factors. Leonard (2009) identified the following factors:

- Terrain (slope)
- Vegetation (overall fuel load, steady state litter load, bark fuels, etc.)
- Weather (temperature, relative humidity and wind speed)
- Distance of building from unmanaged vegetation
- Individual elements surrounding the building that are either a shield or an additional fuel source
- Proximity to surrounding infrastructure
- Building design and maintenance
- Human behaviour (ability to be present and capacity to fight the fire)
- Access to the building and how that influences human behaviour
- Water supply for active and/or passive defence
- Power supply.

Where buildings are lost, this is likely to occur as a result of their vulnerability to the mechanisms of bushfire attack. Buildings constructed to increased standards under AS 3959 are more likely to survive a bushfire than buildings that do not conform to these construction standards, although building survival is not guaranteed.

The OBRM recently released state-wide *Maps of Bushfire Prone Areas*, which designates bushfire prone areas within Western Australia. Portions of the site are identified as bushfire prone (as shown in **Figure 3**) and as such the requirements of AS 3959 apply (as well as the State bushfire management framework in SPP 3.7, discussed in **Section 1.2**).

The vulnerability of people is determined by several factors, including age, fitness levels, gender, level of preparation, and number of occupants who can actively defend a property. The development will be comprised of individual residential dwellings and areas of public open space.

4.3 Bushfire hazard

Assessing bushfire hazards takes into account the classes of vegetation within the site and surrounding area for a minimum of 100 m, in accordance with Table 2.3 of AS 3959, as shown in **Figure 7**. Fuel layers in a typical forest environment can be broken-down into five segments as

Prepared for Defence Housing Australia

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

illustrated in **Plate 3** below. These defined fuel layers are used in the following descriptions regarding vegetation types, fuel structure and bushfire hazard levels.



Plate 3: The five fuel layers in a forest environment that could be associated with fire behaviour (Gould et al. 2007)

4.3.1 Vegetation type and structure

4.3.1.1 Vegetation within the site

The site has been historically cleared of remnant vegetation to support agricultural (market garden) land uses and now supports areas of grassland dominated by weeds, with scattered planted non-native trees in the west of the site, as shown in **Plate 4** and **Plate 5** below. These areas have been classified as a mixture of grassland and low threat vegetation (according to Section 2.2.3.2(f) of AS 3959), as shown in **Figure 7**, based on the maintenance of grass fuels observed at the time of the site assessment.



Plate 4: Planted non-native trees over weedy grassland in the west of the site (Photo Point 1)



Plate 5: Planted, non-native trees over managed weedy grassland in the west of the site (Photo Point 2)

4.3.1.2 Vegetation surrounding the site

Landholdings surrounding the site have historically been used for general rural purposes such as livestock grazing, market gardens etc. and as such support mostly grassland vegetation, as shown in **Figure 7**. The majority of fuel loads within the landholding south of the site are managed through ongoing rural residential land uses, as shown in **Plate 6**, and this area is therefore considered low threat under Section 2.2.3.2(f) of AS 3959.

Areas of remnant woodland and forest vegetation occur south and west of the site, consisting of Tuart and Marri overstorey over an elevated layer of Sheoak, Banksia and emergent Jarrah, as shown in **Plate 7** to **Plate 9**. Scattered paddock trees surrounding the site to the north have been classified according to their understorey of grassland, as their distribution and fuel loads to not warrant higher classification under Table 2.3 of AS 3959, as shown in **Plate 10**.



Plate 6: Vegetation south of the site assessed as low threat under Section 2.2.3.2(f) of AS 3959 (Photo Point 3)

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS



Plate 7: Woodland vegetation south of the site (Photo Point 4)



Plate 8: Forest vegetation south-west of the site (Photo Point 5)

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS



Plate 9: Forest vegetation within rural landholdings west of the site (Photo Point 6)



Plate 10: Small patch of mature trees over grassland north of the site, classified according to its grassland understorey (Photo Point 7)

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

4.3.2 Vegetation in public open space

While there are no areas of public open space proposed within the Structure Plan, there is one area of public open space east of the site, within existing residential development as shown in **Figure 4**. This area of public open space provides a drainage function for the adjacent residential area and contains a number of remnant native trees within a managed open space environment, as shown in **Plate 11** below. This area has been landscaped and designed to a low threat standard in accordance with Section 2.2.3.2 of AS 3959 and will therefore pose no hazard to development within the site.



Plate 11: Managed parkland east of the site, within existing urban development (Photo Point 8)

4.3.3 Bushfire hazard assessment – existing site conditions

The existing site condition vegetation classification across the site and surrounding 100 m are shown in **Figure 7**. Descriptions of the vegetation types, structure and fuel layers are outlined in **Section 4.3.1**.

The bushfire hazard assessment levels were determined using Appendix Two of the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015).

Most areas within the site and surrounding area have a 'Moderate' bushfire hazard rating associated with the grassland vegetation that covers the site, with 'Extreme' hazard posed by woodland and forest vegetation south and west of the site, as shown in **Figure 8**.

Bushfire hazards surrounding the site are limited to classified vegetation within rural zoned landholdings west of the site, and landholding intended for future urban development north and south of the site, as shown in **Figure 7** and **Figure 8**. 'Low' bushfire hazards surround the site to the east, associated with existing urban development.

Bushfire hazards within urban zoned landholdings north of the site are considered temporary, as this area is currently undergoing a separate urban structure planning process and will be developed for urban purposes. Once these landholdings are cleared to support urban development, the associated hazard will be removed.

4.3.4 Bushfire hazard assessment – post development site conditions

The post development site condition vegetation classifications for the site are shown in **Figure 9**, and outline the dominant vegetation types that will remain within the site and surrounding 100 m after development within the site has been completed.

The bushfire hazard assessment levels were determined using Appendix Two of the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015). The post-development bushfire hazard rating changes substantially compared to the pre-development conditions due to the removal of most classified vegetation within the site to accommodate the development.

The post development hazard assessment (shown in **Figure 10**) has been based on the assumption that urban development will progress north and south of the site, in accordance with the land use zoning over the area, and the road reserve leading north of the site will continue into this future residential development north of the site once development occurs in this area.

The western portion of the site is not included within the Structure Plan, and is intended to be utilised as a rural/rural residential lot in accordance with its existing land sue zoning. This area will be managed by the proponent and any subsequent owner/s to a low fuel level in accordance with the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice, and will pose a long term low bushfire hazard to the Structure Plan area.

In addition to the above, it is assumed that a three metre firebreak will be maintained by adjacent landowner/s within the rural landholding west of the site, in accordance with their requirements under the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice.

4.3.5 Effective slope

The effective slope under areas of classified vegetation surrounding the site is shown in **Figure 11**, and ranges from effectively flat or upslope, to downslope zero to five degrees beneath surrounding vegetation.

Classified vegetation on a downslope gradient from the site can influence the movement of a bushfire through surrounding vegetation and towards the site. For this reason, increased setbacks may be required from vegetation at a downslope from the site. This is discussed further in **Section 5.1.2**.

4.4 Summary of bushfire threat

Bushfires are common in the City of Rockingham and there is a possibility of a bushfire impacting the site primarily from vegetation within rural landholdings west of the site, unless these hazards are managed and/or reduced.

The bushfire threat for the Structure Plan area has been determined by undertaking a preliminary BAL assessment (**Section 5.2.4**) to ensure no areas within the Structure Plan are exposed to an unacceptable level of bushfire risk (i.e. greater than BAL-29).

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Based on the preliminary assessment outlined in **Section 5**, the maximum long-term predicted radiant heat flux exposure for a small number of dwellings within the Structure Plan area is BAL-19. Further detailed BAL assessment will be undertaken as part of future subdivision or detailed design stages. This further detailed assessment is likely to provide a more accurate assessment of the surrounding bushfire risk at the time of development within the site.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

5 Bushfire Mitigation Strategy

This BMP provides an outline of the mitigation strategies that will ensure that as development progresses in accordance with the Structure Plan, an acceptable solution and/or performance-based system of control is adopted for each bushfire hazard management issue. This approach is consistent with Appendix Four of the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015).The management issues addressed as part of this BMP are:

- Location of the development
- Siting and design of the development
- Vehicular access
- Water supply.

For the residential development of the Structure Plan area, acceptable solutions are proposed for all four management issues in accordance with the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015), and each illustrates a means of satisfactorily meeting the corresponding performance criteria, as discussed in **Section 5.1** below.

5.1 Bushfire risk management

As previously discussed, it is not necessary to undertake a specific bushfire risk assessment as per AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 *Risk management – Principles and guidelines*. Land use planning bushfire risk mitigation and building control strategies are detailed in the following sections and provide responses to the bushfire protection performance criteria outlined in Appendix Four of the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015). The compliant checklist is attached as **Appendix B**.

5.1.1 Element: Location

5.1.1.1 Intent

To ensure that strategic planning proposals, subdivision and development applications are located in areas with the least possible risk of bushfire to facilitate the protection of people, property and infrastructure.

5.1.1.2 Acceptable Solution A1.1 Development location

The majority of the proposed development will be subject to either 'Low' or 'Moderate' bushfire hazard, where meeting the acceptable solution. Where development within the site will be progressed within 100 m of areas of 'Extreme' bushfire hazard, as shown in **Figure 10**, by addressing the siting and design of development within the site, no portion of the proposed development within the Structure Plan area will be exposed to an unacceptable level of radiant heat flux (i.e. BAL-29 is not exceeded). This is detailed further in **Section 5.1.2**.

5.1.2 Element: Siting and design of development

5.1.2.1 Intent

To ensure the siting and design of development minimises the level of bushfire impact.

5.1.2.2 Background

The extent of post-development classified vegetation (shown in **Figure 9**) is restricted to the Forest, Woodland and Grassland vegetation west of the site, within rural zoned landholdings.

Landholdings north of the site are undergoing separate urban development approvals, therefore Grassland vegetation within this landholding are considered temporary, and will pose only temporary bushfire risk to the site. Once vegetation is removed to accommodate urban development (in line with the relevant subdivision approvals) the bushfire risk posed to the site from this area will also be removed. Temporary bushfire risks have been considered further below.

5.1.2.3 Building siting and potential management considerations

AS 3959 has six categories of Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) which trigger varying degrees of increased construction standards in residential developments within 100 m of classified vegetation.

5.1.2.4 Methodology and assumptions

An indicative BAL assessment has been undertaken in order to determine the maximum level of radiant heat flux to which proposed future dwellings within the Structure Plan area could be exposed, and has been carried out based on the post development vegetation classification and effective slopes outlined in **Section 4**.

The criteria used to undertake the BAL assessment is as follows:

- Designated FDI: 80
- Flame temperature: 1090
- Effective slope: flat/upslope, downslope 0 to 5 degrees
- Vegetation classification: Forest (Class A), Woodland (Class B), Grassland (Class G)
- Distances/setback to classified vegetation: As per Table 2.4.3 of AS 3959, and shown in Table 1 below.

5.1.2.5 BAL outcome

BAL ratings for the exposed areas of the Structure Plan area were determined using the methodology in Appendix A of AS 3959. This methodology is also outlined in Appendix Four of the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015). Through the provision of appropriate Asset Protection Zones (discussed further below), there are no areas in the development exposed to a BAL rating above BAL-29.

The outcomes of this indicative BAL assessment are shown in **Table 1**, and **Figure 12**. The BAL implications of both permanent and temporary classified vegetation are outlined below.

Table 1: Results of indicative BAL assessment

AREA OF CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	VEGETATION CLASSIFICATION	EFFECTIVE SLOPE BENEATH CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	DISTANCE / SETBACK FROM CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	BAL RATING
Permanent consideration	ns			
South-west of the site	Forest (Class A)	Downslope 0-5 degrees	<20 m	BAL-FZ
			20-27 m	BAL-40
			27-37 m	BAL-29
			37-50 m	BAL-19
			50-100 m	BAL-12.5
			>100 m	BAL-LOW
South-west of the site	Woodland (Class B)	Downslope 0-5 degrees	<13 m	BAL-FZ
			13-17 m	BAL-40
			17-25 m	BAL-29
			25-35 m	BAL-19
			35-100 m	BAL-12.5
			>100 m	BAL-LOW
West of the site	Grassland (Class G)	Downslope 0-5 degrees	<7 m	BAL-FZ
			7-9 m	BAL-40
			9-14 m	BAL-29
			14-20 m	BAL-19
			20-50 m	BAL-12.5
			>50 m	BAL-LOW
North-west of the site	Grassland (Class G)	Flat/upslope	<6 m	BAL-FZ
			6-8 m	BAL-40
			8-12 m	BAL-29
			12-17 m	BAL-19
			17-50 m	BAL-12.5
			>50 m	BAL-LOW
Temporary consideration	ns			
North of the site	Grassland (Class G)	Flat/upslope	<6 m	BAL-FZ
			6-8 m	BAL-40
			8-12 m	BAL-29

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

AREA OF CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	VEGETATION CLASSIFICATION	EFFECTIVE SLOPE BENEATH CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	DISTANCE / SETBACK FROM CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	BAL RATING
			12-17 m	BAL-19
			17-50 m	BAL-12.5
			>50 m	BAL-LOW

The BAL ratings occurring within the site include:

- BAL-29, which means there is an increased risk of ember attack and burning debris ignited by windborne embers and a likelihood of exposure to an increased level of radiant heat (AS 3959). The risk is considered to be high. It is expected that the construction elements will be exposed to a heat flux not greater than 29 kW/m². In this case, the recommended construction sections in AS 3959 are 3 and 7.
- BAL-19, which means the risk is considered to be moderate. It is expected that the construction elements will be exposed to a radiant heat flux not greater than 19 kW/m². There is a risk of ember attack and burning debris ignited by wind borne embers and a likelihood of exposure to radiant heat (AS 3959). The recommended construction sections in AS 3959 are 3 and 6.
- BAL-12.5, which means the risk is considered to be low. It is expected that the construction elements will be exposed to a radiant heat flux not greater than 12.5 kW/m². There is a risk of ember attack and burning debris ignited by wind borne embers and a likelihood of exposure to radiant heat (AS 3959). The recommended construction sections in AS 3959 are 3 and 5.
- BAL-LOW, which means the risk from bushfire is considered to be very low. There is insufficient
 risk to warrant any specific construction requirements but there is still some risk.

Proposed development within the Structure Plan area will require further detailed bushfire hazard and risk assessment to be undertaken as part of future subdivision or development stages, in order to determine the ultimate BAL ratings for future lots, and the subsequent increased construction standards to which future dwellings within these lots must be built. The ultimate BAL ratings **should not** be determined for future lots at the Structure Plan stage, as the ultimate lot locations/boundaries will be determined through the subdivision process, and temporary hazards (or even hazards that were expected to be permanent) may not remain at that time (e.g. temporary grass fuels north of the site).

Landholdings north of the site are intended for future urban development and are currently undergoing separate planning and approvals to support development, therefore Grassland vegetation within these landholdings will pose only a temporary bushfire risk to the site. The BAL implications of temporary vegetation are reflected in **Figure 12**. It is expected that temporary grass fuels will be removed prior to the progression of development within the northern portion of the site, therefore removing any temporary BAL requirements. If temporary grass fuels remain at the time development proceeds within the northern portion of the site, temporary BAL considerations will apply, as shown in **Figure 12**.

Future detailed BAL assessment/s will outline specific BAL ratings for each stage of subdivision based on the classified vegetation remaining at that time, therefore providing a more accurate assessment of the post development hazards posed to future dwellings than can be achieved at Structure Plan stage.

As part of the subdivision process, any lots deemed to require fire management responses through the detailed BAL assessment, will be subject to a notification pursuant to section 70A of the *Transfer*

of Land Act 1893 placed on the certificate(s) of title indicating that the lot is subject to the requirements of a Bushfire Management Plan (i.e. increased construction standards to meet BAL ratings of BAL-12.5 or greater).

5.1.2.6 Acceptable solution A2.1: Asset Protection Zone

One of the most important bushfire protection measures influencing the safety of people and property is to create an Asset Protection Zone (APZ) around buildings. The APZ is a low fuel area immediately surrounding a building. Non-flammable features such as irrigated landscapes, gardens, driveways and roads can form parts of an APZ.

Recent research into land management and house losses during the 'Black Saturday' Victorian bushfires concluded that the action of private landholders who managed fuel loads close to their houses was the single most important factor in determining house survival when compared with other land management practices, such as broad scale fuel reduction burning remote from residential areas (Gibbons et al., 2012).

The provision of a perimeter APZ where the site is adjacent to external bushfire hazard will ensure fuel loads in close proximity to the first row of buildings are managed to reduce the likelihood of ignition fuels adjacent to dwellings.

Managing vegetation in the APZ has two main purposes:

- To reduce direct flame contact and radiant heat from igniting the building during the passage of a fire front.
- To reduce ember attack and provide a safer space for people to defend (if required) before, during and after a fire front passes.

Those portions of the site that are situated in proximity to identified bushfire hazards have an internal (within the site) APZ applied to them as shown in **Figure 13**. Vegetation south and west of the site triggers perimeter APZ requirements for those lots in the west of the site. For the proposed residential lots within the Structure Plan area, this APZ will be accommodated within the proposed road reserve in the west of the site, as shown in **Figure 13**, which will provide a setback of 15 m to 23 m. Additional setback is provided by the three metre firebreak located within the adjacent rural landholdings, as discussed in **Section 4.3**. The fuel managed areas of future road reserves can act as APZ areas because the City of Rockingham roadside maintenance program will ensure hazard remains low. This APZ will be implemented at subdivision stage through the development and application of a Local Development Plan for the subject lots.

Landholdings north of the site are intended for future urban development and are currently undergoing separate planning and approvals to support development, therefore Grassland vegetation within these landholdings will pose only a temporary bushfire risk to the site, as shown in **Figure 9**. The provision of a temporary 8 m APZ in the north of the site will accommodate the minimum setback required to achieve BAL-29 from adjacent temporary Grassland vegetation within landholdings north of the site. This temporary APZ is accommodated within the rear of lots, as shown in **Figure 13**. It is expected that temporary grass fuels will be removed prior to the progression of development within the northern portion of the site, therefore removing any temporary APZ requirements. If temporary grass fuels remain at the time development proceeds within the northern portion of the site, APZ considerations will apply, as shown in **Figure 13**. APZ requirements will be revisited as part of future detailed BAL assessment to support subdivision approval/lot clearances within the site.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

For the remaining rural portion of the site (i.e. rural balance lot in the western portion of the site), the required setbacks have been calculated based on the current fuel loads with the adjacent classified vegetation south and west of the site, driven by the AS 3959 framework, as previously outlined in **Section 5.1.2.5**. Should future development be proposed within this portion of the site, setbacks ranging from 8 m to 17 m will be required to achieve an acceptable level of radiant heat flux exposure (i.e. BAL-29) from the adjacent woodland and grassland vegetation. These setbacks can be accommodated through a combination of an internal lot setback within the rural lot and an additional three metre setback from vegetation provided through the firebreak maintained within the adjacent rural landholdings (in accordance with the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice). Any future development within this rural lot will be required to comply with the minimum required setbacks to achieve an acceptable level of radiant heat flux exposure (i.e. no greater than BAL-29).

Overall, the provision of an APZ, along with the provision of increased construction standards in accordance with AS 3959 will ensure that Performance Principle P2 under the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC et al. 2015) is met.

The APZ/s must be established and maintained to the following standards:

- Width: as identified in Figure 13 and Table 2 below
- Fine fuel load: reduced to and maintained at two tonnes per hectare
- Trees (crowns) are a minimum distance of ten metres apart. A small group of trees within close proximity to one another may be treated as one crown provided the combined crowns do not exceed the area of a large or mature crown size for that species
- No tall shrubs or trees located within two metres of a building
- No tree crowns overhang the building
- Fences within the APZ are constructed using non-combustible materials (e.g. iron, brick, limestone, metal post and wire)
- Sheds within the APZ should not contain flammable materials.

It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that any APZ requirement is established by appropriate design, and that the construction of buildings is restricted within the APZ when it extends into lot areas.

As outlined above, the APZ for the residential lots is provided by the proposed road reserve, as shown in **Figure 13**, therefore the width of the APZ reflects the width of the road reserve, and the subsequent BAL rating that this setback achieves. The APZs for the rural lot in the west of the site, as outlined in **Table 2** below, have been based on the minimum setbacks required to achieve an acceptable level of radiant heat flux (i.e. BAL-29). Both approaches utilise the assumed 3 m firebreak within adjacent rural landholdings, as is required under the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice as attached in **Appendix C**.

AREA OF CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	VEGETATION CLASSIFICATION	EFFECTIVE SLOPE	APZ WIDTH	BAL ACHIEVED
Residential lots/Structure Plan area				
South-west of the site	Woodland	Downslope 0-5 degrees	23 m	BAL-19
West of the site	Grassland	Downslope 0-5 degrees	15 m	BAL-12.5

Table 2: Asset Protection Zone requirements

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

AREA OF CLASSIFIED VEGETATION	VEGETATION CLASSIFICATION	EFFECTIVE SLOPE	APZ WIDTH	BAL ACHIEVED
North-west of the site	Grassland	Flat/upslope	15 m	BAL-19
North of the site	Grassland	Flat/upslope	8 m	BAL-29
Rural lot				
South-west of the site	Woodland	Downslope 0-5 degrees	17 m	BAL-29
West of the site	Grassland	Downslope 0-5 degrees	9 m	BAL-29
North-west of the site	Grassland	Flat/upslope	8 m	BAL-29

Temporary APZ

5.1.2.7 Acceptable solution A2.2: Hazard separation zone

A Hazard Separation Zone (HSZ) is a fuel managed zone to create separation between dwellings and bushfire hazards. This generally extends out to 100 metres from buildings. In the case of subdivision within the site, the provision of a HSZ is not an appropriate method to respond to relevant bushfire hazards.

The need for a HSZ is avoided through the provision of an appropriate Asset Protection Zone (as outlined above) and an increase in construction standards for dwellings (where applicable) in accordance with AS 3959. The indicative BAL assessment within this BMP demonstrates that these provisions will achieve acceptable levels of risk for the development, and BAL-29 is not exceeded.

5.1.3 Element: Vehicular access

5.1.3.1 Intent

To ensure vehicular access serving a subdivision/development is available and safe during a bushfire event.

5.1.3.2 Background

The indicative road network of the proposed Structure Plan is shown in **Figure 4**. The network integrates with the existing McDonald Road to the east, which provides access to Fifty Road to the south and connects with the road network of the existing residential development east of the site. Access will be provided to future residential development north of the site when such development occurs in line with the land use zoning of the area.

5.1.3.3 Acceptable solution A3.1: Two access routes

The proposed road system provides a loop through the site, back to McDonald Road in the east, as shown in **Figure 4**, which provides all residents and fire fighters with two road access options at all times. Additional access will be provided through to future residential development north of the site, at such a time as development progresses in this area (in accordance with the land use zoning shown in **Figure 6**). The Structure Plan shows two access points to McDonald Road in the east, which provides access to Fifty Road in the south, and through the adjacent residential development to the east.

5.1.3.4 Acceptable solution A3.2: Public roads

Surrounding public roads and all new public roads and laneways within the site will comply with the following minimum standards:

- Minimum trafficable surface: 6 metres
- Horizontal clearance: 6 metres
- Vertical clearance: 4.5 metres
- Maximum grades over <50 metres: 1 in 10
- Minimum weight capacity: 15 tonnes
- Maximum crossfall: 1 in 33
- Minimum inner radius of curves: 8.5 metres.

5.1.4 Element: Water

5.1.4.1 Intent

To ensure water is available to the subdivision, development or land use to enable people, property and infrastructure to be defended from bushfire.

5.1.4.2 Acceptable Solution A4.1: Reticulated water

The development is located within an Emergency Services Levy (ESL) Category 3 area, which indicates that emergency bushfire response is provided by a volunteer fire and rescue service brigade, with the assistance of career fire stations. Fire response services require ready access to an adequate water supply during bushfire emergencies.

The development will be provided with a reticulated water supply, together with fire hydrants that will be installed by the developer/s to meet the specifications of Water Corporation (Design Standard DS 63) and DFES. Fire hydrants on land zoned as residential are required to be sited at or within 200 m of residential dwellings (Class 1a).

The Water Corporation would be responsible for all hydrant maintenance and repairs.

5.2 Future development

This BMP is expected to inform future detailed bushfire hazard and risk assessment/s that will be prepared and implemented as part of future subdivision or development stage, undertaken in accordance with the Structure Plan.

5.3 Access and fire breaks

Compliance with the City of Rockingham Fire Control Notice, attached in **Appendix C**, is required across the entire site until such a time as development is completed, and public road access must provide two access options at all stages of development.

It is assumed that a minimum three metre wide firebreak will be maintained (adjacent to the western boundary of the site, as shown in **Figure 9**) by the landholder/s of the adjacent rural landholdings west of the site, in accordance with their requirements under the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice.

5.4 Public education

Community bushfire safety is a shared responsibility between individuals, the community, government and fire agencies. DFES has an extensive Community Bushfire Education Program including a range of publications, a website and Bushfire Ready Groups. Prepare. Act. Survive. (DFES, 2012) provides excellent advice on preparing for and surviving the bushfire season. Other downloadable brochures are available from http://www.dfes.wa.gov.au/safetyinformation/fire/bushfire/pages/publications.aspx.

The City of Rockingham provides bushfire safety advice to residents available from their website http://www.rockingham.wa.gov.au/Services/Safety-and-security-services/Fire-safety-and-emergencies. It also provides details on how to become a volunteer at either of the local volunteer Bush Fire Brigades. Professional, qualified consultants also offer bushfire safety advice and relevant services to residents and businesses in high risk areas.

5.5 Assessment of bushfire management strategies

The bushfire hazard that could threaten this development is concentrated to the west of the site, associated with remnant vegetation within rural landholdings. These hazards have been considered through the strategic placement of road reserves to achieve the required APZs, and to ensure that dwellings are not exposed to an unacceptable level of risk (i.e. BAL-29 is not exceeded).

5.6 Implementing the Bushfire Management Plan

The following table outlines the future and/or ongoing responsibilities of the future developer/s, lot owners or residents, and the City of Rockingham relating to bushfire risk mitigation.

As outlined in **Table 3** below, the future owners/occupiers of lots within the site, as created through future subdivision stages, are to maintain a reduced level of risk from bushfire within their properties (where applicable), and will be responsible for undertaking, complying and implementing measures to protect their own assets (and people under their care) from the threat and risk of bushfire.

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Table 3: Responsibilities for the implementation of the BMP

MANAGEMENT ACTION	TIMING	
DEVELOPER/S		
Undertake further detailed bushfire assessment to determine ultimate BAL ratings for the site, with assessment recommendations to be submitted to the City of Rockingham and accommodated in the lot clearances and/or Detailed Area Plan outcomes.	As part of the subdivision approval or Detailed Area Plan preparation process (whichever comes first).	
For each new lot created within areas exposed to a BAL rating exceeding BAL-LOW, lodge a Section 70A Notification on the Certificate of Title in order to alert purchasers and successors in title of the existence of the overarching BMP and specifically the requirements associated with meeting the AS 3959 construction standards.	At the creation of titles within future subdivision stage/s.	
Install the public roads to standards outlined in Section 5.1.3 and ensure two access ways are provided at all times.	As part of subdivision and development.	
On all vacant land, comply with the City of Rockingham Fire Control Notices as published.	Ongoing, where applicable.	
Install reticulated water supply and hydrants to Water Corporation, DFES and the City of Rockingham standards.	As part of subdivision and development.	
Establish and maintain the APZs within the site to standards as specified in this document.	As part of subdivision and development.	
Provide detailed hydrant plans to the City of Rockingham and DFES local fire station for monitoring.	At subdivision approval stage.	
Make a copy of this BMP available to each lot owner subject to AS 3959 construction standards, along with the <i>Homeowners Bush Fire Survival Manual, Prepare, Act, Survive</i> (or similar suitable documentation) and the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice.	As part of the sale of lots.	
PROPERTY OWNER/OCCUPIER		
Ensuring that all lots comply with the City of Rockingham Fire Control Notices as published.	Ongoing, where applicable.	
Maintaining each property in good order to minimise bushfire fuels, and maintaining APZ areas (where applicable) in accordance with the requirements outlined in this BMP.	Ongoing, where applicable.	
Ensuring that where hydrants are located, they are not obstructed and remain visible at all times.	Ongoing, where applicable.	
Ensuring construction of dwelling/s complies with AS 3959, if required.	As part of dwellings design and construction.	
If dwellings are subject to additional construction in the future, such as renovations, AS 3959 compliance is required.	As part of design and construction.	
CITY OF ROCKINGHAM		
Providing fire prevention and preparedness advice to landowners upon request, including the <i>Homeowners Bush Fire Survival Manual, Prepare, Act, Survive</i> (or similar suitable documentation) and the City of Rockingham's Fire Control Notice.	Ongoing, as requested.	
Monitoring bush fuel loads in road reserves and liaising with relevant stakeholders to maintain fuel loads at safe levels.	Ongoing.	

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

MANAGEMENT ACTION	TIMING
Ensuring emergency response is provided via the Baldivis Volunteer Bush Fire Brigade.	Ongoing.
Maintaining public roads to appropriate standards and ensuring compliance with the City of Rockingham Fire Control Notices.	Ongoing.
BALDIVIS VOLUNTEER BUSH FIRE BRIGADE	
The Baldivis Volunteer Bush Fire Brigade is responsible for responding to emergency situations relating to bushfire within the City of Rockingham. Where bushfire threatens the site, the local brigade will utilise the internal road network of the site to protect life and property.	Ongoing, as required.
WATER CORPORATION	
The Water Corporation is responsible for the repair of water hydrants.	Ongoing, when required.

6 Conclusions and Recommendations

6.1 Conclusion

The site is designated as bushfire prone within the state *Map of Bushfire Prone Areas*. This BMP has been prepared to address the requirements of SPP 3.7 and the *Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas* (WAPC *et al.* 2015). It has been demonstrated that the bushfire protection performance criteria outlined in the guidelines (WAPC *et al.* 2015) can be achieved through:

- Providing appropriate vehicular access options, or as an alternative a designated FSA or CFR.
- Providing sufficient water supply to ensure emergency services are able to respond to a bushfire event.
- Siting of development to ensure buildings are not exposed to an unacceptable level of radiant flux, without appropriate mitigation measures.

This BMP is expected to inform future bushfire assessment/s that will be prepared and implemented as part of the future subdivision or development approval process.

Dwellings located within 100 m of identified classified vegetation will have the bushfire risk mitigated through the use of appropriate APZs and via compliance with AS 3959. The indicative BAL assessment included in this BMP demonstrates that BAL-29 would not be exceeded and APZs can be accommodated within the proposed future road reserves in the south and west of the site, in response to the adjacent hazards.

Landholdings north of the site are undergoing separate urban development approvals, therefore Grassland vegetation within this landholding are considered temporary, and will pose only temporary bushfire risk to the site. Once vegetation is removed to accommodate urban development (in line with the relevant subdivision approvals) the bushfire risk posed to the site from this area will also be removed.

Appropriate APZs have been accommodated where required in order to provide an adequate setback to ensure dwellings are not exposed to an unacceptable level of radiant heat flux (i.e. greater than BAL-29) from potential bushfires in adjacent classified vegetation. Loop roads and reticulated water supply and hydrants are provided. The proposed development will fall within the acceptable level of risk.

6.2 Recommendations

Based on the bushfire hazard assessment contained within this BMP, the following key recommendations should be considered for the implementation of the Structure Plan:

- By implementing this BMP, the bushfire risk to development within the site can be mitigated through the provision of appropriate APZs combined with increased construction standards in accordance with AS 3959.
- The indicative BAL assessment undertaken as part of this BMP indicates that no future lots within the site will be exposed to an unacceptable level of radiant heat flux (i.e. no greater than BAL-29).
- Future BAL assessment/s (undertaken to support future subdivision or development approval stage/s) will enable a more accurate reflection of the bushfire risk posed by surrounding classified vegetation at the time that development progresses within the site. This BAL assessment/s will specify ultimate BAL ratings for each lot as well as APZ requirements (where applicable).

7 References

Abbott I. (2003). Aboriginal fire regimes in south-west Western Australia: evidence from historical documents. Pages 119-146 in Abbott I and Burrows N, editors. Fire in ecosystems of south-west Western Australia: impacts and management. Backhuys, Leiden, The Netherlands.

Blanchi R, Lucas C, Leonard J and Finkele K. (2010). Meteorological conditions and wildfire -related house loss in Australia. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne.

Bureau of Meteorology (BoM). (2015). http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/averages/tables/cw_009194.shtml (accessed April 2015).

Burrows N and Abbott I. (2003). Fire in south-west Western Australia: synthesis of current knowledge, management implications and new research directions. Pages 437-452 in N. Burrows and I. Abbott, editors. Fire in ecosystems of south-west Western Australia: impacts and management. Backhuys, Leiden, The Netherlands.

Cheney P and Sullivan P. (2008). Grassfires. Fuel, Weather and Fire Behaviour. 2nd edition CSIRO Publishing.

Crisp MD, Burrows GE, Cook LG, Thornhill AHI and Bowman D. (2011). Flammable biomes dominated by eucalypts originated at the Cretaceous–Palaeogene boundary. In Nature Communications 2. Article No 193.

Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES). (2011). Plant Guide within the Building Protection Zone for the Swan Coastal Plain of Western Australia. <u>http://www.dfes.wa.gov.au/safetyinformation/fire/bushfire/BushfireProtectionPlanningPublications/FES</u> A%20Plant%20Guide-BP%20Zone-Final-w.pdf

DFES. (2014). PREPARE. ACT. SURVIVE.

http://www.dfes.wa.gov.au/safetyinformation/fire/bushfire/BushfireManualsandGuides/DFES_Bushfire-Prepare_Act_Survive_Booklet.pdf

DFES. (2013). Submission of Documents to DFES for Assessment. DFES BEB Guideline No: GL-07 http://www.dfes.wa.gov.au/regulationandcompliance/buildingplanassessment/Guidelines/GL-07-SubmissionOfDocumentsToDFESForAssessment.pdf

Gibbons P, van Bommel L, Gill AM, Cary GJ, Driscoll DA, Bradstock RA, Knight E, Moritz MA, Stephens SL and Lindenmayer DB. (2012). Land Management Practices Associated with House Loss in Wildfires. PLoS ONE 7(1): e29212. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029212.

Gould JS, McCaw WL, Cheeney NP, Ellis PF, Knight IK, and Sullivan AL. (2007) Project Vesta - Fire in Dry Eucalypt Forest: Fuel Structure, fuel dynamics and fire behaviour. Ensis-CSIRO, Canberra ACT, and Department of Environment and Conservation, Perth WA.

Hallam SJ. (1975). Fire and Hearth: A study of Aboriginal usage and European surpation in southwestern Australia. Australian Institute of Aboriginal Studies, Canberra, Australia.

Leonard J. (2009). Report to the 2009 Victorian Royal Commission Building Performance in Bushfires. CSIRO Sustainable Ecosystems.

NSW Rural Fire Service. (2004). Bushfire Evacuation Plans (see: <u>www.rfs.nsw.gov.au</u>).

Standards Australia. (2009). AS 3959 Construction of buildings in bushfire-prone areas.

Standards Australia. (2009). AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk management – Principles and guidelines.

Victorian Bushfires Royal Commission (VBRC). (2009). Interim Report. Government Printer for the State of Victoria.

Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) and Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) (2015). Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas. Western Australian Planning Commission, Perth.

Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC), FESA and Department of Planning and Infrastructure. (2010). Planning for Bush Fire Protection - Edition 2. Western Australian Planning Commission, Perth.

Walker J. (1981). Fuel dynamics in Australian vegetation. Pages 101-127 in Gill AM, Groves RH and Noble IR, editors. Fire and the Australian biota. Australian Academy of Science, Canberra, Australia

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

8 Glossary

AS	Australian Standard
AHD	Australian Height Datum
APZ	Asset Protection Zone
BAL	Bushfire Attack Level
BCA	Building Code of Australia
BMP	Bushfire Management Plan
BOM	Bureau of Meteorology
DFES	Department of Fire and Emergency Services (was FESA)
ESL	Emergency Services Levy
FESA	Fire and Emergency Services (now DFES)
HSZ	Hazard Separation Zone
LPS	Local Planning Scheme
POS	Public Open Space
TPS	Town Planning Scheme
VBRC	Victorian Bushfires Royal Commission

WAPC Western Australian Planning Commission

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

This page has been left blank intentionally.

FIGURES





Figure 1: Location Plan Figure 2: Site Plan and Assessment Area Figure 3: Map of Bushfire Prone Areas Figure 4: Proposed Structure Plan Figure 5: Site Topography Figure 6: Local Context and Surrounding Land Uses Figure 7: Existing Site Conditions – AS 3959 Vegetation Classification Figure 8: Existing Site Conditions – Bushfire Hazard Assessment Figure 9: Post Development Site Conditions – AS 3959 Vegetation Classification Figure 10: Post Development Site Conditions – Bushfire Hazard Assessment Figure 11: Effective Slope Figure 12: Indicative Bushfire Attack Levels Figure 13: Asset Protection Zone Requirements






























Bushfire Safety

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS STRUCTURE PLAN

TPG (2016)





Bushfire Safety

COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Appendix B: Compliance Checklist

ELEMENT/QUESTION	RESPONSE
1: Location	
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A1.1?	Yes.
2: Siting and design of the Development	
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A2.1?	Yes.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A2.2?	No. However the performance criteria P2 is achieved through the provision of a compliant APZ, and the application of increased construction standards in accordance with AS 3959.
3: Vehicular access	
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.1?	Yes.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.2?	Yes.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.3?	Not applicable.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.4?	Not applicable.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.5?	Not applicable.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.6?	Not applicable.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.7?	Not applicable.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A3.8?	Not applicable.
4: Water	
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A4.1?	Yes.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A4.2?	Not applicable.
Does the proposal comply with the performance criteria by applying acceptable solution A4.3?	Not applicable.

BUSHFIRE MANAGEMENT PLAN PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Applicant Declaration

I declare that the information provided is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Signature:

PC,

Name: Rohan Carboon Date: 8 September 2016





Bushfire Safety

CITY OF ROCKINGHAM FIRE CONTROL NOTICE

Fire Control Notice

NOTICE TO OWNERS AND/OR OCCUPIERS OF LAND IN THE CITY OF ROCKINGHAM

material or to install three (3) metre wide mineral earth firebreaks (mineral earth in definition being land totally clear of all vegetation living or dead) and any overhanging trees or other vegetation to a clearance height of four (4) 31 May 2016.

Inspection of properties will be carried out in all areas for compliance with this Notice after 30 November 2015. Persons who fail to comply with the requirements of this Notice will be issued with an infringement notice (\$250).

It is the property owner's responsibility to ensure the standard of prevention work is undertaken and maintained as per this Notice





Urban Slashed Property

Rural Land

On or before 30 November 2015 and thereafter up to and including 31 May 2016:

Have FIREBREAKS not less than three (3) metres wide immediately inside and along all boundaries, with all overhanging tree branches, tree limbs etc. to be trimmed back clear of the firebreak to a clearance height of four (4) metres.

Maintained and living lawns are acceptable in conjunction with or in lieu of mineral earth firebreaks, provided that the same minimum width and height requirements for a firebreak are maintained.

Buildings/Sheds and Haystacks

Have FIREBREAKS not less than five (5) metres wide so far as to surround all buildings, sheds and haystacks, with all overhanging branches, trees, limbs etc. to be trimmed back clear of the firebreak to a clearance height of four (4) metres.

Fire Management Plans

All properties within subdivisions/developments within the City of Rockingham shall comply with the Fire Management Plans for their estate to the satisfaction of Council or its duly Authorised Officer

Building Protection Zones

For properties in a bush fire risk area, install a 20m building protection zone. For more information visit the DFES website and search Building Protection Zones.

Urban Areas (Vacant Land)

On or before 30 November 2015 and thereafter up to and including 31 May 2016:

Land less than 2000 m²

Have the entire vacant land clear of all flammable material by slashing, mowing or other means to a height no greater than 50mm.

Land more than 2000 m²

Have FIREBREAKS not less than three (3) metres wide immediately inside and along all boundaries of the vacant land with all overhanging tree branches, trees, limbs etc. to be trimmed back clear of the firebreak area to a clearance height of four (4) metres.

Or

Maintained and living lawns are acceptable in conjunction with or in lieu of mineral earth firebreaks, provided that the same minimum width and height requirements for a firebreak are maintained.

Alternative Situations

Variation applications must be lodged in writing to the City of Rockingham by 16 October 2015. An application to Vary Location and Type of Firebreaks can be downloaded from the City's website or is available from the Emergency Services Administration Officer on 9527 0732.

Fire Control Enquiries

8.30am – 4.30pm Monday to Friday Email: firecontrol@rockingham.wa.gov.au Phone: 9527 0732

Appendix 6

Infrastructure Servicing Report

This page has been left blank intentionally.

16 mcdonald road, baldivis infrastructure servicing report Project No. 15-046



table of contents

1		Introduction	3
2		Site Conditions	3
	2.1	Geology	3
	2.2	Topography	3
	2.3	Groundwater Atlas	3
	2.4	Acid Sulphate Soils	3
	2.5	Contamination	4
	2.6	Demolition	4
	2.7	Earthworks	4
3		Infrastructure	4
	3.1	Roads	4
	3.2	Stormwater Drainage	4
	3.3	Sewerage Reticulation	4
	3.4	Water Reticulation	4
	3.5	Electrical Supply	5
	3.6	Communications	5
	3.7	Gas	5
4		Conclusion	5

appendix one:	preliminary site layout
appendix two:	geological mapping
appendix three:	geotechnical report
appendix four:	groundwater contours
appendix five:	acid sulphate soils
appendix six:	dial-before-you-dig information
appendix seven:	feature survey



Revision	Description	Author	Date
0	Due Diligence	Andrew Tucker	7 May 2015
1	For Submission with LSP	Andrew Tucker	5 January 2016
2	Modified Plan / Resubmission with LSP	Andrew Tucker	7 September 2016



1 Introduction

Pritchard Francis has been engaged by Defence Housing Australia (DHA) to undertake an Infrastructure Services Report to support the Structure Plan submission for residential development at a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis.

This report outlines existing site conditions, adjacent services and likely development constraints. This report is based on the preliminary site layout contained within Appendix One.

2 Site Conditions

The site covers approximately 2.06ha in area and has frontages to McDonald Road to the east and existing rural space to the west, south and north.

This site is currently occupied by existing dwellings and structures on the western side of the lot and it is understood that the eastern half of the site was once used as a market garden.

2.1 Geology

The Perth sheet of the 1:50,000 scale Environmental Geology series maps (included in Appendix Two), indicates the site as having soil profiles as follows:

SAND (s7) – derived from Tamala Limestone is pale yellowish brown, medium to course grained, subangular quartz, trace of feldspar, moderately sorted, of residual origin. Few limitations, some settlement under foundations can be expected, some ability to attenuate pollutants due to small clay content, usually considerable depth to water table due to topography.

The geological mapping shows a limestone outcrop about 100m to the north west of the site and peaty clay about 50-100m to the south west of the site.

The findings of the site from the geotechnical report, included in Appendix Three, are consistent with the geological mapping, with typically a thin layer of sand present over limestone. No peaty soils were encountered on site during the geotechnical investigation.

Limestone was present below the sand layer with rockhead varying from depths between 1.0m and more than the maximum depth of investigation (2.5m).

2.2 Topography

The current surface elevation of the site, in accordance with feature survey from Fyfe 71613/01, shows the site to vary from RL 4.0m AHD in the northwest corner, peaking in the middle of the site at about RL 7.2m and then falling to around RL 5.0m in the south east of the site. The centreline of McDonald Road ranges from RL 6.0m (south) to trapped low of RL 5.5m.

2.3 Groundwater Atlas

The Perth Groundwater Atlas indicates that the groundwater levels across the site range from 1.0m AHD to 2.0m AHD with the historical maximum approximated at 4.0m AHD. An extract from the Perth Groundwater Atlas can be found in Appendix Four.

2.4 Acid Sulphate Soils (ASS)

Mapping from the geotechnical report shown in Appendix Five shows the site having no known risk of ASS occurrence at depths less than 3m from the surface. The nearest high risk area is located approximately 50-100 m to the south west of the site.



2.5 Site Contamination

Galt Geotechnics report states that the nearest site classified as 'Remediated for Restricted Use' is located approximately 350m east of the site. Galt's geotechnical report is included in Appendix Three.

2.6 Demolition

The two most southern structures/dwellings are to be demolished and where required, the soil beneath them remediated due to historical construction techniques. The location of these can be seen in Appendix One, Preliminary Site Layout.

2.7 Earthworks

A topsoil strip of 100mm is required. We have assumed this will then be buried in the southern verge of the site and clean fill excavated will be used on site. Alternatively the topsoil will need to be removed from site.

Based on the historic market garden use for the site 500mm deep topsoil in old market garden area is assumed to be suitable for structure fill following additional compliance testing as per the Galt Geotechnics report.

Pad locations will need to be proof rolled once bulk earthworks have been completed.

It is likely that imported fill will be required across the site to make up the shortfall in material and to ensure overland flow paths and minimum grades.

3 Infrastructure

3.1 Roads

The access to the site will be from McDonald Road. Modifications will be required to the existing road reserve to allow for the construction of the proposed intersections as detailed in the concept plan in Appendix One.

3.2 Stormwater Drainage

An underground pit and pipe network is intended for the site and will be disposed of into underground tanks, most likely a modular plastic system allowing for infiltration and attenuation of the critical 1:100 year ARI event as the capacity of the basin on the east side of McDonald Road is considered to be at capacity in serving The Chimes.

3.3 Sewerage Reticulation

A 150mm diameter sewer has been allowed for to service the expected 30 lots. This can then gravity feed into the 150mm diameter sewer running along the west side of McDonald Road and then to the existing wastewater pump station adjacent to the lot. The sewerage catchment has been confirmed by the Water Corporation and the system has sufficient capacity for the 30 lot development.

Please refer to Appendix Six for Dial-Before-You-Dig information.

3.4 Water Reticulation

The site currently has a 150mm water main on the eastern side of McDonald Road. It is likely that connections into the 150mm main will be able to supply the site with water, which has been indicated by Water Corporation. Connection will need to be bored under McDonald Road. It is assumed internal water reticulation mains will be 100mm.

Please refer to Appendix Six for Dial-Before-You-Dig information.



3.5 Electrical Supply

Existing electrical infrastructure adjacent to the site includes:

- High and Low voltage cables along both sides of McDonald Road.
- Existing transformer directly opposite the site on McDonald Road.

Online mapping indicates the site will have 15-20MVA capacity in 2020 hence it is not anticipated capacity will be an issue.

Please refer to Appendix Six for dial before you dig information.

3.6 Communications

There is existing Telstra network located in McDonald Road, which is the existing service currently servicing the dwellings on site. It is expected there will be capacity to service this site.

Optic fibre currently exists along Fifty Road which is the adjoining road to the south.

Please refer to Appendix Six for dial before you dig information.

3.7 Gas

There is existing 110mm high pressure gas pipelines on the east side of McDonald Road. 40mm high pressure mains connect into this larger main to service the existing residential area to the east. It is expected this network will have capacity to service the development.

Please refer to Appendix Six for dial before you dig information.

4 Conclusion

The development of Lot 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis is not constrained by service capacities or upgrades with all services in close proximity to the site.

It is recommended further site investigations of the eastern portion of the site be undertaken to more accurately map the depth and extents of unsuitable material.

Due to the previous use of the site as a market garden it is recommended further investigations on potential impacts carried out as per the Galt Geotechnics Report.



appendices

Appendix One:	Preliminary Site Layout
Appendix Two:	Geological Mapping
Appendix Three:	Geotechnical Report
Appendix Four:	Groundwater Contours
Appendix Five:	Acid Sulphate Soils
Appendix Six:	Dial-Before-You-Dig Information
Appendix Seven:	Feature Survey



appendix one: preliminary site layout

Pritchard Francis



appendix two: geological mapping

Pritchard Francis



appendix three: geotechnical report





Report on

GEOTECHNICAL AND PRELIMINARY ENVIRONMENTAL STUDY PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS

Submitted to:

Defence Housing Australia C/- Pritchard Francis Level 1, 430 Roberts Road SUBIACO WA 6008

J1501070 001 R Rev0

www.galtgeo.com.au 2/39 Flynn St, WEMBLEY WA 6 014 T: +61 (8) 6272-0200 F: +61 (8) 9285-8444

30 April 2015



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Intr	roduction		
2.	Site	Site Description and Proposed Development		
3.	Obj	Objectives1		
4.	Fiel	Fieldwork2		
5.	Env	viron	nmental Laboratory Testing	4
6.	Site	e Coi	nditions	5
	6.1	Ge	eology	5
	6.2	Su	bsurface Conditions	5
	6.3	Gr	oundwater	5
7.	Geo	otec	hnical Assessment	6
	7.1	Sit	e Classification	6
	7.2	Sit	e Subsoil Class	6
	7.3	Sit	e Preparation	6
	7.4	Со	ompaction	7
	7.5	Ар	pproved Fill	7
	7.6	Ex	cavation	8
	7.7	Re	etaining Structures	8
	7.8	Sh	allow Footings	9
	7.9	Ра	vement Thickness Design	10
	7.10	Sto	ormwater Disposal	.10
8.	Env	viron	nmental Assessment	.11
	8.1	De	esktop Assessment	.11
	8.1	.1	Acid Sulfate Soils	.11
	8.1	.2	Geomorphic Wetlands	.11
	8.1	.3	Environmentally Sensitive Areas	11
	8.1	.4	Historical Aerial Photographs	11
	8.1	.5	Contaminated Sites Database	12



	8.1.	6 Heritage	12
	8.2	Detailed Site Inspection	12
	8.3	Contamination Testing Results	12
	8.4	Summary	14
9.	Clos	sure	15

TABLES (WITHIN TEXT)

Table 1: Summary of Tests	3
Table 2: Summary of Permeability Test Results	4
Table 3: Retaining Structures Design Parameters	8
Table 4: Pad Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements	9
Table 5: Strip Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements	9
Table 6: Current and Historical Aerial Photographs	11
Table 7: Soil Analysis Results – Metals	13
Table 8: Soil Analysis Results – Pesticides	14

FIGURES

Figure 1: Site and Location Plan Figure 2: Indicative Environmental Aspects

Figures 3a to 3d: Historical Aerial Imagery

J1501070 001 R Rev0 30 April 2015

APPENDICES



APPENDIX A:	SITE PHOTOGRAPHS
APPENDIX B:	TEST PIT REPORTS
APPENDIX C:	HAND AUGER BOREHOLE REPORTS
APPENDIX D:	PERTH SAND PENETROMETER RESULTS
APPENDIX E:	PERMEABILITY TEST RESULTS
APPENDIX F:	ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY CERTIFICATES
APPENDIX G:	UNDERSTANDING YOUR REPORT



1. INTRODUCTION

This report presents the outcomes of Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd (Galt's) geotechnical and preliminary environmental study for the proposed residential subdivision at 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis ("the site"). The location of the site relative to the surrounding area is shown on Figure 1, Site and Location Plan.

The investigation was requested by Lachlan Harris of Pritchard Francis and authorised by Jody Fisher of Defence Housing Australia in a signed client authorisation dated 13 April 2015 and email correspondence dated 14 April 2015.

2. SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

Based on the supplied information, the site is rectangular in plan and covers an area of 2.06 ha. Based on publicly available contour mapping, the current surface elevation is understood to vary from about RL 5.0 m AHD in the north west corner, peaking in the middle of the site at about RL 7.0 m AHD, and falling to around RL 6.0 m AHD in the east of the site.

The site is currently occupied by several existing residential dwellings and structures, generally on the western third of the site, with scattered large, established trees and bushes. A track runs from McDonald Road, east to west along the centre of the site to the existing structures. The balance of the site is cleared and grassed, with some areas evidently used as a laydown area. We understand that part of the eastern half of the site has been used as market gardens.

We understand that the end client, Defence Housing Australia, has concerns about possible previous uncontrolled filling of the site.

It is understood that the proposed development will comprise a residential subdivision. The latest concept plan for the proposed residential subdivision shows the development comprising 25 residential sized lots, ranging in size from 342 m^2 up to 570 m^2 and 3 roads, with the balance of the lot $(5,976\text{m}^2)$ to consist of a rural zone, in which the existing residential dwelling will be retained.

We have not being given specific details regarding proposed structures on the site; however, we assume these will be typical single or double storey masonry structures, with shallow footings and slabs-on-ground

3. OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the study, based on the request from Pritchard Francis, were to:

Geotechnical

- assess subsurface soil and groundwater conditions across the site, including possible presence of rock / limestone and the possible presence of uncontrolled fill;
- provide recommendations on suitable footing systems for the proposed development;
- provide allowable bearing pressure and settlement estimates for shallow foundations;
- provide a site classification(s) in accordance with AS 2870-2011 "Residential Slabs and Footings";
- specify remediation work required to ensure that the site will have a site classification of "Class A", if required;
- provide recommendations and geotechnical design parameters for earth retaining structures;
- assess the appropriate site subsoil class for the site in accordance with AS 1170.4-2007;
- recommend appropriate site preparation procedures including compaction criteria, re-use of in-situ soil and specifications and preparations for filling the site;
- assess the suitability of excavated material for re-use as fill;


- assess the permeability of the soils at the site for potential on-site disposal of stormwater by infiltration, including design permeability rates;
- provide guidance on preparation of soil under pavements, roads and car parking areas, including providing a subgrade California bearing ratio (CBR) value for pavement thickness design by others.

Environmental

- conduct a desk study assessment and comment on the possible presence of acid sulfate soils (ASS) and other environmentally sensitive issues apparent from geotechnical investigation that may need further detailed investigation;
- assess the nature and extent of soil contamination in areas of the site where market gardening activities are known to have occurred (if any); and
- determine if soil contamination (if any) represents a risk to human health or the environment.

4. FIELDWORK

Fieldwork was completed on 20 April 2015 and comprised

- excavation of test pits at sixteen locations, TP01 to TP16, extending to depths of up to 2.5 m;
- testing with Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) adjacent to each test pit location and at an additional 3 locations, extending to depths of up to 2.1 m;
- drilling of hand auger boreholes at 3 locations, HA01 to HA03, extending to depths of between 0.6 m and 0.8 m below ground;
- infiltration tests using the 'inverse auger hole' method at 3 locations, P1 to P3, at depths of between 0.6 m and 0.8 m below ground;
- collection of representative samples from the former market gardening area for inspection and laboratory testing; and
- a site walkover to inspect for potential environmental issues.

General

The tests were positioned and located by a geotechnical engineer and environmental scientist from Galt using a handheld GPS accurate to within about 5 m in the horizontal plane. Our personnel observed the test pitting, excavated the hand augered boreholes, logged the materials encountered in the test pits and boreholes, conducted the penetrometer and infiltration testing, collected representative samples for inspection and laboratory testing and conducted a site walkover.

The test locations are shown on Figure 1, Site and Location Plan. Photographs of the site are presented in Appendix A, Site Photographs. Test pit and hand auger borehole details are summarised in Table 1.



Test Name	Test Depth (m)	Fill Thickness (m)	Depth to Limestone (m) ^{1,2}	Reason for Termination	Stratigraphy		
TP01	2.5	-	1.9	Refusal on limestone			
TP02	2.2	-	1.6	Refusal on limestone	SAND, overlying Limestone		
TP03	2.2	1.0	1.5	Refusal on limestone	FILL, SAND; overlying SAND, overlying limestone		
TP04	2.3	-	NE ³	Test pit collapse	SAND		
TP05	1.9	-	1.4	Refusal on limestone	CAND overlying limestone		
TP06	1.4	-	1.3	Refusal on limestone	SAND, Overlying Limestone		
TP07	2.5	0.4	NE	Test pit collapse	FILL, SAND; overlying		
TP08	0.6	0.4		Refusal on limestone	SAND		
TP09	2.3	-	1.0	Refusal on limestone	SAND overlying limestone		
TP10	2.4	-	2.3	Test pit collapse	SAND, OVERYING LITTESTONE		
TP11	1.8	0.6	1.8	Refusal on limestone	FILL, SAND; overlying SAND, overlying limestone		
TP12	0.7	0.1		Target depth	FILL, SAND; overlying		
TP13	2.0	0.8		Target depth	SAND		
TP14	2.5	-		Target depth			
TP15	2.4	-		Target depth	SAND, overlying Limestone		
TP16	2.3	-		Refusal on limestone			
HA01	0.8	-		Target depth			
HA02	0.7	-		Target depth	SAND		
HA03	0.6	0.6 -		Target depth			

Table 1: Summary of Tests

Notes:

¹ Depth at which limestone was first encountered. Limestone is typically in the form of pinnacles.

^{2.} The term "limestone" as used in the report refers to a carbonate cemented rock and does not infer a specific rock strength, carbonate content, grain size, etc.

³ NE – Not Encountered

Test Pits

Test pits were excavated using a 6 tonne John Deere 310D tractor mounted backhoe equipped with a 600 mm wide toothed bucked supplied and operated by Eddie's Backhoe Hire. Test pit reports are presented in Appendix B, Test Pit Reports along with a method of soil description and a list of explanatory notes and abbreviations used in the reports. Test pit photographs are included for selected test pits.

Hand Auger Boreholes

Hand auger borehole reports are presented in Appendix C, Hand Auger Borehole Reports. The method of soil description used in the reports is included in Appendix B.



Penetrometer Tests

Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) tests were conducted in accordance with AS 1289.6.3.3 although to a greater depth than the 0.45 m covered in the standard. The results of the penetrometer tests are presented in Appendix D, Perth Sand Penetrometer Test Results. Blow counts are reported per 150 mm increment.

Permeability Testing

The permeability testing was undertaken using the inverse auger hole method described by Cocks¹. The results of the permeability testing are presented in Appendix E, Permeability Test Results and the results are summarised in Table 2.

Test	Test	Soil Description	Test Depth	Minimum Unsaturated Permeability ¹ , k (m/day)					
Number	Location	Son Description	(m)	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3			
P1	HA01	SAND	0.8	31	> 50	> 50			
P2	HA02	SAND	0.7	17	14	17			
Р3	HA03	SAND	0.6	> 50	> 50	> 50			

Table 2: Summary of Permeability Test Results

Note: 1 – The minimum unsaturated permeabilities were typically measured near the end of the test, with head typically varying between 0 m (dry) and 0.6 m.

Environmental Soil Sampling

Soil samples for the preliminary environmental assessment were collected from the former market gardening area in accordance with Australian Standard 4482.1 (2005) *Guide to the Investigation and Sampling of Sites with Potentially Contaminated Soil – Non Volatile and Semi Volatile Compounds*.

Samples were collected at the surface and at 0.3m using dedicated nitrile gloves and placed in laboratory supplied glass jars. The samples were then placed in an ice chilled cooler until submission to the laboratory for analysis.

5. ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY TESTING

Soil samples collected from the surface were analysed by Eurofins in their national association of testing agencies (NATA) accredited laboratory for the following contaminants of potential concern (COPC) commonly associated with market gardening activities;

- heavy metals; and
- organochlorine and organophosphate (OC/OP) pesticides.

All laboratory analysis was undertaken using NATA-accredited methods of analysis. Laboratory test results are presented in Appendix F, Environmental Laboratory Certificates. The environmental test results are discussed in Section 8.2

¹ Cocks, G (2007), "Disposal of Stormwater Runoff by Soakage in Perth Western Australia", Journal and News of the Australian Geomechanics Society, Volume 42 No. 3, pp 101-114



6. SITE CONDITIONS

6.1 Geology

The Rockingham sheet of the 1:50,000 scale Environmental Geology series map indicates that the area is underlain by sand derived from Tamala limestone. The sand is described as "SAND – pale yellowish brown, medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to well-rounded quartz, trace of feldspar, shell debris, variably lithified, surface kankar, of eolian origin".

The geological mapping shows limestone outcrop about 100 m to the north west of the site, and peaty clay about 100 m to the south west of the site.

The findings of the site investigation are consistent with the geological mapping, with typically a thin layer of sand present over limestone. No peaty soils were encountered at the test locations on the site.

6.2 Subsurface Conditions

The subsurface conditions are broadly consistent across the site. The typical soil profile from the supplied information and the current investigation can be summarised as:

- SAND (SP): medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brown becoming yellow with depth, trace limestone cobbles and gravel, typically loose to dense, present from surface to depth of between 1.0 m extending to the maximum depth investigation (2.5 m); overlying
- LIMESTONE, present below the sand layer, rockhead varying from depths between about 1.0 m and more than the maximum depth of investigation (2.5 m).

The topsoil across the site is typically about 100 mm thick, but this increases to about 500 mm thick across the former market garden area (refer to Figure 1).

The north western quarter of the site (in the location of the existing residence) has a layer of FILL overlying the natural sands. This material can be described as:

FILL, SAND (SP): fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow/brown, trace gravel (brick and limestone fragments), trace organics, trace fines, present from surface to depth of between 0.1 m and 1.0 m.

Several test pits encountered limestone pinnacles within the excavation. Although limestone was typically encountered below 1.0 m depth, it is possible that the limestone is present at shallower depths on the site (due to the undulating nature of pinnacles). We would, however, expect any rock encountered within the top 1 m to be localised, and likely to be excavatable with the use of an excavator and rock breaker attachment.

6.3 Groundwater

The Perth Groundwater Atlas (1997) does not extend to the site, but nearby data suggests that the maximum historical groundwater level at the site would be around RL 4 m AHD. This is between about 1 m and 3 m below the current ground surface.



7. GEOTECHNICAL ASSESSMENT

7.1 Site Classification

We consider the site geotechnically capable of supporting the proposed development.

We have assessed the site in accordance with AS2870 (2011) "Residential Slabs and Footings". We consider that a site classification of "Class A" would be appropriate provided that normal site preparation as presented in Section 7.3 is undertaken prior to construction.

7.2 Site Subsoil Class

We have assessed the site subsoil class in accordance with AS1170.4-2007, "Earthquake Design Actions – Australia". We consider that a site subsoil class of 'Ce' is appropriate for the site.

7.3 Site Preparation

The site preparation measures outlined below are aimed at preparation of the site prior to construction of buildings and pavement subgrades. Landscaped areas (if any) will not require this preparation. The site preparation procedures provided below have been prepared on the basis of improving the density of the loose to medium dense zone.

The following site preparation measures must be followed:

- Remove any deleterious material from site including surficial rubbish, existing structures and buried services, soak-wells, etc.
- Strip and stockpile topsoil from across the entire site (including market garden area) for potential re-use in non-structural applications or for possible blending with clean sand (only a thin layer of topsoil was noted at the time of our investigation over the majority of the site). Topsoil strip is only necessary to remove roots. We recommend a 100 mm topsoil strip or as otherwise necessary to remove all roots from the soil. The topsoil can potentially be screened and blended with clean sand and re-used as structural fill.
- Excavate to the required level, if required.
- Rip areas of shallow limestone to at least 1.0 m below finished level (this is intended to produce a relatively excavatable soil mass within the upper 1.0 m at the site for installation of footings and buried services if a greater depth is required, the depth of ripping may need to be increased). It may be necessary to engage us to inspect the site and conduct additional shallow test pitting to assess the presence of shallow limestone in uncertain areas.
- Remove any oversize boulders (>200 mm) not responding to ripping or compaction.
- Proof compact the exposed sandy ground to achieve the level of compaction specified in Section 7.4 to a depth of at least 0.9 m below the compacted surface any areas of loose sand or unsuitable material must be removed and replaced with approved fill.
- Fill to the proposed design surface level using approved fill (refer Section 7.5), placed and compacted (refer Section 7.4) in layers of no greater than 300 mm loose thickness.
- Compact the footing bases to achieve the required level of compaction to a depth of at least 0.9 m below the footing base any areas of loose sand or unsuitable material must be removed and replaced with approved fill.



Note: The topsoil layer (identifiable as the brown sand, as compared with underlying natural yellow sand) at the location of the former market gardens is up to about 500 mm thick, however rootlets were typically only present in the top 100 mm. We consider that the topsoil present below 0.1 m depth can potentially be re-used as structural fill without the need for screening or blending, however permeability testing of a trial pad of the material must be conducted prior to its use. Where permeability testing is not conducted, the full thickness of the material (0.5 m) must be stripped for re-use in non-structural areas or removed offsite.

7.4 Compaction

Approved granular fill and the *in situ* sands must be compacted using suitable compaction equipment to achieve a dry density ratio of at least 95% MMDD (maximum modified dry density) as determined in accordance with AS 1289 5.2.1.

Where sand is used as fill and the Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) is used for compaction control, the following PSP blow counts may be assumed to correlate to the required dry density ratio of 95% MMDD:

- Depth range 0.15 m to 0.45 m 8 blows
- Depth range 0.45 m to 0.75 m 10 blows
- Depth range 0.75 m to 1.05 m 12 blows (or 0.75 m to 0.9 m: 6 blows).

If difficulties are experienced in achieving the required blow count, an on-site PSP calibration should be undertaken to determine the site-specific blow count correlating to the required dry density ratio.

Over-excavation and replacement of loose materials must be done where the minimum dry density ratio cannot be achieved.

Fill must be placed in horizontal layers of not greater than 0.3 m loose thickness. Each layer must be compacted by suitable compaction equipment, and carefully controlled to ensure even compaction over the full area and depth of each layer.

Care will need to be taken when compacting in the vicinity of existing services. This is particularly important if vibratory compaction is being carried out. Tynan (1973)² provides assistance with the selection of compaction equipment for use adjacent to structures and services. Of particular concern are adjacent existing services.

TESTING

After compaction, verify that the required level of compaction has been achieved by testing at the base of excavation and through the full depth of any fill and to a minimum depth of 0.9 m below foundations:

- on each lift of fill at the rate of 1 test per 500 m^3 ;
- at each spread footing location;
- at 7.5 m centres below on-ground slabs;
- at 10 m centres along gravity retaining wall footings and strip footings (where present); and
- at 10 m centres on pavement subgrades (on the road centreline or on a grid below car parks).

7.5 Approved Fill

Imported granular fill must comply with the material requirements as stated in AS 3798-2007, "Guidelines on Earthworks for Commercial and Residential Developments".

² Tynan (1973) Ground Vibration and Damage Effects on Buildings, Australia Road Research Board, Special Report No. 11.



The sand (including the sand fill) present at the site will be suitable for re-use as inert structural fill. Any organic-rich sand or sand containing significant proportions of fines (material less than 0.075 mm in size) must not be used.

Organic rich material (i.e. topsoil) may be considered for re-used as structural fill provided that it is screened and blended with clean sand such that the total organic content is less than 2% and the fines content is less than 5%. Due to the lower permeability of such blends, permeability testing must be undertaken on a trial pad of the blended material to assess its design permeability prior to use as structural fill. We can provide further assistance with this if required.

Where doubt exists, a geotechnical engineer must be engaged to inspect and approve the use of potential fill materials.

7.6 Excavation

We expect that excavations on site to about 1.0 m through the sand will be readily achievable using conventional earthmoving equipment (i.e. with a 5 tonne or larger excavator). Localised areas of shallower limestone may be present. However, the depth to limestone is expected to be at greater than 1 m depth below the existing surface. Excavation of any limestone may require the use of a larger excavator (20 tonne) and rock breaker.

Excavations below 2 m depth are expected to encounter massive limestone and are likely to require the use of a larger excavator (20 tonne) and rock breaker. Ripping prior to excavation is also likely to be required, e.g. with a large (D9 or D10) bulldozer with a single tine ripper.

Excavations in sand are particularly prone to instability unless support is provided. Care must be exercised in such excavations and appropriate safety measures adopted where necessary. Where possible excavations must be battered at slopes no steeper than 1V:2H for temporary slopes and 1V:3H for permanent slopes above the groundwater table. Even at these slope angles erosion and rilling may occur.

A geotechnical engineer must be consulted where there is any doubt regarding the stability or safety of unsupported excavations.

7.7 Retaining Structures

Retaining structures may be designed in accordance with AS 4678-2002 "Earth-Retaining Structures". For the design of retaining structures, the parameters in Table 3 are appropriate.

			Wall Fri	ction = 0°	Wall Friction = 0.5Φ		
Soil Type	Bulk Density (t/m³)	Angle of Internal Friction (deg.)	Coefficient of Active Earth Pressure, K _a	Coefficient of Passive Earth Pressure, K _p	Coefficient of Active Earth Pressure, K _a	Coefficient of Passive Earth Pressure, K _p	
Medium dense sand	17	34	0.28	3.5	0.25	5.7	
Dense or well compacted sand	18	36	0.26	3.9	0.22	6.5	

Table 3: Retaining Structures Design Parameters

Notes: Earth pressure coefficients are provided in this table for conditions of zero friction between the wall and the soil and with wall friction of $0.5\Phi'$. The retaining wall designer should make an independent assessment of the parameters appropriate to the construction method to be used, including alternative values of wall friction. A horizontal ground surface behind the wall has been assumed.



Compaction plant can augment the lateral earth pressure acting on retaining walls. Hand operated compaction equipment is recommended within 2 m of any retaining walls to minimise compaction pressures.

It is important to note that some ground movement will occur behind any soil retaining system, including gravity retaining walls.

Retaining walls can move and rotate under imposed soil loading resulting in settlement behind the wall. This must be considered during the design and construction of the retaining walls in order that adjacent properties are not adversely affected. Particular care should be exercised when forming excavations so as not to affect neighbouring properties. Account must be taken of the effect of both temporary and permanent works on neighbouring properties. Anchoring or strutting of retaining walls may be required.

Detailed design of retaining structures should be undertaken using methods appropriate to the proposed retention system.

7.8 Shallow Footings

The structure may be founded on shallow spread footings placed within the sand which occurs from surface, provided the site preparation recommendations outlined in Section 7.3 are followed. Table 4 and Table 5 give allowable bearing pressures and estimated settlements for pad footings and strip footings at an embedment depth of at least 0.5 m.

Min. Footing Embedment (m)	Minimum Footing Dimension (m)	Allowable Bearing Pressure (kPa)	Estimated Settlement (mm)
	0.5	150	<5
0.5	1.0	200	<5
0.5	1.5	225	5 - 10
	2.0	250	10 - 15
	0.5	200	<5
1.0	1.0	250	<5
1.0	1.5	250	5 - 10
	2.0	250	10 - 15

Table 4: Pad Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements

Table 5: Strip Footing Allowable Bearing Pressures and Estimated Settlements

Min. Footing Embedment (m)	Minimum Footing Dimension (m)	Allowable Bearing Pressure (kPa)	Estimated Settlement (mm)
	0.5	150	< 5
0.5	1.0	180	5 - 10
0.5	1.5	220	15 - 20
	2.0	250	20 - 25
	0.5	200	5 - 10
1.0	1.0	250	10 - 15
1.0	1.5	250	15 - 20
	2.0	250	20 - 25



Allowable bearing pressures for footings of intermediate plan dimensions to those tabulated can be interpolated. Footings that have a plan dimension either smaller or larger than those covered by the tables above will need to be considered individually along with other embedment depths. Footings carrying significant eccentric loading must be assessed separately.

The settlement of the proposed structure will depend upon a number of factors including the applied pressures, footing size and base preparation. The estimates of settlement provided above assume that the site preparation measures detailed in Section 7.3 have been completed. The estimated settlements are for the working bearing pressure values shown. Differential settlements of up to half of the total estimated settlement values are likely between footings of similar sizes, loads and elevations. About 70% of the settlement is expected to occur during construction.

7.9 Pavement Thickness Design

Where design of flexible pavements is undertaken, a subgrade California bearing ratio (CBR) of 12% may be assumed for pavement thickness design. This CBR assumes that the site preparation requirements outlined in Section 7.3 have been carried out in pavement subgrade areas.

7.10 Stormwater Disposal

The results of infiltration tests carried out are included in Appendix D, Permeability Test Results. The minimum measured permeability are as follows:

- 🐓 🛛 P1 31 m/day
- 💠 P2 14 m/day
- P3 >50 m/day

We consider that the natural and fill sands at the site are suitable for the disposal of stormwater by infiltration by means of soak wells. For preliminary design, we recommend a design value of permeability (k) not greater than 5 m/day for the *in situ* sand below 1 m to allow for the variability in materials and reduced permeability as a consequence of:

- densification of sand during site preparation works;
- natural variation in sands; and
- clogging of the sand around soak wells over time with fines.

Soak wells should be placed outside a line of 1V:2H extending below the edge of the nearest footing subject to local council regulations. Discharge from soak wells has been known to promote densification of loose sandy soils, leading to settlements of footings and slabs. Soak wells should be carefully wrapped with geotextile to prevent migration of sand and fines into the soak well.

The topsoil layer present at the location of the former market gardens (present from surface to 0.5 m) is likely to have a lower permeability than the design value presented above due to a higher fines content. We consider that the topsoil present below 0.1 m depth can potentially be re-used as structural fill without the need for screening or blending, however permeability testing of a trial pad (at least 1 m thick) must be conducted prior to its re-use to assess the design permeability is within the acceptable limits.



We note that limestone is present at shallow depth (locally within 1 m of the ground surface), which may hinder drainage from the site. Some moderately to well cemented limestone can be relatively impermeable. This must be taken into account when undertaking the civil design. Some suggestions are:

- raising site surface levels with sand fill where limestone is relatively shallow (but cutting from areas of the site with more sand);
- ripping the limestone to a greater depth to ensure it is broken up and more permeable (we suggest that insitu large scale permeability testing be done if there is a reliance on this); or
- off-site disposal of stormwater (probably not necessary, but a logical extension of not relying on on-site disposal into limestone).

8. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

8.1 Desktop Assessment

8.1.1 Acid Sulfate Soils

The Department of Environment Regulation (DER) on-line risk-mapping database of ASS shows the site as having no known risk of ASS occurrence at depths less than 3 m. The nearest high risk area is located approximately 50 m to the south west of the site. The DER ASS risk mapping is shown in Figure 2.

8.1.2 Geomorphic Wetlands

The Department of Parks and Wildlife (DPaW) geomorphic wetlands database indicates that there are no wetlands located on the site. The nearest conservation category wetland (Opwin Swamp Dampland #6400) is located approximately 600 m to the south west of the site. The location of geomorphic wetlands are shown on Figure 2.

8.1.3 Environmentally Sensitive Areas

There are no environmental sensitive areas (ESAs) mapped as existing on the site. The nearest ESA is located approximately 200 m to the south west of the site and is associated with the Opwin Swamp Dampland. The location of ESAs are shown on Figure 2.

8.1.4 Historical Aerial Photographs

A summary of the site features visible in the available historical aerial photographs are presented in Table 6 with the historical aerial photographs presented in Figures 3a to 3d.

Year	Site Features	Surrounding Land Use
1953	The whole site is cleared.	The surrounding area is cleared
1965	Evidence of a market gardening occurring to the southern portion of the site, A building is also noted south of the site, in the middle of the site and north of the site.	No change.
1974	Vegetation to the north of the site has been cleared.	A road is noted to the east of the site. Buildings are noted to the north of the site.
1979	No change.	No change.
1981	No change.	No change.
1985	No change.	No change.

Table 6: Current and Historical Aerial Photographs



Year	Site Features	Surrounding Land Use
1995	No change.	No change.
2006	A smaller building is noted to the west of the site.	No change.
2008	An additional building is noted in the north west corner of the site.	No change.
Current	No change.	No change.

8.1.5 Contaminated Sites Database

The publicly available DER contaminated sites database was searched for known contaminated sites (sites classified as *Contaminated-restricted use, Remediated for restricted use* or *Contaminated-remediation required*) in proximity to the site. The site is not listed as a contaminated site. The nearest site classified as *Remediated for Restricted Use* and is located approximately 350 m east of the site.

8.1.6 Heritage

The Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 is the Western Australian legislation in place to protect places and objects customarily used by or traditional to, the original inhabitants of Australia. Such places and objects are maintained in a register under the Act; however, all sites are protected under the Act whether or not they have been registered.

A search of the Aboriginal Heritage database shows that there are no heritage sites located within a 500 m radius of the site. Heritage sites are shown in Figure 2.

European heritage is also protected and a search of the Heritage Council of Western Australia (HCWA) database of culturally significant sites in Western Australia was undertaken for the area. No European heritage sites were found at or nearby the site (HCWA, 2015).

8.2 Detailed Site Inspection

A detailed site inspection was undertaken by a representative of Galt on 20 April 2015. The following observations were made:

- The site contains a house, three sheds, a caravan, miscellaneous building material and farm equipment.
- There was no evidence of hazardous chemical storage or spills on the site.
- No asbestos containing material (ACM) was identified within any of the building material or farm equipment.
- There was no evidence of plant stress that would indicate potential contamination.

We note that our inspection did not include a detailed assessment of the materials used in the construction of the onsite buildings. As such, no assessment can be made on the presence of hazardous material present within these buildings.

8.3 Contamination Testing Results

Soil concentrations were compared with the following criteria adopted from the National Environmental Protection Council (NEPC) (2013) *National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure* guideline document.

- Ecological investigation levels (EIL)
- Health investigation levels Residential (HIL-A)



In order to obtain site-specific EIL values, soil pH values were recorded for each sample. Given the preliminary nature of the assessment, the most conservative EIL for zinc, copper, lead nickel and chromium using the relevant soil pH has been adopted.

Soil analytical results are presented in Table 7 and Table 8 and are discussed below.

- Metal concentrations were below the laboratory LOR and/or conformed to the adopted criteria.
- Concentrations of all OC/OP pesticides were below the laboratory LOR and/or conformed to the adopted criteria.

	Soil pH	Arsenic (mg/kg)	Cadmium (mg/kg)	Chromium (mg/kg)	Copper (mg/kg)	Lead (mg/kg)	Nickel (mg/kg)	Zinc (mg/kg)
Assessment Criteria								
HIL-A	-	100	20	100	6000	300	400	7400
Site Specific EIL ³	-	100	-	190	280	1100	30	230
Sample ID								
SS01/0.0	6.3	3.4	<0.4	15	14	5.6	<5	38
SS02/0.0	6.8	2.8	<0.4	15	19	6.9	<5	68
SS03/0.0	6.6	2.7	<0.4	16	19	6.8	<5	50
SS04/0.0	6.5	2.3	<0.4	16	17	6.0	<5	42
SS05/0.0	6.3	4.4	<0.4	15	16	6.4	<5	43
SS06/0.0	6.4	3.7	<0.4	15	17	6.8	<5	42
SS07/0.00	6.5	2.9	<0.4	16	19	6.3	<5	41
SS08/0.0	6.8	2.3	<0.4	17	26	6.9	<5	51
SS09/0.0	6.4	4.1	<0.4	19	32	8.2	<5	110
SS10/0.0	6.4	4.7	<0.4	19	<5	<5	<5	<5

Table 7: Soil Analysis Results – Metals

³ EIL value calculated in accordance with NEPM 2013 guideline using soil pH value of 6.0



	DDT+DDE+DDD	Aldrin and Dieldrin	Chlordane	Heptachlor	Endrin	Methoxychlor	Toxaphene	Chlorpyrifos	
HIL-A	240	6	50	270	10	300	20	160	
Sample ID									
SS01/0.0	< 0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS02/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS03/0.0	< 0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS04/0.0	<0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS05/0.0	< 0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS06/0.0	< 0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS07/0.00	< 0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS08/0.0	< 0.05	<0.05	<0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS09/0.0	< 0.05	0.07	<0.1	<0.05	< 0.05	<0.05	<1	<0.2	
SS10/0.0	< 0.05	< 0.05	<0.1	<0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	<0.2	

Table 8: Soil Analysis Results – Pesticides

8.4 Summary

Based on the results of the desktop environmental assessment, we consider that there are unlikely to be any significant environmental aspects that will adversely impact on the proposed development. Furthermore, the contamination testing results indicate that is it unlikely that soils within the area of the site formally used for market gardening activities has been impacted by COPC at concentrations that would represent a risk to human health or the environment.

We note our preliminary contamination testing did not include an assessment of groundwater quality at the site. As such, no comment can be made on the suitability of groundwater at the site for irrigation or drinking water purposes.

9. CLOSURE



We would like to draw your attention to Appendix G of this report, "Understanding your Report". The information provided within is intended to inform you as to what your realistic expectations of this report should be. Guidance is also provided on how to minimise risks associated with groundworks for this project. This information is provided not to reduce the level of responsibility accepted by Galt, but to ensure that all parties who rely on this report are aware of the responsibilities each assumes in so doing.

GALT GEOTECHNICS PTY LTD

Owen Woodland CPEng

Geotechnical Engineer

O:\Jobs\2015\J1501070 - PF SI McDonald Rd Baldivis\03 Correspondence\J1501070 001 R Rev0.docx

Spor

Brad Palmer Environmental Scientist



Figures

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd



11 5010 70 - PF SI McDonald Rd Baldivisl09 GIS 04 MXDU/1501070-001.mxd (DamonClark) 30/04/2015 3:35:12 PM







SCALE

1:2,000 DAC

(A3

ATE DRAWN 30/04/2015

ACN : 138 490 865 Tel : +-61 (0)8 6272-0200 Fax : +-61 (0)8 9285 8444 Address: U2, 39 Flynn Street, Wembley, WA, 6014

Rev A

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd DECTION GDA 1994 MGA Zone 50 CHECKED 30/04/2015 SS





MAP 26 - 2014(May)

MAP 27 - 2014(August)

Job No TITLE

J1501070

HISTORICAL AERIAL IMAGERY (2011 (MARCH) - 2014 (AUGUST))

FigNo FIGURE 3C

Rev A

SCALE ACN : 138 490 865 Tel : +-61 (0)8 6272-0200 Fax : +-61 (0)8 9285 8444 Address: U2, 39 Flynn Street, Wembley, WA, 6014 ATE DRAWN 30/04/2015 Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd JECTION GDA 1994 MGA Zone CHECKED 30/04/2015 SS 1:2,000 DAC L_g æ













MAP 20 - 2011(August)

MAP 21 - 2012(February)







Appendix A: Site Photographs

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd





Photograph 1: At TP05 facing south, facing towards a former market garden



Photograph 2: At TP10 facing north





Photograph 3: At TP02 facing south



Photograph 4: At TP04 facing west, note the higher elevation at TP04 compared to the western land





Photograph 5: At TP08 facing west



Photograph 6: Current development located nearby the site at the corner of McDonald Road and Fifty Road. Note the presence of shallow massive limestone



Appendix B: Test Pit Reports

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd

ABN: 73 292 586 155

METHOD OF SOIL DESCRIPTION BOREHOLE AND TEST PIT REPORTS



GRAPHI	CLOG&I	JNIFIED SOIL CLASS	SIFICATI	ON SYSTEM	(USCS) SYI	MBOLS				
Graphic	USCS	Soil Name			Graphic	USCS	Soil Name			
		FILL (various types)			× × × · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	SM	Silty SANE)		
000		COBBLES			н ж н ж ж	ML	SILT (low	liquid limi	it)	
		BOULDERS			× × × × × × × × × × × × × ×	МН	SILT (high liquid limit)			
	GP	GRAVEL (poorly grad	led)			CL	CLAY (low plasticity)			
	GW	GRAVEL (well graded	(k			СІ	CLAY (me	ticity)		
00000000000000000000000000000000000000	GC	Clayey GRAVEL				СН	CLAY (higł	n plasticit	y)	
	SP	SAND (poorly graded	d)		25 26 2 2 20 20 2 20 20	OL	Organic SI	LT (low li	quid limit)	
	SW	SAND (well graded)				он	Organic SI	LT (high l	iquid limit)	
	SC	Clayey SAND				Pt	PEAT			
RESISTA	NCE TO E	XCAVATION								
Symbol	Term	Description								
VE F	Fasy									
F	Firm		All	resistances ar	e relative to	o the selected m	ethod of e	excavation	ı	
Н	Hard									
VH	Very hard									
		based on AS1726 1	002 Ann	ondix A Mat	orial propor	tios aro assosso	d in the fie	ld by vicu	ual/tactilo mo	thoda
in combi	nation with	field testing technic	ues (whe	ere used).				.10 59 1150		thous
			1460 (1111	are area.						
PARTICI	LE SIZE	Dorticlo Sizo (mm)			PLASTICIT	Y PROPERTIES				
BOU					⁴⁰ T					
000	RRI FS	62 to 200							CH - high	
	Coorco	0310200			-			CI - medium	CH - high plasticity clay	
	Cuarse	20 to 63			% 30 -	CL - low		CI - medium plasticity clay	CH - high plasticity clay	
GRAVEL	Medium	20 to 63 6 to 20			- 30 -	CL - low plasticity clay		CI - medium plasticity clay	CH - high plasticity clay	
GRAVEL	Medium Fine	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6			(%) 30 - 20 -	CL - low plasticity clay		CI - medium plasticity clay	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH -	
GRAVEL	Medium Fine Coarse	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0			- 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30 - 30	CL - low plasticity clay		CI - medium plasticity clay	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	
GRAVEL SAND	Medium Fine Coarse Medium	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6			- 00 Plasticity Index (%)	CL - low plasticity clay		CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	
GRAVEL SAND	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2			- 00 Plasticity Index (%) - 07 - 07	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt		Cl - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	
GRAVEL SAND	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075			- 00 Blasticity Index (%)	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid	limit silt	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	
GRAVEL SAND FINES	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002			- 00 0	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20	limit silt	Cl - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002			- 00 Blasticity Index (%)	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liqud 20	limit silt Liquic	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%)	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002			- 00 (%) - 01 Blasticith Index - 01 Blasticith Index - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20	limit silt Liquic	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 4 Limit (%)	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description			30 -	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93	limit silt Liquic	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%)	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY JRE COND Term Dry	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description Sands and gravels ar	e free flc	owing. Clays a	 30 - 20 - 20 - argeticith Index 0 - 0 -	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93	limit silt Liquic	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%)	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY JRE COND Term Dry Moist	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002	e free flc	owing. Clays a	30 - 30 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20 -	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93	Liquic iable and p	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%)	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W	JRE COND Term Dry Medium	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002	e free flo i in the d er. Sand	owing. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels	(\$) 30 - xeput 20 - 10 - 10 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 -	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 y be brittle or fr l cool. Sands an ere.	Liquic Liquic iable and p d gravels t	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%) Dowdery. end to co	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS	JRE COND Term Dry Moist TENCY AN	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description Sands and gravels ar Soils are darker thar Soils exude free wat	e free flo i in the d er. Sand	owing. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels	(\$) 30 - ************************************	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	Liquic Liquic iable and p d gravels t	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 4 Limit (%) 9 Dowdery. end to co	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60	80
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY JRE COND Term Dry Moist Wet	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002	e free flc in the d er. Sand	owing. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels DCP blows	S 30 - S 20 -	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	limit silt Liquic iable and p d gravels t 006 Density	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%) Dowdery. end to co	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60	80 PSP Blows
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY JRE COND Term Dry Moist Wet TENCY AN	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description Sands and gravels ar Soils are darker thar Soils are darker thar Soils exude free wat D DENSITY Undrained Shear Strength (kPa)	e free flc i in the d er. Sand SPT "N"	owing. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels DCP blows per 100 mm	S 30 - S 30 - Symbol Symbol	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	iable and p d gravels t 006 Density Index (%)	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 4 Limit (%) 9 Dowdery. end to co	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60 chere.	80 PSP Blows per 300 mm
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS Symbol VS	Medium Fine Coarse Medium Fine SILT CLAY JRE COND Term Dry Moist Wet TENCY AN Term Very Soft	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description Sands and gravels ar Soils are darker thar Soils exude free wat D DENSITY Undrained Shear Strength (kPa) 0 to 12	e free flc in the d er. Sand SPT "N" 0 to 2	owing. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels DCP blows per 100 mm <1	S 30 Y 20 Y 20 I 10 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	iable and p d gravels t 006 Density Index (%) <15	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%) Dowdery. end to co SPT "N" 0 to 4	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60 bhere. DCP blows per 100 mm <1	80 PSP Blows per 300 mm 0 to 2
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS Symbol VS S	JRE COND Term Dry Moist Wet TENCY AN Very Soft Soft	20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description Sands and gravels ar Soils are darker thar Soils exude free wat D DENSITY Undrained Shear Strength (kPa) 0 to 12 12 to 25	e free flc i in the d er. Sand SPT "N" 0 to 2 2 to 4	Deving. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels DCP blows per 100 mm <1 <1	S 30 S 20 L 20 S 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	iable and p d gravels t 006 Density Index (%) <15 15 to 35	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%) I Limit (%) oowdery. end to co SPT "N" 0 to 4 4 to 10	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60 60 here. DCP blows per 100 mm <1 1 to 2	80 PSP Blows per 300 mm 0 to 2 2 to 6
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS Symbol VS S F	JRE COND Term Dry Moist Wet TENCY AN Very Soft Soft Firm	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002 ITION Description Sands and gravels ar Soils are darker thar Soils exude free wat D DENSITY Undrained Shear Strength (kPa) 0 to 12 12 to 25 25 to 50	e free flo in the d er. Sand SPT "N" 0 to 2 2 to 4 4 to 8	DCP blows per 100 mm <1 <1 1 to 2	S 30 S 20 L 0 AS1726-19	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	iable and p d gravels t 006 Density Index (%) <15 15 to 35 35 to 65	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 A Limit (%) A Limit (%) Dowdery. end to co SPT "N" 0 to 4 4 to 10 10 to 30	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60	PSP Blows per 300 mm 0 to 2 2 to 6 6 to 8
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS Symbol VS S F St	Very Soft Firm Fine SILT CLAY JRE COND Term Dry Moist Wet TENCY AN Very Soft Soft Firm Stiff	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002	e free flo in the d er. Sand 0 to 2 2 to 4 4 to 8 8 to 15	Deving. Clays a ry condition a s and gravels DCP blows per 100 mm <1 <1 <1 1 to 2 3 to 4	S 30 S 20 L 0 AS1726-19 AS1726-19 Ind may feeter tend to coh AS1726-19 Symbol VL L MD D	CL - low plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 y be brittle or fr I cool. Sands an ere. 93 and HB160-2 Term Very Loose Loose Medium Dense Dense	iable and p d gravels t 006 Density Index (%) <15 15 to 35 35 to 65 65 to 85	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 A Limit (%) A Limit (%) B Cowdery. end to co SPT "N" 0 to 4 4 to 10 10 to 30 30 to 50	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60 bhere. DCP blows per 100 mm <1 1 to 2 2 to 3 4 to 8	PSP Blows per 300 mm 0 to 2 2 to 6 6 to 8 8 to 15
GRAVEL SAND FINES MOISTL Symbol D M W CONSIS Symbol VS S F St VSt	Very Soft Very Stiff	20 to 63 20 to 63 6 to 20 2 to 6 0.6 to 2.0 0.2 to 0.6 0.075 to 0.2 0.002 to 0.075 <0.002	e free flo in the d er. Sand 0 to 2 2 to 4 4 to 8 8 to 15 15 to 30	DCP blows per 100 mm <1 <1 1 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 10	Signature	CL - low plasticity clay CL/ML - clay/silt OL or ML - low liquid 20 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	iable and p d gravels t 006 Density Index (%) <15 15 to 35 35 to 65 65 to 85 >85	CI - medium plasticity clay OL or ML - low liquid limit silt 40 I Limit (%) Limit (%) Cowdery. end to co SPT "N" 0 to 4 4 to 10 10 to 30 30 to 50 >50	CH - high plasticity clay OH or MH - high liquid limit silt 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 61 60 61 61 61 60 61 61 61 61 61 61 61 61 61 61 61 61 61	PSP Blows per 300 mm 0 to 2 2 to 6 6 to 8 8 to 15 >15

Consistency and density may also be inferred from excavation performance and material behaviour.

EXPLA	EXPLANATORY NOTES TO BE READ WITH											
BORE	HOLE AND TEST PIT	REPO	RTS		GEOTECHNICS							
METHOD	OF DRILLING OR EXCAVATION	N										
AC	Air Core	Е	Excavator	PQ3	PQ3 Core Barrel							
AD/T	Auger Drilling with TC-Bit	EH	Excavator with Hammer	PT	Push Tube							
AD/V	Auger Drilling with V-Bit	HA	Hand Auger	R	Ripper							
AT	Air Track	HMLC	HMLC Core Barrel	RR	Rock Roller							
В	Bulldozer Blade	HQ3	HQ3 Core Barrel	SON	Sonic Rig							
BH	Backhoe Bucket	Ν	Natural Exposure	SPT	Driven SPT							
СТ	Cable Tool	NMLC	NMLC Core Barrel	WB	Washbore							
DT	Diatube	PP	Push Probe	Х	Existing Excavation							
SUPPORT	г											
Т	Timbering											
PENETRA	TION EFFORT (RELATIVE TO THE E	QUIPME	NT USED)									
VE	Very Easy	Е	Easy	F	Firm							
Н	Hard	VH	Very Hard									
WATER												
	Water Inflow		▼ Water Level									
	Water Loss (complete)											
	Water Loss (partial)											
SAMPLIN	IG AND TESTING											
В	Bulk Disturbed Sample		Р	Piston Sam	ple							
BLK	Block Sample		PBT	Plate Beari	ng Test							
с	Core Sample		U	Undisturbe	d Push-in Sample							
CBR	CBR Mould Sample			U50: 50 mr	n diameter							
D	Small Disturbed Sample		SPT	Standard P	enetration Test							
ES	Environmental Soil Sample			Example: 3	,4,5 N=9							
EW	Environmental Water Sample			3,4,5: Blow	s per 150 mm							
G	Gas Sample			N=9: Blows	per 300 mm after							
HP	Hand Penetrometer			150 m	nm seating interval							
LB	Large Bulk Disturbed Sample		VS	Vane Shear	; P = Peak							
М	Mazier Type Sample			R = Remou	ded (kPa)							
MC	Moisture Content Sample		W	Water Sam	ple							
ROCK COF	RE RECOVERY											
TCR = Tota	al Core Recovery (%) $=\frac{CRL}{K}$	100										
	TCL	100										
SCR = Soli	d Core Recovery (%) $= \frac{CCR}{TCL} \times$:100										
RQD = Roo	ck Quality Designation (%) $=$ $\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{ALC > 10}{TCL}$	0 -×100									
TCL	Length of Core Run											
CRL	Recovered Length of Core											
CCR	Total Length of Cylindrical Piece	s of Core	Recovered									
ALC>100	Total Length of Axial Lengths of	Core Gre	ater than 100 mm Long									



Job Number: J1501070

Client:

Project:

Location:

TEST PIT: TP01

Sheet 1 OF 1

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387816 m 6424917 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

F		Exca	vation		Samplin	g				Field Material Desc	riptic	n		
	METHOD EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
			0.0							SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	м	L	Topsoil and rootlets in top 100 mm	
1.2420-0	H E		1.0						SP	Trace gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	L - MD	Limestone outcrop at 1.9 m comprising approximately 30% of test pit face	
			-							Hole terminated at 2.50 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				

GALT 1 01 2013-02-21 Tools I Lib. 0/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring *XCAVATION Ċ





Job Number: J1501070 Client: Project:

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387784 m 6424920 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	E	Exca	vation		Samplin	ıg			Field Material Description							
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS			
			0.0							SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, -brown- Yellow	M	L.				
BH	E		 1.5 2.0						SP	With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	MD	Below 1.6 m, limestone comprising approximately 30% of test pit face	-		
		-	-							Hole terminated at 2.20 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				-		

004/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Prj: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 *XCAVATION Ċ





Job Number: J1501070

Client: Pritchard Francis Project: Proposed Resider

Project:Proposed Residential SubdivisionLocation:16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: 3 Northing: 6 Datum: 1

387742 m 6424921 m MGA94 Zone 50

 Contractor:
 Eddie's Backhoe

 Machine:
 JD 310D

 Operator:
 Eddie

 Bucket:
 600 mm toothed

 Sheet 1 OF 1
 OF 1

 Date:
 20/04/2015
 20/04/2015

 Logged:
 EY
 20/04/2015

 Checked Date:
 30/04/2015
 20/04/2015

 Checked By:
 PCW
 20/04/2015

		Exca	vation		Samplin	g				Field Material Desc	riptio	n	
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
H	E		0.0						SP	SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brewn- Yellow	M	L- MD	
			1.5 — - - 2.0 — -							Trace gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	MD	
										Hole terminated at 2.20 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered			

3 GG_EXCAVATION J1501070.GPJ <<DrawingFia>> 3004/2015 16:06 8.33.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Pixio, Monitoring Tools | Lb: GALT 1.01 2015-02-21 Prj: GALT 1.01 2015-02-21





Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Pritchard Francis Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387655 m 6424917 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	Exca	vation		Samplin	ıg				Field Material Desc	riptio	on		
METHOD EXCAVATION	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED GRAPHIC	LOG CALEDI	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
на е								SP SP	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow-brown, trace gravel comprising limestone and brick fragments SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow Hole terminated at 2.30 m Terminated due to test pit collapse Groundwater not encountered Sketch & Other Observations	D	MD		
-													

GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 3-02-21 Pri-Ś Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 0004/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datael DGD. CPT. Photo. Monitorina Ş 170 GP.1 11501C =XCAVATION Ċ 101 GI B GALT LIR

Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Job Number: J1501070

Client:

Project:

Location:

TEST PIT: TP05

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

600 mm toothed

Machine: JD 310D

Operator: Eddie

Bucket:

Sheet 1 OF 1

Date:	20/04/2015
Logged:	EY
Checked Date:	30/04/2015
Checked By:	PCW

ļ																	
İ		E	cavat	ion		Samplin	ıg				Field Material Desc	Field Material Description					
	METHOD EXCAVATION	RESISTANCE	WATER	(metres)	<i>DEPTH</i> RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS			
			0).0						SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, trace organics						
	т ,		0).5 - - -				•			SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	м	L		-		
	<u>a</u> '	E	1	.0 — - - .5 — - -						SP	With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	D	L - MD				
FIJ. GALL 1.01 2013-02-21			2	2.0							Hole terminated at 1.90 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				-		
-			-2					_			Sketch & Other Observations						

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387823 m

6424873 m

MGA94 Zone 50

.01.GLB Log GG_EXCAVATION J1501070.GPJ <<DrawingFile>> 3004/2015 16:06 8:30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Pholo, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1:01 2013-02-21 Prj; GA

ALT IR





Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Project:

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387781 m 6424839 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

Excavation					Samplin	g			Field Material Description							
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS			
H	E		0.0						SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, with some organics SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone Hole terminated at 1.40 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered	D	L- MD				
			- - 2.0 — - - - 2.5							Groundwater not encountered						

Pri: GALT 1 01 2013-02-21 1.01 2013-02-21 XCAVATION Ċ 01 GI B

DITTIC





Sheet 1 OF 1

Client: Project:

Job Number: J1501070 Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387752 m 6424867 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

Excavation Sampling	Field Material Description	
METHOD EXCAVATION RESISTANCE WATER MATER DEPTH (metres) HLLdad HLLdad ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE SAMPLE COVERED GRAPHIC LOG USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	AND AL ONS
Image: Book of the second s	FILL: SAND, medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, with some organics M L SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, ellow M L SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, ellow M L Hole terminated at 2.50 m Environment of the store of	

Pri: GALT 1 01 2013-02-21 GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 ools I Lib. Datrol 30/04/2015 16:06 8 30:003 *XCAVATION Ċ 01 GI B





Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number:	J1501070
Client:	Pritchard I

 Client:
 Pritchard Francis

 Project:
 Proposed Residential Subdivision

Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387691 m 6424869 m MGA94 Zone 50 Contractor:Eddie's BackhoeMachine:JD 310DOperator:EddieBucket:600 mm toothed

 Date:
 20/04/2015

 Logged:
 EY

 Checked Date:
 30/04/2015

 Checked By:
 PCW

See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

Excavation					Samplin	ıg			Field Material Description							
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS			
BH	E		0.0						SP	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale brown SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	M	MD				
										Hole terminated at 0.60 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered						

Log GG_EXCAVATION J1501070.GPJ <<DrawingFile>> 3004/2015 16:06 8:30.003 Datget DGD, CPT, Phote, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 Prj; GALT 1.01 2013-02-21

01 GI F

Comments:


Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Pritchard Francis Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387685 m 6424828 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

Excavation	Sampling		Field Material Desc	riptio	on		-						
METHOD EXCAVATION RESISTANCE WATER MATER (metres) 2 19	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST D777 L	GRAPHIC LOG USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS							
E = 1.5 − 1		SP	SAND: fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brown	м	L - MD	At 1.0 m, one limestone boulder excavated. Below 1.0 m, limestone outcrop comprising approximately 30% of test pit face.	-						
2.5			Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered										
			Sketch & Other Observations										

Pri: GALT 1 01 2013-02-21 01 2013-02-21 30/04/2015 16:06 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo 1 of Doc SC/V 170 GP.1 *XCAVATION Ċ 1 01 GI B

ALT I IR

Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number: J1501070 Client:

Pritchard Francis Project:

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387737 m 6424121 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

		E	xca	vation		Samplin	ıg			Field Material Description							
	METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS			
1.01.2013-02.21	H	E								SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grained, sub-rounded, brown, with some organics SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow		L -				
Prj: GALT -				_													

Sketch & Other Observations





Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Job Number: J1501070

Client:

Project:

010

140 Tools LL ih.

=XCAVATION Ċ

01 GI B

SALT LE

Location:

TEST PIT: TP11

Sheet 1 OF 1

Easting: Northing:

Datum:

387679 m 6424872 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	I	Exca	vation		Samplin	ıg		Field Material Description							
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS		
			0.0						SP	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow-brown SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow	м	_			
BH	E								SP		D	MD	Limestone pinnacle at 1.0 m	-	
			2.0							Hole terminated at 1.80 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				_	

1.01 2013-02-21 i0/04/2015 16:07 8.30.003 Datael DGD, CPT, Photo Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

Sketch & Other Observations



Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Project:

Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387710 m 6424867 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	E	Exca	vation		Samplin	g	Field Material Description							_
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
			0.0—						SP	FILL: SAND, fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow, comprising limestone				
			_					••••		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow				
			-					• • •						
BH	E		-					· · ·			м	MD		
			-					· · · · ·	SP					
			0.5 —					· · ·						-
			-					· · · · · ·						
								•		Hole terminated at 0.70 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered				
			-											
			-10-											

Pri: GALT 1 01 2013-02-21 GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 ols I l ih. 0/04/2015 16:07 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo AVATION Ċ

Sketch & Other Observations





Sheet 1 OF 1

Client: Project:

Job Number: J1501070 Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387714 m 6424927 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	E	Excav	ation		Samplin	ıg				Field Material Description					
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE CONDITION	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS		
BH	E		0.0						SP	FILL: SAND, fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, pale yellow-brown SAND: fine to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, yellow Hole terminated at 2.00 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered	D	L - MD			

à 30/04/2015 16:07 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools | Lib: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 SC/V 170 GP.I AVATION Ċ 01 GI B

010





Sheet 1 OF 1

Job Number:	J1501070
Client:	Pritchard I
Project:	Proposed

Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387797 m 6424903 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

	Excavation				Samp	ling				Field Material Desc	Field Material Description				
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OF FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS		
			0.0 —				T	· ·		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded,					
			-					· · ·		yellow					
			-					· · ·							
			0.5 —								м	L			
			-												
			-												
			-												
			1.0 —								-				
-	_		_						0.0						
ĩ	E		-						SP						
			- 1.5 —								_		At 4.5 m limentary ginneds		
			-							With some gravel and cobbles comprising limestone			At 1.5 m, limestone pinnacie		
			-								D	L - MD			
			-												
			2.0 —												
			-												
			-												
			-2.5					· · ·		High description of a log 50 mg	_				
			-							Hole terminated at 2.50 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered					
			_												
										Sketch & Other Observations					
											· · · · ·				
											· · · · · ·				
_															
0	nme	nts:								See Explanator	y Note	es an	d Method of Soil Description sheets f		
										details d	ot abb	orevia	ations and basis of descriptions		



Sheet 1 OF 1 20/04/2015

Job Number:	J1501070
Client:	Pritchard I
Project:	Proposed

GALTLB 1.01.GLB Log GG_EXCAVATION J1501070.GFJ <-DrawingFia>> 3004/2015 (6.07 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools (1.b: GALT 1.01 2013-02-21 PF): GF): G

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

Easting: Northing: Datum:

387800 m 6424883 m MGA94 Zone 50

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe Machine: JD 310D Operator: Eddie Bucket: 600 mm toothed

Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW

Date:

		Exca	vation		Samplin	ng	Field Material Description							
METHOD	EXCAVATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
			0.0-]				• .		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, brown				
								••••						-
			-							Yellow				-
			0.5 —					· · ·				L		-
								 						-
														-
			1.0 —	-						Trace gravel and cobbles comprising limestone	-		At 1.0 m, limestone pinnacle	-
ВН	E							$ \begin{bmatrix} \cdot & \cdot \\ \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \\ \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \end{bmatrix} $	SP					-
														-
			1.5 —					· · ·			D			-
			-	-				· · ·				MD		-
													At 1.7 m, limestone pinnacie	-
			2.0 —											-
								· · .						-
			-	-										-
			2.5 —							Hole terminated at 2.40 m Target deoth				_
										Groundwater not encountered				-
										Sketch & Other Observations				
						:	-	:						
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·													
Co	nmei	ments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions												



Pritchard Francis

Job Number: J1501070

Client:

0 11501C

FXCAVATION 00 8

GALTUR 101 GLB

TEST PIT: TP16

Sheet 1 OF 1

20/04/2015 Date: Logged: ΕY Checked Date: 30/04/2015

Contractor: Eddie's Backhoe

Machine: JD 310D

F	Proje .ocat	ct: tion:	Proj 16 N	oosed F AcDona	Residential Subo Id Road, Baldiv	divisio is	'n			Datum: MGA94 Zone 50	Operator: Bucket:	Eddie 600 mm te	oothe	Checked Date: 30/04/2015 Checked By: PCW
F		Exca	vation		Samplir	ng					Field Materia	al Descriptio	on	
METHOD	EXCAVATION	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DES	SCRIPTION	MOISTURE CONDITION	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS
2013-02.21 BH	E		0.0						SP	SAND (TOPSOIL): medium to coarse grain brown SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-ang yellow With some gravel and cobbles comprising	limestone	nded, M	MD	At 1.0 m, limestone pinnacle comprising approximately 30% of test pit face
Prj: GALT 1.0			-							Hole terminated at 2.30 m Refusal on limestone Groundwater not encountered				
3-02-21			-2.5-			-		-		Sketch & Other Observations	i			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
30/04/2015 16:07 8.30.003 Datgel DGD, CPT, Photo, Monitoring Tools Lib: GALT 1.01 201		an one of the				一日 二日							1) ····································	

Easting:

Northing:

287829 m

6424833 m

Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions



Appendix C: Hand Auger Borehole Reports

Galt Geotechnics Pty Ltd

www.galtgeo.com.au 2/39 Flynn St, WEMBLEY WA 6014 ABN: 73 292 586 155



HAND AUGER BOREHOLE: HA01

Choot	1		
Sneet	1	OF	

04/2015
04/2015
W

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Project:

Pritchard Francis

Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis Location:

		Dril	ling		Samplin	ıg				Field Material Des	cripti	on		
METHOD	PENETRATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
F			0.0 —]				· .		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded,				Τ
										brown				
			-											
			-					· . · · .		Yellow				
			-											
₹	E		-	-					SP		м	L		
								. • . • .						
			0.5 —											
			-	-										
								· .						
			-					· · .						
										Hole terminated at 0.80 m Target depth				T
7-70-610			_							Groundwater not encountered				
LI 1.01 Z														
1 10:04			-1.0											
-70-5102										Sketch & Other Observations	:	: :		
- 1.01		13	1.00	184		3			N					
- IC C			74			-		4 5						
1001 Bull	1011 101			4	77			2	7					
			X		-Aleneter		2	2						
		al.	ANT.				C.							
	- 40		-		the second	S.								
		di.			and the		10		Ċ,					
non t								1	1000 C					
2:01 0102	1		1		1.6 3. 5.	194		1	R					
				2.5	1	21	1		K					
		9	-	20	the second	6	4	2	١.,					
		-	10	1	1-257	2	1	-22	2					
5000	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·													
ມ່ ງ ງ														
- CLD L											1			_
Co	mme	nts:								See Explanato	ry Not	es an brevia	d Method of Soil Description sheets	for
GAL														

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387738 m

6424898 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Operator: EY

Inclination: -90°



HAND AUGER BOREHOLE: HA02

Sheet 1 (OF	
-----------	----	--

Date:	20/04/2015
Logged:	EY
Checked Date:	30/04/2015
Checked By:	PCW

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Pritchard P Project: Proposed

2013-02-21

Pri-GALT 1 01

GALT 1 01 2013-02-21

ools I lih.

13-24 8 30.003 Dates DGD CPT Photo

AVATION

0.00

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

Location: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

Drilling **Field Material Description** Sampling MOISTURE CONDITION CONSISTENCY DENSITY PENETRATION RESISTANCE USCS SYMBOL ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE RECOVERED STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST GRAPHIC LOG METHOD SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION DEPTH (metres) WATER *DEPTH* RL 0.0 SAND: medium to fine grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded, . brown . · . · . . • Yellow . · . . · . • ٩A Е SP М Т . · . •••• · 0.5 . . . • . · • Hole terminated at 0.70 m Target depth Groundwater not encountered **Sketch & Other Observations** Comments: See Explanatory Notes and Method of Soil Description sheets for details of abbreviations and basis of descriptions

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387806 m

6424924 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Operator: EY

Inclination: -90°



HAND AUGER BOREHOLE: HA03

Sheet	1	OF
Oncou		<u> </u>

Date:	20/04/2015
Logged:	EY
Checked Date:	30/04/2015
Checked By:	PCW

Job Number: J1501070 Client: Pritchard I Project: Proposed Location: 16 McDon

Pritchard Francis Proposed Residential Subdivision

n: 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis

		Dril	lina		Samplir	ια				Field Material De	scripti	on		
METHOD	PENETRATION RESISTANCE	WATER	DEPTH (metres)	DEPTH RL	SAMPLE OR FIELD TEST	ACID SULPHATE SAMPLE	RECOVERED	GRAPHIC LOG	USCS SYMBOL	SOIL/ROCK MATERIAL DESCRIPTION	MOISTURE	CONSISTENCY DENSITY	STRUCTURE AND ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS	
			0.0-]				· ·		SAND: medium to coarse grained, sub-angular to sub-rounded	,			\neg
										brown				
			-							Yellow				
			_											
Ă	E		-	-					SP		м	L		
			-	-										
								· · ·						
			0.5 —	-										
								· .		Hole terminated at 0.60 m Target depth				
										Groundwater not encountered				
			-											
			-	-										
			-	-										
			-1.0							Sketch & Other Observations				
						•			•					-
					-			24						
									1					
				2										
			10		A State	-			-					
•		2			A CI	-	N	1	Ħ					
•							6	1						
•					and the second	1								
				-	Trada Tra			5	2					
					Sec.				É,					
							2							
					E.			24	0					
						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			<u> </u>				·····	
Со	nme	nts:								See Explanat	orv Not	es an	d Method of Soil Description sheets	s for
										detai	s of ab	brevia	ations and basis of descriptions	

Easting:

Northing:

Datum:

387695 m

6424832 m

MGA94 Zone 50

Operator: EY

Inclination: -90°



Appendix D: Perth Sand Penetrometer Results

PERTH SAND PENETROMETER FIELD TEST DATA (Standard Depth 900mm) (AS12896.3.3)

Client:	Pritchard Franc	cis		Job No:	J1501070				
Project:	Proposed Resid	dential Subdivisio	on	Date:	20/04/2015		++G	alt	
Location:	16 McDonald R	Road, Baldivis		Engineer:	EY		apart soluts		
Test No:	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Location:	TP01	TP02	TP03	TP04	TP05	TP06	TP07	TP08	
Depth (mm)			N° of Penet	rometer Blows	per 150 mm De	epth Interval			
0-150	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	
150-300	2	2	5	5	3	2	2	7	
300-450	2	1	5	6	3	3	2	7	
450-600	3	2	4	5	3	2	1	8	
600-750	2	1	5	5	4	1	2	11	
750-900	2	2	5	4	3	2	1	8	
900-1050	4	3	4	2	3	2	2	8	
1050-1200		4	5	3					
1200-1350		5	6	6					
1350-1500		6	6	6					
1500-1650		6	5	5					
1650-1800		/	5	5					
1800-1950		0 0	5	4					
1930-2100		0	5	4					
Test No:	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	
Location:	TP09	TP10	TP11	TP12	TP13	TP14	TP15	TP16	
Depth (mm)			N ^o of Penet	rometer Blows	per 150 mm De	epth Interval			
0-150	Seat	Seat	Seat	3	Seat	Seat	Seat	Seat	
150-300	3	2	3	4	4	2	3	2	
300-450	4	2	4	3	5	4	4	3	
450-600	3	2	3	2	5	2	5	2	
600-750	4	2	6	3	5	2	4	2	
750-900	3	2	6	3	5	3	3	3	
900-1050	3	4	4	3	5	3	4	3	
1050-1200							5		
1200-1350							5		
1350-1500							6		
1500-1650							6		
1650-1800							7		
1800-1950							8		
1950-2100	<u> </u>						0		
Test No:	17	18	19						
Location:	PSP01	PSP02	PSP03						
Depth (mm)			N° of Penet	rometer Blows	per 150 mm De	epth Interval			
0-150	Seat	Seat	Seat		-	Í			
150-300	3	2	2						
300-450	3	1	1						
450-600	3	2	3						
600-750	3	2	2			ļ			
750-900	3	4	2					ļ	
900-1050	4	6	4					ļ	
1050-1200	4	7	4					ļ	
1200-1350	5	6	5						
1350-1500	7	6	5						
1500-1650	7	4	4						
1650-1800	6	5	5					<u> </u>	
1900-1920	ð	O	С					<u> </u>	

Perth Sand Penetrometer tests done in accordance with AS 1289.6.3.3 (except blow counts are reported per 150 mm, rather than 300 mm)

7

HB: Hammer bounce (refusal)

0 = Penetration due to hammer weight only

8

7

R: Refusal

1950-2100



Appendix E: Permeability Test Results





	_	_					
	K (m/day)	V	104.2	84.6	73.0	C 10	87.3
	K (m/s)	V	1.2E-03	9.8E-04	8.4E-04	1 05 00	1.0E-U3
	h _t (m)	0.62	0.33	0.22	0.16		AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.18	0.47	0.58	0.64		
Test 2	t (s)	0	10	20	30		



		_	_					_
	K (m/day)	V	93.4	81.7				87.5
	K (m/s)	V	1.1E-03	9.5E-04				1.0E-03
	h _t (m)	0.65	0.37	0.24				AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.15	0.43	0.56				
Test 3	t (s)	0	10	20				



Perme	ability Calculatio	n - Inver	se Augei	r Hole I	Method				
Galt Geo	otechnics	Spreadshee	et author:	ORW	17-Oct-09	REFERENC	E: Cocks, G. D	Disposal of	
Job No:	J1501070					Stormwater	Runoff by Soal	kage in Perth	
Client:	Pritchard Francis					<i>the Australia</i>	<i>stralia</i> , Joumai in Geomechan	and News of ics Society	
Site:	16 McDonald Road		log ₁₀ (h ₀ + -	ir) – log	$_{10}(h_t + - r)$	Volume 42 h	Vo 3 Septembe	er 2007,	
Location:	: Baldivis	K = 1.15r		-	N	pp101-114			
Calc by:	EY 22-Apr-15			1 – 1 –					
BH Name:	: HA02/P2	Parameter	Description				Value	Units	
Test Depth:	. 0.7 m	X	Permeability				Ī	m/s	
Spreadsh	eet Legend	L	radius of test	t hole		-	0.04	E	
	Required input	t	time since st	art of mea	surement		Ŵ	s	
	Calculated field	h,	reference po	int height	above base		0.7	E	
	Comment field	đ	depth from r	eference p	oint to water a	at time t	Ā	E	
X	Field not used	h,	Water colum	in height a	t time t		Ā	E	
	Fixed field	h_0	h _t at t=0				Ā	E	

Meth
Hole
Auger
nverse
- 1
Calculation
rmeability

	K (m/day)	V	30.4	24.8	22.8	21.6	20.1	19.9	17.9	22.5
	K (m/s)	N	3.5E-04	2.9E-04	2.6E-04	2.5E-04	2.3E-04	2.3E-04	2.1E-04	2.6E-04
	h _t (m)	0.62	0.43	0.34	0.27	0.215	0.18	0.14	0.13	AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.08	0.27	0.36	0.43	0.485	0.52	0.56	0.57	
Test 1	t (s)	0	20	40	60	80	100	120	140	

	-	_											
	K (m/day)	V	23.9	20.8	19.1	17.1	16.2	15.4	15.0	14.6	14.2		17.4
	K (m/s)	V	2.8E-04	2.4E-04	2.2E-04	2.0E-04	1.9E-04	1.8E-04	1.7E-04	1.7E-04	1.6E-04		2.0E-04
	h _t (m)	0.62	0.465	0.375	0.31	0.27	0.23	0.2	0.17	0.145	0.125		AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.08	0.235	0.325	0.39	0.43	0.47	0.5	0.53	0.555	0.575		
Test 2	t (s)	0	20	40	60	80	100	120	140	160	180		



	K (m/day)	V	25.1	21.0	19.7	19.3	18.7	18.1	17.8	20.0
	K (m/s)	V	2.9E-04	2.4E-04	2.3E-04	2.2E-04	2.2E-04	2.1E-04	2.1E-04	2.3E-04
	h _t (m)	0.615	0.455	0.37	0.3	0.24	0.195	0.16	0.13	AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.085	0.245	0.33	0.4	0.46	0.505	0.54	0.57	
Test 3	t (s)	0	20	40	60	80	100	120	140	



Permea	bility Calculatio	n - Inver:	se Auge	r Hole I	Method			
Galt Geot	echnics	Spreadshee	t author:	ORW	17-Oct-09	REFERENCE	: Cocks, G. Disposal of	Point
Job No:	J1501070					Stormwater R	unoff by Soakage in Perth	
Client:	Pritchard Francis					<i>the</i> Australian	<i>ralia</i> , Journal and News of Geomechanics Society	
Site:	16 McDonald Road		log ₁₀ (h ₀ + .	-r) – log	$1_{10}(h_t + -r)$	Volume 42 Nc	3 September 2007,	
Location:	Baldivis	K = 1.15r -		-	V	pp101-114		
Calc by:	EY 22-Apr-15			1 – 1 ⁰				
BH Name:	HA03/P3	Parameter	Description			>	alue Units	
Test Depth:	0.6 m	Y	Permeability				s/ш	
Spreadshe	et Legend	L	radius of tes	t hole			0.04 m	
	Required input	t	time since st	tart of mea	asurement		Ñ	1
-	Calculated field	h _r	reference pc	int height	above base		0.6 m	
-	Comment field	dt	depth from r	eference p	point to water a	at time t	E	
X	Field not used	ht ht	Water colum	in height a	it time t	<u> </u>	E	
	Fixed field	h _o	h _t at t=0			<u> </u>	E	

K (m/s) K (m/day)

d_w (m)

63.2 59.8 62.1

7.3E-04 6.9E-04 7.2E-04

h, (m) 0.5 0.23 0.11 0.04

> 0.1 0.37 0.49 0.56

Test 1 t (s) 20 60 60

acc.				
Surf				
io.				
8				
\leftarrow		\rightarrow		
2		1		
	• -7 •			
물	BVE			
ase or l	10			
A A	Wat			
A				
1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
e		1		
ou o		N		
te				
oil			-	
<u> </u>				

	K (m/day)	V	52.6	53.2	55.4		53.7
	K (m/s)	V	6.1E-04	6.2E-04	6.4E-04		6.2E-04
	h _t (m)	0.495	0.26	0.13	0.055		AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.105	0.34	0.47	0.545		
Test 3	t (s)	0	20	40	60		

	K (m/day)	V	59.8	53.2	55.4	56.1
	K (m/s)	N	6.9E-04	6.2E-04	6.4E-04	6.5E-04
	h _t (m)	0.46	0.22	0.12	0.05	AVERAGE
	d _w (m)	0.14	0.38	0.48	0.55	
Test 2	t (s)	0	20	40	60	

61.7

AVERAGE 7.1E-04





Appendix F: Environmental Laboratory Certificates

eurofins mgt

Galt Environment P/L 2/39 Flynn St Wembley WA 6014



Certificate of Analysis

NATA Accredited Accreditation Number 1261 Site Number 1254

Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025. The results of the tests, calibrations and/or measurements included in this document are traceable to Australian/national standards.

Attention:
Report
Project name
Project ID

Received Date

454842-S BALDIVIS J1501070 Apr 22, 2015

Brad Palmer

				1		1
Client Sample ID			SS01/0.0	SS02/0.0	SS03/0.0	SS04/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16245	M15-Ap16246	M15-Ap16247	M15-Ap16248
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit				
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Chlordanes - Total	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
4.4'-DDD	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDE	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDT	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
a-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Aldrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
b-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
d-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Dieldrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan I	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan II	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan sulphate	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin aldehyde	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin ketone	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor epoxide	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Hexachlorobenzene	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Methoxychlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Toxaphene	1	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Dibutylchlorendate (surr.)	1	%	90	87	91	75
Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)	1	%	79	79	83	73
Organophosphorous Pesticides						
Bolstar	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Chlorpyrifos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Demeton-O	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Diazinon	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Dichlorvos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Disulfoton	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethoprop	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenitrothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fensulfothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2



Client Sample ID			SS01/0.0	SS02/0.0	SS03/0.0	SS04/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16245	M15-Ap16246	M15-Ap16247	M15-Ap16248
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit				
Organophosphorous Pesticides						
Merphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl azinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl parathion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Mevinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Naled	0.5	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5
Phorate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ronnel	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Tokuthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Trichloronate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Triphenylphosphate (surr.)	1	%	55	61	63	65
Heavy Metals						
Arsenic	2	mg/kg	3.4	2.8	2.7	2.3
Cadmium	0.4	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4
Chromium	5	mg/kg	15	15	16	16
Copper	5	mg/kg	14	19	19	17
Lead	5	mg/kg	5.6	6.9	6.8	6.0
Mercury	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Nickel	5	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	< 5	< 5
Zinc	5	mg/kg	38	68	50	42
					<u> </u>	
% Moisture	0.1	%	2.6	3.6	3.1	3.1

Client Sample ID			SS05/0.0	SS06/0.0	SS07/0.0	SS08/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16249	M15-Ap16250	M15-Ap16251	M15-Ap16252
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit				
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Chlordanes - Total	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
4.4'-DDD	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDE	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDT	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
a-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Aldrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
b-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
d-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Dieldrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan I	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan II	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan sulphate	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin aldehyde	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin ketone	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor epoxide	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Hexachlorobenzene	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Methoxychlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05



Client Sample ID			SS05/0.0	SS06/0.0	SS07/0.0	SS08/0.0
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16249	M15-Ap16250	M15-Ap16251	M15-Ap16252
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit	-	-	-	-
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Toxaphene	1	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Dibutylchlorendate (surr.)	1	%	88	93	95	88
Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)	1	%	82	83	83	77
Organophosphorous Pesticides						
Bolstar	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Chlorpyrifos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Demeton-O	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Diazinon	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Dichlorvos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Disulfoton	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethoprop	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenitrothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fensulfothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Merphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl azinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl parathion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Mevinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Naled	0.5	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5
Phorate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ronnel	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Tokuthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Trichloronate	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Triphenylphosphate (surr.)	1	%	58	62	77	77
Heavy Metals						
Arsenic	2	mg/kg	4.4	3.7	2.9	2.3
Cadmium	0.4	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4
Chromium	5	mg/kg	15	15	16	17
Copper	5	mg/kg	16	17	19	26
Lead	5	mg/kg	6.4	6.8	6.3	6.9
Mercury	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Nickel	5	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	< 5	< 5
Zinc	5	mg/kg	43	42	41	51
% Moisture	0.1	%	2.7	2.3	3.1	3.7

Client Sample ID Sample Matrix Eurofins mgt Sample No. Date Sampled			SS09/0.0 Soil M15-Ap16253 Apr 20, 2015	SS10/0.0 Soil M15-Ap16254 Apr 20, 2015	QC1 Soil M15-Ap16255 Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit			
Organochlorine Pesticides					
Chlordanes - Total	0.1	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
4.4'-DDD	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDE	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
4.4'-DDT	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
a-BHC	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05



Sample Matrix Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil Mi5-Apt 2255 Apr 20, 2015	Client Sample ID			SS09/0.0	SS10/0.0	QC1
Eurofishing Sample No. Mats April 233 Nats April 2000 Mats April 2330 Nats April 2000 Mats April 2000 </td <td>Sample Matrix</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Soil</td> <td>Soil</td> <td>Soil</td>	Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil
Date Sampled LOR IUR Apr 20, 2015 Apr 20, 2015 Apr 20, 2015 Test/Relevance LOR IUR IUR IUR IUR Organochtorine Pesticides 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16253	M15-Ap16254	M15-Ap16255
Test/Reference LOR Unit Image Image Organochlorine Posticides 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Organochlorine Pesticides mg/kg < Aldrin 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Test/Reference	LOR	Unit	-	-	-
Admin 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 bFHC 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Organochlorine Pesticides					
b=BHC 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < <	Aldrin	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
d-BHC 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05	b-BHC	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Dialdrin 0.05 mg/kg 0.07 < 0.05 < < 0.05 Endosullan I 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	d-BHC	0.05	ma/ka	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan I 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 Endosulfan subhate 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Dieldrin	0.05	mg/kg	0.07	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan II 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 < < 0.05 Endosulfan sulphate 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Endosulfan I	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endosulfan sulphate 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 <	Endosulfan II	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 Endrin aldehyde 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05	Endosulfan sulphate	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endrin aldehyde 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 <	Endrin	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Endinketone 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.0	Endrin aldehyde	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
g-BHC (Lindane) 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 <	Endrin ketone	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02	g-BHC (Lindane)	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Heptachlor epoxide 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 <t< td=""><td>Heptachlor</td><td>0.05</td><td>mg/kg</td><td>< 0.05</td><td>< 0.05</td><td>< 0.05</td></t<>	Heptachlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Hexachlorobenzene 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.02 mg/kg < 0.02 mg/kg < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 < 0.02 <	Heptachlor epoxide	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Methoxychlor 0.05 mg/kg < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 < 0.05 Toxaphene 1 mg/kg < 1	Hexachlorobenzene	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Toxaphene 1 mg/kg <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <th1< th=""> <1 <1</th1<>	Methoxychlor	0.05	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Dibutylchlorendate (surr.) 1 % 77 85 98 Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.) 1 % 74 72 80 Organophosphorous Pesticides 74 72 80 Bolstar 0.2 mg/kg <0.2	Toxaphene	1	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	< 1
Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.) 1 % 74 72 80 Organophosphorous Pesticides	Dibutylchlorendate (surr.)	1	%	77	85	98
Organophosphorous Pesticides mg/kg < 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <th< td=""><td>Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)</td><td>1</td><td>%</td><td>74</td><td>72</td><td>80</td></th<>	Tetrachloro-m-xylene (surr.)	1	%	74	72	80
Bolstar 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <th< td=""><td>Organophosphorous Pesticides</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	Organophosphorous Pesticides					
Chlorpyrifos 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Bolstar	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Demeton-O 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <	Chlorpyrifos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Diazinon 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <t< td=""><td>Demeton-O</td><td>0.2</td><td>mg/kg</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td></t<>	Demeton-O	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Dicklorvos 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Diazinon	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Disulforon 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Dichlorvos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethion 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Disulfoton	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Ethoprop 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <t< td=""><td>Ethion</td><td>0.2</td><td>mg/kg</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td></t<>	Ethion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenitrothion 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <td>Ethoprop</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>mg/kg</td> <td>< 0.2</td> <td>< 0.2</td> <td>< 0.2</td>	Ethoprop	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fensulforhion 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 </td <td>Fenitrothion</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>mg/kg</td> <td>< 0.2</td> <td>< 0.2</td> <td>< 0.2</td>	Fenitrothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Fenthion 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <t< td=""><td>Fensulfothion</td><td>0.2</td><td>mg/kg</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td></t<>	Fensulfothion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Merphos 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 <th< td=""><td>Fenthion</td><td>0.2</td><td>mg/kg</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td><td>< 0.2</td></th<>	Fenthion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl azinphos 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Merphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Methyl parathion 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Methyl azinphos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Mevinphos 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 Naled 0.5 mg/kg < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 Phorate 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 Ronnel 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 Tokuthion 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 Trichloronate 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 Triphenylphosphate (surr.)1 $\%$ 7175 86 Heavy Metals2 mg/kg 4.1 4.7 4.9 Cadmium 0.4 mg/kg < 0.4 < 0.4 < 0.4 Chromium5 mg/kg 32 < 5 6.3 Lead5 mg/kg 8.2 < 5 < 5 Mercury 0.1 mg/kg 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 Nickel5 mg/kg < 110 < 5 12	Methyl parathion	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Naled 0.5 mg/kg < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.5 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.4 < 0.4 < 0.4 < 0.4 < 0.4 < 0.4 <	Nevinpnos	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Photate 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Naled	0.5	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	< 0.5
Ronnel 0.2 rig/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2	Poppol	0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Tricklumin 0.2 mg/kg < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.2 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1		0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Inclusionate 0.2 ing/kg 2.0.2 2.0.4 <th2.0.4< th=""></th2.0.4<>		0.2	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	< 0.2
Higheryphosphate (surf.) 1 76 71 75 86 Heavy Metals 2 mg/kg 4.1 4.7 4.9 Arsenic 2 mg/kg <0.4 mg/kg <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 <0.		0.2	111g/Kg %	< 0.2 71	< 0.2 75	< 0.2
Arsenic 2 mg/kg 4.1 4.7 4.9 Cadmium 0.4 mg/kg < 0.4	Heavy Metals	I	70	11	15	00
Alsolito 2 ing/kg 4.1 4.1 4.3 Cadmium 0.4 mg/kg <0.4	Arsenic	2	ma/ka	4.1	47	4.9
Oddminian 0.4 mg/kg Cover <	Cadmium	0.4	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	- 0.4
Copper 5 mg/kg 32 <5 6.3 Lead 5 mg/kg 8.2 <5	Chromium	5	ma/ka	19	19	18
Lead 5 mg/kg 8.2 < 5 < 5 Mercury 0.1 mg/kg 0.1 < 0.1	Copper	5	ma/ka	32	< 5	6.3
Mercury 0.1 mg/kg 0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1	Lead	5	ma/ka	8.2	< 5	< 5
Nickel 5 mg/kg < 5 < 5 < 5 Zinc 5 mg/kg 110 < 5	Mercury	0.1	mg/ka	0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1
Zinc 5 mg/kg 110 <5 12	Nickel	5	mg/ka	< 5	< 5	< 5
	Zinc	5	mg/kg	110	< 5	12



			ж.
17	-	~	۰.
		~	
		5-	۰.
		0	

Client Sample ID			SS09/0.0	SS10/0.0	QC1
Sample Matrix			Soil	Soil	Soil
Eurofins mgt Sample No.			M15-Ap16253	M15-Ap16254	M15-Ap16255
Date Sampled			Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015	Apr 20, 2015
Test/Reference	LOR	Unit			
% Moisture	0.1	%	3.5	2.9	1.5



Sample History

Where samples are submitted/analysed over several days, the last date of extraction and analysis is reported. A recent review of our LIMS has resulted in the correction or clarification of some method identifications. Due to this, some of the method reference information on reports has changed. However, no substantive change has been made to our laboratory methods, and as such there is no change in the validity of current or previous results (regarding both quality and NATA accreditation).

If the date and time of sampling are not provided, the Laboratory will not be responsible for compromised results should testing be performed outside the recommended holding time.

Description	Testing Site	Extracted	Holding Time
Eurofins mgt Suite 14			
Organochlorine Pesticides	Melbourne	Apr 23, 2015	14 Day
- Method: USEPA 8081 Organochlorine Pesticides			
Organophosphorous Pesticides	Melbourne	Apr 23, 2015	14 Day
- Method: USEPA 8270 Organophosphorus Pesticides			
Metals M8	Melbourne	Apr 23, 2015	28 Day
- Method: USEPA 6010/6020 Heavy Metals & USEPA 7470/71 Mercury			
% Moisture	Melbourne	Apr 22, 2015	14 Day
- Method: LTM-GEN-7080 Moisture			

	mgt
S	-
fin	
ILO	
e	

Melbourne 3-5 Kingston Town Close Oakleigh VIC 3166 Phone : +61 3 8564 5000 NATA # 1261 Site # 1254 & 14271 web : www.eurofins.com.au e.mail: EnviroSales@eurofins.com.au ABN - 50 005 085 521

Sydney Unit F3, Building F 16 Mars Road Lane Cove West NSW 2066 Phone : +61 2 9900 8400 NATA # 1261 Site # 18217

Brisbane 1/21 Smallwood Place Murarrie QLD 4172 Phone: +61 7 3902 4600 NATA # 1261 Site # 20794

Eurofins | mgt Client Manager: Natalie Krasselt Apr 22, 2015 9:54 AM Apr 29, 2015 5 Day Brad Palmer Priority: Contact Name: Received: Due: 08 6272 0200 08 9285 8444 J1501070 454842 Order No.: Report #: Phone: Fax: Mo Eu Me Galt Environment P/L 2/39 Flynn St Wembley WA 6014 BALDIVIS J1501070 Company Name: Address: Project Name: Project ID:

		Sample Detail			etals M8	urofins mgt Suite 14	oisture Set
Laboratory whe	ere analysis is co	nducted					
Melbourne Lab	oratory - NATA S	ite # 1254 & 14	271		Х	×	Х
Sydney Labora	tory - NATA Site	# 18217					
Brisbane Labo	ratory - NATA Sit	e # 20794					
External Labor	atory						
Sample ID	Sample Date	Sampling Time	Matrix	LAB ID			
SS01/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16245	×	×	×
SS02/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16246	×	×	×
SS03/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16247	×	×	×
SS04/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16248	×	×	×
SS05/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16249	×	×	×
SS06/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16250	×	×	×
SS07/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16251	×	×	\times
SS08/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16252	×	×	×
SS09/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16253	×	×	×

Page 7 of 15 Report Number: 454842-S

	mgt
SI	-
fir	
urc	
G	

Aelbourne 3-5 Kingston Town Close 3-3 Kingston Town Close 3-4 Kingston Town Close 3-4 Kingston Town Close 3-4 Kingsto Town Close 3-4 King

Sydney Dint F3, building F 16 Mars Road Lane Cove West NSW 2066 Phone : +61 2 9900 8407 NATA # 1261 Stler # 18217

Brisbane 1/21 Smallwood Place Murarie OLD 4172 Phone: +61 7 3902 4600 NATA # 1261 Site # 20794

Company Name: Address:	Galt Environment P/L 2/39 Flynn St	Order No.: Report #:	J1501070 454842	Received: Due:	Apr 22, 2015 9:54 AM Apr 29, 2015	
	Wembley WA 6014	Phone: Fax:	08 6272 0200 08 9285 8444	Priority: Contact Name:	5 Day Brad Palmer	
Project Name: Project ID:	BALDIVIS J1501070				:	
				Eurofins mgt	Client Manager: Natalie Krasselt	
	Metals M8	Moisture Set Eurofins mgt Suite				

		Sample Detail				Suite 14		
Laboratory whe	ere analysis is co	onducted						
Melbourne Lab	oratory - NATA (Site # 1254 & 14	271		×	×	×	
Sydney Labora	tory - NATA Site	: # 18217						
Brisbane Labor	atory - NATA Si	te # 20794						
External Labora	itory							
SS10/0.0	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16254	×	Х	×	
QC1	Apr 20, 2015		Soil	M15-Ap16255	×	×	×	



Eurofins | mgt Internal Quality Control Review and Glossary

General

- 1. Laboratory QC results for Method Blanks, Duplicates, Matrix Spikes, and Laboratory Control Samples are included in this QC report where applicable. Additional QC data may be available on request.
- 2. All soil results are reported on a dry basis, unless otherwise stated.
- 3. Actual LORs are matrix dependant. Quoted LORs may be raised where sample extracts are diluted due to interferences.
- 4. Results are uncorrected for matrix spikes or surrogate recoveries.
- 5. SVOC analysis on waters are performed on homogenised, unfiltered samples, unless noted otherwise.
- 6. Samples were analysed on an 'as received' basis. 7. This report replaces any interim results previously issued.

Holding Times

Please refer to 'Sample Preservation and Container Guide' for holding times (QS3001).

For samples received on the last day of holding time, notification of testing requirements should have been received at least 6 hours prior to sample receipt deadlines as stated on the Sample Receipt Advice.

If the Laboratory did not receive the information in the required timeframe, and regardless of any other integrity issues, suitably qualified results may still be reported. Holding times apply from the date of sampling, therefore compliance to these may be outside the laboratory's control.

**NOTE: pH duplicates are reported as a range NOT as RPD

UNITS

 mg/kg: milligrams per Kilogram
 mg/l: milligrams per litre

 ug/l: micrograms per litre
 ppm: Parts per million

 ppb: Parts per billion
 %: Percentage

 org/100ml: Organisms per 100 millilitres
 NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units

 MPN/100mL: Most Probable Number of organisms per 100 millilitres
 NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units

TERMS

Dry	Where a moisture has been determined on a solid sample the result is expressed on a dry basis.
LOR	Limit of Reporting.
SPIKE	Addition of the analyte to the sample and reported as percentage recovery.
RPD	Relative Percent Difference between two Duplicate pieces of analysis.
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample - reported as percent recovery
CRM	Certified Reference Material - reported as percent recovery
Method Blank	In the case of solid samples these are performed on laboratory certified clean sands.
	In the case of water samples these are performed on de-ionised water.
Surr - Surrogate	The addition of a like compound to the analyte target and reported as percentage recovery.
Duplicate	A second piece of analysis from the same sample and reported in the same units as the result to show comparison.
Batch Duplicate	A second piece of analysis from a sample outside of the clients batch of samples but run within the laboratory batch of analysis.
Batch SPIKE	Spike recovery reported on a sample from outside of the clients batch of samples but run within the laboratory batch of analysis.
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
APHA	American Public Health Association
ASLP	Australian Standard Leaching Procedure (AS4439.3)
TCLP	Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure
COC	Chain of Custody
SRA	Sample Receipt Advice
CP	Client Parent - QC was performed on samples pertaining to this report
NCP	Non-Client Parent - QC performed on samples not pertaining to this report, QC is representative of the sequence or batch that client samples were analysed within
TEQ	Toxic Equivalency Quotient

QC - ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA

RPD Duplicates: Global RPD Duplicates Acceptance Criteria is 30% however the following acceptance guidelines are equally applicable:

Results <10 times the LOR : No Limit

Results between 10-20 times the LOR : RPD must lie between 0-50%

Results >20 times the LOR : RPD must lie between 0-30%

Surrogate Recoveries : Recoveries must lie between 50-150% - Phenols 20-130%.

QC DATA GENERAL COMMENTS

- 1. Where a result is reported as a less than (<), higher than the nominated LOR, this is due to either matrix interference, extract dilution required due to interferences or contaminant levels within the sample, high moisture content or insufficient sample provided.
- 2. Duplicate data shown within this report that states the word "BATCH" is a Batch Duplicate from outside of your sample batch, but within the laboratory sample batch at a 1:10 ratio. The Parent and Duplicate data shown is not data from your samples.
- 3. Organochlorine Pesticide analysis where reporting LCS data, Toxophene & Chlordane are not added to the LCS.
- 4. Organochlorine Pesticide analysis where reporting Spike data, Toxophene is not added to the Spike.
- 5. Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons where reporting Spike & LCS data, a single spike of commercial Hydrocarbon products in the range of C12-C30 is added and it's Total Recovery is reported in the C10-C14 cell of the Report.
- 6. pH and Free Chlorine analysed in the laboratory Analysis on this test must begin within 30 minutes of sampling. Therefore laboratory analysis is unlikely to be completed within holding time. Analysis will begin as soon as possible after sample receipt.
- 7. Recovery Data (Spikes & Surrogates) where chromatographic interference does not allow the determination of Recovery the term "INT" appears against that analyte.
- 8. Polychlorinated Biphenyls are spiked only using Arochlor 1260 in Matrix Spikes and LCS's.
- 9. For Matrix Spikes and LCS results a dash " -" in the report means that the specific analyte was not added to the QC sample.
- 10. Duplicate RPD's are calculated from raw analytical data thus it is possible to have two sets of data.



Quality Control Results

Test	Units	Result 1		Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Method Blank			· · ·			
Organochlorine Pesticides						
Chlordanes - Total	mg/kg	< 0.1		0.1	Pass	
4.4'-DDD	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
4.4'-DDE	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
4.4'-DDT	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
a-BHC	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Aldrin	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
b-BHC	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
d-BHC	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Dieldrin	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endrin	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Endrin ketone	mg/kg	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Heptachlor	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Methoxychlor	ma/ka	< 0.05		0.05	Pass	
Toxaphene	ma/ka	< 1		1	Pass	
Method Blank		••	I I		1 400	
Organophosphorous Pesticides						
Bolstar	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Chlorovrifos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Demeton-Q	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Diazinon	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Dichloryos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Disulfaton	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Ethion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Ethoprop	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Fenitrothion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Fensulfothion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Fenthion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Merohos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Methyl azinnhos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Methyl parathion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Mevinnhos	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Naled	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.5	Pass	
Phorate	ma/ka	< 0.0		0.2	Pass	
Ronnel	mg/kg	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Tokuthion	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Trichloropate	ma/ka	< 0.2		0.2	Pass	
Method Blank	ing/itg	< 0.Z		0.2	1 035	
Heavy Metals						
Arsenic	ma/ka	< 2		2	Pass	
Cadmium	ma/ka	< 0.4		0.4	Pass	
Chromium	mg/kg	< 5		5	Pass	
Copper	mg/kg	< 5		5	Pass	
Lead	ma/ka	< 5		5	Pass	
			1 1	, v		



Test			Units	Result 1		Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Mercury			mg/kg	< 0.1		0.1	Pass	
Nickel			mg/kg	< 5		5	Pass	
Zinc			mg/kg	< 5		5	Pass	
LCS - % Recovery								
Organochlorine Pesticides								
4.4'-DDD			%	98		70-130	Pass	
4.4'-DDE			%	95		70-130	Pass	
4.4'-DDT			%	88		70-130	Pass	
a-BHC			%	126		70-130	Pass	
Aldrin			%	95		70-130	Pass	
b-BHC			%	111		70-130	Pass	
d-BHC			%	97		70-130	Pass	
Dieldrin			%	96		70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan I			%	94		70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan II			%	98		70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate			%	104		70-130	Pass	
Endrin			%	90		70-130	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde			%	99		70-130	Pass	
Endrin ketone			%	105		70-130	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)			%	87		70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor			%	96		70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide			%	94		70-130	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene			%	91		70-130	Pass	
Methoxychlor			%	82		70-130	Pass	
LCS - % Recovery								
Organophosphorous Pesticides								
Diazinon			%	83		70-130	Pass	
Ethion			%	102		70-130	Pass	
Fenitrothion			%	81		70-130	Pass	
Methyl parathion			%	82		70-130	Pass	
Mevinphos			%	92		70-130	Pass	
LCS - % Recovery								
Heavy Metals								
Arsenic			%	80		80-120	Pass	
Cadmium			%	95		80-120	Pass	
Chromium			%	96		80-120	Pass	
Copper			%	98		80-120	Pass	
Lead			%	98		80-120	Pass	
Mercury			%	101		75-125	Pass	
Nickel			%	100		80-120	Pass	
Zinc			%	98		80-120	Pass	
Test	Lab Sample ID	QA	Units	Result 1		Acceptance	Pass	Qualifying
Spika - % Pacavary	-	Source				Limits	Limits	Code
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1		1		
4 4'-DDD	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	88		70-130	Pass	
4 4'-DDF	M15-Ap16240	CP	%	80		70-130	Pase	
4.4'-DDT	M15-Ap10240		/0	82		70-130	Pass	
a-BHC	M15-An16246	CP	/u 0/2	92		70-120	Page	
Aldrin	M15-Ap10240	CP	/u 0/2	81 81		70-130	Page	
h-BHC	M15-Ap10240	CP	/u 0/_	20		70-130	Pass	
d-BHC	M15-Ap10240	CP	/u 0/_	8/		70-130	Pass	
Dieldrin	M15-Ap10240		/0	04 97		70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan I	M15-Ap10240		/0	Q1		70-130	Pass	
Endosulfan II	M15-Ap10240		/0	85		70-130	Pass	
	W110-Ap10240		/0	00	I	10-130	F d 33	



Test	Lab Sample ID	QA Source	Units	Result 1			Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Endosulfan sulphate	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	94			70-130	Pass	
Endrin	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	83			70-130	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	86			70-130	Pass	
Endrin ketone	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	95			70-130	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	74			70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	84			70-130	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	87			70-130	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	78			70-130	Pass	
Methoxychlor	M15-Ap16246	CP	%	85			70-130	Pass	
Spike - % Recovery									
Organophosphorous Pesticides				Result 1					
Diazinon	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	90			70-130	Pass	
Ethion	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	73			70-130	Pass	
Fenitrothion	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	71			70-130	Pass	
Methyl parathion	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	72			70-130	Pass	
Mevinphos	M15-Ap16250	CP	%	90			70-130	Pass	
Spike - % Recovery									
Heavy Metals				Result 1					
Arsenic	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	78			75-125	Pass	
Cadmium	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	97			75-125	Pass	
Chromium	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	97			75-125	Pass	
Copper	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	103			75-125	Pass	
Lead	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	98			75-125	Pass	
Mercury	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	85			70-130	Pass	
Nickel	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	99			75-125	Pass	
Zinc	M15-Ap16251	CP	%	85			75-125	Pass	
Test	Lab Sample ID	QA Source	Units	Result 1			Acceptance Limits	Pass Limits	Qualifying Code
Duplicate									
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Chlordanes - Total	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDD	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDE	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDT	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
a-BHC	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Aldrin	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
b-BHC	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
d-BHC	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Dieldrin	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan I	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan II	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin ketone	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Methoxychlor	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Toxaphene	M15-Ap16245	CP	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	<1	30%	Pass	



Duplicate									
Organophosphorous Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Bolstar	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Chlorpyrifos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Demeton-O	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Diazinon	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Dichlorvos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Disulfoton	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Ethion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Ethoprop	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Fenitrothion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Fensulfothion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Fenthion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Merphos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Methyl azinphos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Methyl parathion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Mevinphos	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Naled	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.5	< 0.5	<1	30%	Pass	
Phorate	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Ronnel	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Tokuthion	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Trichloronate	M15-Ap16249	CP	mg/kg	< 0.2	< 0.2	<1	30%	Pass	
Duplicate				I	T			1	
Heavy Metals				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Arsenic	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	3.7	3.2	17	30%	Pass	
Cadmium	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	<1	30%	Pass	
Chromium	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	15	15	2.0	30%	Pass	
Copper	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	17	17	1.0	30%	Pass	
Lead	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	6.8	6.2	10	30%	Pass	
Mercury	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
Nickel	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	<1	30%	Pass	
Zinc	M15-Ap16250	CP	mg/kg	42	46	7.0	30%	Pass	
Duplicate				1					
Heavy Metals				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Arsenic	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	2.9	2.6	10	30%	Pass	
Cadmium	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	< 0.4	< 0.4	<1	30%	Pass	
Chromium	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	16	16	1.0	30%	Pass	
Copper	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	19	19	<1	30%	Pass	
Lead	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	6.3	6.7	6.0	30%	Pass	
Mercury	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
Nickel	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	< 5	< 5	<1	30%	Pass	
Zinc	M15-Ap16251	CP	mg/kg	41	45	9.0	30%	Pass	
Duplicate						_	[
				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
% Moisture	M15-Ap16252	CP	%	3.7	3.2	12	30%	Pass	
Duplicate							[
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Chlordanes - Total	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.1	< 0.1	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDD	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDE	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
4.4'-DDT	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
a-BHC	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Aldrin	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
b-BHC	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
d-BHC	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Dieldrin	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	



Duplicate									
Organochlorine Pesticides				Result 1	Result 2	RPD			
Endosulfan I	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan II	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endosulfan sulphate	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin aldehyde	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Endrin ketone	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
g-BHC (Lindane)	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Heptachlor epoxide	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Hexachlorobenzene	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Methoxychlor	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 0.05	< 0.05	<1	30%	Pass	
Toxaphene	M15-Ap16255	CP	mg/kg	< 1	< 1	<1	30%	Pass	
eurofins mgt

Comments

Sample Integrity	
Custody Seals Intact (if used)	N/A
Attempt to Chill was evident	Yes
Sample correctly preserved	Yes
Appropriate sample containers have been used	Yes
Sample containers for volatile analysis received with minimal headspace	Yes
Samples received within HoldingTime	Yes
Some samples have been subcontracted	No

Authorised By

Natalie Krasselt Carroll Lee Emily Rosenberg Huong Le Analytical Services Manager Senior Analyst-Organic (VIC) Senior Analyst-Metal (VIC) Senior Analyst-Inorganic (VIC)

Glenn Jackson National Laboratory Manager

Final report - this Report replaces any previously issued Report

- Indicates Not Requested

* Indicates NATA accreditation does not cover the performance of this service

Uncertainty data is available on request

Eurofins | mgt shall not be liable for loss, cost, damages or expenses incurred by the client, or any other person or company, resulting from the use of any information or interpretation given in this report. In no case shall Eurofins | mgt be liable for consequential damages including, but not limited to, lost profits, damages for failure to meet deadlines and lost production arising from this report. This document shall not be reproduced except in full and relates only to the items tested. Unless indicated otherwise, the tests were performed on the samples as received.



Appendix G: Understanding Your Report



UNDERSTANDING YOUR GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

GALT FORM PMP11 Rev1

1. EXPECTATIONS OF A GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

This document has been prepared to clarify what is and is not provided in your geotechnical report. It is intended to inform you of what your realistic expectations of this report should be and how to manage your risks associated with geotechnical conditions.

Geotechnical engineering is a less exact science than other engineering disciplines. We include this information to help you understand where our responsibilities as geotechnical engineers begin and end, to help the client recognise his responsibilities and risks. You should read and understand this information. Please contact us if you do not understand the report or this explanation. We have extensive experience in a wide variety of geotechnical problems and we can help you to manage your risk.

2. THIS REPORT RELATES TO PROJECT-SPECIFIC CONDITIONS

This report was developed for a unique set of project-specific conditions to meet the needs of the nominated client. It took into account the following :

- ✤ The project objectives as we understood them and as described in this report;
- ✤ the specific site mentioned in this report; and
- the current and proposed development at the site.

It should not be used for any purpose other than that indicated in the report. You should not rely on this geotechnical report if any of the following conditions apply:

- the report was not written for you;
- the report was not written for the site specific to your development;
- the report was not written for your project (including a development at the correct site but other than that listed in the report); or
- the report was written before significant changes occurred at the site (such as a development or a change in ground conditions).

You should always inform us of changes in the proposed project (including minor changes) and request an assessment of their impact.

Where we are not informed of developments relevant to your geotechnical engineering report, we cannot be held responsible or liable for problems that may arise as a consequence.

Where design is to be carried out by others using information provided by us, we recommend that we be involved in the design process by being engaged for consultation with other members of the design team and by being able to review work produced by other members of the design team which relies on geotechnical information provided in our report.



3. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING LOGS

Our reports often include logs of intrusive and non-intrusive geotechnical investigation techniques. These logs are based on our interpretation of field data and laboratory results. The logs should only be read in conjunction with the report they were issued with and should not be re-drawn for inclusion in other documents not prepared by us.

4. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE

We have prepared this report for use by the client. This report must be regarded as confidential to the client and the client's professional advisors. We do not accept any responsibility for contents of this document from any party other than the nominated client. We take no responsibility for any damages suffered by a third party as a consequence of any decisions or actions they may make based on this report. Any reliance or decisions made by a third party based on this report are the responsibility of the third party and not of us.

5. CHANGE IN SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

The geotechnical recommendations in this report are based on the ground conditions that existed at the time when the study was undertaken. Changes in ground conditions can occur in numerous ways including as a result of anthropogenic events (such as construction on or adjacent to the site) or natural events (such as floods, groundwater fluctuations or earthquakes). We should be consulted prior to use of this report so that we can comment on its reliability. It is important to note that where ground conditions have changed, additional sampling, testing or analysis may be required to fully assess the changed conditions.

6. SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION

Practical constraints mean that we cannot know every minute detail about the subsurface conditions at a particular site. We use engineering judgement to form an opinion about the subsurface conditions at the site. Some variation to our evaluated conditions is likely and significant variation is possible. Accordingly, our report should not be considered as final as it is developed from engineering judgement and opinion.

The most effective means of dealing with unanticipated ground conditions is to engage us for construction support. We can only finalise our recommendations by observing actual subsurface conditions encountered during construction. We cannot accept liability for a report's recommendations if we cannot observe construction.

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Unless specifically mentioned otherwise in our report, environmental considerations are not included. The investigation techniques used by us in developing our report differ from those for an environmental investigation. Our report was not prepared with environmental considerations in mind and it is the client's responsibility to satisfy himself that environmental considerations have been taken into account for the site. If you require guidance on how to proceed on evaluating environmental risk at the site, we can provide further information and contacts.

O:\Administration\Standard Forms and Documents\PMP11 Understanding your Geotechnical Engineering Report.docx



UNDERSTANDING YOUR ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

GALT FORM PMP29 Rev1

1. EXPECTATIONS OF AN ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

This document has been prepared to clarify what is and is not provided in your environmental report. It is intended to inform you of what your realistic expectations of this report should be and how to manage your risks associated with environmental conditions. You should read and understand this information. Please contact us if you do not understand the report or this explanation. We have extensive experience in a wide variety of environmental problems and we can help you to manage your risk.

2. THIS REPORT RELATES TO PROJECT-SPECIFIC CONDITIONS

This report was developed for a unique set of project-specific conditions to meet the needs of the nominated client. It took into account the following:

- The project objectives as we understood them and as described in this report;
- the specific site mentioned in this report; and
- the current and proposed development at the site.

It should not be used for any purpose other than that indicated in the report. You should not rely on this report if any of the following conditions apply:

- the report was not written for you;
- the report was not written for the site specific to your development;
- the report was not written for your project (including a development at the correct site but other than that listed in the report); or
- the report was written before significant changes occurred at the site (such as a development or a change in ground conditions).

You should always inform us of changes in the proposed project (including minor changes) and request an assessment of their impact.

Where we are not informed of developments relevant to your environmental report, we cannot be held responsible or liable for problems that may arise as a consequence.

Where design is to be carried out by others using information provided by us, we recommend that we be involved in the project planning process by being engaged for consultation with members of the project team and by being able to review work produced by other members of the project team which relies on environmental information provided in our report.



3. ENVIRONMENTAL LOGS

Our reports often include logs of intrusive and non-intrusive environmental investigation techniques. These logs are based on our interpretation of field data and laboratory results. The logs should only be read in conjunction with the report they were issued with and should not be re-drawn for inclusion in other documents not prepared by us.

4. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE

We have prepared this report for use by the client. This report must be regarded as confidential to the client and the client's professional advisors. We do not accept any responsibility for contents of this document from any party other than the nominated client. We take no responsibility for any damages suffered by a third party as a consequence of any decisions or actions they may make based on this report. Any reliance or decisions made by a third party based on this report are the responsibility of the third party and not of us.

5. CHANGE IN SITE CONDITIONS

The environmental recommendations in this report are based on the site conditions that existed at the time when the study was undertaken. Changes in site conditions can occur in numerous ways including as a result of anthropogenic events (such as potentially contaminating activities or action on or adjacent to the site) or natural events (such as floods, groundwater fluctuations or earthquakes). We should be consulted prior to use of this report so that we can comment on its reliability. It is important to note that where site conditions have changed, additional sampling, testing or analysis may be required to fully characterise the changed conditions.

O:\Administration\Standard Forms and Documents\PMP29 Understanding your Environmental Report.docx

appendix four: groundwater contours

Pritchard Francis

Perth Groundwater Atlas - Groundwater contours

appendix five: acid sulphate soils

Pritchard Francis



appendix six: dial-before-you-dig information



APA Group

DBYD Enquiry Response

For your immediate information **'THERE IS AN APA HIGH PRESSURE NATURAL GAS TRANSMISSION PIPELINE'** in the area of your proposed works. Please **do not** proceed until the next steps below are completed.

Date:	19/02/2015

From: Land Officer, APA group



Phone:	1800 103 452
Email:	HELM@apa.com.au
To:	Mr Lachlan Harris
Company:	Pritchard Francis
Phone:	0891928015
Email:	lachlan.h@pfeng.com.au
Fax:	0891928038
RE:	
DBYD Seq No:	44003106

70850

Scale: 1: 50000

0.6km

Ó

Address:	Mcdonald Road Ba	ldivis
Map:	Streetsmart	:611E1

Next step:

Please contact an APA Group Lands Officer immediately on **1800 103 452** to discuss the exact nature and extent of your works.

Utility ID:

There is to be **NO ATTEMPT TO PHYSICALLY LOCATE THE PIPELINE**. Although the route of the pipeline is marked out by warning signs it shall not be inferred that the pipe is buried under and in a straight line between signs. No depths on the pipeline should be assumed. Only an **APA representative** can locate the pipeline and is required to be scheduled for locations. APA Group advises that information supplied in this response is only valid for 30 days.

Damage to a high pressure natural gas transmission pipeline could result in:-

- possible explosion and fire;
- possible injury or loss of life;
- substantial repair and gas restoration liability damage costs;
- gas escaping at pressures of up to 15,000 kPa;
- loss of gas to thousands of customers.

Thank you for your interest in maintaining a safe and secure gas pipeline network.

Please note that this is **not** an approval to carry out work within APA Group's pipeline easement.

APA Group Transmission does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the map and does not make any warranty about the data. APA Group Transmission is not under any liability to the user for any loss or damage (including consequential loss or damage) which the user may suffer resulting from the use of this map.



Legend

N DBYD Requests

N APA Transmission Pipelines Scale: 1: 10000

APA DBYD Transmissions Project Dial Before You Dig Enquiry DATE: 19/02/2015 SEQUENCE NO: 44003106

DATA SOURCE:

Pipeline Data Copyright APA Group and NT Gas Distribution Pty. Ltd., Property Parcels Copyright respective State Governments, mapping data Copyright OpenStreetMap contributors and Google ©2014, DBYD Dig Location provided by DBYD.



Please note that this is **not** an approval to carry out work within APA Group's pipeline easement. For further information please call APA on 1800 103 452.

APA Group Transmission does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the map and does not make any warranty about the data. APA Group Transmission is not under any liability to the user for any loss or damage (including consequential loss or damage) which the user may suffer resulting from the use of this map.





Telstra plans and information supplied are valid for 60 days from the date of issue. If this timeframe has elapsed, please reapply for plans.



WARNING - Due to the nature of Telstra underground plant and the age of some cables and records, it is impossible to ascertain the precise location of all Telstra plant from Telstra's plans. The accuracy and/or completeness of the information supplied can not be guaranteed as property boundaries, depths and other natural landscape features may change over time, and accordingly the plans are indicative only. Telstra does not warrant or hold out that its plans are accurate and accepts no responsibility for any inaccuracy shown on the plans.

It is your responsibility to locate Telstra's underground plant by careful hand pot-holing prior to any excavation in the vicinity and to exercise due care during that excavation.

Please read and understand the information supplied in the duty of care statement attached with the Telstra plans. TELSTRA WILL SEEK COMPENSATION FOR LOSS CAUSED BY DAMAGE TO ITS PLANT.

Telstra plans and information supplied are valid for 60 days from the date of issue. If this timeframe has elapsed, please reapply for plans.













appendix seven: feature survey







Pritchard Francis Pty Ltd

Level 1 430 Roberts Road SUBIACO WA 6008 PO Box 2150 SUBIACO WA 6904

Tel: (08) 9382 5111 admin@pfeng.com.au

www.pfeng.com.au



Suite 4 2A MacPherson Street BROOME WA 6725 PO Box 3634 BROOME WA 6725

Tel: (08) 9192 8015 broome@pfeng.com.au



Level 1 430 Roberts Road SUBIACO WA 6008 PO Box 2150 SUBIACO WA 6904

Tel: (08) 9382 5111 admin@pfeng.com.au

www.pfeng.com.au



Suite 4 2A MacPherson Street BROOME WA 6725 PO Box 3634 BROOME WA 6725

Tel: (08) 9192 8015 broome@pfeng.com.au

Appendix 7

Traffic Assessment

This page has been left blank intentionally.



CONSULTING CIVIL & TRAFFIC ENGINEERS, RISK MANAGERS.



Project:	16 McDonald Road, Baldivis
	Transport Assessment
Client:	Defence Housing Australia
Author:	Angela Wetton
Signature:	A

Date: 05/09/2016

 1 ST. FLOOR, 908 ALBANY HIGHWAY, EAST VICTORIA PARK WA 6101.

 PHONE
 +61 8 9355 1300

 FACSIMILE
 +61 8 9355 1922

 EMAIL
 admin@ shawmac.com.au



Document Status

Version No.	Author	Reviewed by	Date	Document status	Signature	Date
0	A Wetton	S Millen	15/01/15	Draft	P	15/01/15
1	A Wetton	S Millen	9/02/15	Review	A	9/02/15
2	A Wetton	E Wilks	05/09/16	Design Change	A	05/09/16

SHAWMAC PTY LTD ABN 51 828 614 001 PO BOX 937 SOUTH PERTH WA 6951 T: + 61 8 9355 1300 F: + 61 8 9355 1922 E: admin@shawmac.com.au © Shawmac Pty. Ltd. 2015

Z:Uobs Active 2015\T&T - Traffic and Parking\DHA_Baldivis LSP_TA_1512020\Report\DHA_Baldivis LSP_TA_V2.docx



CONTENTS

1. Summary	1
2. Introduction and Background	2
2.1. General	2
2.2. Transport Statement Objective	2
2.3. Site Location	2
2.4. Surrounding Major Attractors and Generators	3
3. Existing Situation	5
3.1. Land Use	5
3.2. Zoning	5
3.3. Existing Road Network	5
3.4. Road Hierarchy vs Actual Flows	6
3.5. Public Transport Facilities	6
3.6. Existing Pedestrian and Cycling Network	7
4. Development Proposal	8
4.1. Subdivision Proposal	8
4.2. Proposed Land Use	8
4.3. Changes to External Transport Networks	8
5. Transport Assessment	9
5.1. Assessment Period	9
5.2. Traffic Generation	9
5.3. Traffic Distribution	10
5.4. Design Traffic Flows	10
5.5. External Traffic Flows	11
6. Roads and Intersections	12
6.1. Proposed Internal Transport Networks	12
6.2. Road Hierarchy and Reserves	12
6.2.1. Intersection Analysis	13



Consulting Civil and Traffic Engineers, Risk Managers

6.3. Pedestrian/ Cyclist Access	14
6.4. Public Transport Access	14
6.5. Safety issues	15
6.6. Noise	15
7. Conclusions	16
Appendix A – Subdivision Concept Plan	17
Appendix B - Fifty Road Traffic Counts	19
Appendix C - Road Hierarchy Criteria	22



FIGURES

Figure 1 - Regional Context	2
Figure 2 - Local Context	3
Figure 3 - Attractors and Generators	4
Figure 4 - Extract of City of Rockingham TPS 2	5
Figure 5 - Road Hierarchy (Source: MRWA Road Information Mapping)	6
Figure 6 - Cycling network	7
Figure 7 - Proposed Subdivision Concept Plan	8
Figure 8 - Traffic Assessment Zones (TAZ's)	9
Figure 9 - Future Daily Traffic Volumes	. 10
Figure 10 - Proposed Transport Network	. 12
Figure 11 - Access Street D indicative cross section.	. 13
Figure 12 - Neighbourhood Connector B indicative cross section	. 13
Figure 13 - Suggested Bus Route (Extract from City of Rockingham Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan)	. 15

TABLES

Table 1 - Trip Generation	9
Table 2 - Internal Roads - Future Daily Traffic Volumes	11
Table 3 - Existing Road Network - Predicted Flows	11
Table 4 - Proposed Road Hierarchy and Road Reservations	13
Table 5 - Intersection Analysis Warrants	14



1. Summary

TPG Town Planning has developed a Subdivision Concept Plan on behalf of Defence Housing Australia for 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis. The subject site is located in the City of Rockingham, approximately 7.5 kilometres south-east from the Rockingham Town Centre, and 40 kilometres south of the Perth CBD.

This Transport Assessment has been prepared by Shawmac Pty Ltd to support the Subdivision Concept Plan and outlines the likely impact of the proposed subdivision on network traffic flows, safe access, pedestrian and cycle facilities and local amenity.

The eastern section of subject site is currently zoned "Development" under the City of Rockingham *Town Planning Scheme No 2 (TPS 2).* The subdivision proposes 29 single dwellings with a series of local access roads servicing the properties. The western section of the site is zoned "Rural" under TPS 2 and will accommodate an access road and remain a surplus lot.

McDonald Road forms the eastern boundary to the site, with future urban development to the north, east and south, and rural or bush land to the west. A 4 metre road-reservation widening is proposed for McDonald Road adjacent to the southern section of the subdivision and the ultimate development of the site to the north will include an extension of McDonald Road to Kerosene Lane.

There are currently concrete paths on the eastern side of McDonald Road and on the northern side of Fifty Road, east of McDonald Road. The site is currently serviced by Transperth Route 568, with the nearest stop 800m from the site on Fifty Road. The Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan suggests a bus route between Kerosene Lane and Fifty Road to Baldivis via McDonald Road.

A trip generation and distribution exercise was completed and determined that the proposed subdivision would generate 240 vehicular trips per day. The majority of the trips would permeate through the local road network to McDonald Road north to Kerosene Lane and south to Fifty Road. A future road connection via the eastern access road to the northern subdivision will also permeate through the road network.

The traffic generated was not large enough to warrant any intersection analysis, under the Table 6.1 of Austroads Guide to Traffic Management Part 3 - Traffic Studies and Analysis, and there are no safety or operational issues expected.

A footpath is currently provided on the eastern side of McDonald Street and should be provided on at least one side of each of the internal local roads.

A review of the overall transport proposal for the site did not identify any specific issues that present unacceptable risks to the road user or that cannot be managed through appropriate design protocols.

The proposed development is not likely to generate any traffic noise or result in any vibration issues



2. Introduction and Background

2.1. General

This Transport Assessment has been prepared by Shawmac Pty Ltd, on behalf of Defence Housing Australia to support a Subdivision Concept Plan for 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis, in the City of Rockingham.

2.2. Transport Statement Objective

This Transport Assessment outlines the likely impact of the proposed subdivision on network traffic flows, safe access, pedestrian and cycle facilities and local amenity. As part of the assessment, Shawmac considered the likely traffic demand that would be generated through the proposed development.

The assessment considers aspects associated with:

- Generation of traffic including impacts on roads;
- Integration with the surrounding land uses;
- Use of public and other transport modes such as walking and cycling; and
- Safety and access issues.

2.3. Site Location

The subject site is located approximately 44 kilometres south of the Perth CBD and 7.5km south-east of the Rockingham Town Centre. **Figure 1** below shows the broad location of the site.



Figure 1 - Regional Context



The subject site is located on the western side of McDonald Road, approximately 100m north of Fifty Road.

There are rural properties to the north and south, undeveloped bush land to the west and existing and future urban development to the east.

Figure 2 shows the location of the site in the context of the local area.



Figure 2 - Local Context

2.4. Surrounding Major Attractors and Generators

The main attractors and generators expected to influence traffic flows to and from the site include:

- Baldivis Primary School
- Rockingham Town Centre
- Kwinana and surrounding Industrial Areas
- Kwinana Freeway via Mundijong Road
- Local shops and community facilities

Figure 3 shows the location of these attractors and generators with respect to the site.


Consulting Civil and Traffic Engineers, Risk Managers



Figure 3 - Attractors and Generators



3. Existing Situation

3.1. Land Use

The subject site is semi-rural, with a single dwelling and swimming pool, a water tank and three sheds on the western side of the lot. There is cleared land to the west and north of the site with bushland broadly to the west and south beyond the cleared land. New residential development is to the broader east and south of the site.

3.2. Zoning

The subject site is currently zoned "Development" under the City of Rockingham *Town Planning Scheme No 2* (*TPS 2*). A portion of the site is zoned "Rural" under the TPS2 as shown in the extract from the planning scheme in Figure 4.



Figure 4 - Extract of City of Rockingham TPS 2

3.3. Existing Road Network

McDonald Road forms the eastern boundary to the site and provides an access to the existing rural properties and the new subdivisions north of Fifty Road. McDonald Road is classified as an *Access Road* under the MRWA regional hierarchy and has a speed limit of 50 km/hr. In the vicinity of the subject site, McDonald Road is described



as a single undivided carriageway with a 7 metre wide seal and 4 metre wide verges. There is a 2.5 metre wide concrete footpath on the eastern side of the road.

McDonald Road connects with Fifty Road, 85m south of the site with a priority controlled T-intersection.

The road classification for the road network surrounding the proposed development site is shown on Figure 5.



Figure 5 - Road Hierarchy (Source: MRWA Road Information Mapping)

3.4. Road Hierarchy vs Actual Flows

Traffic count data was unavailable for McDonald Road. Based on the lot yield from the ultimate development of the surrounding area, the traffic volume on McDonald Road, adjacent to the site was estimated to be 2,500 vpd. The current traffic volumes are predicted as less than 500 vpd.

3.5. Public Transport Facilities

There are currently no public transport facilities within a 400m walkable catchment of the subject site. The nearest bus service is the Transperth Route 568 which operates between Wanbro Train Station and Baldivis. The closest bus stop is located on Fifty Road, approximately 800 metres from the subject site and is the terminus for the service, which operates through Baldivis south to Warnbro Train Station.



3.6. Existing Pedestrian and Cycling Network

Figure 6 illustrates the existing pedestrian and cycling network in the vicinity of the subject site. Fifty Road is shown on the *Perth Bicycle Network Map* extract as providing a good road riding environment.

There is a 2.5m wide concrete path on the eastern side of McDonald Road and on the northern side of Fifty Road, between McDonald Road and Baldivis Road.



Figure 6 - Cycling network



4. Development Proposal

4.1. Subdivision Proposal

The proposed subdivision concept plan is attached in Appendix A and an extract is shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7 - Proposed Subdivision Concept Plan

4.2. Proposed Land Use

The proposed subdivision as shown in **Figure 7** consists of 29 dwellings and a rural lot (Lot 30). The proposed subdivision is R20 with lot sizes range from 303m² to 490m² with an average lot size of 408m², excluding Lot 30.

4.3. Changes to External Transport Networks

McDonald Road will be extended north to Kerosene Lane as other subdivisions to the north of the site are constructed.

The Metropolitan Region Scheme (MRS) depicts Nairn Drive as a blue road, or other regional road. Nairn Drive is approximately 650m to the east of McDonald Road and will ultimately run north-south between Kerosene Lane and Paganoni Road in Karnup.



5. Transport Assessment

5.1. Assessment Period

The time periods for assessment were chosen based on the full development of the proposed subdivision.

5.2. Traffic Generation

Trip Generation rates were applied using the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) *Trip Generation Manual* 8th Edition.

Assessed generation is shown on Table 1 and is based on Traffic Assessment Zones (TAZ's) shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8 - Traffic Assessment Zones (TAZ's)

Table 1 - Trip Generation

Trip Assessment Zone	Land Use	Dwellings	trips per dwelling	Daily Trips
TAZ 1	R25	10	8	80
TAZ 2	R25	7	8	56
TAZ 3	R25	7	8	56
TAZ 4	R25	5	8	40
TAZ 5	Rural	1	8	8
TOTAL		30		240



5.3. Traffic Distribution

Based on the location and connectivity of the surrounding network and the major attractors / generators discussed in Section 2.4, the following assumptions have been made for the distribution of the site-generated traffic:

- 30% will enter and exit from the north:
 - o 27.5% to and from the north via McDonald Road; and
 - o 2.5% to and from the north via the new internal road connection to the west of the site.
- 70 % will enter and exit from the south via McDonald Road:
 - o 45% to the west via Kerosene Lane towards the Freeway or Baldivis Town Centre; and
 - o 25% to the east via Kerosene Lane towards Rockingham or Baldivis Town Centre.

5.4. Design Traffic Flows

The traffic flows of the network were modelled using QRS II software as shown in **Figure 9**. **Table 2** lists the predicted traffic flows for the internal road network.

in Figure 8.



Figure 9 - Future Daily Traffic Volumes



Road Name.	Predicted Traffic Volumes (vpd)
Road 1	139
Road 2	62
Road 3	15
McDonald Road	+168

Table 2 - Internal Roads - Future Daily Traffic Volumes

5.5. External Traffic Flows

The predicted subdivision traffic flows were added to the estimated volumes of traffic for McDonald Road upon the ultimate development of the surrounding site. This is shown in **Table 3** below.

McDonald Road may require upgrading to a Local Distributor or Neighbourhood Connector when it is extended through to Kerosene Lane.

Table 3 - Existing Road Network - Predicted Flows

Road Name.	Desirable Max. Traffic Volume. (vpd)	Current / Predicted external Traffic Volumes (vpd)	Predicted Traffic Volumes (vpd)	Change in Traffic
McDonald Road	3,000	2,500	2,668	+ 168 vpd
Fifty Road	3,000	2,200	2,368	+ 168 vpd



6. Roads and Intersections

6.1. Proposed Internal Transport Networks

Figure 10 indicates the proposed internal transport routes which have been developed based on the predicted traffic volumes.



Figure 10 - Proposed Transport Network

The intersections of Road 1-McDonald Road; Road 2-McDonald Road; Road 1-Road 3 are recommended as priority-controlled T-intersections. Road 3 is proposed to connect to the future subdivision north of the site. Details regarding signage and design of intersections should be developed during the detailed design phases in consultation with the City of Rockingham.

6.2. Road Hierarchy and Reserves

The road cross section requirements have been based on recommendations contained within Liveable Neighborhoods and the Austroads Guide to Traffic Engineering Practice which is attached in **Appendix C**.



Table 4 - Pro	posed Road Hier	archy and Roa	d Reservations
		anony and noo	a nosoi vanons

Road Name.	Predicted Traffic Volumes (vpd)	Proposed Road Reservation (metres)	Liveable Neighbourhoods Road Classification	Indicative Carriageway Width
Road 1	139	15	Access Street D	7.2 (7.0 – 7.5) metre lane.
Road 2	62	15	Access Street D	5.5 – 6.0 metre lane
Road 3	15	15	Access Street D	7.2 (7.0 – 7.5) metre lane.
McDonald Road	2,668	18	Neighbourhood Connector B	11.2 metres including parking plus shared path on one verge.



Figure 11 - Access Street D indicative cross section.



Figure 12 - Neighbourhood Connector B indicative cross section

6.2.1. Intersection Analysis

Internal peak hour traffic volumes within the development are generally small and as such negligible impacts are predicted. Warrants for analysis for each intersection as shown in Table 6.1 of Austroads Guide to Traffic



Management Part 3, Traffic Studies and Analysis, shown below as **Table 5**, were applied and determined that no intersections required capacity analysis. Peak hour traffic volumes were assumed to be approximately 10% of predicted daily traffic.

Intersection	Hourly volume major road	Hourly volume minor road	Comment.
Warrants as per Table 6.1 of Austroads Guide to Traffic Management Part 3, Traffic Studies and Analysis - Two Lane Major Road Cross Road	400 vph 500 vph 650 vph	250 vph 200 vph 100 vph	Table details flows that initiate intersection analysis. As major flows increase, there is reduced capacity to accept minor flows.
Fifty Road - McDonald Road	220	130	3 way intersection - Analysis not required
McDonald Road - Road 1	260	128	3 way intersection – Analysis not required.
McDonald Road - Road 2	260	<100	3 way intersection – Analysis not required.
All other intersections	<100	<100	Analysis not required.

Table 5 - Intersection Analysis Warrants

6.3. Pedestrian/ Cyclist Access

Footpaths should be provided on at least one side of each of the internal local roads with connections to the established pedestrian and cycling network external to the area as well as to future urban development north and east of the subject site. It is recommended that all footpaths are constructed with a minimum width of 1.5 metres.

Due to the low volumes of traffic and the low speed environment on the internal access roads, on-road cycle lanes are not required and cyclists are able to safely share the roadway with motorised vehicles.

Fifty Road is described as a good road riding environment under the Department of Transport *Cycling Maps*. There is a 2.5m concrete path on the north side of the road, east of McDonald Road however there are no formal facilities from McDonald Road to Mandurah Road in the west for cyclists or pedestrians.

6.4. Public Transport Access

As discussed in Section 3.5, there are limited public transport services in the area. As shown in **Figure 13**, a bus route travelling along McDonald Road was identified in the Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan. It is recommended that the Public Transport Authority review the requirements for this area as urban development progresses.



Consulting Civil and Traffic Engineers, Risk Managers



Figure 13 - Suggested Bus Route (Extract from City of Rockingham Baldivis (North) District Structure Plan)

6.5. Safety issues

A review of the overall transport proposal for the site did not identify any specific issues that present unacceptable risks to the road user or that cannot be managed through appropriate design protocols.

Road hazards are typically present at intersections and may occur due inadequate sight distance, inappropriate geometry or substandard capacity that promotes undesirable and potentially hazardous movements.

For the new roads, the allocation of adequate road reservation width and truncation of corners will generally allow sight distance requirements to be accommodated in the detailed design phase of the project. Geometric standards prescribed by Austroads and Main Roads WA guidelines will ensure that no unacceptable risk is introduced into the road environment. Assessment of the operational performance of intersections undertaken in this study prescribes appropriate geometry and lane allocation to minimise delay and optimise performance.

Detailed design undertaken as part of the Development Application process would need to define at least the following elements:

- Road cross sections including lane widths, on-road cycle lanes, path widths and provisions for people with disabilities;
- Intersection geometries; and
- Pedestrian and cycle facilities (cross sections, crossing requirements and ramps).

6.6. Noise

The proposed development is not likely to generate any traffic noise or result in any vibration issues.



7. Conclusions

With respect to the proposed Subdivision Concept Plan area, the following is concluded;

- Under the ultimate development of the subdivision, the subdivision will yield 29 dwellings with the capacity for an additional dwelling on the rural balance lot;
- The predicted traffic flows are predicted to be 240 vehicles per day;
- Due to low predicted daily traffic, the intersections did not meet the warrants for analysis and are expected to operate satisfactorily;
- All roads within the subdivision area will be constructed as *Access Roads* with cross section details, line marking, intersection control and local area traffic management measures to be addressed during the detailed subdivision design stages;
- Pedestrian and cyclist facilities should be provided within the subdivision and along McDonald Road; and
- Public Transport services should be considered for the area as it becomes increasingly urbanised.



Consulting Civil and Traffic Engineers, Risk Managers

Appendix A – Subdivision Concept Plan



Consulting Civil and Traffic Engineers, Risk Managers

Appendix B - Fifty Road Traffic Counts

Weekly Vehicle Counts

WeeklyVehicle-1136	
Site:	SITE-29.0.0EW
Description:	Fifty Rd - west of McDonald Rd
Filter time:	16:53 Monday, 15 September 2014 => 14:07 Tuesday, 30 September 2014
Scheme:	Vehicle classification (ARX)
Filter:	Cls(1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12) Dir(NESW) Sp(10,160) Headway(>0)

	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun	Average	s
	15 Sep	16 Sep	17 Sep	18 Sep	19 Sep	20 Sep	21 Sep	1 - 5	1 - 7
Hour									
0000-0100	*	5	2	2	б	13	9	3.8	6.2
0100-0200	*	1	4	2	4	13	10	2.8	5.7
0200-0300	*	2	3	5	9	3	9	4.8	5.2
0300-0400	*	6	9	б	5	б	11	6.5	7.2
0400-0500	*	13	17	10	9	б	4	12.3	9.8
0500-0600	*	50	54	57	51	24	4	53.0	40.0
0600-0700	*	94	105	98	107	44	15	101.0	77.2
0700-0800	*	140	136	126	123	65	17	131.3	101.2
0800-0900	*	216<	213<	202<	238<	111	63	217.3<	173.8<
0900-1000	*	145	126	143	124	135	71	134.5	124.0
1000-1100	*	120	135	143	145	153	78	135.8	129.0
1100-1200	*	149	157	152	146	166<	110<	151.0	146.7
1200-1300	*	125	105	145	142	149<	87	129.3	125.5
1300-1400	*	109	107	107	139	133	95	115.5	115.0
1400-1500	*	150	168	159	167	93	87	161.0	137.3
1500-1600	*	215	243<	213	196	114	107<	216.8<	181.3<
1600-1700	31	221<	210	230<	213<	123	71	181.0	157.0
1700-1800	170	199	181	207	186	140	67	188.6	164.3
1800-1900	76	102	111	107	129	95	50	105.0	95.7
1900-2000	48	49	50	67	72	58	23	57.2	52.4
2000-2100	28	39	51	42	43	39	18	40.6	37.1
2100-2200	20	20	23	34	33	23	16	26.0	24.1
2200-2300	10	10	11	12	19	22	7	12.4	13.0
2300-2400	4	10	3	4	16	15	8	7.4	8.6
Totals _									
0000 1000	-1-	1001	1000	1024	1040	1400		1066 0	1650 0
0/00-1900	*	1891	1892	1934	1948	14//	903	1866.8	1650.8
0600-2200	*	2093		21/5	2203	1641	975	2091.7	1841.7
0600-0000	*	2113	2135	2191	2238	10/8	990	2111.5	1007 0
0000-0000	^	2190	2224	22/3	2322	1/43	1037	2194.4	1937.3
M Dook	*	0800	0800	0800	0800	1100	1100		
AM Feak	*	216	213	202	238	166	110		
		210	213	202	0.5	100			
PM Peak	*	1600	1500	1600	1600	1200	1500		
	*	221	243	230	213	149	107		

* - No data.

Weekly Vehicle Counts

WeeklyVehicle-1136	
Site:	SITE-29.0.0EW
Description:	Fifty Rd - west of McDonald Rd
Filter time:	16:53 Monday, 15 September 2014 => 14:07 Tuesday, 30 September 2014
Scheme:	Vehicle classification (ARX)
Filter:	Cls(1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12) Dir(NESW) Sp(10,160) Headway(>0)

	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun	Average	S
	22 Sep	23 Sep	24 Sep	25 Sep	26 Sep	27 Sep	28 Sep	1 - 5	1 - 7
Hour									
0000-0100	б	4	4	5	4	9	7	4.6	5.6
0100-0200	1	2	4	6	5	7	9	3.6	4.9
0200-0300	3	4	1	4	1	8	5	2.6	3.7
0300-0400	5	3	10	6	7	5	7	6.2	6.1
0400-0500	12	15	11	11	10	6	3	11.8	9.7
0500-0600	58	56	60	56	59	13	11	57.8	44.7
0600-0700	100	110	92	109	98	27	11	101.8	78.1
0700-0800	110	130	130	112	125	48	15	121.4	95.7
0800-0900	232<	206<	209<	202<	204<	75	55	210.6<	169.0<
0900-1000	99	120	97	137	126	101	81	115.8	108.7
1000-1100	101	130	113	124	124	120	92	118.4	114.9
1100-1200	126	136	92	144	160	132<	102<	131.6	127.4
1200-1300	120	132	123	138	143	112<	103<	131.2	124.4
1300-1400	118	114	124	119	124	71	78	119.8	106.9
1400-1500	145	177	148	160	196	70	79	165.2	139.3
1500-1600	223<	189	214<	203	211<	89	83	208.0<	173.1<
1600-1700	221	189<	205	202	192	87	89	201.8	169.3
1700-1800	195	187	213	228<	190	77	77	202.6	166.7
1800-1900	86	77	115	130	110	57	40	103.6	87.9
1900-2000	104	51	58	56	51	38	42	64.0	57.1
2000-2100	205	30	47	46	47	37	22	75.0	62.0
2100-2200	70	26	28	24	40	18	24	37.6	32.9
2200-2300	9	17	22	23	20	16	22	18.2	18.4
2300-2400	3	4	8	11	14	17	9	8.0	9.4
Totals _									
0700-1900	1776	1787	1783	1899	1905	1039	894	1830.0	1583.3
0600-2200	2255	2004	2008	2134	2141	1159	993	2108.4	1813.4
0600-0000	2267	2025	2038	2168	2175	1192	1024	2134.6	1841.3
0000-0000	2352	2109	2128	2256	2261	1240	1066	2221.2	1916.0
AM Peak	0800 232	0800 206	0800 209	0800 202	0800 204	1100 132	1100 102		
PM Peak	1500 223	1600 189	1500 214	1700 228	1500 211	1200 112	1200 103		

* - No data.



Appendix C - Road Hierarchy Criteria

Indicative volume.	Liveable Neighbourhoods Classification	MRWA equivalent classification	Indicative Reserve Width.	Indicative Carriageway Width.
50,000.	Primary Distributor.	Primary Distributor		Determined by Main Roads WA
35,000.	Primary Distributor.	Primary Distributor		Determined by Main Roads WA
15,000 to 35,000.	Integrator Arterial A (District Distributor A).	Primary Distributor/ District Distributor A	50.6 – 52.6 metres.	2 x 8.2 metre carriageways including bike lane and 2 x 5.5 metre service roads containing parking.
<25,000	Integrator Arterial A (District Distributor A).	District Distributor A	35.6 metres.	2 x 10.7 metre carriageways including combined on street parking and bike lane.
7,000 to 15,000.	Integrator Arterial B (District Distributor B).	District Distributor A/ District Distributor B	29.2 metres.	2 x 7.5 metre carriageways with on street parking and bike lane.
15,000.	Integrator Arterial B (District Distributor B).	District Distributor B	25.2 metres.	2 x 7.5 metre carriageways with on street parking.
7,000.	Neighborhood Connector A.	Local Distributor	24.4 metres	2 x 7.1 metres including parking, on street bike lane, median plus shared path on one verge.
3,000.	Neighborhood Connector B.	Local Distributor	19.4 metres	11.2 metres including parking plus shared path on one verge.
3,000.	Access Street A (Avenue).	Local Distributor/ Access Road	20 - 24 metres.	2 x 3.5 metre lanes plus indented parking.
3,000.	Access Street B (Wider street).	Local Distributor/ Access Road	16.5 - 18 metres.	9.7 metre lane.
3,000.	Access Street C (Yield or give way street).	Access Road	15.4 - 16 metres.	7.2 (7.0 – 7.5) metre lane.
1,000.	Access Street D (Narrow yield or give way street).	Access Road	14.2 metres.	5.5 – 6.0 metre lane.
150	Access Street D (Narrow yield or give way street).	Access Road	14.2 metres.	3.5 metre lane plus parking indents.
3,000.	Access Street D (Wider street).	Access Road	16.5 - 18 metres.	9.7 metre lane.

Appendix 8

Local Water Management Strategy

This page has been left blank intentionally.



LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDI IS Project Numper EP15-057

Prepared for Defence Housing Australia September 2016 Prepared for Defence Housing Australia

Doc No.: EP15-057(02)--003C DPC | Revision: C

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDILIS

Document Control

DOC NAME	PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD, BALDIVIS LWMS								
DOC NO.	EP16-067(02)-003C DPC								
REVISION	DATE	AUTHOR		REVIEWER					
	∎anuar⊒2016	Shathe Fudge	SF	Dave Coremans	DPC				
1	For issue to prolect team								
1	Fe@ruar@2016	Shaline Fudge	SF	Dave Coremans	DPC				
A	For issue to Cit⊡of Rockingham								
	Lulu2016	Shailne Fudge	SF	Dave Coremans	DPC				
B For issue to Cit⊡of Rockingham									
2 ***** *	SeptemLer 2016	Shaline Fudge	SF	Dave Coremans	DPC				
G	Final including ame	ended Structure Plan							

□ 2016 Emerge Associates All Rights Reserved. CopLright in the □hole and ever□part of this document □elongs to Emerge Associates and ma⊡not □e used_sold_transferred.copied or reproduced in □hole or in part in an⊡manner or form or in or on an□media to an□person □ithout the prior □ritten consent of Emerge Associates

emer

Executive Summary

Defence Housing Australia (the 1proponent') propose to thevelop a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Baldivis A for residential purposes. Lot 1161 'the 'site') is located approximatel 38 km south of Perth Central Business District in ithin the Cit of Rockingham CoR. The site is ound in McDonald Road/e isting up an development to the east and undeveloped landholdings to the north south and lest.

The majority of the bite 1s zoned f Urban" funder the Metropolitan Region Scheme IMRS and "Development" funder the City of Rockingham's Local Planning Scheme (LPS) No. 2, with a small 1 portion of Lot 16 zoned for 1 Rural" fand use funder both the MRS and LPS No. 2.1

This Local ater Management Strateg IL MS has een prepared to support the Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Structure Plan SP and has een developed in accordance ith Better Urban Water Management APC 2008a State Planning Policy 2.9 Water Resources APC 2006 and Planning Bulletin 92 Urban Water Management APC 2008 ater ill e managed using an integrated ater cicle management approach hich has een developed using the philosophies and design approaches descriled in the Stormwater Management Manual for Western Australia Dol 2007.

The first step in appliing integrated later clicle management to the site is to estal lish agreed environmental values for receiving laters and their ecosistems. Characteristics of the elisting environment lithin the site have leen investigated and indicate that

- The site receives 764 mm of rainfall on average predominant/ occurring et en une and August.
- Topograph of the site ranges from 4.2 m to 7.2 m Australian height datum [AHD].
- The site is underlain sand derived from Tamala limestone.
- There is no knoon risk of acid sulfate soils ASS peing present thin 3.0 m of the natural surface across the site.
- There are no letlands located lithin the site.
- A conservation categor detand is located approximatel 80 m south dest of the site.
- The site elliperiences a mailmum ground later level MGL of 1.82 m AHD. Depth to later across the site varies let leen 2.38 m lelo ground level BGL and 5.38 m BGL.
- Ground ater in the region contains varied nutrient concentrations consistent at the historical land use of market gardening.

The later conservation approach is to reduce the amount of later reluired lithin the development at loth a lot and an estate scale. If ater conservation measures proposed include later efficient filtures. Additional later efficient practices including later lise gardens is in Gillinstallation of later efficient appliances and rain later tanks (R Ts lare to be promoted at point of sale to further reduce lot scale scheme liater usage.

Storm ater management focuses on storm ater runoff uantit and ualit. The guiding principle for storm ater uantit is to maintain the elisting hidrolog retaining surface flois and to infiltrate storm ater runoff ithin the site as close to source as possible. There all the no runoff from the development up to the 100 car average recurrence interval ARI event consistent with the predevelopment environment. Further non-structural measures all also be adopted and all be detailed in the future ar an ater Management Plan and MP.



The ground ater management approach is passive and aims to avoid an intersection in the ground ater and therefore an imodification or manipulation of elisting ground ater levels. Depth to ground ater across the site is significant and no subsoil drains are proposed.

The proposed criteria and the manner in hich the are proposed to e achieved are presented in Table E1. This taile provides a readiliaudital le summar of the reluired outcomes hich can be used in the future detailed design stage to demonstrate that the agreed offectives for fater management at the site have actual free achieved.

This L MS demonstrates that follo ing the recommendations detailed in the report the site is capal le of leing developed.

emerg

_	
_	
_	
_	
-	
-	
_	
-	
_	
-	
-	
100	
-	
-	
1000	
- 620	
100	
-	
-	
-	
100	
-	
100	
- 20	
-	
-	
-	
100.0	
- D.	
1000	
100	
100	
-	
-	
1000	
-	
-	
the second se	
-	
Sec. 1	
100	
100	
- 0	
-	
-	
-	
-	
- 25	
- MI	
-	

Doc No., EP16-067(02)-003C DPC | Revision: IC

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD FAILDICIS

Table E 1 Water management criteria and compliance summary

Management Aspect	Criteria Number	Criteria Description	Manner in which compliance will be achieved	Responsibility for implementation	Timing of Implementation
□ aler Conservation	DCI	Ese fit for purpose Dater sources throughout the development	Scheme water will be supplied by Water Corporation's Integrated Later supplicischeme JLI SSL	Proponent	Civil design
			Promotion of RI 1s to lot ollners	Proponent	Point of sale
			Lise of RLI Ts principles Lithin lots	Lot ollner	Building construction
	003	Consumption target of 100 kL/person/Tear	Mandated use of Dater efficient fittings	Lot oDner	Building construction
		scheme Dater	Promotion of Dater efficient appliances. RD 1s and DD C to lot oDners	Proponent	Point of sale
			$\Box se$ of $\Box ater efficient appliances \Box R \Box Ts and \Box \Box \Box G principles \Box thm tots$	Lot o Direr	Building construction
Storm Cater management	Set	Retain runoff from the 100 Cear ARI event Dithm the site	Residential lots Dill retain and infiltrate 900 of runoff up to the 100 Dear ARI event runoff Dithin soakDells and pervious garden areas. The remaining 100 Uill Le convelbed to the road netLork.	Lat aCher	Building construction
			The retained rural lot Dill retain and infiltrate runoff up to the 100 Dear ARI event	Lot oDner	Construction
			Runoff up to the 100 Dear ARI event from the road netDork and 10D of residential lots Dill De retained Dithin su Burface storage	Proponent	Detailed drainage design
	SU 2	Minor roads are to remain passaLle in a 5 Dear ARI event	The development pipe netLork Lill Lb designed to conveilthe 5 Dear ARI event Lihich Dill ensure roads Dill remain passaDe	Proponent	Dotailed drainage design
	SD3	Design infiltration areas to avoid creating mos⊡itto ha⊡tat	SuCsurface storage Dill infiltrate the 100 Cear ARI event in 5.5 hours (I.e. II.96 hours)	Proponent	Detailed dramage design
	SD 4	Retain and treat the first 15mm of runoff at source or as close as practical.le	Runoff from the 1 East 1 hour ARI event Dithm lots Diff De retained in lot soak Deffs or permeable garden areas	Lot oDner	Building construction

Mored number EP (S40A CSeptember 2016

emerge

I BUB (

-
-
-
100
-
-
-
-
-
0
100
- 60
0
-
100
100
100
- 20
1.00
D.
100
100
22.
-
22
100
- 21
- 65
100
100
- 14
5
10.0

Doc No., EP15-057(02)-003C DPC | Revision: IC

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDICIS

Management Aspect	Criteria Number	Criteria Description	Manner in which compliance will be achieved	Responsibility for Implementation	Timing of Implementation
			Runoff from the 1 Lear 1 hour ARI event Lithin road reserves and front of lots Lill Chi retained Lithin the primary filtration bell of the 1 sullsurface storage located Leneath road verge Lis sholln in Appendix B	Proponent	Detailed drainage design
	S05	Appl⊟appropriate structural and non- structural measures to reduce nutnent loads	Education of residents regarding	Proponent	Point of sale
			Street slieeping to reduce particulate and sediment loads	Proponent then CoR	Ongoing
			Inspection and maintenance of sursurface storage intrastructure	Proponent then CoR	Ongoing
Ground⊡ater management	601	Infiltration structuros Lill have inverts at least 500 mm aCove mallmum groundDater level IMGLD	Drainage infrastructure inverts Dill to set at least 500 mm allove MGL. Detailed design of drainage Dasins and sulfsurface storage Dill Ce provided in the luture DID MP	Proponent	Detailed drainage design

Protect number 'EP/5499/ (September 2016

emerge

11age -

Contents

1	Intro	duction		
	1.1	Backgro	ound	
	1.2	Toon pla	anning contett	
	1.3	Purpose	e of this report	
	1.4	Guiding	documents	
	1.5	Previous	s studies	
	1.6	Lo MS d	ollectives	9
2	Prop	osed Dev	elopment	
3	Exis	ting Envir	onment	
	3.1	Sources	of information	
	3.2	Climate		
	3.3	Geotech	nnical conditions	
		3.3.1	Topograph	
		3.3.2	Soils and geolog	
		3.3.3	Acid sulfate soils	
	3.4	🗆 etland	ls	
	3.5	Hidrolog	gû	
		3.5.1	Surface ater	
		3.5.2	Surface Dater Dualit	
		3.5.3	Ground ater levels	
		3.5.4	Ground⊡ater ⊡ualit□	
	3.6	Summar	r⊓of e⊺isting environment	
4	Desi	gn Criteria	a and Objectives	
	4.1	Li ater co	onservation	
	4.2	Storm	ater management	
	4.3	Ground	Dater management	
5	Wate	er Source	Allocation, Infrastructure and Fit-for-Purpose Use	
	5.1	Fit-for-p	urpose ⊡ater use	
		5.1.1	Scheme Dater	
		5.1.2	Ground Dater	
		5.1.3	Rain⊔ater tanks	
	5.2	ater co	onservation measures	
		5.2.1	□ ater efficient fi⊡tures and appliances	
		5.2.2	□ ater ⊡ise gardens	
	5.3	Lot Date	er Telance	
	5.4	Estate s	cale ⊟ater usage	
	5.5	🗆 ater co	onservation criteria compliance summar⊡	
6	Stor	mwater Ma	anagement	
	6.1	Storm	ater management approach	
	23	6.1.1	Lot drainage s stem	
		6.1.2	Development drainage s⊥stem	
	6.2	Storm	ater criteria compliance summar⊡	
7	Grou	Indwater I	Management	
	7.1	Ground	Dater management approach	
	7.2	Ground	⊡ater criteria compliance summar⊡	
			The second	

emerge

8	Subd	livision and Urban Water Management Plan	
	8.1	Alternative Dater Dualit treatment approaches	
	8.2	Detailed drainage design	
	8.3	Non-structural Dater Dualit improvement measures	
	8.4	Management and maintenance re uirements	
	8.5	Construction period management strateg	
	8.6	Monitoring	
9	Imple	ementation Plan	
	9.1	Roles and responsi⊟lities	
	9.2	Funding	
	9.3	Revie D.	
10	Refer	rences	
	10,1	General references	
	10.2	Online references	

List of Tables

Tatle 1 Ground ater Dalit data from ad acent fores	3
Ta 🛭 e 2 🗇 ater conservation criteria compliance	7
Talle 3 Sulsurface storage details 1	9
Ta∏e 4 Storm⊓ater criteria compliance summar⊡	20
Ta⊡e 5 Ground⊡ater management criteria compliance	21

Figures

Figure 1 Site Location Figure 2 Site Boundar Figure 3 Pre-development Topograph and Ma mum Ground ater Level Figure 4 Geological Mapping and Test Pit Locations Figure 5 H drological Features Figure 6 Storm ater Management Features

Appendices

Appendix A

Structure Plan

Appendix B

Indicative Drainage and Earth orks Strateg

Appendix C

Geotechnical Report

Appendix D

Enample Sunsurface Storage Specification

emerg

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Defence Housing Australia (the1proponent') proposes to develop a portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road Baldivis || A for residential purposes. Lot 16 (referred to herein as1the1site') is located approximatel 38 km south of Perth Central Business District in thin the Cit of Rockingham [CoR]. The site is found McDonald Road/e listing ur an development to the east and undeveloped landholdings to the north south and lest.

The site location is sho in on Figure 1 ith the cadastral i oundaries sho in on Figure 2.

1.2 Town planning context

The majority of the site is zoned "Urban" under the Metropolitan Region Scheme (MRS) 1 Department of Planning 2015 and "Development" under the CoR Local Planning Scheme LPS No. 2 CoR 2004 In the a small portion of Lot 16 zoned for "Rural" 1 and use under both the MRS and LPS No. 2.1

1.3 Purpose of this report

This Local ater Management Strateg L MS is intended to support the structure plan SP hich proposes development of the "Urban" portion of the site. The L MS presents pre-development elisting environmental information related to the site which ensures that the water management within the development is addressed in a holistic and integrated manner.

1.4 Guiding documents

There are a number of State and Local Government policies of relevance to the development of the site. These policies include

- State Water Strategy Government of A 2003
- State Water Plan Government of A 2007
- Draft Guidance Statement No. 33: Environmental Guidance for Planning and Development EPA 2008
- State Planning Policy 2.9: Water Resources III APC 2006
- Liveable Neighbourhoods 4th Edition APC 2007
- Planning Policy 3.4.1 Public Open Space CoR 2011
- Planning Procedure 1.8 Water Sensitive Urban Design CoR 2010 ...

In addition to the a ove policies there are a num er of pullished guidelines and standards available that provide direction regarding the Dater discharge characteristics that union developments should aim to achieve. These are keDinputs that relate either directDor indirectDot to the site and include

- Better Urban Water Management III APC 2008a
- Decision Process for Stormwater Management in Western Australia Do 2009
- Stormwater Management Manual for Western Australia Do 2007
- Australian Runoff Quality Engineers Australia 2006
- Australian Rainfall and Runoff Engineers Australia 1987

1.5 Previous studies

There are no overarching later management strategies that this LIMS lill need to complime ith.

1.6 LWMS objectives

This L MS has peen developed in consideration of the operatives and principles detailed in *Better* Urban Water Management (1) APC 2008a It is intended to support the SP and is further pased on the folloping major operatives (1)

- Provide a road level storm ater management frame ork to support future up an development.
- Protect underling ground later resources and do instream sensitive environments.
- Protect infrastructure troads and horses from undue flooding from major runoff events.
- Incorporate appropriate lest management practices IBMPs into the drainage sistems that address the environmental and storm later management issues identified.
- Minimise development construction costs in hich ill result in reduced land costs for future home oners.
- Minimise ongoing operation and maintenance costs for the land others and CoR.
- Develop a later conservation strateg for the site.
- Gain support from Department of ater Do and CoR for the proposed method to manage storm ater ithin the site and potential impacts on do astream areas.

Detailed offectives for Dater management Dithin the site are further discussed in Section 4.

emerg

2 Proposed Development

The Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road SP III include development of

- 29 Io densit residential lots
- Road reserves to service the 29 lots
- Susurface drainage infrastructure located lithin road reserves.

The Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road SP is provided in Appendix A.



3 Existing Environment

3.1 Sources of information

The follocing sources of information there used to provide a froad regional environmental content for the site

- Regional 1:50 000 Geology Map Sheet Gozzard 1983a
- WA Atlas Landgate 2016
- Weather and Climate Statistics Bureau of Meteorolog 2016
- Perth Groundwater Atlas Do 2016a
- Water Register Do 2016
- The Chimes Fifty Road Baldivis UWMP Cardno 2013
- Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis LWMS [Coterra Environmental 2015]

The sources detailed have lieen revielled to determine ellisting hildrological constraints. This is important as it can have implications for the storm later management measures and the ellient of earth lorks that mailine reliured to facilitate sull division.

3.2 Climate

The site experiences a draMediterranean climate of hot drasummers and cool at inters. Long term climatic averages indicate that the site is located in an area of moderate to high rainfall receiving 764 mm on average annual and Bureau of Meteorolog 2016 with the material of rainfall received et en une and August. The region experiences rainfall an average of 90 dats per annum.

3.3 Geotechnical conditions

3.3.1 Topography

The site ranges in height from 4.2 m Australian height datum [AHD] to 7.2 m AHD. The highest levels are located in the lest of the site providing an easterl aspect. The lollest parts of the site are located along McDonald Road. Topographic contours are sholl non Figure 3.

3.3.2 Soils and geology

Regional mapping indicates the site is underlain and derived from Tamala limestone S7 which is descrilled as a white to pale relief ish rown and olive-relief medium- to coarse-grained such angular wartz with some trace of feldspar moderatel sorted of residual origin Gozzard 1983

A geotechnical report prepared Galt Geotechnics 2015 provides a tipical sub-surface profile for the site as telod. Galt Geotechnics 2015

- Sand [SP] medium to coarse grained su Fangular to su Frounded From Lecoming Ello Fith depth_trace limestone colles and gravel t_picall_loose to dense_present from surface to depth of _et_een 1.0 elltending to the mailmum depth investigation [2.5 millioverling]
- Limestone present lelo the sand later variing from depths let leen a out 1.0 m and more than the malimum depth of investigation [2.5 m]



It is noted that an area containing fill overling the natural sands is located in the north mestern corner of the site and that several test pits encountered limestone pinnacles Galt Geotechnics 2015. In-situ permea litetesting mas also carried out mith infiltration rates of methods 14 m/damand greater than 50 m/damecorded Galt Geotechnics 2015.

Soil mapping test pits and infiltration testing locations are sho in on Figure 4.

3.3.3 Acid sulfate soils

The WA Atlas acid sulfate soil (ASS) risk mapping [Landgate 2016] classifies the | hole site as having no kno n risk of ASS peing present bithin 3.0 m of the natural surface.

3.4 Wetlands

The Geomorphic Wetlands of the Swan Coastal Plain dataset DPa 2013 indicates that there are no inetlands located within the site. There is a conservation categor in tetland CC in located approximatel 80 m to the south mest of the site IIIFI 6400. However given that the site slopes to the east the CC is not in the do instream surface runoff catchment. The location of the inetland is shown in Figure 5.

There are no Environmental Protection (Swan Coastal Plain Lakes) Policy Letlands on site Government of A 1992

3.5 Hydrology

3.5.1 Surface water

There are no defined surface | ater channels | ithin the site. Runoff infiltrates freel | across the site due to the high permea ilit of under ing sands as discussed in Section 3.3.2.

3.5.2 Surface water quality

There are no defined surface later channels lithin the site hence there is no information regarding pre-development surface later lualit

3.5.3 Groundwater levels

Information on groundwater from the DoW1Online Water Register' indicates that ground later leneath the site is a multi-latered statem comprised of the follo ling Dol 2015

- Perth Superficial San
- Perth Leederville
- Perth Yarragadee North.

A revier of the Perth Groundwater Atlas indicates that historical marimum ground rater level MGL contours do not ade uatel cover the site Dol 2015a. Minimum ground rater level contours provide coverage of the site and indicate that ground rater flors in a rest south-resteril direction.

Ground ater monitoring data from the adjacent jeastern residential su division. The Chimes indicate that a MGL of 1.38 m AHD as recorded in a fore IBP1 located appro Imatel 30 m from the south eastern corner of the site in full 2012. Cardno 2013 Recent ground ater monitoring data from the adjacent monthern local structure plan. Lot 306 McDonald Road Baldivis indicate that a



MGL of 1.82 m AHD as recorded in a lore M 3 located appro imatel 20 m from the north lestern corner of the site in Septem er 2014 Coterra Environmental 2015

It is inferred that depth to MGL ranges Let Leen 2.38 m Lelo ground level BGL in the north Lestern corner of the site (i.e. beneath a corner of the future frural area') and 5.38 m BGL in the proposed residential south eastern portion of the site. The locations of the ad acent Lores are sholl n on Figure 3.

3.5.4 Groundwater quality

No ground later lualit information elists for the site.

Hollever as discussed in Section 3.5.3 ground ater ualit data from adjacent eastern ores can e revielled to develop a regional content for the site. The location of bores BP1 and BP5 from The Chimes' are shoilin in Figure 3 lith average ground ater ualit data shoilin in Table 1. The default triggers from the National Water Quality Management Strategy NI MS AN ECC 2000 guidelines for fresh and marine later lualit are also provided for reference.

Bore	TN (mg/L)	TP (mg/L)	FRP (mg/L)	NH4 (mg/L)	NOx (mg/L)	TKN (mg/L)
NWQMS	1.2	0.065	8	0.08	0.15	-
BP10	7 10	0.86	□0.01	0.09	3.35	3.78
BP50	0,85	0.68	□0.01	0.13	0.35	0.50

Table 1 Groundwater quality data from adjacent bores

*(Cardno 2013)

The elevated total nitrogen ITN and total phosphorous ITP presented in Table 1 are consistent in the regional historical land use of market gardening. A change of land use from market gardening to ur an residential ill reduce the nutrient loading to ground later.

Note that due to the inferred est south-esterledirection of ground ater floe as discussed in Section 3.5.3 ore BP1 is not h drologicall upstream of the site.

3.6 Summary of existing environment

In summar 1 the environmental investigations conducted to date indicate that

- The site receives 764 mm of rainfall on average predominant occurring tet en tune and August.
- Topograph of the site ranges from 4.2 m to 7.2 m AHD.
- The site is underlain III sand derived from Tamala limestone.
- There is no kno□n risk of ASS □eing present □ithin 3.0 m of the natural surface across the site.
- There are no etlands located ithin the site.
- A CC is located appro_imatel 80 m south est of the site.
- The site elliperiences an MGL of 1.82 m AHD. Depth to later across the site varies let leen 2.38 m BGL and 5.38 m AHD.
- Ground ater in the region contains elevated nutrients TN and TP consistent at the historical land use of market gardening.



4 Design Criteria and Objectives

This section outlines the or ectives and design criteria that the development must achieve. The design criteria for later management lithin the ur an Portion of Lot 16 McDonald Road have leen guided in the guidance documents listed in Section 1.4.

4.1 Water conservation

The design criteria for Dater conservation management include

Criteria WC1 se fit for purpose ater sources throughout the development.

<u>Criteria WC2</u> Consumption target for _ater of 100 kL/person/_ear_including not more than 40-60 kL/person/_ear scheme _ater.

The manner in hich these o lectives ill e achieved is further detailed in Section 5.

4.2 Stormwater management

The design criteria for storm ater management include

Criteria SW1 Retain runoff from the 100 ear average recurrence interval ARI event onsite.

Criteria SW2 Minor roads are to remain passal le in a 5 | ear ARI event.

Criteria SW3 Design infiltration areas to avoid creating mos uito ha itat.

Criteria SW4 Retain and treat the first 15 mm of runoff at source or as close as practica le.

Criteria SW5 Appl appropriate non-structural measures to reduce nutrient loads.

The manner in _hich these of ectives _ill _e achieved is further detailed in Section 6.

4.3 Groundwater management

The design criteria for ground ater management include

Criteria GW3 Infiltration structures I ill have inverts at least 500 mm all ove mai imum ground later level.

The manner in Thich this offective Till Te achieved is further detailed in Section 7.
5 Water Source Allocation, Infrastructure and Fit-for-Purpose Use

5.1 Fit-for-purpose water use

Conservation of Later through fit-for-purpose use and lest management practices is encouraged so that scheme Later is not Lasted. Fit-for-purpose principles have Leen utilised in the Later conservation strateg. for the SP area.

5.1.1 Scheme water

Scheme later lill be supplied by the Water Corporation's Integrated Water Supply Scheme (IWSS). The residential lots lill connect to elisting mains located lithin McDonald Road (A. Tucker 2015) pers. comm. 15 December 2

5.1.2 Groundwater

The DoW1Online Water Register' Indicates that the site is located in the Stakehill ground ater area ithin the Tam orth S amp sub-area and that there is allocation available within the Perth-Superficial a uifer Do 2015

No pullic open space POS is proposed lithin the site and hence no ground later is reluired for ongoing irrigation. A temporar licence mail e reluired for construction purposes ite, dust suppression and if reluired details of this licence lill e provided lithin the future II MP.

5.1.3 Rainwater tanks

Rain ater tanks ill not is mandated for the McDonald Road development holl ever educational literature detailing their implementation and use for in-lot and irrigation purposes ill is made available to lot or iners at point of sale. It is assumed that 9 of future residents ill utilise rain ater tanks ased on topical uptake rates taken from Australian Bureau of Statistics ABS pullished data ABS 2013a

The use of the a ove ater sources ill help to achieve Criteria WC1 and WC2.

5.2 Water conservation measures

The development i ill utilise later lise garden i G principles C 2003 for lot scale gardens and later efficient filtures and appliances EFA in thin lots to ensure that the development minimises the use of later. These measures are further discussed in the folloling Sections.

5.2.1 Water efficient fixtures and appliances

Significant reduction in in-house later uses can le achieved lith the use of EFA. Ise of EFA can result in a reduction in later use of let leen 35 and 50 Mellourne later 2003 ater use rates consistent lith later saving devices have leen used in the lot scale later later later and sis detailed in Section 5.3.

The later conservation strateg proposes that all dellings use EFA. ater efficient filtures ill le mandated through the uilding licence hile uptake of later efficient appliances can le encouraged listate and local government relates as hell as education from the proponent at point of sale. It is

emerga

assumed that 35 of future residents ill utilise later efficient appliances ased on tipical uptake rates provided in ABS (ABS 2013).

The allove measures I ill assist in achieving Criteria WC1 and WC3.

5.2.2 Water wise gardens

The elitent of landscaping that mail e provided lithin private residential lots is let to be determined. There landscaping is provided leither in private lots or road verges a variet of measures fill e adopted to limit later use including

- The adoption of later lise species lith a focus on using local native later lise species or if necessar species from regions lith similar climates.
- E sting site soil ma be improved bith soil conditioner certified to Australian Standard AS 4454 to a minimum depth of 50 mm bere turf is to be planted and a minimum depth of 75 mm for garden leds.
- The irrigation s stem is proposed to e designed and installed according to est ater efficient practices including consideration of h dro zone design solutions.
- Garden leds lill le mulched to 75 mm lith a product certified to AS 4454.

Details regarding the use of G G principles ithin lot gardens ill e made available to purchasers on sale of lots. It is therefore assumed that overall 50 of lot gardens ill utilise G G ased on t pical uptake rates taken from ABS ABS 2013

The allove measures I ill assist in achieving Criteria WC2.

5.3 Lot water balance

The later lalance analisis has leen lased on the rates and calculation methodolog in the later Corporation spreadsheet *AltWaterSupply_Water_Use_Model.xls*. The analisis assumes an average of 2.6 people per lot IABS 2013a

The results of the later lalance indicate that if households adopt the proposed later conservation measures at tipical uptake rates the lill use on average 59.4 kL/lear/person lith a total usage of 4.3 ML. This achieves the state later consumption target of no more than 100 kL/lear/person and the *Better Urban Water Management* aspirational goal of 40-60 kL/lear/person land satisfies Criteria WC2.

5.4 Estate scale water usage

No POS is proposed Dithin the SP and therefore there are no estate scale Dater usage reduirements.

5.5 Water conservation criteria compliance summary

A summar of the proposed ater conservation design criteria and ho these are addressed is provided in Table 2.

Table 2 Water conservation criteria compliance

Criteria Number	Criteria Description	Manner in which compliance will be achieved		
0.C1	□se fit for purpose □ater sources throughout the development	Scheme Water Will be Supplied by Water Corporation's 1		
		Promotion of R Ts and G G to lot ouners		
		□se of R□ Ts and □ □ G principles □ithin lots		
⊔C2	Consumption target of 100 kL/person/Lear ith no more than 40-60 kL/person/Lear of scheme Dater	Mandated use of Later efficient fittings		
		Promotion of Dater efficient appliances RD Ts and D to to Liners		
		□se of □ater efficient appliances□R□ Ts and □ □ G principles □ithin lots		



6 Stormwater Management

6.1 Stormwater management approach

The principles lehind the storm later management strateg laim to mimic the elisting hidrolog in infiltrating onsite as close to source as practical le.

The development drainage sistem has been designed to achieve the objectives and criteria stated in Section 4.2. The storm bater management measures proposed are discussed below with conceptual earth borks designs provided in Appendix B.

6.1.1 Lot drainage system

6.1.1.1 Residential lots

Residential lots □ill retain the 100 ear ARI event runoff onsite for 90 of the total lot area. The remaining 10 i.e. front drive a s i ill contri ute to runoff i ithin the road net ork.

The runoff from roof and impervious areas ill c directed to soak ells here it ill infiltrate into the sand fill and ultimatel to ground ater. The specific soak ell configuration ill c dependent on the lot configuration and an other storage elements proposed on lot ile. rain ater tanks. Lot soak ells ould nominall c sized to capture the first 12 mm of rainfall ile. 20 ear 5 minute ARI event consistent ith Building Code of Australia re uirements for gutter and do npipe sizing. Runoff hich el ceeds the capacit of soak ells is assumed to soak into the permeal le areas of lots. This is a reasonal le assumption given that lot sizes range from approximatel 342 m² to 514 m² with an average size of 413 m² el cluding the rural lot. Provision of adel uate retention volumes on lot is the responsibilit of the lot onner and will retrievel ed core as part of the juilding approvals process.

Infiltration of runoff through the underling soils ill provide treatment through adsorption of nutrients to sand particles prior to reaching ground later.

Retention of runoff on lot ill help to achieve Criteria SW1 and SW4.

6.1.1.2 Rural lot

The rural lot in the lest of the site ill retain and infiltrate runoff up to the 100 lear ARI event on lot. This approach is consistent in the elisting hidrolog of the site is characterised the high permealilition underlying soils as discussed in Section 3.3.2

6.1.2 Development drainage system

The development drainage sistem utilises surface storage designed to treat minor event runoff i.e. the first 15 mm and retain major event runoff i.e. the 100 pear ARI event iithin the site. If ater iiil pere-treated pere-treated pere-treatment pere-treatment chan be than can be readilined ucted via a manhole. Folloning pre-treatment pater fill be directed to a catch-all rob and this rob fill be underlain that appropriate soil media to address concerns regarding nutrients. All side entropits in the sistem fill have an additional 600 mm depth to provide an additional measure of protection to the surface storage cells. Runoff volumes el ceeding the pretreatment and catch-all rob fill be directed to the remainder of the ecoAID storage.

Su surface storage ill e used to retain up to the 100 ear ARI event runoff from the road net ork and 10 of residential lots i.e. front drive a si resulting in no offsite discharge. Indicative locations of su surface storage are provided in **Figure 6**.

hile detailed designs are set to seprepared one possi le design solution is ecoAID su surface cells. An esample specification of ecoAID su surface cells is provided in Appendix D.

The ecoAID storage calculator has Eeen used to calculate the relluired storage volumes assuming

- An infiltration rate of 2.5 m/da || for the northeast corner || here closest to ground || ater to 3 m/da ||
 There clearance to ground || ater is greater ||
- Road reserves are comprised of 70 impervious (i.e. carriage (a)) footpaths and drive (a) crossovers and 40 pervious verges.

Catchment Coundaries and ecoAID calculations are provided in Appendix B. Storage volumes for surface storage infrastructure Cithin Catchments 1 2 and 3 are provided in Table 3.

Catchment	Catchment 1 (Northeast)			Catchment 2 (Southeast)			Catchment 3 Northwest)		
Rainfall event /ARI	1 Cear 1 hour	5 Lear	100 Cear	1 Dear 1 hour	5 Lear	100 Lear	1 Cear 1 hour	5 Lear	100 Lear
Dolume Im ³ D	33	53	90	32	48	83	6.4	9	15

Table 3 Subsurface storage details

As indicated at this stage the rand of su surface storage has not een selected and the detailed design macinclude more than one tipe of su surface storage. The important thing cill that the 100 ear ARI event su surface storage volumes provided in Table 3 are provided for in some form. The volumes required and the assumptions used to calculate this cill the reviewed at detailed design stage to ensure that su surface storage is appropriatel sized.

As ith lot soak ells infiltration of runoff through the underling soils ill provide treatment through adsorption of nutrients to sand particles prior to reaching ground ater. The installation of su surface storage infrastructure ill be conducted such that a clearance to MGL of 500 mm is maintained.

Based on an infiltration rate of 2.5 to 3 m/da and the depth of the elample subsurface storage product provided in Appendix D the subsurface storage cells ill infiltrate the 100 ear ARI event ithin 5.5 hours. The infiltration rate considers the depth to MGL discussed in Section 7.1. This easiline meets the guideline value of 96 hours the critical time for utilisation of surface that for most uito reeding as detailed in *Guidance Statement for Management of Mosquitoes for Land Proponents* EPA 2003

Su surface storage cells ill e configured lith a primar filtration cell prior to the main storage cells and ill e underlain lith high phosphorus retention indel PRI soil or media for treatment of first flush runoff. An example schematic of this configuration is provided in Appendix B.

The use and design of su -surface storage ill achieve Criteria SW1 SW3 SW4 and GW1.

6.2 Stormwater criteria compliance summary

A summar of the proposed storm ater design criteria and ho these are addressed are sho in Table 4.

Table 4 Stormwater criteria compliance summary

Criteria Number	Description	Manner in which compliance is achieved		
SE 1	Retain runoff from the 100 Dear ARI event Lithin the site	Residential lots Dill retain and infiltrate 90D of runoff up to the 100 Lear ARI event runoff Dithin soakDells and pervious garden areas. The remaining 10D Dill De converted to the road netDork.		
	THE R. LEWIS	The retained rural lot Dill retain and infiltrate runoff up to the 100 Dear ARI event		
		Runoff up to the 100 ⊡ear ARI event from the road net⊟ork and 10⊡ of residential lots ⊡ill ⊡e retained ⊡ithin su⊡surface storage		
S□ 2	Minor roads are to remain passalle in a 5 Lear ARI event	The development pipe netDork Dill De designed to conveD the 5 Dear ARI event Dhich Dill ensure roads Dill remain passaDe		
SD 3	Design infiltration areas to avoid creating mosiLuito hatitat	SuEsurface storage Dill infiltrate the 100 Dear ARI event in 5.5 hours Lice, D 96 hours D		
S0 4	Retain and treat the first 15 mm of runoff at source or as close as practica⊟e	Runotf from the 1 Dear 1 hour ARt event Eithin lots Eill De retained in lot soakDells or permeaDe garden areas		
		Runoff from the 1 Lear 1 hour ARI event Lithin road reserves and front of lots Dill Ce retained Dithin the primary filtration' cell1 of the suffsurface storage located Deneath road verge Tas sho In in Appendix B		
SD 5	ApplDappropriate structural and non- structural measures to reduce nutrient	Education of residents regarding GGentiliser use and nutrient allsording vegetation species ithin lots		
	loads	Street s⊡eeping to reduce particulate and sediment loads		
		Inspection and maintenance of sullsurface storage infrastructure		

emerc

7 Groundwater Management

7.1 Groundwater management approach

The drainage s_stem has _een designed to achieve the o_ectives and criteria stated in Section 4.3. The primari or lective of the ground later management plan is to maintain clearance retrieen MGL and the inverts of infiltration structures le.g. sursurface storage cells

As detailed in Section 3.5.3 MGL energither the site is a mail imum of approximatel 1.8 m AHD inorth estimand approximatel 1.3 m AHD is the eastern oundar. For the purposes of design and based on the 'City's tecommendation, 'an 'MGL of 1.82 has been 'adopted. Preliminar' earth lork levels provided in Appendix B for the development are at around 6.0 m AHD is the subsurface storage for Catchments 1 and 2 and therefore lots all achieve a minimum clearance to ground ater of 4.18 m.

As discussed in Section 6.1.2 the inverts of su surface storage structures ill e reluired to maintain a minimum clearance to MGL of 500 mm. Given the height of the ecoAID stem ill e approximatel 1.3m the inverts of storm ater infrastructure ill easil meet this reluirement and ill most likel provide 2.88 m clearance to the adopted MGL. An indicative schematic detailing the clearances of su surface storage structure inverts to MGL is provided in Appendix B. Note that the infiltration rates adopted and descrited in Section 6.1.2 are intended to account for the allove descrited clearance to ground ater.

The a ove approach ill ensure that Criteria GW1 is achieved.

7.2 Groundwater criteria compliance summary

A summar of the proposed ground ater management design criteria and ho these are addressed is provided in Table 5.

Criteria Number	Criteria description	Manner in which compliance will be achieved			
G 01	Infiltration structures Dill have inverts at least 500 mm aDve MGL	Inverts IIII Ie set at least 500 mm allove MGL. Detailed design of dramage Dasins and sulfsurface storage IIII Ie provided in the future III MP			

Table 5 Groundwater management criteria compliance



8 Subdivision and Urban Water Management Plan

The requirement to undertake preparation of more detailed ater management plans to support su division is generall imposed as a condition of su division.

i hile strategies have □een provided □ithin this L□ MS that address planning for □ater management □ithin the site it is a logical progression that future su □division designs and the supportive □□ MP □ill clarif □details not provided □ithin the L□ MS addendum. The main areas that □ill re uire further clarification □ithin the future □□ MP include □

- Potential alternative treatment approaches
- Detailed drainage design
- Non-structural later lualit improvement measures
- Management and maintenance reluirements
- Construction period management strateg
- Monitoring and evaluation program.

These are further detailed in the follo ing sections.

8.1 Alternative water quality treatment approaches

The proponent ill investigate alternative and potential ater inalit treatment approaches hich adopt a surface retention-rased approach to later inalit management. There possifie and/or appropriate these ill le included in the detailed civil design. This mainclude directing runoff from the North lest Catchment to Lot 306 should it le possifie and there timing of implementation of toth developments allo s. Regardless of inclusion or elclusion of surface lased SDD approaches the rationale lehind the approach proposed ill le included in the future ID MP.

8.2 Detailed drainage design

It is possille that the drainage catchments could undergo some change to accommodate stakeholder feed ack prior to final sull division design. It is also ellipected that the civil drainage designs all the progressed to a level that provides detailed cross-sections sizes of storage areas pipe sizes inverted etc.

The design of the drainage sistem to date has een undertaken at an appropriate level for local structure planning. More detailed calculations or runoff-routing computer modelling of the storm later drainage sistem mailing erecuired to support detailed drainage design. The eract location and configuration of the storm later management infrastructure ill need to be specified and presented lithin the future I MP. This ill include consideration of directing runoff to the lasin storage in Lot 306 immediatel to the north.

The ell ception to the rell uirement to revise the surface runoff modelling is if the catchment details and sul surface storage cell designs are consistent with the assumptions made in this LI MS. If this liere the case it would be accepted to provide design calculations for the concrete pipe and subsurface infiltration areas to demonstrate compliance with the LI MS.

8.3 Non-structural water quality improvement measures



Some non-structural later lualit improvement measures ill le more appropriatel implemented local government such as street silleeping hollever man can le implemented relativel leasil lithin the design and maintenance of the sul division. It is ellipected that the future III MP lill provide reference to measures such as pullic education through measures such as signage that maile implemented to raise all areness I

8.4 Management and maintenance requirements

The management measures to be implemented to address surface bater buait bill require ongoing maintenance. It is therefore expected that the future in MP bill provide detailed management and maintenance plans that bill set out maintenance actions le.g. gross pollutant removal timing le.g. hob often it bill occur locations le.g. elaction here it bill occur and responsibilities le.g. hob ill be responsible for carring out the actions. Given that approval from the CoR and Dob bill be sought for the proposed measures it is anticipated that consultation bith these agencies bill be undertaken and referral to guiding policies and documents bill be made.

8.5 Construction period management strategy

It is anticipated that the construction stage III refuire some management of various aspects (e.g. dust) surface runoff noise traffic etc. If The management measures undertaken for construction management IIII is addressed either in future III MP or a separate Construction Management Plan CMP

8.6 Monitoring

There III are no POS provided ithin the SP area and therefore POS condition monitoring is not proposed. Due to the depth to ground ater and e clusion of POS there is no proposed pre or post-development ground ater monitoring.

Monitoring that ill occur post-development ill re undertaken as a part of routine maintenance of the drainage sistem in the aim of guiding ongoing maintenance. Monitoring ill therefore occur in thin inspection access areas for the subsurface storage infrastructure le.g. ecoAID subsurface cells for sediment and gross pollutants. The frequence of monitoring and responsive actions in the further detailed in the III MP.



9 Implementation Plan

9.1 Roles and responsibilities

This LO MS provides a frame_ork that the proponent can utilise to assist in implementing an integrated | ater c cle management strateg that has een ased upon site-specific investigations and is consistent _ith relevant State and Local Government policies. The responsities for _orking _ithin the frame_ork estallished _ithin this LO MS rests _ith the proponent and their contractors_although it is anticipated that future monitoring_management and maintenance actions _e_ond construction and su_se_uent maintenance period _ill _e the responsitilit_of the CoR.

9.2 Funding

The site is a single landholding o ned 11 the proponent and therefore all orks ill e funded 11 the proponent.

9.3 Review

The surface runoff calculations contained herein louid not need to le revised unless additional land parcels/lots are added to the SP area prior to sull division for the SP undergoes significant change post-lodgement of the LL MS. If the SP is sull stantial modified runoff calculations provided in this LT MS fill need to the revieiled and the criteria proposed revised to ensure that all are still appropriate.

The nell stages of later management are anticipated to le lot planning through sul division. Sul division approvals ill le supported a MP. The MP is largel an eltension of the LIMS as it should provide detail to the designs proposed lithin this LIMS and lill demonstrate compliance lith the criteria proposed in Section 4. On this lasis it is not anticipated that this LIMS ill le revieled.



10 References

10.1 General references

Australian Bureau of Statistics ABS 2013a 4130.0 - Housing Occupancy and Costs 2011-12 Australian Bureau of Statistics Can erra.

Australian Bureau of Statistics ABS 2013 4602.0.55.003 - Environmental Issues: Water Use and Conservation, March 2013 Australian Bureau of Statistics Can erra.

Australian and Ne Caland Environment and Conservation Council AN ECC 2000 Australia and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality, National Water Quality Management Strategy Australian and Ne Caland Environment and Conservation Council.

Cardno 2013 The Chimes Fifty Road, Baldivis Urban Water Management Plan.

Cit of Rockingham CoR 2004 *Town Planning Scheme No. 2 (TPS2)* Cit of Rockingham Rockingham.

CitLof Rockingham (CoRL2010) Planning Procedure 1.8 - Water Sensitive Urban Design CitLof Rockingham Rockingham.

Cit of Rockingham CoR 2011 Planning Policy 3.4.1 - Public Open Space Cit of Rockingham Rockingham.

Coterra Environmental 2015 Local Water Management Strategy - Lot 306 McDonald Road, Baldivis.

Department of ater Do 2007 Stormwater Management Manual for Western Australia Department of ater Perth.

Department of ater Do 2009 Decision Process for Stormwater Management in Western Australia Department of ater Perth.

Department of Parks and i ildlife DPa 2013 Geomorphic Wetlands on the Swan Coastal Plain dataset Department of Parks and i ildlife Perth.

Engineers Australia 1987 Australian Rainfall and Runoff National Committee for the ater Engineering Canterra.

Engineers Australia 2006 Australian Runoff Quality: A guide to Water Sensitive Urban Design National Committee for the ater Engineering Engineers Australia Canherra.

Environmental Protection Authorit EPA 2008 Guidance Statement No. 33: Environmental Guidance for Planning and Development Environmental Protection Authorit Perth.

Galt Geotechnics 2015 Geotechnical and Preliminary Environmental Study Proposed Residential Subdivision 16 McDonald Road, Baldivis.

Government of A 1992 Environmental Protection (Swan Coastal Lakes) Policy.

Government of A 2003 A State Water Strategy for Western Australia Government of estern Australia Perth.

Government of A 2007 State Water Plan Perth.

Gozzard R. 1983a Fremantle Part Sheets 2033 / & 2033 / Geological Surve of estern Australia Perth.

Gozzard III R. 1983 Rockingham, Sheets 2033 III and 2033 II Geological Survey of Lestern Australia Perth.

Mell ourne ater 2003 Household Water Use Calculator Mellourne ater Mellourne.

Gazetted in December 2006. State Planning Policy 2.9: Water Resources Gazetted in December 2006. State Planning Commission Perth.

estern Australian Planning Commission II APC 2007 Liveable Neighbourhoods (Edition 4) estern Australian Planning Commission and Department for Planning and Infrastructure Perth.

estern Australian Planning Commission || APC 2008a Better Urban Water Management || estern Australian Planning Commission Perth.

estern Australian Planning Commission III APC 2008 Planning Bulletin 92: Urban Water Management estern Australian Planning Commission Perth.

ater Corporation C 2003 Domestic Water Use Study in Perth, Western Australia 1998-2001 ater Corporation Perth.

10.2 Online references

Bureau of Meteorolog 2016 Climate Averages vielled anuar 2016

Landgate 2015 WA Atlas vie ed anuar 2016 https:// 2.landgate. a.gov.au/ mvf/app/ aatlas/ .

Department of Parks and illdlife DPa 2013 Geomorphic Wetlands, Swan Coastal Plain vie ed March 2015 https:// 22.landgate.a.gov.au/ mvf/app/2atlas/2.

Department of Planning 2015 Metropolitan Region Scheme mapping Map Sheet 31 Baldivis, vie ed August 2015 http:// Doc.planning. a.gov.au

Department of ater Do 2016a Perth Groundwater Atlas 2004 Edition 2 Department of ater Perth Accessed from http://www.ater.a.gov.au/idelve/gra/.

Department of _____ater_ Do ____2016 ___Water Register Perth Accessed from http:// ______ater_ a.gov.au/Tools/Maps_and_atlases/___ater_ Register/default.asp ______

Musi-211

DocrNo.:rEP15-057(02)--003CrDPCrhRevision:rCm

LOCALIW/ATERIMANAGEMENTISTRATEGYIM PORTION/0F1.0T1161MCDONALD7:0AD, BALDIVIS1

Thismpagerhasmbeenmleftmblankmintentionally.m







Figure 1: Site Location Figure 2: Site Boundary Figure 3: Pre-development Topography and Maximum Groundwater Level Figure 4: Geological Mapping and Test Pit Locations Figure 5: Hydrological Features

Figure 6: Stormwater Management Features

Doc No.: EP15-057(02)--003C DPC | Revision: C

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDIES

This page has been left blank intentionally.



















STRUCTURE PLAN



Doc No.: EP15-057(02)--003C DPC | Revision: C

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDIES

This page has been left blank intentionally.





DocrNo.:rEP15-057(02)--003CrDPCrhRevision:rCm

LOCALIW/ATERIMANAGEMENTISTRATEGYIM PORTION/0F1.0T1161MCDONALD7:0AD, BALDIVIS1

Thismpagerhasmbeenmleftmblankmintentionally.m







INDICATIVE DRAINAGE AND EARTHWORKS STRATEGY



Doc No.: EP15-057(02)--003C DPC | Revision: C

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDIES

This page has been left blank intentionally.











GEOTECHNICAL REPORT



Doc No.: EP15-057(02)--003C DPC | Revision: C

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDIES

This page has been left blank intentionally.






EXAMPLE SUBSURFACE STORAGE SPECIFICATION



Doc No.: EP15-057(02)--003C DPC | Revision: C

LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDIES

This page has been left blank intentionally.





LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PORTION OF LOT 16 MCDONALD ROAD BALDI IS

